
                 
  Public Notice of Meeting 

WILTON-LYNDEBOROUGH COOPERATIVE  
                                                                    SCHOOL BOARD MEETING 

                                                 Tuesday, August 8, 2023 
                                Wilton-Lyndeborough Cooperative M/H School 

            6:30 p.m. 
 
Videoconferencing: meet.google.com/exy‐jnnv‐nem 

Audio: +1 219‐213‐6327 PIN: 146 733 299# 

All videoconferencing options may be subject to modifications. Please check www.sau63.org for the latest 
information. 

 
I. CALL TO ORDER-Dennis Golding-Chair  
 
II. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

 
III. ADJUSTMENTS TO THE AGENDA 

 
IV. PUBLIC COMMENTS: This is the public’s opportunity to speak to items on the agenda.  In the 

interest of preserving individual privacy and due process rights, the Board requests that comments 
(including complaints) regarding individual employees or students be directed to the Superintendent 
in accord with the processes set forth in School Board Policies KE, KEB and BEDH.     

  
V. BOARD CORRESPONDENCE 

a. Reports  
i. Superintendent’s Report   

ii. Principals’ Reports  
iii. Curriculum Coordinator’s Report 

b. Letters/Information 
i. Enrollment 

ii. General Assurances FY 24  
iii. School Board Goals Document 

 
VI. ACTION ITEMS 

a. Approve Minutes of Previous Meetings 
b. Approval of Projects from Capital Reserve 

 
VII. POLICIES 

a. 4th Reading 
i. BBBF-Student Board Members 

b. 1st Reading 
i. JICK-Pupil Safety and Violence Prevention-Bullying 

ii. DAF-6-Inventory Management Equipment And Supplies Purchased With Federal 
Funds 

iii. DAF-11-Sub-Recipient Monitoring And Management 
iv. BEDDA-Board Meeting-Rules of Procedure & Order 
v. JLCD-R-Procedures For Administering Medication To Students 

vi. JLCA-Physical Examinations Of Students 
c. Withdrawals 

i. JLCA-R-Family Physicians Report of Physical Examination 
ii. JAA-Allergy Management Policy 

 
VIII. SCHOOL HANDBOOKS 

 
IX. COMMITTEE REPORTS 

i. Technology Committee 



 
 

X. RESIGNATIONS/APPOINTMENTS/LEAVES 
a. FYI-New Hire-Kathleen Mikavetz-ABA Therapist/RBT 
b. FYI-New Hire-Megan Nantel-Food Service Director  

 
XI. PUBLIC COMMENTS  

 
XII. SCHOOL BOARD MEMBER COMMENTS  

 
XIII. NON-PUBLIC SESSION RSA 91-A: 3 II (C)  

i. Review the nonpublic minutes 
ii. Student Matter 

iii. Personnel Matter  
 

XIV. ADJOURNMENT  
 

INFORMATION:  Next School Board Meeting‐August 22, 6:30 PM at WLC 

The Wilton-Lyndeborough Cooperative School District does not discriminate on the basis of race, color, religion, national origin, age, sex, handicap, veteran status, sexual orientation, 

gender identity or marital status in its administration of educational programs, activities or employment practice.  



 The Wilton-Lyndeborough Cooperative School District does not discriminate on the basis of race, color, religion, national origin, age, sex, handicap, veteran status, 
sexual orientation, gender identity or marital status in its administration of educational programs, activities or employment practice. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 Superintendent Report 
 
 While our schools are typically quiet during July, there has been quite a bit of activity going on from our Summer 

Academy at FRES and all of the facility projects, to working with our two new building principals!  I would like 
to take a moment to recognize some of our staff who quietly just get the job done!  Our facility team should be 
commended for their work this summer.  As always, the buildings and grounds are looking great, and they have 
worked well as a team to stay on schedule and meet their expectations … despite everything we are always adding 
to their plate!  We are grateful to have Buddy in our district!  We have asked a great deal from him, and he has 
been effective balancing the numerous maintenance and capital improvement projects this summer, while also 
getting our buildings ready for students and staff.  Our district administrative assistants as always have been the 
rock that keeps our district moving forward during the summer and school year.   We would like to recognize and 
simply THANK them for their consistent productivity, collaboration, and positive attitude!  And thank you to all 
of our staff that have supported our students this summer, completed professional development, and participated 
in planning meetings for the upcoming year. 
 

 We continue to work actively to fill our open positions, to include exploring other options if we are not able to 
fill our open certified positions.  We have met with Milford school district and High Mowing this summer to 
discuss how we can develop a partnership between our schools, to include exploring potential instructional needs.  
We currently have the following positions open: 

Middle School Math and Science, WLC Computer Science, High School Math, Title I tutors, two  
para educators, and FRES social worker. 

 
 Kristie and I met with the Wilton Select Board on July 25th in an effort to receive their support for a School 

Resource Officer (SRO).  The meeting was mutually supportive.  We were asked to provide additional 
information to them.  A decision to support/or not support our proposal was not made at that time. 
 

 Our district leadership team has reviewed our current WLCTA Collective Bargaining Agreement and prepared 
feedback.  We are anticipating the formal negotiation process to initiate soon and are prepared to support the 
School Board Negotiating Team as necessary. 
 

 The following is a quick facilities update: 
LCS:  Siding project is complete. Extensive rot was repaired on the parking lot side of the   building as well as on 
the SAU wall in the rear courtyard area, which increased the cost of the project by $5,875. Total cost from FY23 
funds was $45,875.  New bark mulch in playground. 

FRES:  In the process of replacing bridge in the playground 

WLC: Art room and kitchen vent hood on schedule.  Prime roofing is on site replacing the science wing roof.  
Track project is underway. The original scope as presented did not include any drainage repair/replacement work 
that became problematic this summer. With the added cost of drainage, the project will be about $10,000 over 
budget.  Buddy recently met with an architect from MB Net Dezign, walked through the locker room project, and 
provided blue prints.  We are in the process of scheduling a subsequent August meeting.   

Thank you - 

 

Wilton-Lyndeborough Cooperative School District 
School Administrative Unit #63 

192 Forest Road Lyndeborough, NH 03082   
                       603-732-9227 
 

Wilton-Lyndeborough Cooperative School District provides a safe and educational environment that promotes student exploration, critical thinking and 
responsible citizenship. 

              Peter Weaver                                                      Ned Pratt                                                       Kristie LaPlante                   
Superintendent of Schools                           Director of Student Support Services                   Business Administrator           

  



WLC Principal’s Report
August 8, 2023

Special thank you to our Facilities Crew - Dynamic group of individuals, working hard inside/out.
Some items include but not limited to: Striping and waxing floors, Wiping everything down walls
included, Upgrades to art room, Outside landscaping

I’ve hosted meetings with: our facilities crew, parents, students, teachers, WLC Leadership
team, Milford HS principal, High Mowing leadership, Wilton Police Chief, Wilton Fire Chief, PTO
representatives.

Summer Math Academy: Three students attended regularly.
● iReady pre-assessment and post assessment: All students gained confidence in skills
● Areas of Focus: Numbers and Operations, Algebra/Algebraic Thinking, Measurement

and Data, and Geometry. All students improved in the areas of focus between 0.5 and
1.25 grade levels. Final activity - visited Canobie Lake Park

Advanced Placement Scores

Subject 1 2 3 4 5 Total

Biology 1 1 2 4

Computer Science 1 1

US History 1 1 2

** Scores of “3” or higher often may receive college credit.

Staffing:
● Need four to fill all positions: Computer Science, HS Science, HS math and MS math

○ Investigating options, including changes to the schedule, combining classes,
partnerships with Milford and/or High Mowing



Athletics:
● Cam Taber, Athletic Director (AD)
● Revising and updating our Coaches Handbook.
● Team start date August 14th
● AD to host Coaches Meeting to share expectations
● AD to host parent informational night
● Will be working closely with a mentor from the NHIAA

Meet & Greet:
6th grade 8:00-9:00 August 22, 2023
9th grade 8:30-9:30 August 22, 2023

Book Study - Common theme/focus this year.
● How Instructional Leadership Works

Personally, as a school leader:
● Read: Visible Learning for Teachers by John Hattie
● Read: Questioning for Formative Feedback; Meaningful Dialogue to Improve Learning
● Attending New Hampshire’s Leadership Institute (NHLI) math workshop August 8th with

Bill Comeford. First Quarter all math teachers will be meeting together to discuss best
practices, review data, and create goals

● Attending Keene State College’s Educator Conference 8/10

Updated Student Handbook and Program of Studies (Summa Cum Laude, NH Civics Law)

Dance Team!
Appreciation goes out to Mel Jones for her time and
commitment. 7 students went to camp. 3 trophies; 21
Ribbons. 2 bids to advanced competitions: Citrus
Bowl and Nationals (FL)



1

____________________________________________________

FLORENCE RIDEOUT ELEMENTARY SCHOOL
LYNDEBOROUGH CENTRAL SCHOOL

18 Tremont Street
Wilton, New Hampshire 03086

(603) 732-9229
www.sau63.org

Bridgette Fuller, Interim Associate Principal Samuel Metivier, School Counselor
Christina Gauthier, Administrative Assistant FRES Sherry LeBlanc, Administrative Assistant LCS

____________________________________________________
Associate Principal Report

August 8, 2023

FRES and LCS have been busy places this summer. Since the week of July 10, 2023, LCS has

hosted the Preschool Extended School Year and FRES has hosted Summer Academy and a Special

Education Extended School Year. All three programs have been well attended and staff have worked

hard to keep the students engaged and the curriculum targeted.

The maintenance staff has been busy waxing floors, painting walls, cleaning work spaces, and

moving classrooms. Every day, staff is working diligently and goes out of their way to ensure that when

teachers and students arrive at the end of August, they will have a school that is safe, shiny, and ready

for learning.

The administrative assistants at both LCS and FRES should be recognized for their hard work

and efforts. In addition to working to get students registered, supplies ordered, and materials organized,

both Ms. Gauthier and Ms. LeBlanc have dedicated time and energy to learning about leveraging more

from our district wide student information system, PowerSchool. The time and effort put into rostering

students, scheduling classes, and inputting competencies will ensure that in the coming months teachers

will be able to pilot gradebooks and in the future, use the SIS to generate report cards. A special thank

you goes out to the many folks at WLC who have taken the time to help support us with this process.

The Wilton-Lyndeborough Cooperative School District does not discriminate on the basis of race, color, religion, national origin,
age, sex, handicap, veteran status, sexual orientation, gender identity or marital status in its administration of educational

programs, activities or employment practice.

http://www.sau63.org


2
Our report card committee met this summer to address the need to switch our report card from

Publisher to a more current application. To gauge satisfaction with our current report card and to gain

perspective about potential changes, we developed and sent a needs assessment to families. Using

feedback from respondents, our committee drafted an interim report card. Our plan is to use the interim

report card while we transition to a PowerSchool report card. I will update the board with our timeline in

a coming board report.

We have several new staff members who are joining us this school year in both schools. Our

Mentor Coordinators, Ms. Dignan and Ms. Gosselin, have been working hard to develop a New Teacher

Orientation that ensures new teachers feel welcomed, informed, and supported. Additionally, teachers

from all grade levels have spent time this summer collaborating and planning with their new team

members. The energy and enthusiasm for the new school year is high!

Our district administration team has been working hard to ensure that we are aligned in our goals

for teaching and learning and are clear about our expectations for students. We have set common goals

for our academic culture (evidence based practices for teacher clarity and formative assessments) and

school culture (making data driven decisions to support student’s emotional-behavioral needs). We also

reviewed and edited our parent and student handbooks to reflect more of a vertical alignment. Click here

to view a draft of our edited Parent-Student handbook and here to review the original handbook with

strikethroughs.

IMPORTANT DATES

● August 7, 2023- Letters about the upcoming school year will be mailed to families and students
● August 10, 2023- Last day of ESY and Summer Academy

● August 16-17, 2023- New Teacher Orientation

● August 22, 2023- Meet and Greet for LCS (12:30-1:30) and FRES (1:30-2:30)

● August 21, 2023- First day for staff
● August 28, 2023- First day for students

The Wilton-Lyndeborough Cooperative School District does not discriminate on the basis of race, color, religion, national origin,
age, sex, handicap, veteran status, sexual orientation, gender identity or marital status in its administration of educational

programs, activities or employment practice.

https://docs.google.com/document/d/1eg2ZvMSehBt6yd3_VgxxVx6AaRUSDssmtz_DljHHj-4/edit?usp=sharing
https://docs.google.com/document/d/1InvgGV5hhUBbzG6BSHhV9jeCdT9nQLfL3yN6TuANBRE/edit?usp=sharing


 

Wilton-Lyndeborough Cooperative School District provides a safe and educational environment that promotes student exploration, critical thinking and 
responsible citizenship. 

The Wilton-Lyndeborough Cooperative School District does not discriminate on the basis of race, color, religion, national origin, age, sex, handicap, veteran status, sexual 
orientation, gender identity or marital status in its administration of educational programs, activities or employment practice. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Curriculum Coordinator Report August 8, 2023 
 
 

Professional Learning 
Professional Development  
The building-level administrative team is participating in a book study.  Reading a book based on 
John Hattie's research, who is a renowned educational expert on reading and compiling 
educational research.  This book takes several of the practices that are research-based to support 
good student learning and breaks them down to how leaders can support teachers in building 
these types of good practices into their academic culture. We still have a lot more to learn about, 
but this book has catapulted some really excellent dialogue at the administrative level.   
 
The New Hampshire Learning Initiative (https://nhlearninginitiative.org/), is an organization of 
former educators looking to support teachers in receiving quality professional development.  
This organization has used grants to fund two professional development opportunities some of 
our staff members have been lucky enough to attend.  The first is the OGAP training.  OGAP 
stands for Ongoing Assessment Project.  Essentially, this training is supporting teachers in how 
to use formative assessment (assessment that informs their teaching) in math.  This was a 4-day 
in-person training that will meet virtually several times this fall as follow-ups to the summer 
learning.  The second opportunity is the New Hampshire Place training.  This training is offering 
a deeper understanding of Competency-Based education, as well as how to align this type of 
learning to our state standards.  Both of these training sessions were things we mentioned as part 
of our plan to move forward this spring.  The teachers who attended these training sessions are 
going to share their learning out at staff meetings and IMPACT/PLC meetings in their respective 
buildings.   
 
New Teacher Program 
With there being a large number of new staff in the district this year, Katie Gosselin and I are 
taking on the New Teacher Program together.  The New Teacher Orientation is taking place 
August 16th and 17th from 8:30-3.  We are already embedding several of the strategies we are 
learning about in our book study at New Teacher Orientation next week.  We have built a 
schedule for the days they come in around what the teachers need to be successful in supporting 
the students of the WLCSD.  They will have time to look at curriculum, get a tour of the towns, 
learn about iReady, get to meet their mentor teachers, and hopefully have a little bit of fun while 
doing so.   
   

Wilton-Lyndeborough Cooperative School District 
School Administrative Unit #63 

192 Forest Road Lyndeborough, NH 03082   
                       603-732-9227 
 

      Peter Weaver                                                        Samantha Dignan                                                       Kristie LaPlante                    
Superintendent of Schools                                      Curriculum Coordinator                    Business Administrator           

  
  



 

Wilton-Lyndeborough Cooperative School District provides a safe and educational environment that promotes student exploration, critical thinking and 
responsible citizenship. 

The Wilton-Lyndeborough Cooperative School District does not discriminate on the basis of race, color, religion, national origin, age, sex, handicap, veteran status, sexual 
orientation, gender identity or marital status in its administration of educational programs, activities or employment practice. 

 
Curriculum 

I’m excited to say that if you look at our district website, the Scope and Sequence and 
Competency documents for Math (1-12), ELA(6-12), and Social Studies (6-12) are uploaded.  
The Scope and Sequence document contains the order in which units are taught as well as the 
basic outline of what content is covered. The Competency documents are the skills students will 
obtain by learning about these units.  The next step in the process is to get the Unified Arts 
(called Specials at FRES/LCS) scope and sequence and competency documents up.   
 

FRES 
Mrs. Fuller and I have worked collaboratively this summer on a great deal.  We have revised the 
Parent/Student handbook.  She has provided a copy to the board for review.  We worked on 
developing a master schedule that allows for both remediation and accelerated learning.  This 
schedule is integral in our ability to maintain what we are already offering for WIN and special 
education services, but also add the accelerated learning component.   
 
Miscellaneous 
Since the last board meeting, the administrative team has worked collaboratively to ensure that 
we are following through on the ideas we generated this spring as areas to improve upon for the 
coming school year.  Teachers have attended (and will continue to attend) professional 
development in the area of math, at WLC the PLC model has been adjusted, and we now are 
starting the year for the first time ever with a WIN time K-12.  We continue to meet and monitor 
our progress toward our list of action steps.   
 
 



Enrollment 2022‐2023

Wilton‐Lyndeborough Cooperative School District

Grades First Day Sept. Oct. 1 Fall  Oct.  Nov. Dec. Jan. Feb. March April May June

Pre‐k 0 12 12 12 13 13 14 14 14 16 16 16

*K 42 42 42 42 43 43 40 40 41 41 41 41

1 47 46 46 46 46 46 44 44 44 44 44 44

2 60 61 61 61 61 61 60 60 60 60 61 61

3 39 39 39 40 40 40 40 40 39 39 39 39

4 57 58 58 57 57 57 56 56 56 56 56 56

5 36 38 38 38 38 37 36 36 36 36 37 37

6 41 42 42 43 43 43 42 42 42 42 42 42

7 40 40 40 41 42 42 42 42 41 41 40 40

8 45 42 42 42 42 42 42 42 40 40 40 40

9 33 33 33 32 32 31 32 32 32 33 33 34

10 41 41 41 41 42 42 42 43 42 42 42 42

11 28 26 26 26 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 25

12 43 46 46 46 46 46 46 46 46 46 46 46

Total 552 566 566 567 570 568 561 562 558 561 562 563

 

LCS 42 54 54 54 56 56 54 54 55 57 57 57

FRES 239 242 242 242 242 241 236 236 235 235 237 237

MS 126 124 124 126 127 127 126 126 123 123 122 122

HS 145 146 146 145 145 144 145 146 145 146 146 147

First Day 8/29/22    

Pre‐k/Pre‐school First Day 9/6/22 Final Total   563

   





































School Board District Goals Notes  

School District Mission Statement 

Wilton‐Lyndeborough Cooperative School District provides a safe and educational 
environment that promotes student exploration, critical thinking, and responsible 
citizenship. 

 

Below is a draft of the district’s 2023‐2024 goals as discussed at the previous school board 
meeting.  Once accepted, school leaders will develop evidence and data points to answer the 
question:  How do we know if we are being successful?  As importantly:  If we are not being 
successful, what are we doing about it?   

 

 Academic Achievement 

To improve overall student academic performance and competency by supporting 

evidence‐based teaching strategies, differentiated learning approaches, and promoting 

a positive learning environment 

(This goal would include standardized scores, grades, attendance, graduation rates, etc.) 

 

 Education Culture 

To continue to improve the education culture by establishing a safe and respectful 

environment where all students are valued and supported, strengthening relationships 

with families and community, and developing and supporting the professional culture of 

our staff. 

(This goal would include recognizing and celebrating students and staff, improved 
communication, community partnerships that promote student success, recruitment and 
retention, etc.) 

 

 

 

 

 



 

   

WILTON-LYNDEBOROUGH COOPERATIVE 1 
SCHOOL BOARD MEETING 2 

Tuesday, June 13, 2023 3 
Wilton-Lyndeborough Cooperative M/H School 4 

  6:30 p.m. 5 
 6 
The videoconferencing link was published several places including on the meeting agenda. 7 
 8 
Present: Dennis Golding, Brianne Lavallee, Matt Mannarino (online until 10:50pm), Tiffany Cloutier-Cabral, Darlene 9 
Anzalone, Geoffrey Allen, Diane Foss, Jonathan Lavoie 10 
 11 
Superintendent Peter Weaver, Business Administrator Kristie LaPlante, Principal Sarah Edmunds and Associate Principal 12 
Bridgette Fuller, Director of Student Support Services Ned Pratt, Technology Director Nicholas Buroker, Curriculum 13 
Coordinator Samantha Dignan, and Clerk Kristina Fowler 14 
 15 

I. CALL TO ORDER  16 
Chairman Golding called the meeting to order at 6:30pm. 17 
 18 

II. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 19 
The Pledge of Allegiance was recited. 20 
 21 

III. STUDENT SCHOOL BOARD REPRESENTATIVE REPORT 22 
Ms. Edmunds gave an overview of the report in the student’s absence. She spoke of many activities that are going on and the 23 
students are gearing up for finals. They thanked the Board for the air conditioners and they are excited for the field trips they are 24 
taking. There was excitement when they were writing the report and apologize for not being present this evening. Even though it 25 
has been cooler weather, the air conditioners are working well on humid days like today. 26 
 27 

IV. PRESENTATION-SCHOOL RESOURCE OFFICER 28 
Police Chiefs Rance Deware and Eric Olesen were present and here to provide information regarding a School Resource Officer 29 
(SRO). Superintendent voiced we gathered information and wanted to ask what the next steps should be, the most critical is how 30 
to fund it. (Slides can be found with the minutes.) Chief Olesen voiced the individual chosen is a member of law enforcement 31 
that likes to interact with the teens and youth and become involved with the school and community in several ways. He has 32 
spoken with other SROs and they want to be involved and see the school and community flourish. Chief Deware added it is a 33 
community-based partnership. They don’t just participate in the school atmosphere but school functions and they have to be 34 
flexible with their schedule to accommodate this. The SRO would educate with drug and alcohol prevention, education is 95% of 35 
what we do. Having an SRO makes it easier to facilitate to get things done in a more timely manner they have access 36 
immediately. They help with anti-bullying, and law related curriculum, and emergency planning which is something we do over 37 
the summer. They would help with ALICE training which we are working on now. They build trust through relationships with 38 
staff and students. Chief Olesen spoke of a situation that the SRO played a key role in. He spoke of the police coming to the 39 
schools for pop in visits and the students and staff being supportive to having them here. There is a decrease in calls to the police 40 
department when there is an SRO in the schools as they take care of it. A question was raised what happens if the SRO is absent, 41 
what is the plan for this. Chief Olesen would research that and speak to see an SRO to see what they do in that situation. Chief 42 
Deware added, we would develop a job description and include that. Mr. Allen voiced that he works with SROs and hears of the 43 
tertiary effects of having one such as bullying etc. although he does not find any data on this. He asked if there is any data. Chief 44 
Olesen would speak with other SROs to see if they have data and would get back to him. Superintendent voiced the number 1 45 
priority for the SRO is to keep the school system safe and he does not want to lose sight of this; it is hard to find data on it. A 46 
question was raised if one of the reasons it is difficult to find data is because it is anecdotal. Ms. Foss spoke of her experience 47 
with an SRO in the Merrimack School District, they are really part of the community and she was impressed with the 48 
relationship the kids had with him. Superintendent responded there are so many factors, anecdotal is certainly one. He notes 49 
there is a lot to work out but it is beyond just security although that is the priority. He believes the community benefits, there is a 50 
triangulation there and the SRO ties it all together. There are families that are struggling and they might talk to the SRO. Ms. 51 
Lavallee also found that there are no statistics. She spoke of the increase of students with IEP and increase in mental health 52 
concerns and the SRO has a 48-hour training program, should the person hired have specialized training in something like 53 
mental health or are we looking at a broader range. Chief Deware responded in order to be an SRO in NH you have to be 54 
certified. They have training for 40 or 80 hours and have advanced training. If we put someone in here, we will train them; they 55 
have to be vetted and trained. Chief Olesen added they are completely vetted and go through what we went through as law 56 
enforcement. A question was raised if it is hard to find candidates. They do not have this information at this time. A question 57 



 

   

was raised what kind of relationship an SRO would have with guidance. Chief Olesen spoke that they have a great relationship 58 
with guidance now in all the schools, whoever is approved would need to mesh with guidance. In these environments, we 59 
understand there are IEP’s and confidentiality is key. Discussion was had regarding the SRO, visibility and safety are primary 60 
day-to-day responsibilities and the other things that come along with it are what we are trying to achieve by being here. Ms. 61 
Cloutier-Cabral spoke of researching this in 2019 and spoke of a case in Maine where the SRO played a key role in an unsafe 62 
situation for a student and prevented it from happening. This made her realize how important the position is. She had spoken 63 
with many students in other districts such as Milford, Nashua and Concord who have an SRO and did not hear any negative 64 
feedback. Chief Olesen spoke of the many school shootings and mass shootings, which have increased since 2018 and provided 65 
some data. A question was raised that Milford has an SRO, did anyone speak with that SRO. Chief Olesen did not because we 66 
are a cooperative but he did speak with Hollis-Brookline. They are favorable and funded a second position. He also spoke with 67 
Bow and can have a SRO come to speak to the Board to talk about what they do. A question was raised how many instances 68 
would an SRO have helped in or prevented had we had one and what is Chief Olesen’s opinion if it would help his department 69 
having one here. Chief Olesen said many things we are coming up for he believes would probably been avoided if an SRO had 70 
been here although will not go into specifics. If an SRO were here in a lot instances, it would not happen. You have someone 71 
walking the halls and monitoring things. He notes they do like coming into the schools, popping in to see what is going on, walk 72 
the halls, and talk to teachers and students etc. Ms. LaPlante spoke of cost options. It requires a partnership with the police 73 
department and it has to be someone in Wilton to be able to take action. They spoke to the Town Administrator in Wilton 74 
regarding what the salary and benefits are and provided the options. There would be 180 days committed to the school (70%); 75 
the budget estimated cost range is $115,000-$142,000 depending on experience. Option 1, the district pays 100%, 260 days a 76 
year, which ensures the district, has an SRO, 80 days would be employed with Wilton PD. That option has some technicalities 77 
with the DRA.  Option 2, district pays a proportionate share, 180 days at a cost of $80,000-$99,400, traditional school 78 
district/community approach and requires the support of Wilton community and PD. That option most communities do with a 79 
MOU. Because we would ask Wilton to pay for a portion, 35% of the cost, it requires conversation and dialog, Wilton benefits 80 
but if they don’t need one, it is hard discussion. Option 3 is a private armed security guard, cost about $35 per hour, 81 
approximately $50,400 that allows for added security at a lower cost but the role is limited to security and accountable to the 82 
private employer. It does not give us the ability to work with the person, we would have to go to their supervisor and it may 83 
increase Wilton’s involvement up here, as they may not be trained to deal with schools and students.  The last option is status 84 
quo we take no action. They have looked at grant opportunities and they do not fund the creation of it but will fund overtime for 85 
some things. Chief Olesen voiced having an armed security guard is not a good idea. Who vetted the security company, what 86 
kind of training has the person had with kids, with a firearm. If something is not going on in the school you will get nothing for 87 
your $35 per hour except an individual standing there with a gun, there is no interaction with the kids or community. Mr. 88 
Mannarino echoed Chief Olesen’s concerns against an armed security guard for the same reasons he mentioned. Chief Olesen 89 
confirmed a discussion or presentation would have to go before the Wilton Select Board to receive their thoughts and direction if 90 
moved forward. A question was raised when it comes down to hiring a person will the Board or Superintendent have a say in 91 
who was hired. Chief Olesen does not think that would be a problem at all. A question was raised if we could hire someone who 92 
wanted summers off and have more of school year schedule and only pay for that. Chief Olesen said he would have to think 93 
about that, typically, they are full time police officers and when they are not in school, they are on patrol, which keeps them 94 
fresh, and it affords them the time to do any required training. In 2023, NH mandated they do 60 hours of additional training 95 
above their normal training.  Superintendent voiced there may be cost savings opportunities; we would need to talk to the Select 96 
Board about that. It was suggested to see what other districts are doing to save on cost. He noted one district that was unable to 97 
fund it and subcontracted with the state police and local PD but it is not the same person and eliminates the opportunity for the 98 
other things we spoke of. Chief Olesen confirms if we move forward the MOU we have in place would need to change. He has 99 
examples of that and will share those. Ms. Foss expressed she is not in favor of having a security guard, she feels our kids 100 
deserve more. A question was raised if Wilton needs another officer. Chief Olesen responded we could always use more officers 101 
whether or not we need it. When we are at full capacity, we have 8 officers, which is enough for patrol and all that we do. 102 
Adding a 9th to be an SRO, he believes we could use. A question was raised if we fund it through the budget both towns would 103 
have to vote and are we sharing with Lyndeborough on certain days. Chief Deware confirms that the SRO would still do thing at 104 
LCS but the other 30% of their time belongs to Wilton. We have mutual aid and his town administrator and selectman are 100% 105 
on board with this. A question was raised if it has been discussed with Wilton. Superintendent confirms they have spoken twice, 106 
the next step is to have direct conversations with the select board but we wanted your blessing before we did that. With your 107 
support, we would set up a time to meet with Wilton and the Town Administrator. He would come back to the Board with 108 
feedback \ and to determine how/if to move forward. He would like to have the meeting prior to July 1. Ms. Lavallee voiced she 109 
supports having the meeting but suggests to have a Board representative attend, one from Wilton and one from Lyndeborough. 110 
Ms. Anzalone and Ms. Cloutier-Cabral volunteer to attend.  111 



 

   

 112 
A MOTION was made by Mr. Lavoie and SECONDED by Mr. Allen to adjust the agenda and move into public comment before 113 
a vote on the SRO subject. 114 
Voting: via roll call vote, all aye; motion carried. 115 
 116 

 PUBLIC COMMENTS 117 
The public comment section of the agenda was read. 118 

 119 
Ms. Tatiana Franko, Lyndeborough voiced having an SRO is a preemptive approach to criminality and she is greatly in favor of 120 
that as there is plenty of crime that has been committed in our community. Having an SRO would help to nip crime in the bud. I 121 
hope that all parents in Wilton and Lyndeborough are looking to raise law-abiding citizens as she is. She questions if the Board 122 
submitted applications for grants to Homeland Security or any other agency and have you exhausted all options. Superintendent 123 
responded that he and Ms. LaPlante did and worked with the Chiefs and applied for a grant but it was only for existing SRO 124 
programs. We are still looking and are hopeful. It would have been easier to come before you if we had the funding available. 125 
 126 
Mr. Thomas Schulz, Wilton thanked administration for this subject up. He has pursued this with Wilton since 2007. In 2004, 127 
they discussed it and it did not move forward. In 2009, he spoke of this during district meeting regarding having an SRO 128 
involved. Both the Boards declined to pursue it. In 2012, he brought it in front of the Board. He read part of his statement from 129 
that time. At that time, he reviewed other surrounding districts who had SROs at that time. It has been discussed for 19 years 130 
without resolution to have it done. He spoke of a study/survey done by UNH that showed teachers and students gave SROs high 131 
marks. He provided additional results from the survey. This is still available on line, quantitative data showing the value of 132 
having an SRO. It reported students and teachers felt much safer when an SRO was placed in school. Teachers reported less drug 133 
activity, less bullying, less gang activity and disruptive behaviors etc. The Chief did note that school shootings are on the 134 
increase in this country. The value of an SRO has been quantitatively shown here in NH by a survey from the University of NH 135 
across multiple school districts have been supplemented also by the fact we have a serious issue in this country with gun 136 
violence and need to think about providing qualified protection, law enforcement, not security guards in our schools. A previous 137 
Superintendent of this SAU who was a Superintendent in Monadnock School District, Leo Corriveau had been noted in the 138 
Union Leader as seeing SROs as not only a deterrent and someone could coordinate emergency responses, help with truancy, 139 
and educate students and teachers about safety along with a range of other activities. Not only has the University of NH found 140 
this to be of value but also your own previous Superintendent found it valuable and was promoting it. This has been discussed 141 
for 19 years in this district and I really hope we don’t go to years 20 or 30 before we take action. He is glad to see it on the 142 
agenda and hopes you pursue it. 143 
 144 
DJ Garcia, Wilton, he is a Selectman. He came here tonight because he heard of it 3 weeks ago and he reached out to some board 145 
members and had a discussion in private with them to see what they knew. It was what he had heard that there would be an 146 
approach to Wilton to help fund this. He thought it would be good to get involved and be prepared. What he is hearing pleases 147 
him that your meetings go similarly to his where things show up and you have to maybe respond to it. He encourages you to take 148 
time to read into it and make your own decision and assumption. It is a bigger issue than a police officer or SRO. He believes it 149 
is a resource issue. That is something a lot of people and communities lack is the necessary resources and if we had stockpile of 150 
officers or money to draw on to do all the things that everybody needed we would do it probably pretty readily and easily. He 151 
didn’t prepare any of this, he wanted to come here and hear what you had to say. The last point is in his own research is it came 152 
to his attention last summer was a Bill, signed by the Governor; HB1178 does not prevent anyone from having a firearm in this 153 
building, even an 18 year old student. He thinks it creates a mixing pot for a situation that whatever SRO was here may need to 154 
be prepared to deal with. He shudders at the thought of anyone allowed to have a firearm in this building or weapon; they would 155 
have to be intercepted by the SRO and what that situation could mean. On a funding aspect, there could be a situation where the 156 
SAU could decide how this SRO best serves the school. There could be details made available where officers of Wilton and 157 
Lyndeborough or potentially surrounding police departments could take those details up like a simple math equation, The pay for 158 
a detail is roughly, $75 an hour for 180 days a year from start and end of school day would be roughly $35,000 and you can 159 
decide when you want to have an SRO. He can see during the day that the SRO is just kind of there and you may have staff to do 160 
those things but maybe that is something you can consider further when you actually need a person here to do those tasks and 161 
maybe make it as a detail first and see how that sticks and take it from there.  162 
 163 
Mr. Jonathan Vanderhoof, Lyndeborough, spoke we have a small district with multiple buildings spread out. He is not against an 164 
SRO but as just explained funding, is an issue. He heard a lot of bad mouthing of security guards; his main concern is the school 165 



 

   

shooting issue. Sometimes you have to call the PD that is the way it is in a small town. The Chief brought up examples of how 166 
they are trained and those are questions you should ask when you hire a security guard. We don’t want you to just pick a place; 167 
you have to ask all those questions. You get a lot out of it, at minimum deterrence. If you look at previous shootings they are not 168 
random acts, they are preplanned, they are looking at the schools, looking at soft targets. Given you have multiple building he 169 
does not think you should shut out the security guard yet given the expense of the SRO. If all you get out of it is deterrence, it is 170 
something that I as a parent would appreciate.  171 
 172 
Superintendent called out all the phone numbers and names joined in the meeting asking if they wanted to comment. 173 
 174 

Ms. Deb Mortvedt, Wilton, commented that DJ brought up that people are able to carry guns at school that is not how she read 175 
the Bill. She thought our schools were gun free zones. She spoke to school board members and thought there was a sign outside 176 
that says that and that pupils are not allowed to carry guns at school or could be expelled up to a year. She questions if the SRO 177 
at the beginning of the day would be checking students as they come into school. 178 
 179 
Ms. Sara Straw, Wilton, is pleased that Wilton is finally looking into an SRO. As a parent, it is an important resource to look into 180 
and as a teacher in a neighboring town; she has seen the great benefits of it.  181 
 182 
Chairman Golding asked if a motion is needed to continue discussing it. Superintendent suspects that if the Board were ok with 183 
them moving forward to get more information and researching some things and with their support, they would like to meet with 184 
the town administration and selectman. There was no objection heard. The Chiefs were thanked for their time and attending. 185 

 186 
V. PRESENTATION-INTERDISCIPLINARY UNIT 9TH GRADE 187 

Teachers Erin Rosana and Stephanie Erickson along with student Tyler in the 9th grade presented the 9th grade interdisciplinary 188 
unit on World War II. (A copy of the slides can be found with the minutes.) We tried at the HS to do more integrating. When we 189 
started talking about curriculum, we realized we could make a connection in a disciplinary unit. She reviewed what the students 190 
get out of it, academic conversations from a range of disciplines, promotes engagement and accountability, broader 191 
understanding of the concept/concepts etc. The presentation included the unit overview and that these things were being done at 192 
the same time in the different classes. The state standards were included in the presentation. The learning portfolio included 2 193 
pocket folders with an assignment list for each student. They had formative assignments for both World History and Integrated 194 
Science. There was a common assessment rubric so they knew they would be assessed. All the World History and Integrated 195 
Science activities were kept in the portfolio and turned in at the end of the unit for grading. Both course units began with an 196 
active reading assignment. They did battle stations in Social Studies that were collaborative; one side had historical battle 197 
information and the other side had integrated science information. In science, one of the tasks was about the ecological impacts 198 
of the Pacific Theatre Battles. Students had a Google Earth tour learned about the different environments that could have been 199 
impacted and the endangered species of each of each Pacific Island Battle. They reviewed the assignments and activities students 200 
did. That included looking at what was going on in the atmosphere, temperature changes from 1930-1955. The major task for 201 
freshman was to write a lengthy research paper and pick any topic of WW II. They did a great job. While they did this, they 202 
wanted to bring in other classes like algebra and English. They have received some feedback to make it better for next year’s 203 
freshman. Tyler, 9th grade student spoke about what he got from the portfolio process. We learned about treaties, battles and all 204 
the stuff for social studies and the weather effects of Hiroshima. He liked that they were given one for each class and both were 205 
on the same unit. We learned about weather in both classes. He like it. Ms. Erickson said some students said they enjoyed that it 206 
showed different aspects of the war, it goes more in depth on the topics. A question was raised to Tyler, what is sticking with 207 
him as the most impactful. Tyler responded all that happened, the impact of the Holocaust and impact of Hiroshima and how all 208 
the radioactive stuff that came our effected the climate and gasses, it was interesting to read about. Ms. Erickson said it is the 209 
first time since she has been here that the 9th grade has done this and they are trying to do more of it. They were all thanked for 210 
their time it was impressive.  211 
 212 

VI. ADJUSTMENTS TO THE AGENDA 213 
Superintendent requested to add an adjustment of an additional appointment of MS English teacher. 214 
 215 
A MOTION was made by Ms. Lavallee and SECONDED by Mr. Allen to accept the adjustments to the agenda. 216 
Voting: via roll call role, all aye; motion carried. 217 
 218 

VII. PUBLIC COMMENTS 219 
 See above. 220 
 221 

VIII. BOARD CORRESPONDENCE 222 
a. Reports 223 

i. WLCTA Report 224 



 

   

Ms. Becky Hawkes was present and reviewed her report of events in the district. State testing was completed across the district 225 
and teachers had their data analysis days in early June. Kindergarten is screening new students for early literacy/math skills, 226 
speech, and OT needs. Fifth grade graduation is on June 20. Step up day was on June 8th and 5th grade visited the middle school. 227 
There were many field trips including Seacoast Science Center, Peabody Mills, NH State Capitol, Squam Lake, Canobie Park 228 
and Lake Winnipesauke. Field day is on June 16 with a rain date of June 19. She spoke of LTRS training; the first cohort is 229 
ending units 1-4. There are 20 teachers doing it and it is worth 12 graduate credits. It is a big deal and she wanted to give a shout 230 
out to how wonderful it is.  231 

ii. Superintendent’s Report 232 
Superintendent gave an overview of his report. He spoke of the leak from the sprinkler under the stage, more water seeped 233 
through the gym floor and it needs to be replaced. We are fortunate we are able to replace it for the deductible cost of $1,000. It 234 
will be tricky to do that and as the other projects being done and expect it will run into September. It will give the PE classes an 235 
opportunity to get outside and we will use the cafeteria for other things. We will have a new floor, a new divider and a new 236 
motor. The next thing is the banners need to come down, cleaned and organized. Likely July will be when we can start on the 237 
floor. He informed the members that Olga Thompson, HS math teacher has retracted her acceptance of the position and it has 238 
been reposted. He reviewed the open positions. Ms. LaPlante spoke of the WLC dishwasher. She reviewed the ventilation 239 
system does need to be replaced and it is complicated and costly. She suggests putting off the replacement of the dishwasher as it 240 
is in decent shape and the biggest problem is the seals. Although we would love to replace it, it requires a ventilation system to 241 
pull moisture outside. The Board approved $28,000 and this quote is running about $35,000 and does not include the trades 242 
needed such as electrical. She asks if the Board wanted to approve $35,000-$37,000 or do the projects one at a time. The 243 
dishwasher is functional and with new seals, we will get about a year out of it. She suggests doing venting now and properly 244 
budgeting for the rest. It is in the best interest of the taxpayers to focus on what we need and budgeting for future needs that are 245 
not dire at this time. She does not believe it needs a vote, just for you to know we are pursuing the project a little differently 246 
there was no objection heard. 247 

iii. Director of Student Services Report 248 
Mr. Pratt reported he sent the Board a lot of material; it is comprehensive. The items contained are standards for school 249 
psychologists and social workers. He hopes it helps to answer some of the questions members had. We identified funding; it is a 250 
contracted service position without benefits. He spoke of being excited to service all kids noting we have discussed last time 251 
about the climate and how things have changed over the years and how important it is to provide services for our kids, schools 252 
and families. He is asking the Board for a vote to move forward this evening. This was a lengthy discussion. Ms. Anzalone 253 
spoke of it being a lot of information and has not had a chance to go through it. She is requesting more time for the Board to 254 
review it. Mr. Pratt responded that he would not be at the next meeting to answer questions. Mr. Allen echoes the request for 255 
more time as he has not had a chance to go through it and it is a lot of material. He is asking that it be tabled. A question was 256 
raised if it is tabled, will it impede Mr. Pratt from moving forward. Mr. Pratt responds yes.  257 
 258 
A MOTION was made by Mr. Allen and SECONDED by Ms. Anzalone to table the “Behavioral Resource Center”. 259 
 260 
A question was raised, if it I tabled, what would the consequences be. Mr. Pratt responded the first meeting we have is in August 261 
and it will be hard to find someone in that short of time and it is unlikely the program would be able to start September 1. He has 262 
started programs during the school year but there are a number of students who need this right off. Discussion was had that this a 263 
program brought to the Board to approve, they had a handful of questions and they received a lot of information to review with 264 
nothing highlighted. A question was raised how did Mr. Pratt expect they could approve it. Mr. Pratt believes the questions had 265 
revolved around gray areas. It was noted that the information provided should have been focused on that. Mr. Pratt reviewed the 266 
amount of information was not meant to be a distractor but to give you a clear understanding of the gray areas that these social 267 
worker and psychologist deal with on a daily basis. He cannot give you definitive answers because there is none. The Code of 268 
Ethics and expectations from both the professional organization and state regulations are clear. It is a collaborative endeavor; it 269 
is not an isolated relationship. He voiced that he cannot tell you with every certainty when parents would be notified by school 270 
counselors, social workers or school psychologist, as he cannot with staff. As administrators, we are obligated to make sure our 271 
staff follow the behavior they are supposed to based on their licensure and the laws and regulations of NH. Do I ever envision a 272 
situation where a student would enter the program or spend time in the program without parent’s authorization, no. Do I expect a 273 
situation where parents would say, there is no way I want my child in this room, yes I do and they wouldn’t be. We will hire 274 
someone with good judgement and who follows the Code of Ethics. This is designed to help students not only in school but also 275 
outside if they choose to see a therapist. He adds I cannot answer all the gray areas, I have to depend on the ethics and laws put 276 
forth. He was asked what specific regulations did he want to point out. He responded that he provided that for the social worker 277 
and school psychologists.  278 
 279 
Ms. Lavallee called Point of Order.  280 
 281 
Mr. Allen and Ms. Anzalone WITHDREW the MOTION.   282 
 283 
Discussion continued. Mr. Pratt directed the group to documents, NH Code Admin. ED 507.08, school psychologist and 507.14, 284 
school social worker. Discussion included receiving feedback from people whose opinions revolve around what we are talking 285 
about on both sides. It was expressed that concerns heard are that Mr. Pratt has declared you can’t envision when a time a child 286 



 

   

would be in there without consent but the reality is the parent could have zero say if their child is in that program or whether they 287 
are told this or what is being discussed. It was noted there is no policy regarding this and they are just directed to the standards. 288 
Mr. Allen spoke that NH court ruled those standards are not applicable in all cases and these are the concerns he is hearing. 289 
Based on that and the inability to do the research, and no policy that directs us he is not comfortable moving forward. Mr. Pratt 290 
spoke that as Director of Student Support Services he is to bring issues to the Board and Superintendent when he knows of them. 291 
We vetted the type of program that is necessary for elementary and may be necessary for WLC as well with the entire 292 
administrative staff and school counselors. In the 4 years he has been here, he has been asked to create programing on the fly and 293 
has proven through the amazing work from the staff to be effective. I bring this to you tonight because we have an immediate 294 
need. I bring you ideas for programs I hope you will support and if you choose to not support them I understand and respect that 295 
but understand that I have to address the needs for students immediately, which means finding other places to put them. He 296 
understands there is not a lot of time to review the material; the packet goes out about a week in advance before the meeting. He 297 
apologizes he cannot be at the next meeting. Regardless of the decision, he will do the right thing for the kids and make sure they 298 
get the help. The cost for out of district placement is about $130,000 including transportation. This is an attempt to not do those 299 
things; the best place to have our kids is closer to home with their friends. I need to make sure our kids get the services they 300 
need. Ms. Lavallee added last year they voted on HB 1244 and it passed which states we have to notify parents, they have to opt-301 
in for any medical treatment. Mr. Pratt confirms that is correct. She questioned if the data Associate Principal Fuller had 302 
mentioned previously about collecting if it weighed in on this, do we have data that supports this program. It was confirmed 303 
there was some tracking being done since December at FRES. The data collected was considered in the decision of this 304 
programing. Mr. Pratt confirms we do have data to support this. At FRES, we are getting more area referrals for 1st and 2nd grade 305 
and more in class episodes in 1st and 2nd grade. It is happening in preschool and kindergarten too. Our students are having some 306 
issues and it is much worse than it has been in his career. He is used to seeing it in MS and HS but not in the elementary grades 307 
and lower. Often parents are saying I don’t know what to do. I try to get outside help and we can’t see anyone for 4 months and 308 
are on waiting lists. In my position, I am supposed to support students and if we can do something to help them with lower costs, 309 
I will ask. Ms. Lavallee noted, it sounds like the hiring process would be affected if we do not move forward tonight. She 310 
referred members to policy JLD that is the school guidance and programing policy and JLDBA, which is the behavioral 311 
management, and intervention policy, which were last updated in 2010. Given the Board is looking for guidance in a policy, 312 
would it be appropriate for us to take on those 2 policies to make sure it has safeguards for state law and task administration to 313 
come up with a procedure/program outline provided to us with details you are asking for. It is important for us to know what it 314 
will look like and taxpayers want to know what they are paying for. She voiced support for this and also in supports more 315 
information for parents to feel more comfortable and for taxpayers. She asks if that would make it more likely that we could 316 
move forward tonight. Discussion continued including that opting into programs varies, the law says parents have no right to that 317 
information, it is not like taking your child to a therapist it is much different for us to bring that into the school, lack of 318 
information exists in both instances, and the law is whatever it is now, that does not change it.  Ms. Cloutier-Cabral voiced 319 
support for the program. She adds if you don’t want your child this program you can opt-out that is what the situation is. Mr. 320 
Allen disagreed with that. Mr. Pratt clarifies there would not be a student in this program without parents knowing that. He 321 
expressed right now we have kids seeing the school psychologist and social worker and we navigate with parents those 322 
conversations and it will be similar here. He pledged to the Board this is not a program where we will put kids in and say oh by 323 
the way your kid is here, it will not happen in this district. He has been the special education director for 4 years and feels he has 324 
proven to focus on kids and be fiscally responsible and make sure the kids can thrive in school. Discussion continued including 325 
there is a shortage in mental health services, kids are on waiting lists and may never be seen, we should not deny a child, parents 326 
are working double shifts trying to manage sometimes the unexpected, we have people in the community who don’t and want 327 
their child involved. Ms. Cloutier-Cabral shared her experience and voiced that she has faith that Mr. Pratt will follow through, 328 
she spoke of tabling it would  being more of a denial for those who need it; people have other situations and lets be thoughtful 329 
before tabling something when we need it, there has never been more of a need for it. Ms. Anzalone voiced that she is concerned 330 
about making sure there is not information being withheld from the parents and why as a parent would she not have the right to 331 
know everything about my child, I am the expert on my child, you are the expert on your child. She is concerned that it sounds 332 
like there may be information withheld, what will the professional hear that I won’t hear about. She is concerned about those 333 
gray areas. This was discussed. Mr. Pratt voiced gray areas are hard to define, the bottom line comes down to if we are in a 334 
situation where the parent wanted the child to be part of the program it is a response to what is happening in school and if the 335 
parent says I don’t want this, we terminate. When we work with the kids, we have to respect the individual parent. When it is a 336 
safety issue, when a child is in direct harm, here in school, community and in home if that is the case you pretty much know 337 
something is happening and DCYF or the police are coming to visit you. We are not going to be in a situation where I will put 338 
people in a situation where their own licensure is jeopardized. Ms. Lavallee voiced the program we are talking about; parents do 339 
have the right to not have their child participate. That being said she understands the apprehension and concern. Her experience 340 
with social workers, which is the position we would be looking for, is their role is to help the individual to promote how to have 341 
positive family relationships. They will involve the parents in those conversations. They promote and guide the child in having 342 
discussions with their parents. She sees the apprehension but also sees a positive benefit of having this program. Part of having 343 
these safeties in place is that all the key people are in place. Are there gray areas where parents would not be notified there are 344 
and she knows that because if there is an incidence of abuse or potential harm to the student, it is a legal obligation to report that. 345 
She notes she is also aware of how infrequent that is. Ms. Foss voiced she was grateful that Mr. Pratt is going to the trouble to 346 
look at something like this; he is in special education and has his hands full. COVID put us in a situation where we need to look 347 
at this with a broader lens; she didn’t realize kids as young as he said were having issues. In her work in hospitals, she is aware 348 



 

   

that they have stringent rules and has no doubt they will follow those rules and has less concern but has concern that the students 349 
are so young. As a speech pathologist, she is a mandated reporter and she has to report any potential abuse. She is not the only 350 
professional who has to do that. You have to tread lightly and follow the law. She supports moving forward with the program in 351 
some capacity and not in favor of tabling it and losing the momentum. She thanked Mr. Pratt. The rules are extensive and there 352 
for a reason. Mr. Pratt spoke this is the toughest part of his job, the mental health aspect and one family has different 353 
expectations than the other. He 100% understands what we are talking about today and your concerns and benefits and respects 354 
the Board’s opinion whichever way they go. 355 
 356 
A MOTION was made by Ms. Cloutier-Cabral and SECONDED by Ms. Foss to move forward with the project (“Behavioral 357 
Resource Center”). 358 
 359 
Discussion continued including there are obvious benefits to the program, some people think if there is a problem at home we 360 
don’t want them to get in trouble, there are some gray areas, pronouns are all over the place now and that can be a gray area, are 361 
we focusing on the right gray areas, overall it is meant to be positive, and people in the community wonder about the gray areas. 362 
Mr. Pratt referred to the standards for school social workers the part regarding diversity. He believes that covers what you are 363 
talking about, pronouns. They take each situation, reflect, and give the best counsel to the student and best counsel they can give 364 
to the family. A question was raised if that is kept from the family in any way. Mr. Pratt responded, it could and gave the 365 
example, if they tell the social worker they are part of a diverse population but fear they will be hit by the parent. The social 366 
worker has to be careful or if the student says they use different pronouns, we have to gauge what is the responsibility to the 367 
student. He confirms in the mental health world we are relying on the mental health provider.  He spoke of understanding it is 368 
scary and we don’t want to pain our families and the great support they give us. It is easy to not bring this forward but what he is 369 
faced with now is students who need help now. He is not even sure if there is any out of district placement available. He spoke of 370 
behavioral issues, the BCBA having to deescalate children and sometimes that affects the entire classroom. He is not blaming the 371 
child, it is reality and some students we have daily issues. Ms. Cloutier-Cabral voiced what a child may or may divulge is a 372 
nonissue if say you don’t want your child in there. She spoke of a form being the first thing they give you to sign. We are 373 
offering resources and giving more is not a bad thing. Ms. Anzalone noted she does not feel having a policy after the fact is 374 
doing her due diligence. She would also want to see the form and make sure it is perfectly clear. Mr. Mannarino spoke that he 375 
has been in healthcare for 7 year and Mr. Pratt is sugar coating the deficiency in resources. He has heard several nurse managers 376 
say all nursing is mental health nursing and having resources for kids in a safe place where they can speak freely is a net 377 
positive. He echoes what Ms. Cloutier-Cabral said and he defers to Mr. Pratt on this. Mr. Allen spoke and questioned where does 378 
our role as a school fit with this and what we are supposed to do with the funds. He is still in a spot where he feels he has not had 379 
enough time to research it and that is not because he doesn’t support it. Mr. Pratt confirms it will be an evolving program if 380 
approved, a team effort with the entire counseling staff and most important will be teachers, ABA/RBT’s and families.  Ms. 381 
Lavallee spoke in order for any person to learn and apply information we have to be in a good place physically and mentally. 382 
Although this is not direct education, she sees the need of it. She spoke of hearing over the years from teachers that it is hard to 383 
teach a class when you are also the counselor; if we can provide support to our kids, she is hoping we can retain more teachers 384 
because the kids are really struggling and teachers are not trained mental health providers.  Associate Principal Fuller and Ms. 385 
Dignan were asked to speak to how it will be used and the benefits of it at FRES. Associate Principal Fuller gave some 386 
examples, the teacher has to try to manage behaviors while maintaining the structure of the classroom now that child has a place 387 
to go and be calmed down. She sees that every day. Ms. Dignan added for some kids it is hard just to come to school and the 388 
parents know and ask us for help. We want to give them resources. The parent know and everyone is already on the same page, 389 
they just can’t get the help. Mr. Lavoie voiced some may say they are going overboard with the gray area questions. Maybe we 390 
are going a little far for elementary kids but we hear things in social circles and online and it may not be what we are trying to do 391 
here. It sounds like it is more behavioral issues. Associate Principal Fuller provided data; we had 40 major behaviors between 392 
December and March. That is not just the day-to-day stuff that is major stuff, aggression, not to the level of HS physical 393 
aggression though. Ms. Anzalone voiced, I think it is great; the teachers have enough going on in the classroom. Her concern 394 
comes in when you are talking about talking to a counselor. She understands there is a waiting period but her concern is signing 395 
up her child and the parent being fully informed about what is being discussed. This is just the first part; she assumes it will go 396 
up to WLC. She supports it up until the counseling part. She is not clear on what she will told and what she won’t be told. 397 
Chairman Golding asked for any additional discussion, none heard. 398 
 399 
Voting: via roll call vote, five ayes (Mr. Lavoie votes aye only on the stipulation that it stays with FRES only); one nay from Ms. 400 
Anzalone, motion carried. 401 
 402 

iv. Principals’ Reports 403 
Associate Principal Fuller reported the WLC Motorcade with seniors came to FRES to handout the 1st grade t-shirts. They are in 404 
awe of the seniors and can’t wait for their day. The rain date for Field Day is June 19; the kickball game is schedule for the night 405 
of Field Day from 5pm-7pm.  406 
 407 
Principal Edmunds noted this is her last report to the Board. We had an awesome Senior Awards Night, it is her favorite night 408 
being able to see all the wonderful things the community does to support the kids. There was $85,000 in scholarships given to 409 



 

   

WLC students. There were some sound system issues for graduation but everyone graduated and was happy. Our students are 410 
doing fields trips; we will have MS Field Day and have a dunk tank and are taking volunteers for the tank. We have 8th grade 411 
promotion on Thursday. It is a very joyful end of the year. She is grateful for her 5 years in this district and thanked all for 412 
allowing her to have this time here. Members thanked her and voiced appreciation for her service to the district and students.  413 

v. Curriculum Coordinator’s Report 414 
Ms. Dignan reports students just finished spring data two weeks ago. (A copy of the slides can be found with these minutes.) 415 
Agenda and timeline were reviewed. The iReady benchmark assessment is taken 3 times a year, September, January and May. 416 
Kindergarten students are assessed in November, February and May and annual goals and stretch growth goals are set. She read 417 
what the colors mean (see slide 5). Slide 7 data shows kindergarten reading for fall, winter and spring with 86% that are at or 418 
above grade level in reading according to iReady. Nationally 81% of kindergarten students are at or above grade level. 419 
Kindergarten math data shows 78% are on or above grade level by spring and nationally 73% of kindergarten students are at or 420 
above grade level. FRES data shows in reading we are doing well, the trajectory is going up. Grades 1 and 2 show an increase of 421 
56%, with large gains across the board. Grade 2 is doing better than both state and national. Grade 1 reading shows 61% are at or 422 
above grade level, grade 2 69% are at or above grade level. Teachers have been providing interventions and small groups to 423 
support students to close gaps, it is paying off. Third grade reading has increased by 28%, 42% are at or above grade level. 424 
Grade 4, 61% are at or above grade level. We are doing better than state or national results. Grade 5 reading, 51% of our students 425 
are at or above grade level. We have increased 25% from fall to spring and are doing better than state and national. Teachers at 426 
FRES are using “Mypath” for math and informative instruction and working in small groups focusing on math. The trajectory is 427 
growing. Grade 1 has increased by 57% and is doing better than state and national. Grade 2 has increased 50% from fall to 428 
spring and are beating the state and national. Grade 3 math has increased 32% and 61% are at or above grade level. Grade 4 has 429 
increased by 49% and 61% of those students are at or above grade level. Grade 5 in math has increased fall to spring by 59% and 430 
71% of those students are at or above grade level, they are beating state and national. Data for grade 6 in reading shows fall to 431 
spring a 6% increase with 35% of students at or above grade level and grade 7 has increased 7% with 56% of students at or 432 
above grade level. In grade 8, 35% are at or above grade level. In math, grade 10% has increase from fall to spring with 23% of 433 
student at or above grade level, national is 37%. In grade 7 45% of students are at or above grade level, national is 46%. In grade 434 
8, 30% of our students are at or above grade level In January, we spoke at the high school level that we didn’t have the seniors 435 
take the test. The data is decreasing over high school grade levels, which she brought to the group questioning why we are seeing 436 
this. She also spoke to a colleague in Milford who said this is what they are seeing. Our administration team also discussed this 437 
and are making plans for next year. In January, grades 9 and 10 used “Mypath” for 30-45 minutes a week to work on personized 438 
instruction. Mypath only goes up to 8th grade but still used it to work on skills below grade level, which is what they needed. We 439 
also utilized W.I.N. block. Grade 9, 38% of students are at or above grade level. Grade 11 decreased drastically. The seniors 440 
were not tested again. She is not sure if juniors opted out to take the test or not. Principal Edmunds spoke regarding the results 441 
and stated motivation is one of the reasons they did poorly on the test. The other part is these kids were doing PSAT and SAT 442 
prep instead of iReady. Regarding goals, the annual goal is the goal for a student based on their baseline score in the fall and is 443 
the typical growth the student makes.  The stretch growth goal is an ambitious goal and requires a lot of intervention to get them 444 
to that goal. She reviewed slide 25, K-8 reading, which shows an overall view of how much growth our students had. We had a 445 
lot of growth with this and for K-8 in math. Slide 28 is the timeline for PSAT and SAT. There were 26 10th graders who also 446 
tested in 9th grade in ELA. Even though it is the same grade, the students are drastically different. The biggest factor was 447 
attendance. Sophomores in math, 42% are meeting the benchmark, 55% are not, the same group takes math the following march 448 
had 22% meeting the benchmark and 59% are not. Juniors ELA, at first testing showed 65% meet benchmark and at second 55% 449 
meet benchmark and 40% are not. SAT data shows 39% meet benchmark and 48% do not. In math, juniors in 2021 show 65% 450 
not meeting benchmark, first set of data shows 65% not meeting benchmark and second shows 75% not meeting benchmark. 451 
SAT data shows 91% not meeting benchmark. She reviewed the action plans, which start on slide 35, which includes utilizing 452 
data protocols to review and analyze data, ongoing PD about iReady and effective instructional strategies in reading and math 453 
and instructional pathways plus providing Title 1 tutoring in math at the MS and at FRES. The action plans also include 454 
integrating math and ELA into other content areas when possible. W.I.N. block will be utilized K-12, using small group 455 
instruction and using Mypath instructional pathways. FRES and LCS will include Summer Academy based on Data Team 456 
discussions, kindergarten screening, pre-k teacher input and PD in science or reading and accelerated learner programming. At 457 
WLC, we will be moving the personal finance elective to a required course, continue after school homework club, offering 458 
advanced placement course in math for 7th and 8th grade and continue work on interdisciplinary curriculum. The master schedule 459 
has been adjusted to accommodate math and ELA teachers being grouped. We are rearranging the way PLCs are structured and 460 
format classroom assessments so that they mirror the type of assessments that they will be taking. Discussion was had regarding 461 
it looks like the 11th grade is 3 years behind; concern was raised regarding some of the results they are seeing. It was confirmed 462 
they could use Mypath. A question was raised why we don’t have summer school for math or are there kids who should not 463 
progress to the next grade and should have the summer catch up. Principal Edmunds responded summer school is an excellent 464 
idea. She confirm no one moves on if they fail a class, we have competency recovery and we did have summer school using 465 
ESSER funds previously. She confirms in HS if you fail a class you don’t get those credits, you have to double up on your 466 
classes. These are high stakes tests and are timed tests. When students are in class, the teacher is available to go over thing with 467 
you and provide remediation when you get things wrong. Ms. Dignan voiced the teachers have the same questions, how are the 468 
students passing classes and that is why we want to look at the data and look at all the pieces. It was noted the citizens would 469 
demand results. It was suggested it would be helpful to see the performance in the classroom vs. testing. How many students 470 
participated in the homework club and did any make larger gains than anticipated or any gains. How many students are getting 471 



 

   

follow up from the parents, there needs to be buy in from the parents. Is there something we can do as a Board to help facilitate, 472 
are there any areas we can help. Are students still leaving for junior privileges if failing a class? Incentives are important and so 473 
are consequences. Discussion was had where were the 11th graders a few years ago, that was the start of the pandemic. 474 
Discussion continued about the results including we are just starting to bring a culture of data to our district, the team at FRES is 475 
sharing what worked for them, and consistency is key. Superintendent spoke of this being a struggle and the data does not make 476 
us happy, as a school we have to look at everything. We are a competency-based school and you only get one try at a test. We 477 
are trying to create a culture where it is important and we have to do a better job. We have to look at our grading. The kids may 478 
have passed the class but the foundation is not strong enough. Mr. Comerford is looking at the data, looking to integrate algebra 479 
earlier, and making algebra 2 more accessible. He adds that WLC is losing about 50% of their staff but we are fortunate to have 480 
teachers like Mr. Comerford who are staying. A question was raised how we involve parents and community, how do we engage 481 
that and bring it in. What are we doing to involve face-to-face interaction and not just giving students a website? Superintendent 482 
spoke of being in districts where they had a curriculum night for parents and a night when parents can come in and talk iReady 483 
data. We can do a better job communicating with parents when kids are being successful and when they are falling short. He 484 
noted we would get math teachers together to have grade level impact meetings and talk about what is happening in the 485 
classroom. Why is one teacher getting through and not another. Those are the types of conversations we will be having. 486 

vi. Technology Director-Data Governance Plan/Vape Devices 487 
Mr. Buroker spoke of the Vape Detectors, which he was directed to look into by the “Bathroom Committee”. He reached out to 488 
several neighboring districts and a handful of vendors to look at and received 3 quotes. It is reasonably new technology and not 489 
cutting edge; we would be early adopters of this. It costs several hundreds of dollars. We should be getting firmware updates and 490 
software updates for them. A lot of his colleagues supported false positives. He is recommending the Flysense Vape Detectors 491 
and recommends starting with 10 due to cost savings by buying in bulk.   492 
 493 
He reviewed the Data Governance Plan, which is required to be brought to the Board annual per policy EHAB. He asks that any 494 
recommendations be emailed to him. He notes if you have an SRO, they will be added to the data team. His predecessors 495 
completed a lot of this work. He reviewed each area of the plan such as scope and introduction is how we decide who gets access 496 
and how it is treated in our care and how it is destroyed. He reviewed systems, storage and management noting we do not hold a 497 
lot of student information on site. We have a handful of servers in locked rooms with limited access. We have phishing 498 
protection in the form of training and virus protection on all our computers. He is looking into password management and 499 
looking at encrypting hard drives. All of our data is going to either be shredded or hard drives will be destroyed by taking them 500 
apart and destroying them. Critical Incident Response is the response plan we are talking about for cases such as PowerSchool 501 
goes down or Google, one of our critical systems stops working. He spoke of disaster recovery and Data breach response, which 502 
is well written out in the law regarding what we have to do. Any kind of breach, we would follow that response. He confirms he 503 
is presenting his 5-year plan first to the Technology Committee then at the following board meeting. Appreciation was voiced 504 
for the presentation.  505 
 506 
Mr. Mannarino departed at 10:50PM. 507 
 508 
A MOTION was made by Ms. Cloutier-Cabral and SECONDED by Ms. Lavallee accept the Data Governance Plan as 509 
presented. 510 
Voting: via roll call vote, all aye; motion carried. 511 
 512 
Ms. Cloutier-Cabral reported the Bathroom Committee was tasked with analyzing private spaces. Mr. Buroker did a great job 513 
researching vape detectors. Vaping is an issue in private spaces, which was identified. We want to stop it from happening.  514 
 515 
A MOTION was made by Ms. Cloutier-Cabral and SECONDED by Ms. Anzalone to authorize the purchase of 10 vape detectors 516 
using funding from next year’s budget. 517 
Voting: all aye; motion carried. 518 
 519 
It is confirmed the quote is $7,580. Ms. LaPlante recommends using funds from next year’s budget. 520 
 521 

IX. NHSBA CALL FOR RESOLUTIONS 522 
Superintendent noted the due date is in July. Chairman Golding questioned if anyone had any resolutions to bring forward. Ms. 523 
Lavallee responded she does not; she is not aware if any other members would like to bring any forward. None heard. Chairman 524 
Golding noted the Board would revisit this on the June 27 workshop.  525 
 526 

X. FINANCE COMMITTEE SCOPE & PURPOSE 527 
No objection to moving this to the Board workshop on June 27. Ms. LaPlante is requested to attend. Ms. Fowler asks for 528 
confirmation that there will be a public hearing on June 27, a workshop and no regular Board meeting. Chairman Golding 529 
confirms. Added to the workshop agenda will be NHSBA Call for Resolutions and Finance Committee Scope & Purpose. Ms. 530 
Lavallee questioned if there would be a nonpublic to discuss evaluation of the superintendent. Chairman Golding confirmed we 531 
would add that also. 532 
 533 



 

   

XI. POLICIES 534 
a. 3rd Read 535 

i. BBBF-Student Board Members 536 
Ms. Lavallee reports she was not in attendance at the last board meeting however has read the minutes and suggested adding 537 
language that is consistent with board attendance. “The School Board recognizes that the consistent attendance of a Student 538 
Board Member is essential to the effective operation of Board duties as well as required under RSA 189:1-c.  The Chair and Vice 539 
Chair will coordinate with Administration to address absences exceeding 3 consecutive meetings or 30% of scheduled meetings.  540 
Administration may coordinate the selection of a designated Alternate Student Board Member in accordance with the process set 541 
forth above.” If all agree, she will work with Ms. Fowler to add it to the policy and bring back policy BBBF for another reading. 542 
No objection heard, policy would return for a 4th reading. 543 
  544 

XII. ACTION ITEMS 545 
a. Approve Minutes of Previous Meeting 546 

A MOTION was made by Ms. Cloutier-Cabral and SECONDED by Ms. Anzalone to approve the minutes of May 23, 2023 as 547 
written. 548 
Voting: six ayes; one abstention from Ms. Lavallee, motion carried. 549 
 550 

XIII. COMMITTEE REPORTS 551 
i.  Budget Liaison 552 

Chairman Golding reported he was present and there was discussion of Mr. Erb giving a report to the Board quarterly. Ms. 553 
LaPlante added starting August 15 we will go over what was spent this year and possibly laying out ground work for next year’s 554 
goals/guardrails.  555 

ii. Technology Committee 556 
Chairman Golding reported Mr. Buroker covered everything in his report.  557 
 558 

XIV. RESIGNATIONS / APPOINTMENTS / LEAVES 559 
a. FYI New Hire-Kathleen Chenette-LCS Student Services Coordinator 560 

Superintendent informed the Board of hiring Ms. Chenette for LCS Student Services Coordinator. The $50,000 was balanced out 561 
with healthcare employer cost and salary. 562 
 563 

b. Appointments 564 
Superintendent reviewed the recommendations for appointment of the following teachers. 565 

i. Laura Seale-FRES-1st Grade Teacher 566 
A MOTION was made by Mr. Lavoie and SECONDED by Mr. Allen to accept the recommendation to  appoint Ms. Laura Seale, 567 
1st Grade Teacher at FRES, salary of $46,100, Bachelors, Step 7. 568 
Voting: all aye; motion carried. 569 
 570 

ii. Kirsten Rourke-LCS-Kindergarten Teacher 571 
A MOTION was made by Mr. Lavoie and SECONDED by Mr. Allen to accept the recommendation to  appoint Ms. Kirsten 572 
Rourke, Kindergarten Teacher at LCS, salary of $38,000, Bachelors, Step 1. 573 
Voting: all aye; motion carried. 574 
 575 

iii. John Thomas-WLC-HS English Teacher 576 
A MOTION was made by Ms. Cloutier-Cabral and SECONDED by Mr. Lavoie to accept the recommendation to  appoint Mr. 577 
John Thomas, HS English Teacher at WLC, salary of $69,200, Masters, Step 18. 578 
Voting: all aye; motion carried. 579 
 580 

iv. Dawn Hall-WLC HS English Teacher 581 
A MOTION was made by Mr. Lavoie and SECONDED by Ms. Cloutier-Cabral to accept the recommendation to  appoint Ms. 582 
Dawn Hall, HS English Teacher at WLC, salary of $56,700, Masters, Step 12. 583 
Voting: all aye; motion carried. 584 
 585 

v. Samuel Metivier-FRES-School Counselor 586 
A MOTION was made by Mr. Lavoie and SECONDED by Mr. Allen to accept the recommendation to  appoint Mr. Sam 587 
Metivier, School Counselor at FRES/LCS, salary of $45,500, Masters, Step 5. 588 
Voting: all aye; motion carried. 589 
 590 

 Hannah Rudd-WLC MS English Teacher 591 
A MOTION was made by Ms. Cloutier-Cabral and SECONDED by Ms. Lavallee to accept the recommendation to  appoint Ms. 592 
Hannah Rudd, MS English Teacher at WLC, salary of $43,000, Masters, Step 3. 593 
Voting: all aye; motion carried. 594 
 595 



 

   

c. Resignations 596 
i. Rebecca Hawkes-FRES 2nd Grade Teacher 597 

Superintendent reviewed the resignation of Ms. Hawkes. 598 
 599 

XV. PUBLIC COMMENTS 600 
The public comment section of the agenda was read. 601 
 602 
Ms. Tatiana Franko, Lyndeborough voiced that it would be helpful for over the summer packets could be given to students to 603 
improve on their own at home. It is difficult to know what to give them. There are many parents who want to be involved but it 604 
is difficult to get information from the teachers or principal. What can we do to get our students to improve?   605 
 606 
Mr. John Vanderhoof, Lyndeborough, spoke of the mental health resource center, it would be helpful if that were under action 607 
items because it is easy to miss if someone was looking at your agenda they may not know a vote is happening. He voiced it 608 
would be helpful for presentations. There was not a long discussion on the funding of the resource center. He was disappointed 609 
the Board made a decision. Mr. Pratt spoke of out of district costs; if that was the case, it should have been budgeted last year 610 
from the special education budget. If you are bringing back 4-5 people, you will be saving funds and he should have known that 611 
at the time. 612 

 613 
Superintendent called out all the phone numbers and names joined in the meeting asking if they wanted to comment. 614 
 615 
Mr. Charlie Post, Lyndeborough spoke regarding the testing data, it was pretty dismal and should be on the front of minds about 616 
what is going on at the HS. As a taxpayer he is shocked to see those scores, it is the high schools report card and it is an F. In 617 
particular with the juniors. He had heard some things and some blaming of parents. The purpose of sending our kids there is to 618 
educate them and be productive students. When you have kids in the 11th grade who will be out of school soon and they are 3-4 619 
years behind in math and English, we can do better. We have really let these kids down. I hear a lot of talk at these meetings; we 620 
don’t want to micromanage the staff. It is time to step in; it is time for an intervention. It is a failure. I would like to know when 621 
you give your school board members what each of you will do about this.  622 
 623 

XVI. SCHOOL BOARD MEMBER COMMENTS 624 
Ms. Anzalone is concerned with the math scores at the HS. She asked the school to let the Board know what support they need. 625 
She would like to see some type of summer school or extra help for them. 626 
 627 
Mr. Allen recognized Ms. Erickson for being nominated as Teacher of the Year. He congratulated her. In response to the 628 
community member’s question, I don’t really know, I am frustrated with where we are. I am not entirely satisfied with some of 629 
the answers we received. I don’t understand why our test scores are going down at the rate we are funding the schools when 630 
there are private schools for me to send my kid to. We are spending less than that for me to send my kid to another school and 631 
the results are better. Why is there a disconnect; I don’t know what to do to change it. The only thing we need to do as a Board, 632 
administration, taxpayers and parents is have these hard discussions to our meetings and solve it immediately.     633 
 634 
Mr. Lavoie voiced he is glad we are able to talk about these topics and not sit on them for a year. He understands that sometimes 635 
we do not always have the full amount of information but thinks we have done a good job in taking what we have and making 636 
good assumptions and leaning on our administration and trusting them a little bit. It looks like we have a good foundation at the 637 
lower levels regarding the scores. If we are going to keep doing those things, hopefully we will see improvement in the 9th grade 638 
and 10th the year after. If we don’t then I think we have a serious problem. Ms. Dignan put forth a detailed report, some of it was 639 
encouraging to see, and hopefully it will move up the ladder. He thanked Tyler the 9th grade student for spending his time here 640 
and on the WW II presentation for us. 641 
 642 
Ms. Cloutier-Cabral spoke of being at LCS 5 years ago and looking at Star 360 scores. Superintendent Weaver hit the nail on the 643 
head, the kids are not invested as they get older and the more they are aware that it does not affect their grades they don’t care. 644 
They have work after school and other stuff after school to do those tests do not matter. If we change the way the test impacts 645 
them may be that is the answer. I will continue to show up to these meetings and work toward a solution. 646 
 647 
Ms. Lavallee spoke to the public comment made on HS 1178. There was information that came out from the attorney general 648 
that clarified what HB 1178 meant and it was not violating the law for someone to search for a weapon if they thought it was 649 
warranted. You can email me if you want additional information. Regarding the results, as Ms. Cloutier-Cabral said, I will 650 
continue to come here, it is important for us to get frequent updates as to answers to some of the questions. We asked how 651 
students are performing each semester and I think one of the areas we are responsible for as a Board is holding administration 652 
accountable. One of the things we have seen in the curriculum coordinator position is a lot of turnover. We have had excellent 653 
programs but they leave for another district and we are starting all over again. 654 
 655 



 

   

Ms. Foss voiced she didn’t say anything earlier regarding the testing but regarding math, she has lived here 25 years and it seems 656 
to her that her neighbors have said the math scores have not been anything to be proud of. I don’t understand how reading is 657 
solid and math is in the lower grades but in HS it all goes south but this is nothing new. She thinks it is important to keep 658 
focused on doing the best we can but the fact is it has been an issue for 25 years and the neighbors have commented on that. She 659 
gave an example of one of her neighbors children going on to college and being on the honor role at college, I guess she was ok. 660 
Test scores are not the only factors to show how well a school is doing but it is important.  We have had this issue and it always 661 
seems to be math. I do not have an answer for you we just have to keep working on it.  662 
 663 
Chairman Golding voiced, he will continue to hold one the one person they can hold accountable and that is Superintendent 664 
Weaver to make sure he puts hold the right people in the right positions to help foster, motivate and educate these children the 665 
way they deserve. 666 
  667 

XVII. NON-PUBLIC SESSION RSA 91-A: 3 II (A) (C) 668 
A MOTION was made by Ms. Lavallee and SECONDED by Ms. Cloutier-Cabral to enter Non-Public Session to review the non-669 
public minutes, RSA 91-A: 3 II (C) at 11:30pm. 670 
Voting: all aye, motion carried. 671 
 672 
  RETURN TO PUBLIC SESSION 673 
The Board entered public session at 12:12pm.    674 
 675 
A MOTION was made to seal the non-public session minutes by Ms. Anzalone and SECONDED by Mr. Allen. 676 
Voting: all aye, motion carried. 677 
 678 

XVIII. ADJOURNMENT 679 
A MOTION was made by Mr. Allen and SECONDED by Ms. Anzalone to adjourn the Board meeting at 12:12pm. 680 
Voting: all aye, motion carried. 681 
 682 
Respectfully submitted, 683 
Kristina Fowler 684 
 685 



School Resource Officer
● What is a School Resource Officer (SRO)?
● The goal of the SRO position
● What is the role of an SRO?
● How will an SRO be funded?



What is a School Resource Officer (SRO)?

A school resource officer is a sworn law-enforcement officer with
arrest powers who works in a school setting.

Special training working with youth separates an SRO from other
police officers, including but not limited to: cyber safety, violence
prevention in schools, and adolescent mental health.



What is the goal of having an SRO?

“The goals of well-founded SRO program include providing safe learning
environments in our nation’s schools, providing valuable resources to school
staff members, fostering positive relationships with youth, developing
strategies to resolve problems affecting youth and protecting all students, so
that they can reach their fullest potentials.”

Source: https://www.nasro.org/faq/



What is the role of an SRO?

Law Enforcement

Sworn law-enforcement
officer

Community- based
partnership in/out of
school environment

Educator

Drug/alcohol prevention

Anti-bullying

Law-related curriculum

Community resources

Emergency planning

Support Services
Team

Member of multidisciplinary
team focused on proactive
intervention to support
students

Build trust & relationships
with students, staff,
community



How will an SRO be Funded?

Private armed security guard.
Cost about $35/hour.
Approximately $50,400

03
● Added security & lower cost
● Role limited to security & accountable to private

employer

SAU pays proportionate share02

● 180 days at a cost of $80,500 - 99,400
● Traditional school district/community

approach
● Requires support of Wilton community & PD

SAU 63 pays %100/260 days01
● Ensure school district has an SRO
● 80 days would be employed with Wilton PD

General AssumptionsOption

● Requires partnership w/Wilton PD
● Budget estimate range: $115,000 - $142,000

depending on experience
● 180 days/260 (70%) SRO work year

Status Quo04 ● No action



WORLD WAR II WORLD WAR II 
9th Grade - Interdisciplinary Unit9th Grade - Interdisciplinary Unit



Stephanie Erickson
9th Grade Integrated Science

Erin Rosana
9th Grade World History



Why Interdisciplinary Units MatterWhy Interdisciplinary Units Matter
Real-world issues are complexReal-world issues are complex

"Employers want to hire people who can apply knowledge and
skills in real-world settings, think critically, and communicate
clearly and effectively in both writing and speaking. And in

these areas, fewer than 30% of employers think that students
are well prepared."

Ashley Bear, Issues in Technology and Science, 2014



recognition of multiple perspectives 

academic conversations from a range of disciplines

meaningful and salient

promotes engagement and accountability

a broader understanding of the concept/concepts

similarities and differences between the different disciplines

integrated ideas from all disciplines into problem-solving

Why Interdisciplinary Units MatterWhy Interdisciplinary Units Matter
Real-world issues are complexReal-world issues are complex



Causes of World War II
Start of the War
WWII Battles
Holocaust
End of the War
The Atomic Bomb

World War II Unit OverviewWorld War II Unit Overview

Environmental Impact of War
Battle Location Weather and
Climate Affects
Ecology of the Pacific
Theatre
Atmospheric Composition
and Trends 1930-1955
Scientific Modeling- Atomic
Bombs and the Atmosphere

World History Integrated Science



State Standards State Standards 

 HS-ESS2-4 Use a model to describe how
variations in the flow of energy into and out of
Earth’s systems result in changes in Earth's
climate
HS-ESS2-6 Develop a quantitative model to
describe the cycling of carbon among the
hydrosphere, atmosphere, geosphere, and
biosphere
HS-ESS3-6 Use a computational
representation to illustrate the relationships
among Earth systems and how those
relationships are being modified due to human
activity

World History Integrated Science
SS:WH:12:2.2: Evaluate how military encounters have
often led to cultural exchanges, e.g., T’ang expansion,
Mongol conquests, or World War II. 

SS:WH:12:2.4: Evaluate the effectiveness of attempts to
regulate warfare and sustain peaceful contacts, e.g.,
arranged marriages between ruling families, the League
of Nations, or nuclear non-proliferation treaties. 

SS:WH:12:1.2: Evaluate the strengths and weaknesses of
international and regional political organizations, e.g., the
Delian League, the United Nations or the Warsaw Pact.

SS:WH:12:1.3: Analyze the impact of modern weapons of
mass destruction on world relations during eras, e.g., the
World Wars, the Cold War or contemporary times. 



Learning Portfolio

Provided with a 2-pocket folder with an
assignment list
Formative assignments for both World
History and Integrated Science
Common assessment rubric
All World History and Integrated
Science activities kept in the portfolio
and turned in at the end of the unit for
grading

Each student: Each student: 



World War II ReadingWorld War II Reading

World HistoryWorld History Integrated ScienceIntegrated Science
Both course unitsbegin with anannotated / activereading assignment



World War II Battle StationsWorld War II Battle Stations
Page 1 Historical

Battle Information

Page 2 Historical
Weather Data

Mapping the battles

Information and data collection

Reflection / Argumentative Questions



Ecological Impacts of 
Pacific Theatre Battles
Ecological Impacts of 
Pacific Theatre Battles

View the Google Earth Tour
Complete the Organizer with
the Environmental, Ecological,
and Endangered Species of
each Pacific Island Battle

TASK

Integrated ScienceIntegrated Science

https://earth.google.com/web/data=MkEKPwo9CiExRjdxV3FaMElMREJpblk1dlJFWW85ZHVEUU1GQVRyekUSFgoUMDg1NDRGOUVGNzI5MzJCOEY3NkQgAQ?authuser=1


Pacific Theatre PostcardsPacific Theatre Postcards

Choose 3 of the Pacific Island
Battle Locations

Create a postcard from that
location that represents the

environment/species/impacts of
the battle

 from the perspective of a soldier
in that battle

TASK
Integrated ScienceIntegrated Science

Postcard Templates

Instructions and Guidelines



Atmospheric Climate GraphsAtmospheric Climate Graphs

Analyze 4 climate graphs for the
years 1930-1955
Annotate Graphs with Battle
Dates/Significant WWII events
from World History
2 analysis reflection questions

TASK

Integrated ScienceIntegrated Science

Reflection / Argumentative Questions

Annotated Graphs



World War II Research PaperWorld War II Research Paper

Choose a topic of interest within the
scope of WWII and the Holocaust
Formulate meaningful Essential
Question and subquestions
Conduct research using a variety of
resources including databases and
primary sources
Write a 4-6 page formal paper with a
thesis based on research findings

TASK

World HistoryWorld History

Topics Include:Topics Include:
Island Hopping in the Pacific

Auschwitz Concentration Camp
Warsaw Ghetto Uprising
Churchill, Stalin, and FDR

The London Blitz
The Battle of Normandy



Holocaust WebquestHolocaust Webquest

Navigate the United States
Holocaust Memorial Museum
website to complete a series of
tasks
Learn about the causes of the
Holocaust and its impacts today
Listen to the oral history of a
Holocaust survivor & reflect on
their experiences

TASK
World HistoryWorld History

Why  Study  the  Ho locaus t?Why  Study  the  Ho locaus t?
"Clearly understanding how the Holocaust and other
genocides occurred may be key to preventing similar
violence in the future, which is why education on this
sensitive topic is vitally important to promote peace

among future generations."
-NH State Board of Education, April 2022



VE Day, VJ Day, + The Atomic BombVE Day, VJ Day, + The Atomic Bomb

Navigate the United States
Department of Defense website
to look at primary source
photographs from VE Day
Analyze primary source
documents connected to the
bombing of Japan
Draw conclusions based on
historical evidence 

TASK
World HistoryWorld History



Nuclear Physics and the
Atmosphere

Nuclear Physics and the
Atmosphere

Data Collection

Mapping the Manhattan Project Locations

Comparisons and Nuclear Scientist Research



Math IntegrationMath Integration

Select 1 WWII battle location
create a climograph for the
average yearly temperature
and precipitation for that

location
compare and contrast the
climate of different battle

locations

TASK

Algebra 1 ClassesAlgebra 1 Classes

Data Collection

Student Work Example



World Literature
Integration

World Literature
Integration

Reading and analyzing the novel
Students create reflection journals
as they read the novel 
Analyzing Holocaust journal entries 
Poems from Holocaust survivors

TASK

NightNight
Elie Wiesel



Learning Portfolio
Reflection

Learning Portfolio
Reflection



Student QuotesStudent Quotes



Spring 2023 
Data 
Presentation:
Where have we been?
Where are we now?
Where are we going?



““Big things don’t always 
happen with a leap.  Big 
things happen when we 
take the next best step 
over and over again.”
~Jill M. Siler

2



Agenda 

3

Review of iReady timelines

iReady Fall, Winter, Spring Comparison 
Kindergarten, grades 1-5, 6-8 and 9-11

PSAT/SAT Longitudinal Data

What have we done? 

Now what?

Questions/Comments



iReady Benchmark 
Assessment

⊷ Taken three times a year 1-11 
September, January and 
May

⊷ The K students are assessed 
in November, February, and 
May 

⊷ Annual Growth 
Goals/Stretch Growth Goals

4

Goals: 
These are set for students individually K-8 by iReady.
Annual Goal: The average annual growth for a student at this grade and baseline 
placement level. 
Stretch Goal: An ambitious but attainable level of annual growth which puts 
below-grade level students on a path towards proficiency and on-grade level students 
on a path to achieve/maintain advanced proficiency levels. 
More about that later…



What are these colors all 
about? 
⊷ Deep red indicates students are 3 

or more years below grade level.  
⊷ Red indicates students are 2 

years below grade level.
⊷ Yellow indicates students are 1 

year below grade level.  
⊷ Light green indicates students 

are early on grade level.
⊷ Dark green indicates students 

are mid-grade level or above.
5



iReady
K-5: How are we 
doing?   



7

53% 
increase in 
both green

We have not reported out on Kindergarten this year because they have been “off” of 
the rest of the district’s testing cycle. Kindergarten has their own set of slides. 
Students who are in Kindergarten cannot have any red due to the fact that they 
cannot be more than one grade-level behind.  As you can see, there is steady 
progress for Kindergarten students.  This data is presented as percentages of 
students, not number of students.  86% of our Kindergarten students are at or above 
grade level in reading according to iReady. 

K - 86% of our kindergarten students are at or above grade level.  Nationally, 81% of 
kindergarten students are at or above grade level.  



8

57% 
increase in 
both green

Again, Kindergarten is on their own graph due to their different testing cycle.  In math, 
there are 88% of students who are on or above grade level.  In January, the 
Kindergarten started using the MyPath instructional pathways for 45 minutes a week 
in math.  If students met this goal of 45 minutes of “time on task” they would then 
work on reading.  This can be a contributing factor in the level of growth we have seen 
from January to May.  The kindergarten students have spent an average of 7 hours 
and 13 minutes with “time on task” on their MyPath for math. This averages to 22 
minutes per week. “Time on task” is a term that iReady uses to describe the amount 
of time a student is actively engaged in the lessons they are being presented.  

K - 78% of our kindergarten students are at or above grade level.  Nationally, 73% of 
kindergarten students are at or above grade level.  



9

Each grade-level consists of three columns.  The first column is the percentage of 
students who fell into each category in the fall (September).  The second column is 
the percentage of students students in each category in the winter (January).  The 
final column is the percentage of students who fell into each category in the spring 
(May).  

As we mentioned in the fall, our goal is to move students from the deep red, red, and 
yellow into the two different green categories.  You can see across the board there is 
consistent growth throughout grades 1-5.  Noting specifically both green categories 
have grown significantly across all grade-levels.  

Teachers at FRES are providing interventions and small groups to support students in 
closing gaps.  The hard work they are putting in is clearly paying off.  



10

56% 
increase in 
both green

48% 
increase in 
both green

This is the same information on the previous graphs, but just smaller sections of 
information.  

1- 61% of our 1st grade students are at or above grade level.  Nationally, 63% of 1st 
grade students are at or above grade level. 
2- 69% of our 2nd grade students are at or above grade level.  Nationally, 63% of 2nd 
grade students are at or above grade level. 



11

28% 
increase in 
both green

43% 
increase in 
both green

3 - 42% of our 3rd grade students are at or above grade level.  Nationally, 69% of 3rd 
grade students are at or above grade level. 
4 - 61% of our 4th grade students are at or above grade level.  Nationally, 51% of 4th 
grade students are at or above grade level. 



12

25% 
increase in 
both green

5 - 51% of our 5th grade students are at or above grade level.  Nationally, 49% of 5th 
grade students are at or above grade level. 



13

This graph mirrors the previous graph in many ways.  The setup is the same where 
there are three columns for each grade level fall, winter, and spring respectively.  As 
you can see there is clear growth throughout the grade-levels from the first 
assessment this school year, until now.  At FRES, teachers have made it a priority to 
use the iReady MyPath personalized instruction throughout the year.  This dedication 
can certainly be a contributing factor to the growth these students have made.  

Again, you’ll see growth towards our goal of moving students from the reds and 
yellow range to the green range.  

Our math scores are improving not only due to the previously mentioned small 
groups, but additionally the teachers at FRES are utilizing MyPath in math for the 
recommended 30-49 minutes (as regularly as possible).  This use of MyPath 
(instructional pathways) can also account for the change in these scores.  Since 
January 1, the students at FRES have spent an average of 9 hours and 32 minutes 
with “time on task” on their MyPath for math.  This averages to 29 minutes per week. 

To be clear - most of the teachers are using MyPath (instructional pathways) in 
reading as well.  With math being our area of focus with our district goal being set in 
math this year students are using MyPath in reading once they have completed the 
30-49 minutes in math first.  

Teachers are also using formative assessment to inform their instruction on a regular 
basis.  





14

57% 
increase in 
both green

50% 
increase in 
both green

This is the same school data on the previous graphs, but just smaller sections of 
information.  This now includes national data as well. 

1- 62% of our 1st grade students are at or above grade level.  Nationally, 58% of 1st 
grade students are at or above grade level. 
2- 62% of our 2nd grade students are at or above grade level.  Nationally, 57% of 2nd 
grade students are at or above grade level. 



15

32% 
increase in 
both green

49% 
increase in 
both green

3 - 61% of our 3rd grade students are at or above grade level.  Nationally, 62% of 3rd 
grade students are at or above grade level. 
4 - 61% of our 4th grade students are at or above grade level.  Nationally, 67% of 4th 
grade students are at or above grade level. 



16

59% 
increase in 
both green

5 - 71% of our 5th grade students are at or above grade level.  Nationally, 62% of 5th 
grade students are at or above grade level. 



iReady
6-8: How are we 
doing?



18

6% increase 
in both green

2% increase 
in both green

The graphs for the middle school also remain consistent with three bars for each 
grade level.  The bars represent the percentage of students who fell into each 
category in the fall, winter, and spring  respectively.  In 7th grade, you can see that the 
red is shrinking and the green is increasing.  

6 - 35% of our 6th grade students are at or above grade level.  Nationally, 45% of th 
grade students are at or above grade level. 
7 - 56% of our 7th grade students are at or above grade level.  Nationally, 50% of th 
grade students are at or above grade level. 
8 - 35% of our 8th grade students are at or above grade level.  Nationally, 53% of 8th 
grade students are at or above grade level. 



20

26% increase 
in both green

10% increase 
in both green

17% 
increase in 
both green

When reviewing the middle school math data, the percentage of students 2 or more 
grade levels below is shrinking, while the percentage of students at or above grade 
level is increasing.  This growth can be attributed to the efforts of the middle school 
teachers in providing interventions to students who are struggling, while 
simultaneously providing advanced classes (students taking classes in different 
grade-levels) for those students who are showing they are exceeding expectations at 
their current grade-level.  This middle school is also receiving Title 1 services this year 
to support students in specific domains (Numbers and Operations in Base 10, 
Geometry, etc.).  The middle school has implemented using MyPath with all students 
for Math starting in January.  

Since January 2, the middle school students have spent an average of 4 hours and 2 
minutes “time on task” on their MyPath for math.  This averages to 12 minutes per 
week. The 7th and 8th grade have continued to increase the percentage of students 
who are on or above grade-level and percentage of students who are scoring below 
grade level continues to shrink.  These changes can be attributed to the teachers 
implementing the WIN block utilizing the MyPath personalized instruction, as well as 
the Title 1 services students who are below grade level may be eligible to receive.  8th 
more than doubled the percentage of students who scored at or above grade level. 

6 - 23% of our 6th grade students are at or above grade level.  Nationally, 37% of th 
grade students are at or above grade level. 
7 - 45% of our 7th grade students are at or above grade level.  Nationally, 46% of th 
grade students are at or above grade level. 



8 - 30% of our 8th grade students are at or above grade level.  Nationally, 43% of 8th 
grade students are at or above grade level. 



iReady
9-11: How are we 
doing?

In January. the seniors were not included in the data because over 20% of the seniors 
did not test, whether excused by a parent, or they were absent during testing.  With 
this many students not testing, it did not feel as though this would be an accurate 
representation of where our students are at.  Therefore, we did not assess the seniors 
this round of testing.  



21

High school graphs are set up in the same manner as the previous graphs.  Overall, 
the high school students data consistently decreasing across any of the grade-levels.  
I have brought this information to the Curriculum Coordinator group I am a part of, as 
well as the Assistant Superintendent over in Milford.  I asked if this was a common 
trend within their district-wide data.  The response that I received was that this is a 
very typical situation to be in and that we are not alone in our data decreasing as 
students increase in academic years.  

From these conversations, I did glean some information for some ideas for how to 
impact this data in a more constructive manner. The administrative team used this 
information to make plans for next school year.  



22

Beginning in January, we have utilized the “WIN” block with the high school students 
in grades 9-10.  These students utilized the MyPath, personalized instruction once a 
week for 45 minutes during their advisory block.  As you can see, freshman have 
increased from 25 percent students at or above grade-level to 38% of students at or 
above grade level.  Since January 1, the high school students in grades 9 and 10 
have spent an average of 2 hours and 31 minutes with “time on task” on their MyPath 
for math.  This is an average of 7 minutes per week. 



Tell me more 
about Annual 
Growth Goals 
and Stretch 
Growth Goals…



What are these goals?
Annual Goal: The goal for a student 
based on their baseline score in the fall.  
This goal is set by what is “typical” 
based on nationally normed data.  
Stretch Growth Goal: This goal is an 
ambitious goal based on the baseline 
score in the fall.  This goal is intended 
to support the student in getting closer 
to grade-level expectations.  

24



How much progress did students make? 
K-8: Reading

25

January

May

These two graphs give us an overall view of how much growth our students in grades 
1-8 have made at this point in the year.  If you line up all of the students in grades 1-8 
the student in the middle has made 134% of the growth toward their annual goal.  At 
this point in the year we would expect this number to be at about 100% because we 
have almost completed the school year.  This is a tremendous amount of growth in 
reading grades 1-8.  

The graph on the right shows how many of our students overall are scoring within 
those same ranges (above, on, one year below, and two or more years below 
grade-level) and what our percentages looked like at the beginning of the year.  Our 
students that are middle of the year or above grade-level has doubled in reading.  



26

How much progress are students making? 
K-8: Math

January

May

These two graphs give us an overall view of how much growth our students in grades 
1-8 have made at this point in the year.  If you line up all of the students in grades 1-8 
the student in the middle has made 107% of the growth toward their annual goal.  At 
this point in the year we would expect this number to be at about 100% because we 
have just about completed the school year.  



PSAT/SAT 
Longitudinal 
Data



PSAT/SAT Timeline

⊷ PSAT 9 - Taken annually in 
March 

⊷ PSAT 10 - Taken annually in 
March

⊷ PSAT 10/NMSQT - Taken 
annually in October

⊷ SAT - Taken annually in 
March 

28



More Colors?
⊷ Red indicates the score is below 

benchmark by more than one 
year’s academic growth.

⊷ Yellow indicates the score is 
within one year’s academic 
growth.   

⊷ Green indicates the score meets 
or exceeds benchmark.

29

We have included the longitudinal data for Sophomores and Juniors so we can 
compare how these groups of students have done over time.  



30

There are 26 students who were tested as freshman also tested as sophomores, this 
is 63% of the class.  So while this is consistently the same grade, the students are 
drastically different. There were 6 of the consistent 26 students who were on 
benchmark in 9th grade assessment were also on benchmark in the 10th grade 
assessment. The groups of students are not identical due to different reasons 
students did or did not take the tests.  The biggest factor is attendance.  

PSAT 9: 
Red - 120-380
Yellow - 390-400 
Green - 410-720

PSAT 10
Red - 160-400
Yellow - 410-420
Green - 430-760



31

PSAT 9: 
Red - 120-420
Yellow - 430-440 
Green - 450-720

PSAT 10
Red - 160-440
Yellow - 450-470
Green - 480-760



32

PSAT 10/NMSQT
Red - 160-450
Yellow - 460-470
Green - 480-800

SAT: 
Red - 200-450
Yellow - 460-470
Green - 480-800



33

PSAT 10/NMSQT:
Red - 160-470
Yellow - 480-500
Green - 510-760

SAT:
Red - 200-500
Yellow - 510-520
Green - 530-800



What have we 
done this year?



Action Plan
⊷ Utilize data protocols to review 

and analyze data.
⊷ Ongoing professional 

development about iReady. 
⊷ Ongoing professional 

development on effective 
instructional strategies in both 
reading and math (FRES)

⊷ iReady instructional pathways 
(K-8) - 6-10 and K started in 
January35

We also provided Title 1 tutoring in math at the middle school - something that is new 
to middle school this year. 
FRES has continued to provide Title 1 tutoring services in both reading and math. 

WIN Block - to be discussed later



⊷ Developed plans for students
⊷ Participate in data meetings
⊷ Integrating math and ELA into 

other content areas when 
possible

⊷ Developed domain specific 
goals

⊷ Met in PLCs and department 
meetings to analyze data

Action Plan Continued 

36



Now What?



⊷ WIN Block - K-12
⊷ Utilize Instructional Pathways to 

personalize instruction (K-8)
⊷ Weekly PLC/IMPACT meetings:

⊶ Utilize data from iReady and other 
assessment tools to inform 
instruction.  

⊶ Use data to reflect on instructional 
impact 

Now What? - District Wide

38

WIN Block - All students K-12 will be working in a WIN block to receive small group 
instruction, and use the MyPath instructional pathways.  Students who are scoring 
below 8th grade in 9th and 10th are also using instructional pathways. 



⊷ Professional Development around iReady 
and Math instructional Practices

⊷ Streamlined evaluation process to focus 
on effective teaching practices

⊷ Data Meetings 3 times a year 
⊷ Transition Meetings between the 

buildings (K-12 teams)
⊷  Continue to develop and vet curriculum
⊷ Math Professional Development: 

⊶ NHLI
⊶ Solution Tree

⊷ Target our interventions in numbers and 
operations and vocabulary

Now What? - District Wide

39

FRES provided after school tutoring for students based on conversations at Data 
meetings where iReady data was triangulated with classroom data, as well as other 
school-level assessments.  The data drove the conversations and supported teachers 
in making informed decisions about who still required intervention above and beyond 
what they are already receiving during the school day in order to make progress. 

WIN Block - Students who are scoring below 8th grade in 9th and 10th are also using 
instructional pathways. 
9th/10th on or above PSAT/SAT prep



⊷ Sending and Receiving Teachers Met 
as Data Teams

⊷ Summer Academy Based on Data 
Team Discussion

⊷ Kindergarten screener and Pre-K 
teacher input utilized to inform class 
placement

⊷ Professional Development in the 
Science of Reading

⊷ Curate accelerated learner 
programming 

Now What? - FRES/LCS

40



Now What? - WLC
⊷ Moving the Personal Finance 

Elective to a Required Course
⊷ Incorporating more high-stake 

assessments into the curriculum 
(ie midterm and final exams)

⊷ Continue offering an advanced 
placement math course in 7th 
and 8th grade

⊷ Continue After School Homework 
Club

⊷ Continue work on 
interdisciplinary curriculum

⊷ Continue PSAT and SAT prep into 
curriculum and WIN41



Now What? - WLC
⊷ Adjust the use of the PLC model.
⊷ Implement motivators for 

students taking standardized 
assessments (NH SAS, SAT, 
iReady, etc.).

⊷ Format classroom assessments.
⊷ Emphasize the importance and 

the rationale behind the 
assessments.

42

The master schedule has been adjusted to accommodate math and ELA teachers 
being grouped.  We are going to rearrange the way that PLCs are structured.  The 
PLCs are currently meeting twice a week, and we are going to change that so the 
math team will meet more frequently at the beginning of the school year, and then 
switch to another group for the following quarter.  We will frontload the PLCs with the 
math teachers.  

Format classroom assessments to that they mirror the type of assessments that they 
will be taking (NH SAS, PSAT, SAT). 

These Now What steps will become our action items next year.  These will be on our 
data presentation slides so we can track our progress towards meeting those goals. 



Questions



Annual and 
Stretch Growth 
Breakdown by 
Grade



How much progress are students making? 
Kindergarten: Reading

45

This is a breakdown of where students are at in regards to their annual growth goal 
and their stretch growth goal.  This is again the median student, so if you line up all of 
the students in each grade the percentage given is the median amount of growth for 
that particular grade-level.  You can see that across the board, students in grades 1-5 
are making significant progress towards their both their annual growth goal and their 
stretch growth goal.  



How much progress are students making? 
1-5: Reading

46

This is a breakdown of where students are at in regards to their annual growth goal 
and their stretch growth goal.  This is again the median student, so if you line up all of 
the students in each grade the percentage given is the median amount of growth for 
that particular grade-level.  You can see that across the board, students in grades 1-5 
are making significant progress towards their both their annual growth goal and their 
stretch growth goal.  



47

How much progress are students making? 
1-5: Math

This is a breakdown of where students are at in regards to their annual growth goal 
and their stretch growth goal.  This is again the median student, so if you line up all of 
the students in each grade the percentage given is the median amount of growth for 
that particular grade-level. 



How much progress are students making? 
6-8: Reading

48

This is a breakdown of where students are at in regards to their annual growth goal 
and their stretch growth goal.  This is again the median student, so if you line up all of 
the students in each grade the percentage given is the median amount of growth for 
that particular grade-level. You can see that all grade-levels are making good 
progress toward their growth goal.  



49

How much progress are students making? 
6-8: Math

This is a breakdown of where students are at in regards to their annual growth goal 
and their stretch growth goal.  This is again the median student, so if you line up all of 
the students in each grade the percentage given is the median amount of growth for 
that particular grade-level. Again, the progress students are making towards these 
goals are strong, with ⅔ grade levels at or above the 50% mark.  



 

   

WILTON-LYNDEBOROUGH COOPERATIVE 1 

SCHOOL BOARD MEETING 2 

Tuesday, June 27, 2023 3 

Wilton-Lyndeborough Cooperative M/H School 4 

  6:30 p.m. 5 
 6 
The videoconferencing link was published several places including on the meeting agenda. 7 
 8 
Present: Dennis Golding, Brianne Lavallee, Darlene Anzalone, Geoffrey Allen, and Diane Foss 9 
 10 
Superintendent Peter Weaver, Business Administrator Kristie LaPlante, and Clerk Kristina Fowler 11 
 12 

I. CALL TO ORDER  13 
Chairman Kofalt called the meeting to order at 6:33pm. 14 
 15 

II. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 16 
The Pledge of Allegiance was recited. 17 

 18 
III. PUBLIC HEARING-UNANTICIPATED REVENUE RSA 198:20-b 19 

Chairman Golding opened the public hearing at 6:33pm. He reviewed the Town of Wilton has notified the District 20 
that they have received $96,921.87 in School Impact Fees collected as part of their building permit process. By 21 
statute, these funds will be applied as Wilton specific revenues to offset their tax rate. He asked for any school board 22 
member questions or comments. Ms. Foss asked for clarification. Ms. LaPlante reported that in 2001 the Town of 23 
Wilton adopted an Impact Fee Ordinance. An impact fee is basically a growth management fee they apply for 24 
building permits or are attached to the building permit process. It is intended to help meet the needs of the growing 25 
town. They do this on roads, fire or emergency services and schools and it is written in there how it is adopted and 26 
how it goes to offset their portion of tax rates. It’s a building fee that is charged by the Town of Wilton to offset 27 
future needs based on growth. Chairman Golding asked for any additional questions from school board members, 28 
none heard.  29 
 30 
A MOTION was made by Ms. Lavallee and SECONDED by Ms. Foss to move to accept $96,921.87 in unanticipated 31 
revenues from the Town of Wilton for School Impact Fees. 32 
 33 
Chairman Golding asked for questions or comments from the public regarding the public hearing, unanticipated 34 

funds. Superintendent called out all the phone numbers and names joined in the meeting asking if they wanted to 35 

comment. None heard. 36 

 37 
Voting: all aye; motion carried. 38 
 39 
The hearing closed at 6:38pm. 40 
 41 

IV. FINANCE COMMITTEE SCOPE & PURPOSE 42 
Chairman Golding reviewed we will decide if we need to have a committee, and if we do what will we use it for. Ms. 43 

LaPlante provided a document containing a rough framework of what she believes the committee could be. She 44 

noted that in her first year, there was concern regarding the transfer of one business Administrator to another for 45 

various reasons but we never really dug deep into the finance of the district. She reviewed the history of the Finance 46 

Committee, which was to specifically address the $411,444 reduction in the 20-21 budget, which was approved by 47 

voters at the district meeting. The minutes are specific that it was to be a limited scope committee, together for 1 48 

year. The committee has continued to meet. In her observation over the last 2 years, our Budget Committee is unique 49 

from other Budget Committees, they stay involved much longer and she thinks this is good so that they can stay 50 

current and ask questions as the budget develops. There are two sections of the budget, there is building the budget 51 

and once approved, implementing it. She thought of marrying these two together with a common goal. The common 52 

goal of these two groups is money and making sure it’s spent appropriately and effectively. Her idea is to have an 53 

advisory committee to look at things, perhaps meeting in the summer and review how the budget shakes out, are 54 



 

   

there any lessons learned to take into building the next budget and maybe meet again around February or March to 55 

look at where we are in the spending process. It is also providing another level of safeguard for the taxpayers and is 56 

another avenue to say we gave you this money why are not spending it. This is her take on it if the Board wants to 57 

move forward. A suggestion was made to meet earlier than February to report out at district meeting the expected 58 

balance of funds and what that could be spent on. Ms. LaPlante responded she did not list January because that is the 59 

time when we are finalizing the next year’s budget, will we be able to focus on that while working on the projection 60 

but it could be a good avenue for consideration. Mr. Allen expressed that it a great idea and the only question for the 61 

Board is one of the concerns discussed at the Board and at Facilities Committee is where we are in the spending 62 

process with projects. It had been voiced at one time that the desire was to have a report at every board meeting or 63 

once a month or something like that regarding where we are with the CIP or just spending in general. Would we want 64 

that to be maintained with the full board, which would add to the length of the meetings, or would it be beneficial to 65 

push that down to a committee and it can be briefed back to the Board. Chairman Golding voiced because Ms. 66 

LaPlante is proposing 2-3 meetings a year we could probably do that at a board level and save everyone time at the 67 

committee level. He suggests we leave the Finance Committee tabled until such time as something like that $411,444 68 

reduction comes up again and it be revisited. Ms. LaPlante added from Oct-end of the year there are monthly or 69 

every other month YTD reports on where we are financially. In her experience with the district now, questions are 70 

asked in the moment but she has not received any other follow up from committees or members of the public. She is 71 

confident we are sharing accurate data and the information is getting out there. There is an avenue for people to ask 72 

questions; our books are open and as transparent as can be. She wants to encourage the public if they have questions 73 

they can feel free to email or call her. She confirms the Budget Committee as a whole can ask her any questions 74 

regarding any monies. Superintendent confirms in September we will have a discussion with look back at our ups 75 

and down with the budget as a school board. We will plan on late January-February before district meeting to do it 76 

again and look where we are, what is anticipated as unspent and any other items we need to look at and do it a third 77 

time toward end of year if needed. It was suggested to have charts also showing the larger spending areas to make it 78 

visual and easier for folks to understand. Ms. LaPlante agrees.  79 

 80 

V. NHSBA CALL FOR RESOLUTIONS 81 
Chairman Golding asked if there were any resolutions. We had submitted the same resolution the past 2 years, which 82 
was not passed. He asked for any suggestions. None heard we will move on from this. He noted the only thing we 83 
would need to do is determine who would attend the Delegate Assembly. Ms. Lavallee noted we have time to decide 84 
and suggested holding off until the resolutions are known then we can determine who may want to attend knowing 85 
what would be voted on. The resolutions come out around August or September.  86 
 87 

VI. RESIGNATIONS / APPOINTMENTS / LEAVES 88 
Superintendent informed members he has a couple of additions. No objection heard.  89 

a. FYI-New Hire-Chrissy Morrissey-Paraprofessional-FRES 90 
b. FYI-New Hire-Jamin LaPonsie-Instructional Aide-LCS 91 
 FYI-New Hire-Amanda Guay-Instructional Aide-LCS 92 
 FYI-New Hire-Jennifer Forrest-Paraprofessional-FRES 93 

Superintendent reviewed the new hires. 94 
c. Resignation-Samantha Thapa-ABA Therapist 95 
d. Resignation-Allison Blondin-MS Math Teacher 96 
 Resignation-Kristi Costello-Food Service 97 

Superintendent reviewed the resignations. 98 
e. Appointment-Sophia Menke-1st Grade Teacher-FRES 99 

Superintendent reviewed his nomination for 1st Grade Teacher. 100 
 101 
A MOTION was made by Mr. Allen and SECONDED by Ms. Lavallee to accept the nomination and appoint Ms. 102 
Sophia Menke, 1st Grade Teacher Bachelors, Step 1 salary of $38,000. 103 
Voting: all aye; motion carried. 104 
 105 

f. Appointments for July  106 



 

   

 Appointment-Joseph Sullivan-MS Math-WLC 107 
Superintendent reviewed his nomination for MS Math Teacher.  108 
 109 
A MOTION was made by Ms. Foss and SECONDED by Mr. Allen to accept the nomination and appoint Mr. Joseph 110 
Sullivan, MS Math Teacher Bachelors, Step 1 salary of $38,000. 111 
Voting: all aye; motion carried. 112 
 113 
A question was raised how many open positions we have. Superintendent responded 4 right now and we are taking 114 
steps back to see what we can do, we have MS science, MS math, HS math and computer science teaching positions. 115 
He spoke of seeing a difference in the amount of applications we received compared to other years, it is not just our 116 
district and there are articles written about less teachers in the university systems going into education and earning 117 
their education degree. People are leaving education in the last quarter of their career and looking to get out earlier, it 118 
is almost a perfect storm. It is challenging for communities like us to compete financially with other districts. There 119 
are so many openings it is easy to take another job that is paying $15,000 more than we are. We are looking at every 120 
angle; the positions we have open are critical areas. FRES and LCS are all set and most of WLC is set. He spoke of 121 
some of the other options he is looking at such as looking to see what teachers we have that can teach math for 122 
example and do we negotiate with a teacher and pay extra to teach a class, we have some classes in basic technology 123 
such as MS portfolios that may be easier to manage. He is talking to other Superintendents to see what they are 124 
doing. He spoke to High Mowing today about collaborating on classes. They don’t have a program like portfolios, if 125 
we can send science kids there and they can send kids here for portfolios; he is trying to find ways to bridge the two 126 
schools. They are open to it; they have limited classes they can offer students. We have some advanced classes they 127 
don’t offer such as AP Calculous. There are also other public schools like Milford, could we send the kids on a van 128 
tuition them for a class. He would ask for the Board’s support before doing that and a challenge is their schedule is 129 
not the same as ours. Ms. Lavallee voiced in April in Concord they developed a committee because it is a statewide 130 
issue and very complex. There are a number of things we can do to try to fix the issue in the moment but thinks as a 131 
Board and administration we need to be looking at what can we do as a small district with only so much latitude with 132 
the budget. What else can we do to attract people and what is the role of the Board in that. What is the message we 133 
are sending staff, are we supportive of teachers, are we creating a positive environment. She thinks it is helpful we 134 
are doing the exit interviews now and looks forward to seeing the information collected. She believes we need to as a 135 
Board, start having these hard conversations about what could be some of the systemic problems that are causing 136 
teachers to not want to come here as a district and the state, why are people choosing not to go into education. We 137 
need to promote our school district to gain interest. Superintendent spoke about the intern program (paying interns a 138 
$1,000 stipend to come here) and he met with Keene, Franklin Pierce and Rivier along with Mr. Comerford. We tried 139 
to sell them on our district in terms of their internship. The selfish goal is to recruit them but also show them they can 140 
grow here; last time we hired all interns we had. He spoke of teacher retention and not wanting to lose sight of that 141 
when we move into the workshop.  How do we measure it and what can we do to make a difference. A question was 142 
raised regarding VLACS and is there a way to use that and utilize interns to work with the students. Superintendent 143 
responded it is an option that has been around; it is a challenge especially with something like 11th grade math or 144 
Algebra II, they would need an adult working with them who really understood that. He spoke of getting creative 145 
such as having an engineer working with students for a stipend to oversee an Algebra II class or pre-calculous class; 146 
it would be a good learning environment for kids. That is the kind of thing we do not want to rule out. Ms. Anzalone 147 
cautioned with VLACS the experience can differ depending on the teacher working with the student and that they 148 
need to be available when the kids need them.    149 
  150 

VII. PUBLIC COMMENTS 151 
The public comment section of the agenda was read. 152 

 153 

Ms. Tatiana Franko commented that tonight’s agenda has on it a discussion of what the school board’s goals and 154 

visions are, she suggested to the Board that they consider the physical activity level and health of students and the 155 

time allotted to students especially at WLC where there is no recess. She has spoken at length with other mothers of 156 

boys who need to have outdoor activity time. She knows a mother who homeschools their child because he cannot 157 

handle the limited amount of activity time. In this day and age of IPhone, IPads, video games, TV and screen time, 158 

our children are losing the appreciation and closeness to creation. They are often overweight, lackadaisical, bored, 159 

hopeless, depressed and directionless as well as confused. It is high time to infuse our children with life, energy and 160 

enthusiasm and hope. All of which can be found in a forest, near bodies of water, in a field or a farm or just outdoors. 161 



 

   

While on a school trip, I witnessed staff separate boys into stillness while all their bodies wanted to do was run after 162 

sitting on a bus and having lunch and standing in line at a museum. This is her plea to have more physical outdoor 163 

time especially for boys and especially at WLC they are stuck inside, it is almost like prison time and does not look 164 

forward to sending her son here when she knows he needs outdoors. Most children spend screen time at home and sit 165 

and they need more life into them.  166 

 167 

Superintendent called out all the phone numbers and names joined in the meeting asking if they wanted to comment. 168 

 169 

Ms. Mary Golding congratulated the new hires, yeah Chrissy, she is great and will do wonderful at FRES we are 170 

lucky to have her. She thanked the Board for working so hard and doing what you do for no appreciation. I 171 

appreciates you! Thank you everyone. 172 

 173 

VIII. NON-PUBLIC SESSION RSA 91-A: 3 II (A) (C) 174 
A MOTION was made by Ms. Lavallee and SECONDED by Mr. Allen to enter Non-Public Session to review the non-175 
public minutes, and discuss superintendent evaluation RSA 91-A: 3 II (C) at 7:06pm. 176 
Voting: via roll call vote, all aye, motion carried. 177 
 178 
  RETURN TO PUBLIC SESSION 179 
The Board entered public session at 8:24pm.    180 
 181 
A MOTION was made to seal the non-public session minutes by Ms. Lavallee and SECONDED by Ms. Foss. 182 
Voting: all aye; motion carried. 183 
 184 

IX. ADJOURNMENT 185 
A MOTION was made by Ms. Lavallee and SECONDED by Ms. Foss to adjourn the Board meeting at 8:24pm. 186 
Voting: all aye; motion carried. 187 
 188 
Respectfully submitted, 189 
Kristina Fowler 190 
 191 



 

   

WILTON-LYNDEBOROUGH COOPERATIVE 1 

   SCHOOL BOARD WORKSHOP 2 

Tuesday, June 27, 2023 3 

Wilton-Lyndeborough Cooperative M/H School 4 

  6:30 p.m. 5 
 6 
Present: Dennis Golding, Brianne Lavallee, Darlene Anzalone, Geoffrey Allen, and Diane Foss 7 
Superintendent Peter Weaver and Clerk Kristina Fowler 8 
 9 

I. SCHOOL BOARD WORKSHOP 10 
 School Board Goals/Vision 11 

The workshop started at 8:24pm. 12 
Superintendent spoke of the Board giving him some arching goals around academic progress and school culture. He 13 
reviewed some of the examples from documents he shared back in May.  He suggests bringing it back in August 14 
and sharing the overarching goals with the staff when they return and how to know when we are being successful or 15 
falling short. Discussion was had regarding changing the culture of the relationship between the Board and staff 16 
including potentially having board member/s come to opening day. The Superintendent briefly discussed ways for 17 
the Board to increase staff appreciation. Discussion continued about recognizing teachers and making a difference 18 
in small ways. Discussion was had regarding a goal of academic achievement and how to motivate the students to 19 
want to take tests. They spoke of the PSAT and SAT testing and that it is only one data point of how well the 20 
students are doing and potential reasons for not scoring well. There was a brief discussion regarding many students 21 
do not do well on the test but have good grades. Superintendent spoke of looking at the top 10% of student 22 
performance and discussion was had of other data points that can be used to celebrate the students and share that 23 
with the Board. It was suggested to highlight trades and show the other great things our students are doing and 24 
promote all the different pathways to a career. It was suggested to look at what the students did after graduation. 25 
Overall discussion was had regarding improving academic scores, getting more data points and academic 26 
achievement, acknowledgement and improve communication.  27 
Goals: 28 
o Academic Accountability 29 
o Celebrate the good- staff and students (culture) 30 
o Improve Communication 31 

Superintendent suggested adding, “Continue Fiscal Responsibility”. 32 
 33 
Suggestions were made how to move forward with finalizing goals. Superintendent suggested allowing him to work 34 
with the leadership team to develop it more, such as taking academic achievement and breaking it down by adding 35 
multiple data points under it, how many kids are playing sports or extra-curricular activities etc.  He will work with 36 
the administration team and share a draft with the full Board for review. It was suggested when the iReady data is 37 
presented to include other data points with it such as how many students are on honor roll etc. 38 

 Board Operations/Roles & Responsibilities 39 
A question was raised regarding defining roles of chair, vice chair and member’s role in communication. This was 40 
briefly discussed and it was noted not all the members are present. There was a brief discussion regarding 41 
appointments/new hires during the Board’s recess in July and not wanting to lose applicants. The members agreed 42 
to authorize and delegate the responsibility to Ms. Lavallee and Mr. Golding to approve appointments/new hires 43 
nominated by the Superintendent with the understanding the entire Board will be updated with all information at the 44 
first meeting in August. A question was raised if there are any other roles and responsibilities to discuss. It was 45 
suggested when there are times in short notice, when an attorney may present to the Board or a situation like that 46 
that all members be notified and given the option to attend. Ms. Lavallee voiced the role of the vice chair and chair 47 
is to disseminate, receive and send out information to the Board.  A brief discussion was had regarding the 48 
Chairman’s role concerning motions and the current policy, which says the chairperson will not originate or second 49 
motions. Superintendent commented it is because of chairperson’s potential undue influence. Chairman Golding 50 
voiced he sees the chair’s role to mediate and moderate, to get consensus but he also would like to have an opinion. 51 
Chairman Golding reviewed the Superintendent will provide a goals document in August for Board review.  52 
  53 
The workshop concluded at 9:27pm. 54 
 55 
Respectfully submitted, 56 
Kristina Fowler 57 



BBBF - Student Board Members 

    Page 1 of 1 

A. General Policy.  The Board will have at least one student school board member from the Wilton-
Lyndeborough Cooperative MS/HS.  

Student School Board members (“Student-members”) will not have the right to vote and will be 
excluded from all non-public sessions the Board enters.  

B. Election and Term of Student School Board-Members. 

Student-members will serve one-year terms, beginning on October 1st of each year.  

Student-members will be chosen by a majority vote of the MS/HS student body under procedures for 
nomination and election established by the student government of the high school.    

C. Responsibilities of Student Government.   

The student government of the MS/HS shall establish procedures for: 
1. The nomination and election of Student-member candidates; 
2. Any public high school student in the school district to petition the Student-member to 

present proposals and opinions to the School Board;       
3. Filling any vacancy that may occur in the Student-member position from that school.  

 
D. Student-Member Expectations. 

Under RSA 194:23-f, IV, Student-members are expected to:  
1. Attend all School Board meetings; 
2. Represent all MS/HS students within the District; 
3. Present to the School Board specific proposals and ideas from the high school student body; 
4. Serve as a liaison between students, District staff, and the Board; 
5. Keep the student body informed of Board business and actions; and 
6. Comply with all Board policies relative to students and Board members, when applicable. 

 
E. Oversight. 

The Superintendent shall assure building principals coordinate with student council advisors to ensure 
the student council is aware of the requirements of Section D, above.     

The School Board recognizes that the consistent attendance of a Student Board Member is essential to the 
effective operation of Board duties as well as required under RSA 189:1-c. 

The Chair and Vice Chair will coordinate with Administration to address absences exceeding 3 
consecutive meetings or 30% of scheduled meetings.  Administration may coordinate the selection of a 
designated Alternate Student Board Member in accordance with the process set forth above. 

First Reading: May 9, 2023 
Second Reading: May 23, 2023 
Third Reading: June 13, 2023 
Final Adoption: 
 
Legal References:   

RSA 189:1-c, School Board Student Member 

RSA 194:23-f, High School Student as a Board Member 

Legal References Disclaimer: These references are not intended to be considered part of this 
policy, nor should they be taken as a comprehensive statement of the legal basis for the Board to 
enact this policy, nor as a complete recitation of related legal authority. Instead, they are 
provided as additional resources for those interested in the subject matter of the policy. 



 

1 

JICK - PUPIL SAFETY AND VIOLENCE PREVENTION-Bullying 

 
Category: Priority/Required by Law       See also JIC, JICD, IHBA  

I. Definitions (RSA 193-F:3)  

1. Bullying. Bullying is hereby defined as a single significant incident or a pattern of  
incidents involving a written, verbal, or electronic communication, or a physical act or  
gesture, or any combination thereof, directed at another pupil which:   

(1) Physically harms a pupil or damages the pupil's property;   

(2) Causes emotional distress to a pupil;   

(3) Interferes with a pupil's educational opportunities;   

(4) Creates a hostile educational environment; or   

(5) Substantially disrupts the orderly operation of the school.   

Bullying shall also include actions motivated by an imbalance of power based on a pupil's  
actual or perceived personal characteristics, behaviors, or beliefs, or motivated by the pupil's  
association with another person and based on the other person's characteristics, behaviors, or  
beliefs.   

2. Cyberbullying. Cyberbullying is defined as any conduct defined as "bullying" in this  
policy that is undertaken through the use of electronic devices. For purposes of this policy,  
any references to the term bullying shall include cyberbullying.   

3. Electronic devices. Electronic devices include, but are not limited to, telephones, cellular  
phones, computers, pagers, electronic mail, instant messaging, text messaging, and websites.   

4. School property. School property means all real property and all physical plant and  
equipment used for school purposes, including public or private school buses or vans.   

Any reference in this policy to "parent" shall include parents or legal guardians.  II. 

Statement Prohibiting Bullying or Cyberbullying of a Pupil (RSA 193-F:4, II(a))  

The Wilton Lyndeborough Cooperative School Board is committed to providing all pupils a safe  
and secure school environment. This policy is intended to comply with RSA 193-F. Conduct  
constituting bullying and/or cyberbullying will not be tolerated and is hereby prohibited.   

Further, in accordance with RSA 193-F:4, the District reserves the right to address bullying and,  
if necessary, impose discipline for bullying that:   

(1) Occurs on, or is delivered to, school property or a school-sponsored activity or event on  
or off school property; or   

(2) Occurs off of school property or outside of a school-sponsored activity or event, if the  
conduct interferes with a pupil's educational opportunities or substantially disrupts the  
orderly operations of the school or school-sponsored activity or event.   

The Superintendent of Schools is responsible for ensuring that this policy is implemented.  

  



 

2 

III. Statement prohibiting retaliation or false accusations (RSA 193-F:4, II(b)) 

False Reporting  

A student found to have wrongfully and intentionally accused another of bullying may face  
discipline or other consequences, ranging from positive behavioral interventions up to and  
including suspension or expulsion.   

A school employee found to have wrongfully and intentionally accused a student of bullying  
shall face discipline or other consequences be determined in accordance with applicable law,  
District policies, procedures and collective bargaining agreements.   

Reprisal or Retaliation  

The District will discipline and take appropriate action against any student, teacher,  
administrator, volunteer, or other employee who retaliates against any person who makes a good  
faith report of alleged bullying or against any person who testifies, assists, or participates in a  
proceeding or hearing relating to such bullying.   

1. The consequences and appropriate remedial action for a student, teacher, school  
administrator or school volunteer who engages in reprisal or retaliation shall be determined  
by the Principal after consideration of the nature, severity and circumstances of the act, in  
accordance with law, Board policies and any applicable collective bargaining agreements.   

2. Any student found to have engaged in reprisal or retaliation in violation of this policy  
shall be subject to measures up to, and including, suspension and expulsion.   

3. Any teacher or school administrator found to have engaged in reprisal or retaliation in  
violation of this policy shall be subject to discipline up to, and including, termination of  
employment.   

4. Any school volunteer found to have engaged in reprisal or retaliation in violation of this  
policy shall be subject to measures up to, and including, exclusion from school grounds.   

Process To Protect Pupils From Retaliation  

If the alleged victim or any witness expresses to the Principal or other staff member that he/she  
believes he/she may be retaliated against, the Principal shall develop a process or plan to protect  
that student from possible retaliation.   

Each process or plan may be developed on a case-by-case basis. Suggestions include, but are not  
limited to, re-arranging student class schedules to minimize their contact, stern warnings to  
alleged perpetrators, temporary removal of privileges, or other means necessary to protected  
against possible retaliation.   

IV. Protection of all Pupils (RSA 193-F:4, II(c))  

This policy shall apply to all pupils and school-aged persons on school district grounds and  
participating in school district functions, regardless of whether or not such pupil or school-aged  
person is a student within the District.   

V. Disciplinary Consequences For Violations of This Policy (RSA 193-F:4, II(d)) 

   



 

3 

The district reserves the right to impose disciplinary measures against any student who commits  
an act of bullying, falsely accuses another student of bullying, or who retaliates against any  
student or witness who provides information about an act of bullying.   

In addition to imposing discipline under such circumstances, the board encourages the  
administration and school district staff to seek alternatives to traditional discipline, including but  
not limited to early intervention measures, alternative dispute resolution, conflict resolution and  
other similar measures.   

VI. Distribution and Notice of This Policy (RSA 193-F:4, II(e))  

Staff and Volunteers   

All staff will be provided with a copy of this policy annually. The Superintendent may  
determine the method of providing the policy (employee handbook, hard copy, etc.)   

The Superintendent will ensure that all school employees and volunteers receive annual training  
on bullying and related district's policies.   

Students  

All students will be provided with a copy of this policy annually. The Superintendent may  
determine the method of providing the policy (student handbook, mailing, hard copy, etc.) 
  

Students will participate in an annual education program which sets out expectations for student  
behavior and emphasizes an understanding of harassment, intimidation, and bullying of students,  
the District's prohibition of such conduct and the reasons why the conduct is destructive,  
unacceptable, and will lead to discipline. Students shall also be informed of the consequences of  
bullying conduct toward their peers.   

The Superintendent, in consultation with staff, may incorporate student anti-bullying training and  
education into the district's curriculum, but shall not be required to do so.   

Parents  

All parents will be provided with a copy of this policy annually. The Superintendent may  
determine the method of providing the policy (parent handbook, mailing, etc.). Parents will be  
informed of the program and the means for students to report bullying acts toward them or other  
students. They will also be told that to help prevent bullying at school they should encourage  
their children to:   

1. Report bullying when it occurs;   

2. Take advantage of opportunities to talk to their children about bullying;   

3. Inform the school immediately if they think their child is being bullied or is bullying other  
students;   

4. Cooperate fully with school personnel in identifying and resolving incidents.  

Additional Notice and School District Programs  

The Board may, from time to time, host or schedule public forums in which it will address the  
anti-bullying policy, discuss bullying in the schools, and consult with a variety of individuals  
including teachers, administrators, guidance counselors, school psychologists and other  
interested persons.  



 

4 

   
VII. Procedure for Reporting Bullying (RSA 193-F:4, II(f))  

At each school, the Principal shall be responsible for receiving complaints of alleged violations  
of this policy.   

Student Reporting  

1. Any student who believes he or she has been the victim of bullying should report the  
alleged acts immediately to the Principal. If the student is more comfortable reporting the  
alleged act to a person other than the Principal, the student may tell any school district  
employee or volunteer about the alleged bullying.   

 
2. Any school employee or volunteers who witnesses, receives a report of, or has knowledge  
or belief that bullying may have occurred shall inform the Principal as soon as possible, but  
no later than the end of the that school day.   

3. The Principal may develop a system or method for receiving anonymous reports of  
bullying. Although students, parents, volunteers and visitors may report anonymously, formal  
disciplinary action may not be based solely on an anonymous report. Independent  
verification of the anonymous report shall be necessary in order for any disciplinary action to  
be applied.   

4. The administration may develop student reporting forms to assist students and staff in  
filing such reports. An investigation shall still proceed even if a student is reluctant to fill out  
the designated form and chooses not to do so.   

5. Upon receipt of a report of bullying, the Principal shall commence an investigation  
consistent with the provisions of Section XI of this policy.   

Staff Reporting  

1. An important duty of the staff is to report acts or behavior that they witness that appears to  
constitute bullying.   

2. All district employees and volunteers shall encourage students to tell them about acts that  
may constitute bullying. For young students, staff members may provide direct assistance to  
the student.   

3. Any school employee or volunteers who witnesses, receives a report of, or has knowledge  
or belief that bullying may have occurred shall inform the Principal as soon as possible, but  
no later than the end of the that school day.   

4. Upon receipt of a report of bullying, the Principal shall commence an investigation  
consistent with the provisions of Section XI of this policy.   

VIII. Procedure for Internal Reporting Requirements (RSA 193-F:4, II(g))  

In order to satisfy the reporting requirements of RSA 193-F:6, the Principal or designee shall be  
responsible for completing all New Hampshire Department of Education forms and reporting  
documents of substantiated incidents of bullying. Said forms shall be completed within 10  
school days of any substantiated incident. Upon completion of such forms, the Principal or  
designee shall retain a copy for himself and shall forward one copy to the Superintendent. The  
Superintendent shall maintain said forms in a safe and secure location.   

IX. Notifying Parents of Alleged Bullying (RSA 193-F:4, II(h)) 



 

5 

    
The Principal shall report to the parents of a student who has been reported as a victim of  
bullying and to the parents of a student who has been reported as a perpetrator of bullying within  
48 hours of receiving the report. Such notification may be made by telephone, writing or  
personal conference. The date, time, method, and location (if applicable) of such notification  
and communication shall be noted in the report. All notifications shall be consistent with the  
student privacy rights under the applicable provisions of the Family Educational Rights and  
Privacy Act of 1974 (FERPA).   

X. Waiver of Notification Requirement (RSA 193-F:4, II(i))  

 
The Superintendent may, within a 48 hour time period, grant the Principal a waiver from the  
requirement that the parents of the alleged victim and the alleged perpetrator be notified of the  
filing of a report. A waiver may only be granted if the Superintendent deems such a waiver to be  
in the best interest of the victim or perpetrator. Any waiver granted shall be in writing. Granting  
of a waiver shall not negate the school's responsibility to adhere to the remainder of its approved written  
policy.  

XI. Investigative Procedures (RSA 193-F:4, II(j))  

1. Upon receipt of a report of bullying, the Principal shall, within 5 calendar days, initiate an  
investigation into the alleged act. If the Principal is directly and personally involved with a  
complaint or is closely related to a party to the complaint, then the Superintendent shall direct  
another district employee to conduct the investigation.   

2. The investigation may include documented interviews with the alleged victim, alleged  
perpetrator and any witnesses. All interviews shall be conducted privately, separately and  
shall be confidential. Each individual will be interviewed separately and at no time will the  
alleged victim and perpetrator be interviewed together during the investigation.   

3. If the alleged bullying was in whole or in part cyberbullying, the Principal may ask  
students and/or parents to provide the District with printed copies of e-mails, text messages,  
website pages, or other similar electronic communications.   

4. A maximum of 10 calendar days shall be the limit for the initial filing of incidents 
and  completion of the investigative procedural steps.   

5. Factors the Principal or other investigator may consider during the course of the  
investigation, including but not limited to:   

 Description of incident, including the nature of the behavior;   

 How often the conduct occurred;   

 Whether there were past incidents or past continuing patterns of behavior;  

 The characteristics of parties involved, (name, grade, age, etc.);   

 The identity and number of individuals who participated in bullying behavior;  

 Where the alleged incident(s) occurred;   

 Whether the conduct adversely affected the student's education or educational  
environment;   

 Whether the alleged victim felt or perceived an imbalance or power as a result of the  
reported incident; and  



 

6 

    
 The date, time and method in which parents or legal guardians of all parties involved  

were contacted.   

6. The Principal shall complete the investigation within 7 calendar days of receiving the  
initial report. If the Principal needs more than 7 calendar  days to complete the 
investigation,  the Superintendent may grant an extension of up to 7 calendar  days. In the 
event such  extension is granted, the Principal shall notify in writing all parties involved of 
the granting  of the extension.   

7. Whether a particular action or incident constitutes a violation of this policy shall require a  
determination based on all facts and surrounding circumstances and shall include  
recommended remedial steps necessary to stop the bullying and a written final report to the  
Principal.   

8. Students who are found to have violated this policy may face discipline in accordance  
with other applicable board policies, up to and including suspension. Students facing  
discipline will be afforded all due process required by law.   

9. Consistent with applicable law, the District will not require or request that a student  
disclose or provide to the District the student's username, password or other authenticating  
information to a student's personal social media account. However, the District may make a 
request to a student or a student's parent/guardian that the student voluntarily share printed 
copies of  specific information from a student's personal social media account if such 
information is  relevant to an ongoing District investigation.   

XII. Response to Remediate Substantiated Instances of Bullying (RSA 193-F:4, II(k))  

Consequences and appropriate remedial actions for a student or staff member who commits one  
or more acts of bullying or retaliation may range from positive behavioral interventions up to and  
including suspension or expulsion of students and dismissal from employment for staff members.   

Consequences for a student who commits an act of bullying or retaliation shall be varied and  
graded according to the nature of the behavior, the developmental age of the student, and the  
student's history of problem behaviors and performance. Remedial measures shall be designed  
to correct the problem behavior, prevent another occurrence of the problem, protect and provide  
support for the victim, and take corrective action for documented systematic problems related to  
bullying.   

Examples of consequences may include, but are not limited to:   

● Admonishment   
● Temporary removal from classroom   
● Deprivation of privileges   
● Classroom or administrative detention   
● Referral to disciplinarian   
● In-school suspension   
● Out-of-school suspension   
● Expulsion  

   
Examples of remedial measures may include, but are not limited to:   

● Restitution   



 

7 

● Mediation   
● Peer support group   
● Corrective instruction or other relevant learning experience   
● Behavior assessment   
● Student counseling   
● Parent conferences   

In support of this policy, the Board promotes preventative educational measures to create greater  
awareness of aggressive behavior, including bullying. The Board encourages the Superintendent  
to work collaboratively with all staff members to develop responses other than traditional  
discipline as a way to remediate substantiated instances of bullying.   

XIII. Reporting of Substantiated Incidents to the Superintendent (RSA 193-F:4, II(l)  

The Principal shall forward all substantiated reports of bullying to the Superintendent upon 
 completion of the Principal's investigation.   

XIV. Communication With Parents Upon Completion of Investigation (RSA 193-F:4,  
II(m)  

1. Within two school days of completing an investigation, the Principal will notify the  
students involved in person of his/her findings and the result of the investigation.   

2. The Principal will notify via telephone the parents of the alleged victim and alleged  
perpetrator of the results of the investigation. The Principal will also send a letter to the  
parents within 24 hours again notifying them of the results of the investigation.   

3. If the parents request, the Principal shall schedule a meeting with them to further explain  
his/her findings and reasons for his/her actions.   

4. In accordance with the Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act and other law  
concerning student privacy, the District will not disclose educational records of students  
including the discipline and remedial action assigned to those students and the parents of  
other students involved in a bullying incident.   

XV. Appeals  

A parent or guardian who is aggrieved by the investigative determination letter of the principal  
or his/her designee may appeal the determination to the Superintendent for review. The appeal  
shall be in writing addressed to the Superintendent, shall state the reason(s) why the appealing   
party is aggrieved, and the nature of the relief they seek. The Superintendent shall not be  
required to re-investigate the matter and shall conduct such review as he/she deems appropriate  
under the circumstances.   

It is in the best interests of students, families and the District that these matters be promptly  
resolved. Therefore, any such appeal to the Superintendent shall be made within ten (10)  
calendar days of the parent/guardian's receipt of the investigative determination letter of the  
principal or his/her designee. The Superintendent shall issue his/her decision in writing.  

  
If the parent or guardian is aggrieved by the decision of the Superintendent, they may appeal the  
decision to the school board within ten (10) calendar days of the date of the parent/guardian's  
receipt of the Superintendent's decision. An appeal to the Superintendent shall be a prerequisite  
to any appeal to the School Board. The appeal to the School Board shall be in writing, addressed  
to School Board Chair in care of the Superintendent, shall state the reason(s) why the appealing  
party is aggrieved, and the nature of the relief they seek.   



 

8 

An aggrieved parent/guardian has the right to appeal the final decision of the local School Board  
to the State Board within thirty (30) calendar days of receipt of the written decision of the local  
School Board in accordance with RSA 541-A and State of New Hampshire Department of  
Education Regulations set forth in ED 200. The State Board may waive the thirty-day  
requirement for good cause shown, including, but not limited to, illness, accident, or death of a  
family member.   

XVI. School Officials (RSA 193-F:4, II(n)  

The Superintendent of schools is responsible for ensuring that this policy is implemented.  
Notification that the Superintendent had evoked a waiver as stated in section X will be 
provided to the School Board at the next scheduled meeting in non-public.  No identifying 
details will be provided to the Board. 

XVII. Capture of Audio Recordings on School Buses  

Pursuant to RSA 570-A:2, notice is hereby given that the Board authorizes audio recordings to  
be made in conjunction with video recordings of the interior of school buses while students are 
 being transported to and from school or school activities. The Superintendent shall ensure that  

there is a sign informing the occupants of school buses that such recordings are occurring.   

XVIII. Use of Video or Audio Recordings in Student Discipline Matters  

The District reserves the right to use audio and/or video recording devices on District property  
(including school buses) to ensure the health, safety and welfare of all staff, students and  
visitors. Placement and location of such devices will be established in accordance with the  
provisions of Policies EEAA, EEAE, and ECAF.   

In the event an audio or video recording is used as part of a student discipline proceeding, such  
video may become part of a student's education record. If an audio or video recording does  
become part of a student's education record, the provisions of Policy JRA shall apply.   

The Superintendent is authorized to contact the District's attorney for a full legal opinion relative  
in the event of such an occurrence.   

Legal References:   

RSA 189:70, Educational Institution Policies on Social Media   

RSA 193-F:3, Pupil Safety and Violence Prevention Act   

RSA 570-A:2, Capture of Audio Recordings on School Buses Allowed   

NH Code of Administrative Rules, Section Ed 306.04(a)(8), Student Harassment    

 

First Reading: June 2, 2010   
Second Reading: July 13, 2010  
Final Adoption: August 10, 2010 
Revision: (insert date) 

    



 

1 
 

DAF 6 – INVENTORY MANAGEMENT-EQUIPMENT AND SUPPLIES 
PURCHASED WITH FEDERAL FUNDS 
 
 

Equipment and supplies acquired (“property” as used in this policy DAF-6) with federal funds will be 
used, managed, and disposed of in accordance with applicable state and federal requirements. 
Property records and inventory systems shall be sufficiently maintained to account for and track 
equipment that has been acquired with federal funds.  In furtherance thereof, the following minimum 
standards and controls shall apply to any equipment or pilferable items acquired in whole or in part 
under a Federal award until such property is disposed in accordance with applicable laws, regulations 
and Board policies: 

A. “Equipment” and “Pilferable Items” Defined:    For purposes of this policy, “equipment” 
means tangible personal property (including information technology systems) having a useful life 
of more than one year and a per-unit acquisition cost which equals or exceeds the lesser of 
$5,000, or the capitalization level established by the District for financial statement purposes.  
“Pilferable items” are those items, regardless of cost, which may be easily lost or stolen, such as 
cell phones, tablets, graphing calculators, software, projectors, cameras and other video 
equipment, computer equipment and televisions.    

B. Records: The Superintendent shall maintain records that include a description of the property; a 
serial number or other identification number; the source of the funding for the property (including 
the federal award identification number (FAIN)); who holds title; the acquisition date; the cost of 
the property; the percentage of the federal participation in the project costs for the federal award 
under which the property was acquired; the location, use, and condition of the property; and any 
ultimate disposition data, including the date of disposition and sale price of the property. 

C. Inventory:  No less than once every two years, they shall cause a physical inventory of all 
equipment and pilferable items to be taken and the results reconciled with the property records.  
Except as otherwise provided in this policy DAF-6, inventories shall be conducted consistent with 
Board Policy DID. 

D. Control, Maintenance and Disposition:  The Superintendent shall develop administrative 
procedures relative to property procured in whole or in part with Federal funds to: 
1. prevent loss, damage, or theft of the property; any loss, damage, or theft must be investigated; 
2. to maintain the property and keep it in good condition; and 
to ensure the highest possible return through proper sales procedures, in those instances where the 
District is authorized to sell the property.  
 

Legal References:  
42 USC 1751 - 66 National School Lunch Act 
2 CFR Part 180 
2 CFR Part 200; 200.0 - 200.99; 200.305;  200.313(d);  200.317-.326;  200.403-.406;  
200.413(a)-(c);  200.430;  200.431;  200.458;  200.474(b); 200 Appendix II 
7 CFR Part 210; 210.16;  210.19;  210.21;   215.14a;  220.16 
 
Legal References Disclaimer: These references are not intended to be considered part of this 
policy, nor should they be taken as a comprehensive statement of the legal basis for the Board to 
enact this policy, nor as a complete recitation of related legal authority. Instead, they are 
provided as additional resources for those interested in the subject matter of the policy. 
 

First Reading:   
Second Reading:   
Final Adoption:   



 

1 
 

DAF 11– SUB-RECIPIENT MONITORING AND MANGEMENT 
 
 

When entering agreements involving the expenditure or disbursements of federal grant funds, the 
Wilton Lyndeborough Cooperative School District shall determine whether the recipient of such 
federal funds is a “contractor” or “subrecipient”, as those terms are defined in 2 CFR §200.23 and 
§200.93, respectively.  See also guidance at 2 CFR §200.330 “Subrecipient and contractor 
determinations”.  Generally, “subrecipients” are instrumental in implementing the applicable work 
program whereas a “contractor” provides goods and services for the District’s own use.  Contractors 
will be subject to the District’s procurement and purchasing policies (e.g., DAF-3 relative to federal 
grant funds, DJE relative to bidding requirements for non-federal money projects, etc.).   
Subrecipients are subject to this Policy.  

Under the UGG, the District is considered a "pass-through entity" in relation to its subrecipients, and 
as such requires that subrecipients comply with applicable terms and conditions (flow-down 
provisions). All subrecipients of Federal or State funds received through the District are subject to the 
same Federal and State statutes, regulations, and award terms and conditions as the District. 

A. Sub-award Contents and Communication.   

In the execution of every sub-award, the District will communicate the following information to 
the subrecipient and include the same information in the sub-award agreement. 

1. Every sub-award will be clearly identified and include the following Federal award 
identification: 

a) Subrecipient name 
b) Subrecipient’s unique ID number (DUNS) 
c) Federal Award ID Number (FAIN) 
d) Federal award date 
e) Period of performance start and end date 
f) Amount of federal funds obligated 
g) Amount of federal funds obligated to the subrecipient 
h) Total amount of the Federal award 
i) Total approved cost sharing or match required where applicable 
j) Project description responsive to FFATA 
k) Name of Federal awarding agency, pass through entity and contact information 
l) CFDA number and name 
m) Identification of the award is R&D 
n) Indirect cost rate for the Federal award 
 

2. Requirements imposed by the District including statutes, regulations, and the terms and 
conditions of the Federal award. 

3. Any additional requirements the District deems necessary for financial or performance 
reporting of subrecipients as necessary.  

4. An approved indirect cost rate negotiated between subrecipient and the Federal government 
or between the pass-through entity and subrecipient.  



 

2 
 

5. Requirements that the District and its auditors have access to the subrecipient records and 
financial statements.. 

6. Terms and conditions for closeout of the sub-award. 

B. Subrecipient Monitoring Procedures. 

The Superintendent is responsible for having all the District project managers monitor 
subrecipients.  The District will monitor the activities of the subrecipient to ensure the sub-award 
is used for authorized purposes.  The frequency of monitoring review will be specified in the sub-
award and conducted concurrently with all invoice submission.   

Subrecipient monitoring procedures include: 

1. At the time of proposal, assess the potential of the subrecipient for programmatic, financial, 
and administrative suitability.   

2. Evaluate each subrecipient’s risk of noncompliance prior to executing a sub-award.  In doing 
so, the District will assess the subrecipient’s: 

a) Prior experience with the same or similar sub-awards. 

b) Results of previous audits and single audit (if applicable). 

c) New personnel or new or substantially changed systems. 

d) The extent and results of Federal awarding agency monitoring. 

3. Confirm the statement of work and review any non-standard terms and conditions of the sub-
award during the negotiation process. 

4. Monitor financial and programmatic progress and ability of the subrecipient to meet 
objectives of the sub-award. To facilitate this review, subrecipients are required to submit 
sufficient invoice detail and a progress report. The District project managers will encourage 
subrecipients to submit regular invoices.   

5. Invoices and progress reports will be date stamped upon receipt if received in hard copy.  A 
record of the date of receipt will be maintained for those invoices sent electronically. 

6. In conducting regular oversight and monitoring, the District project managers will: 

a) Verify invoices that include progress reports. 
b) Review progress reports to ensure project is progressing appropriately and on 

schedule. 
c) Compare invoice to agreement budget to ensure eligibility of costs and that costs 

do not exceed budget. 
d) Review invoice to ensure supporting documentation is included and invoices 

costs are within the scope of work for the projects being invoiced. 
e) Obtain report, certification and supporting documentation of local (non-

federal)/in-kind match work from the subrecipient. 
f) Review subrecipient match tasks for eligibility. 
g) Initial the progress report and invoice confirming review and approval prior to 

payment. 
h) Raise any concerns to the Superintendent. 



 

3 
 

7. The Superintendent, upon recommendation from the project’s manager, will approve the 
invoice payment and will initial invoices confirming review and approval prior to payment. 

8. Payments will be withheld from subrecipients for the following reasons: 

a) Insufficient detail to support the costs billed; 

b) Unallowable costs; 

c) Ineligible costs; and/or 

d) Incomplete work or work not completed in accordance with required 
specifications. 

9. Verify every subrecipient is audited in accordance with 2 CFR §200 Subpart F – Audit 
Requirements. 

C. Subrecipient Project Files. Subrecipient project files will contain, at a minimum, the following: 

a) Project proposal; 
b) Project scope; 
c) Progress reports; 
d) Interim and final products; and 
e) Copies of other applicable project documents as required, such as copies of 

contracts or MOUs. 
 

D. Audit Requirements.  

All subrecipients are required to annually submit their audit and Single Audit report to the 
District for review to ensure the subrecipient has complied with good accounting practices and 
federal regulations.  If a deficiency is identified, the District will: 

1. Issue a management decision on audit findings pertaining to the Federal award. 

2. Consider whether the results of audits or reviews indicate conditions that necessitate 
adjustments to pass through entity’s own records. 

E. Methodology for Resolving Findings. 

The District will work with subrecipients to resolve any findings and deficiencies.  To do so, the 
District may follow up on deficiencies identified through on-site reviews, provision of basic 
technical assistance, and other means of assistance as appropriate.   

The District will only consider taking enforcement action against non-compliant subrecipients in 
accordance with 2 CFR 200.339 when noncompliance cannot be remedied.  Enforcement may 
include taking any of the following actions as appropriate:  

a) Temporarily withhold cash payments pending correction of the deficiency;  
b) Disallow all or part of the cost of the activity or action not in compliance; 
c) Wholly or partly suspend or terminate the sub-award; 
d) Initiate suspension or debarment proceedings; 
e) Withhold further Federal awards for the project or program; and/or 
f) Take other remedies that may be legally available. 



 

4 
 

Legal References:  
42 USC 1751 - 66 National School Lunch Act 
2 CFR Part 180 
2 CFR Part 200; 200.0 - 200.99; 200.305;  200.313(d);  200.317-.326;  200.403-.406;  200.413(a)-(c);  
200.430;  200.431;  200.458;  200.474(b); 200 Appendix II 
7 CFR Part 210; 210.16;  210.19;  210.21;   215.14a;  220.16 
 
Legal References Disclaimer: These references are not intended to be considered part of this policy, nor 
should they be taken as a comprehensive statement of the legal basis for the Board to enact this policy, 
nor as a complete recitation of related legal authority. Instead, they are provided as additional resources 
for those interested in the subject matter of the policy. 
 
 

 
First Reading:   
Second Reading:   
Final Adoption:   



New Hampshire School Boards Association Sample Policy BEDDA 

BOARD MEETING - RULES OF PROCEDURE & ORDER 

    Page 1 of 4 
© 2023 NHSBA 

Category: Recommended  Related Policies: BEC, BEDA,  
  BEDB, BEDC & BEDH 
 
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------ 

 
ADOPTION NOTES – 

This text box, and all highlights within the policy should be removed prior to adoption. 

(a) Except as provided in RSA 91-A with respect to open meetings and minutes, and the First Amendment 
relative to public comment, there are few requirements in statutes or regulations which dictate how a 
board should conducts its meetings.  Rather, the rules of procedure or rules of order are a matter of local 
board policy.  The contents of this policy are based upon NHSBA best practice guidelines for small delib-
erative bodies.  We have offered this alternative policy after requests for something more specific than 
current sample BEDD, and clearer to those not traditional rules of order. 

(b) This policy is an ALTERNATIVE policy to NHSBA sample policy BEDD and procedures document 
BEDD-R.  Boards adopting BEDDA should formally (i.e., vote to)  REPEAL/WITHDRAW current 
BEDD and the corresponding BEDD-R.  The “Recommended” designation above, does not place 
BEDDA over BEDD/BEDD-R, but rather to one election or the other.   
 

 (c) {**} indicates reference to another NHSBA sample policy. A district should check its own current 
policies and codes to assure internal consistency. 
 

(d) As with all sample policies, NHSBA recommends that each district carefully review this sample policy prior 
to adoption to assure suitability with the District’s own specific circumstances, organizational structures, 
etc., and current policies. Highlighted language or blank, underscored spaces indicate areas which Boards 
must change/complete to reflect local personnel titles, policy code references, duty assignments etc. 
 

(e) Withdrawn and earlier versions of revised policies should be maintained separately as permanent records of 
the District.  

-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
   

Purpose: The purpose of this policy is to help promote effective and efficient board meetings.  

A. General Principles. 

1. Meeting rules should facilitate, rather than inhibit, the Board’s deliberation and decision-making 
process.  The rules should be readily understandable and help keep meetings free from procedural 
quagmires.    

2. All board members have equal rights, privileges and obligations in the deliberative and decision-making 
process.  Meeting rules should help assure that each member is able to participate in the debate, and that 
no single member is able to dominate discussion to the exclusion of other members.   

3. Every board member, and the public in attendance, has the right to hear what is going on at all times. 

4. A meeting can deal effectively with only one specific matter at a time.  



New Hampshire School Boards Association Sample Policy BEDDA 

BOARD MEETING - RULES OF PROCEDURE & ORDER 

    Page 2 of 4 
© 2023 NHSBA 

5. Members have a right to know beforehand what they will be discussing and/or voting upon. 

6. A school board meeting is a meeting at which the Board conducts its business.  While board meetings 
are open to the public (except as provided under RSA 91-A:2 and 3), board meetings are not public 
hearings where the public has the right to speak.  Public comment at board meetings shall be governed 
by Board Policy {**}BEDH. 

B. Meeting Rules. 

1. The Board Chair shall preside over all meetings of the Board.  In the Chair’s absence the Vice Chair will 
preside, followed by the most senior member then present.  

2. By majority vote, the Board can overrule any ruling of the presiding officer regarding the application of 
these rules.  A board member can raise such a request by a "Point of Order", followed by a motion with 
respect to the specific decision.  

3. The presiding officer may make adjustments to the agenda with the consent of the majority, whether by 
vote or otherwise. [Districts should check their current agenda policy to remove or resolve any 
conflicting language.  NHSBA’s sample is BEDB]. 

4. All speakers should be courteous and should speak on the issue then under discussion, not to the 
individuals raising them.  

5. Each board member has the right to participate in discussion and debate if he/she wishes, before any 
other member may speak a second time. 

6. No one may speak unless he or she has been recognized by the presiding officer.  A board member may 
interrupt only to state a "Point of Order", “Point of Information” or “Point of Inquiry”.  The presiding 
officer will then recognize the member for the limited purpose of stating the point of order, etc.. 

7. The presiding officer may decide, on his/her own initiative, or upon request by a board member, to 
recognize a non-board member, to address the Board with respect to the matter then under discussion.  

8. Agenda items requiring action by the Board should be preceded by a specific motion, clearly articulated, 
followed by a second.  Motions should address only one issue or idea.  If a motion is complex, or has 
conditions, the motion should be written out and read back by the Board’s minute taker. 

9. If a motion does not receive a second, then the motion is treated as if it were not considered by the 
Board.  Such a matter may be raised again at a later date in accordance with the Board’s agenda policy 
and rules. 

10. When a motion is on the floor, no new topics should be debated, and no new motions will be accepted, 
other than the following motions addressing the main motion or the meeting itself: 

11. As provided under RSA 91-A:2, II for open sessions, and 91-A:3, III for non-public sessions, no vote 
may be taken by secret ballot.  



New Hampshire School Boards Association Sample Policy BEDDA 

BOARD MEETING - RULES OF PROCEDURE & ORDER 

    Page 3 of 4 
© 2023 NHSBA 

12. The presiding officer should, in accordance with the duties of all board members, vote on every issue. 

13. No item may be discussed or decided upon in non-public session except as provided under RSA 
91-A:2 and 3.  See also Board Policy {**}BEC}.   

Motion  Debatable 
Votes 

Required to 
Pass 

Amend Motion  Yes  51% 

Limit Debate (e.g., time limits or # of times 
each member may address the motion) 

Non-debatable  2/3 (67%) 

Call the question/close debate  Non-debatable  2/3 (67%) 

Refer to Committee/Admin Study  Yes  51% 

Postpone to a Later Time (Diff. day)  Yes  51% 

Postpone Indefinitely (Kill)  Yes  51% 

For roll call* vote 
         *All votes in non-public must be by  
           roll call  

No  2 members 

Recess  Non-debatable  51% 

Adjourn  Non-debatable  51% 

14. Abstentions are noted and counted, but do not affect the outcome of the vote.  

15. Motions for reconsideration are not favored except when new circumstances exist or a perceived 
error has been made.  Motions for reconsideration may only be raised at the same meeting as the 
original decision by a person who voted in favor of the original motion.  Motions for 
reconsideration at a later meeting may only be considered when approved by a 3/5 super-majority, 
and only when the proposed motion is posted with the agenda for the subsequent meeting.  Only 
one motion for reconsideration on an issue may be made at a meeting later than the meeting at 
which the original decision was made, irrespective of whether the first motion for reconsideration 
is successful.  This provision shall only apply to the Board as constituted as of the date of the 
original decision. 

16. The presiding officer may rule any member or other person out of order if such person disrupts the 
orderly conduct of a meeting, behaves in a disorderly manner, makes unlawful threats, willfully violates 
any of the above rules of order/procedure, or engages in any unprotected speech.  If the board member 
or other person continues such behavior after being ordered by the presiding officer to cease, the 
presiding officer is authorized to request that a police officer, warn and then remove such person from 
the meeting and meeting location. 



New Hampshire School Boards Association Sample Policy BEDDA 

BOARD MEETING - RULES OF PROCEDURE & ORDER 

    Page 4 of 4 
© 2023 NHSBA 

District Policy History: 

First reading:      

Second reading/adopted:     

District revision history: 

Legal References Disclaimer: These references are not intended to be considered part of this policy, nor 
should they be taken as a comprehensive statement of the legal basis for the Board to enact this policy, 
nor as a complete recitation of related legal authority. Instead, they are provided as additional resources for 
those interested in the subject matter of the policy. 

--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
When adopting this sample or variation of the same, a District should not include highlights, the NHSBA 
history or NHSBA policy notes.  The District should, to the extent possible, include its own adoption/revision 
history 

NHSBA history:  New – alternative policy, July 2019.     

DISCLAIMER: This sample policy manual is copyrighted to the New Hampshire School Boards Association and is intended for the sole and exclusive use 
of NHSBA Policy Service Subscribers. No portion of this manual may be reproduced, copied, transmitted, distributed, in any form, except as needed for 
the development of policy by a subscribing district. The materials contained in the manual are provided for general information only and as a resource to 
assist subscribing districts with policy development. School districts and boards of education should consult with legal counsel and revise all sample 
policies and regulations to address local facts and circumstances prior to adoption. NHSBA continually makes revisions based on school districts' needs 
and local, state, and federal laws, regulations and court decisions, and other relevant education activity. 



JLCD-R - PROCEDURES FOR ADMINISTERING MEDICATION TO 

STUDENTS 

Page 1 of 4 

Category: Priority/Required by Law Related Policies: EHB, JLCD & JLCE 

These administrative procedures are intended to implement School Board policy JLCD 
“Administering Medication to Students”.  Pursuant to that policy, any medication, whether 
prescription or over-the-counter (“OTC”) administered to or taken by students during the 
school day or school activities shall comply with School Board policy JLCD and these 
procedures. 

A. Written Authorizations

1. Prescription medications.  In order for prescription medications to be given at the school,
the following shall occur:

a. The school nurse shall ensure that a written statement containing the following be on
file in the student's health record:

i. The student's name;

ii. The name and signature of the licensed prescriber and contact numbers;

iii. The name, route and dosage of medication;

iv. The frequency and time of medication administration or assistance;

v. The date of the order; and

vi. A diagnosis, if not a violation of confidentiality;

b. The school nurse shall ensure that there is written authorization by the parent and/or
guardian or student that is over the age of 18.  Authorization shall contain:

i. The parent and/or guardian's or student’s printed name and signature;

ii. A list of all medications the student is currently receiving, if not a violation of
confidentiality or contrary to the request of the parent/guardian or student that
such medication be documented; and

iii. Approval to have the school nurse administer the medication, the student to
possess and self-administer and/or the principal or his designee assist the
student with taking the medication; and

c. The school nurse shall ensure the authorization or other accessible documentation
contains:

i. The parent and/or guardian's home and emergency phone number(s); and

ii. Persons to be notified in case of a medication emergency in addition to the
parent or guardian and licensed prescriber.

DRAFT



JLCD-R - PROCEDURES FOR ADMINISTERING MEDICATION TO 

STUDENTS 

    Page 2 of 4 
 

 

B. Delivery of Medication to School 

1. A parent, guardian or a parent/guardian-designated, responsible adult shall deliver all 
medication to be administered by school personnel to the school nurse or other 
responsible person designated by the school nurse as follows: 

2. The prescription medication shall be in a pharmacy or manufacturer labeled container; 

3. The school nurse or other responsible person receiving the prescription medication shall 
document the quantity of the prescription medication delivered; and 

4. The medication may be delivered by another adult(s), provided that the nurse is notified 
in advance by the parent or guardian of the delivery and the quantity of prescription 
medication being delivered to school is specified. 

C. Storage of Medication   

1. All medications shall be stored in their original pharmacy or manufacturer labeled 
containers, and in such a manner as to render them safe and prevent loss of efficacy.  A 
single dose of medication may be transferred from this container to a newly labeled 
container for the purposes of field trips or school sponsored activities. 

2. All medication to be administered by the school nurse shall be kept in a securely-locked 
cabinet which is kept locked except when opened to obtain medications.  Medications 
requiring refrigeration shall be stored in a locked box in a refrigerator maintained at 
temperatures of 38 degrees to 42 degrees.  Emergency medications may be secured in 
other locations readily accessible only to those with authorization. 

3. No more than a 30-school day supply of the prescription for a student shall be stored at 
the school. 

4. Consistent with N.H. Administrative Rule Ed. 311.02(k), each school nurse shall utilize a 
Student specific Medication Log documenting receipt and/or release of prescription or 
OTC medications provided by parents and/or guardians.  The log will include the 
signatures of the staff member AND the parent and/or guardian receiving and/or releasing 
the medication. 

D. Documentation & Communications Regarding Administration of Medication. 

1. The school nurse (or, in the school nurse’s absence, the Principal/designee) will 
document the following information regarding medication taken by each student: 

a. Name of medication taken/administered; 

b. Dose and route of administration; 

c. Date and time of administration; 

d. Signature, initials, or electronic signature/verification of adults present; and 

DRAFT



JLCD-R - PROCEDURES FOR ADMINISTERING MEDICATION TO 

STUDENTS 

    Page 3 of 4 
 

e. Other noteworthy comments or information relating to significant observations 
relating to prescriptions, a medication’s adverse reactions, beneficial effects, etc. 

2. If a student refuses to take or spills medication, or medication is lost or has run out, such 
shall be recorded. 

3. Each school nurse shall develop and maintain a paper or electronic system to document 
the information required in paragraphs D.1 & 2. Such a system shall allow for secure 
communication of the information recorded in items D.1 & 2 to the child’s 
parent/guardian and/or licensed prescriber.  

4. The recording system shall allow additions, but must assure that the original information 
cannot be deleted.  Any changes must be signed by the school nurse, principal or 
designee in conformance with Board policy DGA “Authorized Signatures”.  

5. The system shall assure retention of records in accordance with paragraph E of these 
procedures.   

C. Recording Provisions  

(1) Each school will document the following information regarding medication taken by 
each student:  

(a) Date and time of administration;  

(b) Name of medication prescribed;  

(c) Name of licensed prescriber;  

(d) Signature or initials of adult present;  

(e) Other comments.  

(2) Each school shall keep a bound book with consecutively numbered pages, in which 
shall be recorded in ink, the medication taken by a student and will show: the date, time of 
administration, the kind and quantity of medicinal preparation, the name of the prescribing 
physician, and the signature or initials of adult present.  

(3) If student refuses to take or spills medication, or medication is lost or has run out, 
such shall be recorded.  

(4) Recording cannot be altered; if an error occurs, a line is to be drawn through the entry 
and correct data recorded in line below and signed.  

(5) Such a record shall be available to representatives from the State Division of Public 
Health and/or State Department of Education.  

(6) Each record should be kept in a designated place for a period of time consistent with 
the New Hampshire Department of Education’s records retention schedule.  

E. Student Health Records 

DRAFT



JLCD-R - PROCEDURES FOR ADMINISTERING MEDICATION TO 

STUDENTS 

    Page 4 of 4 
 

Physicians' written orders and the written authorization of parents or guardians should be 
filed with the student's cumulative health record.  An appropriate summary completed at least 
once every school year for each medication prescribed and taken should become part of the 
student's health record. 

Student health records shall be retained in accordance with Board policy EHB and the 
District’s Data/Records Retention Schedule, EHB-R, or any superseding statutes or 
regulations. Health records concerning students who receive special education services shall 
be retained according to the provisions of the Data/Records Retention Schedule pertaining to 
special education.  

Records shall be available to representatives from the State Division of Public Health and/or 
State Department of Education to the extent consistent with the Family Education Rights and 
Privacy Act (“FERPA”).  

Physicians' written orders and the written authorization of parents or guardians should be 
filed with the student's cumulative health record and kept for a period of time as determined 
by the New Hampshire Department of Education’s Records Retention Schedule. Health 
records concerning students who receive special education services should be retained as 
long as the student is in a special education program and there is district liability for the 
education of the student. An appropriate summary completed at least once every school year 
for each medication prescribed and taken should become part of the student's health record. 
The State law forbids any child for any reason to take medication without written permission 
of the child's Parent or legal Guardian. Permission slips are available in the Nurse's office. 
PARENTAL REQUEST FOR GIVING PRESCRIBED MEDICATION AT SCHOOL I 
request the Nurse or staff member assist my child, _________________________________ 
in taking his/her prescribed medication prescribed, 
_________________________________________ (Name of Medication) Prescription 
Number ________________________ Druggist ___________________________________ 
Prescribed by Dr. ____________________________ For the period from ______________ 
to _______________ (Date) (Date) (Not more than one month of prescribed medicine may 
be stored in school.) The medication will be delivered directly to the School Nurse, Principal 
or designated staff member by the parent or guardian, if possible. The medication will be 
delivered in a container properly labeled with the student's name, the physician's name, the 
date of original prescription, name and strength of medication and directions for taking by 
the student. I, agree that by signing this request and "Hold Harmless" statement that I shall 
not hold liable any member of the school staff who is directed by me to assist my child in 
taking said medicine. Signature __________________________________ (Parent/Legal 
Guardian)  

First Reading: June 2, 2010 
Second Reading: July 13, 2010 
Final Adoption: August 10, 2010 
Revised: 

DRAFT



JLCA - PHYSICAL EXAMINATIONS OF STUDENTS

Page 1 of 3 

Category: Recommended Related Policies: JFABD, JLC & JLCD 

Related Forms: JLCA-R & JLCD-R 
Withdraw JLCA-R: we do not use this form 
Note: the Health form will be updated to reflect HB1244 and section G of this policy 

A. General.  Each child must have written evidence of a complete physical examination within
one year preceding first entry to school.  The Wilton-Lyndeborough Cooperative School
Board recommends that written evidence of a physical exam should also be completed before
entry into middle school and again before high school.

Parents of students transferring to the District must present written evidence documentation
evidencing of meeting the physical examination requirement prior to or upon first entry into
the District's schools.  Failure to comply with this provision may result in exclusion from
school for the child.

No child shall be excused from regular physical education except on the written notice of a
duly licensed health care provider or on the written request of the parents, subject to the
Superintendent's approval, in which case an alternative program shall be provided. The
physical education teacher, school nurse, or principal, upon the request of the parents, may
grant temporary excuses on a day-to-day basis.

B. Conditional Enrollment.  If an examination required under paragraph A above has not been
performed within the preceding year, the school will accept documentation of an
appointment for a physical examination within two months of enrollment, or other time
deemed appropriate by the Superintendent.

C. Homeless Students and Unaccompanied Youth.  Pursuant to the McKinney-Vento Act and
Board Policy JFABD, homeless students and/or unaccompanied youth, may enroll and attend
school while the Homeless Liaison works with the family/student to obtain examinations or
documentation of the same.

D. Special Examination. – Pursuant to RSA 200:34 every child with a presenting problem and
whom the school nurse, deems to require further evaluation, may be referred by the school
nurse, with the consent of the principal, to the parents or guardian of said child for
examination, and evaluation by an appropriate practitioner.  If the parents fail or neglect to
have said child so examined and fail to present the recommendations from said examiner
within a reasonable period after the referral by the school, then said child may be examined
by a qualified health care provider.  In significant cases, the matter may be reported to DCYF
pursuant to JLF.

E. Religious Exemption.  No medical examination shall be required of a child whose parent or
guardian objects thereto in writing on the grounds such medical examination is contrary to
his/her religious tenets and teachings.

DRAFT



JLCA - PHYSICAL EXAMINATIONS OF STUDENTS 

    Page 2 of 3 
 

F. Participation on Athletic Teams. Prior to participation on a school athletic team, students 
must provide written documentation that they have passed a physical.  Such exam must be 
completed at least once every school year.  This requirement does not apply to students 
participating in intramural athletics.  At the District’s sole discretion, the school may 
schedule physical exams with a single, qualified health care provider (i.e., physician, 
advanced registered nurse practitioner, or licensed physician’s assistant),; any student who 
misses the scheduled physicals must present evidence of a physical exam from a licensed 
health care provider. 

G. Parent Notification - Certain Circumstances.  Pursuant to the Protection of Pupil Rights 
Amendment, if the District utilizes federal money to perform physical exams or screenings 
on students, the District will notify parent(s) of such physical exam or screening and will 
allow the parent's to "opt out in" their child of any non-emergency, invasive physical exam or 
screening required as a condition of attendance, administered by the school or its agent and 
scheduled by the school, and not necessary to protect the immediate health and safety of a 
student or of another student, except for hearing, vision, or scoliosis screenings, or any 
physical exam or screening permitted or required under state law.. 

 

District Policy History: 

First reading: September 14, 2010 

Second reading/adopted: October 12, 2010 

 

District revision history: 

 

Legal References:   

Protection of Pupil Rights Amendment, 20 U.S.C. §1232h; 34 C.F.R. Part 98 
RSA 141-C:20-c, Exemptions 
RSA 200:32, Physical Examination of Pupils 
RSA 200:34, Special Examination 
RSA 200:38, Control and Prevention of Communicable Diseases: Duties of School Nurse 
NH Code of Administrative Rules, Section Ed. 311.03, Physical Examination of Students 

Legal References Disclaimer: These references are not intended to be considered part of this 
policy, nor should they be taken as a comprehensive statement of the legal basis for the Board to 

DRAFT



JLCA - PHYSICAL EXAMINATIONS OF STUDENTS 

    Page 3 of 3 
 

enact this policy, nor as a complete recitation of related legal authority. Instead, they are 
provided as additional resources for those interested in the subject matter of the policy. 

DRAFT



JLCA-R 

FAMILY PHYSICIAN’S REPORT OF PHYSICAL EXAMINATION 

Name ______________________________ Birth Date _______________ 

School _________________________________________________________ 

Grade _______________________________________________________ 

PHYSICAL EXAMINATIONIMMUNIZATIONS & TESTS  DATE  ______ 

Height _______ Weight _______________  Small Pox ______ Result ___ 

Eyes ______________ Vision __________________Tuberculin Test ______ 

Ears ________________________________(Required)    Result _____ 

Nose _________________________Chest X-ray    Result ______ 

Teeth:  Temporary _______________           DPT    Booster _____ 

Permanent _____________________Polio Vaccine-Sabin  ______ 

   Number ______ 

Tonsils ______________________________Salk        Number _____ 

Nutrition _______________________Latest Booster-type     _____ 

Number ______ 

Measles Vaccine _______________________Mumps Vaccine __________ 

German Measles Vaccine       __________________ 

Glands (specify)  __________________________________________ 

____________________________________________________________ 

Heart ______________________________________________________ 

____________________________________________________________ 

Lungs ______________________________________________________ 

____________________________________________________________ 

Orthopedic ___________________________________________________ 

____________________________________________________________ 

Skin ________________________________________________________ 

____________________________________________________________ 

Hernia ______________________________________________________ 

____________________________________________________________ 

FOR WITHDRAWAL



 

Nervous System (specify if epilepsy)__________________________ 

____________________________________________________________ 

Speech ______________________________________________________ 

____________________________________________________________ 

Remarks or special instructions: Previous Diseases and Operations: 

___________________________________________________________ 

___________________________________________________________ 

___________________________________________________________ 

___________________________________________________________ 

Is this child capable of carrying a full program of school work including 

gymnastics and athletics?            Yes _________    No         ____________ 

Must the school program be modified to meet the needs of this child? 

Yes ________ No _______ 

By restriction of use of stairs:  Yes ____ No ____ 

By special seating accommodations?      Yes ___ No ___ 

Other (specify)            Yes ___ No ___ 

Date of examination                             Examining Physician  

________________________            ____________________________________ 

________________________            ____________________________________ 

See Policy JLCA 

 

First Reading: September 14, 2010 

Second Reading: October 12, 2010 

Final Adoption: October 12, 2010 



1

Allergy Management Policy 

Board Policy JAA 

The Wilton-Lyndeborough Cooperative School District is committed to providing a safe and nurturing 
environment for students. The School Board understands the increasing prevalence of life 
threatening allergies among school populations. Recognizing that the risk of accidental exposure to 
allergens can be reduced in the school setting, the Board is committed to working in cooperation 
with p a r e n t s , students, a n d  p h y s i c i a n s , t o  m i n i m i z e  r i s k  and provide a safe 
educational environment for all students. The focus of allergy management shall be on prevention, 
education, awareness, communication and emergency response. 

The goals for allergy management 
include: 

1.  To define a formal process for identifying, managing, and ensuring continuity of care
for students with life-threatening allergies across all transitions (PreK-12). This process
shall be outlined in detail in the district’s administrative procedures manual. 

2.  To maintain the health and protect the safety of children who have life-threatening
allergies in ways that are developmentally appropriate, promote self-advocacy and
competence in self-care and provide appropriate educational opportunities. 

3.  To  ensure  that  interventions  and  individual  health  care  plans  for  students  with
life- threatening allergies are based on medically accurate information and evidence- 
based practices.

In accordance with applicable law, it is the policy of the district to provide all students, through 
necessary accommodations where required, the opportunity to participate in all school 
programs and activities.  Accordingly,  the  superintendent shall  direct  executive  directors, 
district building administrators and staff, to act affirmatively and work closely with parents to 
assure that the needs of  children  with  documented  allergies  are  taken  into  consideration 
in planning for district programs. 

First Reading: September 11, 2012 

Second Reading: September 25, 2012 

Final Adoption: October 9, 2012 

FOR WITHDRAWAL



2023-2024
Florence Rideout Elementary School/Lyndeborough Central School

Parent and Student Handbook

Florence Rideout Elementary School Lyndeborough Central School
18 Tremont Street 192 Forest Road
Wilton NH, 03086 Lyndeborough NH, 03082
(603) 654-6714 (603) 732-9229 (603) 654-9381 (603) 732-9228

Kathleen Chenette, Principal
Bridgette Fuller, Associate Principal



This handbook has been issued to inform you about the policies and procedures at Florence

Rideout Elementary School and Lyndeborough Central School. Our desire is to keep you informed

and involved so that we may work cooperatively in the education of your children. Please take the

time to become familiar with the content in this document.

Through the elementary years, our students build skills and attitudes that enable them to

become life-long learners and contributing members of their community. This goal is

accomplished, in part, by helping students build self-esteem, and motivating each one to work to

his/her potential. It is important that parents, teachers, and administrators collaborate for the

unified purpose of providing the best quality education for all children who enter our schools.

I We urge you to become involved and to encourage your children to participate in all of

the educational activities and programs available at Florence Rideout Elementary and

Lyndeborough Central Schools. Regular updates on events and happenings can be readily found

on our website. Through our working together, the educational success of your child will

become a reality.

Whenever you have a question or concern not addressed here, please call us and we will

assist you in any way possible.

Kathleen Chenette, Principal Bridette Fuller, Associate Principal
Florence Rideout Elementary School & Lyndeborough Central School

2

https://www.sau63.org/domain/80


FLORENCE RIDEOUT ELEMENTARY SCHOOL

CONTACT INFORMATION
SCHOOL TELEPHONE NUMBERS

Main Office: 603-654-6714 603-732-9229 Fax: 603-654-3490

SCHOOL ADDRESS:
18 Tremont Street
Wilton NH, 03086

LYNDEBOROUGH CENTRAL SCHOOL

CONTACT INFORMATION
SCHOOL TELEPHONE NUMBERS

Main Office: 603-654-9381 (603) 732-9228 Fax: 603-654-6884

SCHOOL ADDRESS:
192 Forest Road

Lyndeborough NH, 03082

WEBSITE:
www.sau63.org

3

http://www.sau63.org


TABLE OF CONTENTS

School Special Classes
Art 16
Physical Education 16
Music 16
Library 16
Technology Education 16

Other School Services
Guidance 17
Reading Specialist 17
Response To Intervention (RTI)/Title 1 Program/WIN 18
Special Education 18
Rights of all Handicapped Children 18
Title I Program 18
School Nurse 18

Nurse/Health Office Policies
Immunizations for School Entrance 19
Physical Examinations 19
Medication Policy 19
Illness at School 20
Food Allergies 21
Head Lice (Pediculosis) 21
Asbestos Abatement Statement 21
Accident Insurance for Students 21

School Registration
Transferring into Wilton/Lyndeborough Co-op School District 22
Transferring out of Wilton/Lyndeborough Co-op School District 22

Daily Attendance
Changes in Dismissal 23
Parent Pick-Up Patrol (PUP) 23
Video and Audio Surveillance on School Property 24
Delayed Opening and Cancellations 24
Emergency Early Dismissal 24
Tardiness 24
Absences Due to Parental Vacations 25

General Policies and Procedures
Telephone and Email Messages 26
Visits to School 26
Legal Guardianship/Child Custody/Restraining Orders 26
School Property Damage 26

4



School Lunch 26
Recess 26
Classroom Concerns 27
School Dress 27
Books--Lost, Damaged, Forgotten 28
Lost and Found 28
Field Trips 28
Directory Information 28
Volunteers and Field Trip Chaperones 28
LCS/Florence Rideout Elementary School PTO 28
Report Cards and Progress Reports 29
Parent-Teacher Conferences 29
Transitions 29
Snacks 29
Assessments 30
Kindergarten Screening 30
Homework 30

Bus Transportation Regulations

Discipline
Classroom Consequences 33
Progressive Discipline Plan 33
School Wide Consequences 33
Playground Rules and Student Engagement 34-35
Playground Etiquette 36
School Grounds 36

APPENDIX A: School Programs
Title One Program 38
Elementary School Breakfast/Lunch Program ----
JICL-School District Internet Access for Students 41
Highly Qualified Teachers 42
Parents' Right to Know 42

APPENDIX B: Student Records Policies Important School Board Policies
JICL-School District Internet Access for Students Linked Here
JRA-Access to Student Records - FERPA 44-47 Linked Here

APPENDIX C: Important School Board Policies: Safety and Student Discipline
NEPN/NSBA Code: AC-Non Discrimination/Equal Opportunity 50 Linked Here
JLDBA-Behavior Management and Intervention 51 Linked Here
JICD-Student Conduct, Discipline and Due Process-Safe School Zone 51 Linked Here
JICK-Pupil Safety and Violence Prevention 53 Linked Here
NEPN/NSBA Code: ACAA-R-Student Discrimination and Harassment Complaint Procedure
55 Linked Here

5

https://www.sau63.org/cms/lib/NH01912507/Centricity/domain/80/j%20policies/JICL%20-%20School%20District%20Internet%20Access%20for%20Students.pdf
https://www.sau63.org/cms/lib/NH01912507/Centricity/domain/80/j%20policies/JICL%20-%20School%20District%20Internet%20Access%20for%20Students.pdf
https://www.sau63.org/cms/lib/NH01912507/Centricity/domain/80/j%20policies/JRA-Student%20Records%20and%20Access%20FERPA-Final%20Revised%20Adoption%20Feb%202015.pdf
https://www.sau63.org/cms/lib/NH01912507/Centricity/domain/80/a%20policies/AC-Nondiscrimination-Equal%20Opportunity%20Final%20adopted%20current%208.24.21.pdf
https://www.sau63.org/cms/lib/NH01912507/Centricity/domain/80/j%20policies/JLDBA%20-%20Behavior%20Management%20and%20Intervention.pdf
https://www.sau63.org/cms/lib/NH01912507/Centricity/domain/80/j%20policies/JLDBA%20-%20Behavior%20Management%20and%20Intervention.pdf
https://www.sau63.org/cms/lib/NH01912507/Centricity/domain/80/j%20policies/JICD%20Revised%20Final%201.18.22.pdf
https://www.sau63.org/cms/lib/NH01912507/Centricity/domain/80/j%20policies/JICD%20Revised%20Final%201.18.22.pdf
https://www.sau63.org/cms/lib/NH01912507/Centricity/domain/80/j%20policies/JICK%20-%20Pupil%20Safety%20and%20Violence%20Prevention.pdf
https://www.sau63.org/cms/lib/NH01912507/Centricity/domain/80/j%20policies/JICK%20-%20Pupil%20Safety%20and%20Violence%20Prevention.pdf
https://www.sau63.org/cms/lib/NH01912507/Centricity/domain/80/a%20policies/ACAA-R.pdf
https://www.sau63.org/cms/lib/NH01912507/Centricity/domain/80/a%20policies/ACAA-R.pdf


NEPN/NSBA Code: ACAA-Harassment and Sexual Harassment of Students 58 Linked Here
NEPN/NSBA Code: ACAB-Harassment and Sexual Harassment of School Employees 59
Linked Here

Wilton-Lyndeborough Cooperative School District

WLC Vision of The Graduate

The WLC Graduate will be an effective communicator, a strong collaborator, a creative problem

solver, a self-directed learner, and a responsible citizen.

Mission Statement

Wilton-Lyndeborough Cooperative School District will provide a safe and educational

environment that promotes student exploration, critical thinking, and responsible citizenship.

Our schools will strive to accomplish this mission by committing to:
� Encourage students to reach their potential and become responsible and

productive citizens.

� Prepare, challenge, and empower our students to be life-long learners.

� Provide a safe and diverse learning environment.

6

https://www.sau63.org/cms/lib/NH01912507/Centricity/domain/80/a%20policies/ACAA%20Harassment%20and%20Sexual%20Harassment%20of%20Students-adopted%208.24.21.pdf
https://www.sau63.org/cms/lib/NH01912507/Centricity/domain/80/a%20policies/ACAA%20Harassment%20and%20Sexual%20Harassment%20of%20Students-adopted%208.24.21.pdf
https://www.sau63.org/cms/lib/NH01912507/Centricity/domain/80/a%20policies/ACAB%20Harassment%20and%20Sexual%20Harassment%20of%20School%20Employees%20Adopted%20final%20current%208.24.pdf
https://www.sau63.org/cms/lib/NH01912507/Centricity/domain/80/a%20policies/ACAB%20Harassment%20and%20Sexual%20Harassment%20of%20School%20Employees%20Adopted%20final%20current%208.24.pdf


CARES - LEARNING HABITS

C.A.R.E.S. is a school wide philosophy that promotes positive learning
behaviors for lifelong learning and success. This philosophy empowers
students and develops their social and emotional growth in the classroom
school community and beyond.

Cooperation:
● I can listen attentively
● I can follow school and classroom rules
● I can work productively in a group
● I can find positive solutions to problems
● I can follow oral directions

Assertion:
● I can seek help when needed
● I can share my feelings appropriately
● I can work to my ability
● I can show initiative

Responsibility:
● I can complete assigned tasks
● I can participate in class
● I can organize my materials and space
● I accept ownership of my choices

Empathy:
● I can show respect for others and their opinions, feelings, and property
● I can value the community of the classroom and school

Self-Control:
● I can make positive choices in various school settings
● I can work independently
● I can stay on task

7



School Administrative Unit 63
192 Forest Road

Lyndeborough, NH 03086

Phone: 603-654-8088 (603) 732-9170 Fax: 603-654-6691

Superintendent …………………………………………….………… Peter Weaver
Executive Assistant………………………………….…………….… Kristina Fowler
District Curriculum Coordinator……………………………………. Samantha Dignan
Business Administrator……………………………………………… Kristie LaPlante
Facilities Manager……………………………………………………. Robert “Buddy” Erb

Special Education Office

Phone: 603-654-8086 (603) 732-9175

Director of Student Support Services……………….……………….. Ned Pratt
Student Support Services Administrative Assistant…………………. Mary Jane Ryan

Food Service
Director of Food Services……………………………………………. Eric Mercier Megan Nantel
Phone: 603-654-6123 x2159 email: e..mercier@sau63.org m.nantel@sau63.org

School Bus Transportation
Steve’s School Bus Service ……………………………………………….Phone: 654-7035
Butler’s Bus Service………………………………………………… Phone: 603-715-2415

Wilton-Lyndeborough School Board Members

Jim Kofalt Dennis Golding Jonathan Vanderhoof Jonathan Lavoie Dennis GoldingGeoffry Allen
School Board Chairman Member Member
Wilton Lyndeborough Wilton Lyndeborough

Charlie Post Cynthia Diane Foss Alex LoVerme Darlene Anzalone
Member Member At-Large Lyndeborough
Wilton Wilton Lyndeborough

Matt Mannarino Brianne LaVallee Tiffany Cloutier-Cabral
Member Vice Chair, At-Large Member Member
Wilton Lyndeborough Wilton

8

mailto:e..mercier@sau63.org


Florence Rideout Elementary School
Staff Directory

Associate Principal…..……………………………………………… Kathleen Chenette Bridgette
Fuller
Administrative Assistant……………………………………………. Christina Gauthier
Administrative Assistant……………………………………………. Patsy Berube
School Counselor…………………………………………………… Aimee Gelineau Samuel
Metivier
Nurse ………………………………………………………………… Laura Gifford
Technology Coordinator…………………………………………..…. Dan LaSala

First Grade Teacher ……………………………………………….. Jessica Hill
First Grade Teacher …………………………………………….…. Valerie Bemis Laura Seale
First Grade Teacher ………………………………………………. Julie Lemire Sophia Menke

Second Grade Teacher ………………………………………………. Heather Desmarais
Second Grade Teacher……………………………....……………….. Rebecca Hawkes Julie
Lemire
Second Grade Teacher ………………………………………………... Kristen Lindquist

Third Grade Teacher ……………………………………………….… Kristin Dame
Third Grade Teacher…………………………………………………. Alison Hobbs-Wozmak
ESSR Intervention Teacher Third Grade Teacher…………………… Emeria Longval

Fourth Grade Teacher…………………………………………………. Alison Dee
Fourth Grade Teacher…………………………………….…….…..……. Suzanne Tetrault
Fourth Grade Teacher…………………………………….……..………… Sandy Reid

Fifth Grade Teacher……..……………………………………………….. Erin Stewart Alison Dee
Fifth Grade Teacher …………………………………………………..… Holly Lafoe
Fifth Grade Teacher …………………………………………………..… Jessica Radloff

Art ……………………………………………………………………..… Greg Lamers
Music …………………………………………………………………....... Morgan Kudlich
Physical Education …………………………………………………….…...Fritz Shenk
Media Generalist…………………………………………………………. Stephanie Loiselle

Reading Specialist……………………………………………………... Tammy Cargill
RTI/W.I.N Coordinator……………………………………………..…. Bridgette Fuller Valerie
Bemis

9



W.I.N. Interventionist ……………………………..……………...….. Bridgette Fuller

Florence Rideout Elementary School
Staff Directory (cont.)

Special Education Teacher …………………………………………...… Meghan Levesque
Special Education Teacher ………………………………………..……. Gisele Dailey
Special Education Teacher ……………………………………………… Heather Roberts
Board Certified Behavior Analyst….………………….……………….. Lisa Boaen

ABA Therapist………………………………………………………..…. Ashley Ansara
ABA Therapist…………………………...……………………………… Tracy Aucoin
ABA Therapist………………………………………………………….. Lindsay Britton
ABA Therapist……………………………………………………….….. Ariel Desfosses
ABA Therapist………………………………………………………….. Bridgete Jasper
ABA Therapist ………………………………………………………….. Lindsey Lowrey
ABA Therapist …………………………………………………………. Liz Meltzer
ABA Therapist …………………………………………………………. Taylor Owens
ABA Therapist …………………………………………………………. Yammillette Pizarro
ABA Therapist …………………………………………………………. Haley Rascoe
ABA Therapist ………………………………………………………….. Samantha Thapa
ABA Therapist ………………………………………………………….. Ashley Todesco

Paraeducator…..………………………………………………..……… Stephanie Gilbert
Paraeducator…..……………………………………………………….. Heidi Kemmerer Christian
Stamoulis
Paraeducator…..……………………………………………….….…… Patricia Polson Chrissy
Morrissy
Paraeducator…..……………………………..………………...……….. Michelle Mason
Paraeducator…..……………………………..………………...………..
Food Service ……………………………………………………….….. Donna Garnum
Food Service ………………………………………………………….. Tammy Smith

Custodian ………………………………………………………….….….. Peter Stephenson
Custodian ………………………………………………………….……… Bill Carey
Custodian………………………………………………………………….. Eric Bouldin

10



Florence Rideout Elementary School consists of 13 14 classrooms for students in Grade 1 through Grade
5, a full-sized Gymnasium, Cafeteria, Library, plus additional rooms for support programs such as:
Speech, Special Education, and Title I Tutoring.

FRES SCHOOL HOURS
Grade 1 through Grade 5: 7:40 AM to 2:15 PM

FRES DAILY SCHEDULE
7:40 Entrance to Building
7:50 Late Bell
2:15 Dismissal for Buses
2:20 Dismissal for Parent Pick Up Begins

FRES ARRIVAL
Students should not arrive before 7:40 AM note: there is no supervision provided for students and
should not be left unattended on the playground. Students arriving late must be signed in by an adult in
the front office. Please park in the visitor parking spaces and walk with your child to the main office.

Parents may drop their child off at school at the supervised parent pick-up/drop off zone. This is located
at the rear of the building along Livermore Street. Students will enter the building and proceed straight
to their classroom. Please do not drop off after 8:00 AM when there is no staff on site to supervise this
location. Students arriving late must be signed in by an adult in the front office. Please park in the
visitor parking spaces and walk with your child to the main office.

The front gated driveway is for buses only. During the school day all vehicular traffic is prohibited from
entering the driveway.

FRES DISMISSAL
All students are dismissed at 2:15 PM. Students riding the bus will be dismissed from their classrooms
first. Walkers will be dismissed from the front of the building by grade with their teacher. Parents are
asked to wait on the Flat (park facing the school building) for their child.

Lyndeborough Central School
Staff Directory

Associate Principal…..……………………………………………… Bridgette Fuller
Student Services Coordinator ……………………………………… Kathleen Chenette
Admin……………………………………………………………… Sherry Leblanc
Guidance ……………………………………………………………. Sam Metivier
Nurse ………………………………………………………………… Marissa Hofstetter

11



Kindergarten Teacher ……………………………………………….. Nicole DiFilippo
Kindergarten Teacher …………………………………………….…. Vicki MacPherson
Kindergarten Teacher ………………………………………………. Kirsten Rourke

Art ……………………………………………………………………..… Greg Lamers
Music …………………………………………………………………....... Morgan Kudlich
Physical Education …………………………………………………….…...Fritz Shenk
Media Generalist…………………………………………………………. Stephanie Loiselle

Board Certified Behavior Analyst….………………….……………….. Lisa Boaen
ABA Therapist…………………………...……………………………… Tracy Aucoin
ABA Therapist …………………………………………………………. Lindsey Lowrey

Instructional Aide..………………………………………………..……… Kayla Hodgen
Instructional Aide..………………………………………………..……… Jamin LaPonsie
Instructional Aide..………………………………………………..……… Amanda Guay

Custodian ………………………………………………………….….….. Jackie Bird

Lyndeborough Central School consists of 3 classrooms for students in Kindergarten, a multi-purpose
room which is used for many purposes including, a Gymnasium, Cafeteria, etc. There are additional
rooms for support programs such as: Speech, Special Education, and Title I Tutoring.

LCS SCHOOL HOURS
Kindergarten: 8:05 AM to 1:50 PM

LCS DAILY SCHEDULE
8:05 Entrance to Building
8:20 Late Bell
1:50 Dismissal for Buses andParent Pick Up Begins

LCS ARRIVAL
Students should not arrive before 8:05 AM note: there is no supervision provided for students and
should not be left unattended on the playground. Students arriving late must be signed in by an adult in
the front office. Please park in the visitor parking spaces and walk with your child to the main office.

Parents may drop their child off at school at the supervised parent pick-up/drop off zone. This is located
at the front of the building near the main entrance. Students will enter the building and proceed straight
to their classroom. Please do not drop off after 8:20 AM when there is no staff on site to supervise this
location. Students arriving late must be signed in by an adult in the front office. Please park in the
visitor parking spaces and walk with your child to the main office.

12



LCS DISMISSAL
All students are dismissed at 1:50 PM. Students riding the bus will be dismissed first. Students being
picked up will be dismissed from the front of the building with their teachers. Parents are asked to stay
in their cars in the pick-up/drop-off zone to wait for their child.

FRES BICYCLE RULES
1. A student must bring a written letter from a parent stating that the student has permission to ride their

bicycle to and from school.
2. Students are asked not to arrive on school grounds until after 7:40 a.m.
3. A student who rides a bicycle is expected to place his/her bicycle in the bike rack as soon as he/she

arrives at school. The bicycle should be locked and remain in the rack until the student is dismissed
with the walkers to leave the school grounds.

4. Students are expected to obey all traffic rules while riding. Failure to do so will result in immediate
suspension of bicycle riding privileges at school.

5. Students must walk their bicycle across crosswalks and continue to walk their bike when they reach
school property.

6. Students are required by state law to wear a safety helmet.

FRES/LCS WALKERS
For the safety of your children, please review the following pedestrian rules.
1. Students are encouraged to form a group or patrol when walking to and from the school grounds.
2. Students should stay single file to the left, outside of the white edge line.
3. Students are asked not to arrive on school grounds until after 7:40 a.m.
4. Kindergarten students are not allowed to walk home unless they are accompanied by an adult.

13



WILTON-LYNDEBOROUGH COOPERATIVE SCHOOL
DISTRICT

ELEMENTARY SCHOOL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES

14



Who to Call

Listed below are your “first point of contact” names for common issues and topics.

If you have questions about … Contact:
Classroom activities
Classroom behavior
Classroom standards & expectations Curriculum
Homework Assignments
Student’s academic performance
Assessment test results

Classroom Teacher or Special Education Teacher
(603) 732-9229

Building usage
School Events
Student enrollment/withdrawal
Class scheduling

Administrative Assistant (603) 732-9229

Administrative decisions
Attendance policy
Bus conduct
Harassment or student conflicts
Implementation of school policies

Building Administrator (603)732-9229

Busing (schedule routes)
School Board agenda/minutes
School Board meeting times

Superintendent’s Office (603) 732-9227

Budget issues
School policies

WLC School Board – Phone # available upon
request

Counseling services
Student Support Team (SST/MTSS)
Academic 504

School Counselor (603) 732-9229

Special education testing/eligibility Special Education Teachers (603) 732-9229

Health screening (eye, ear, scoliosis)
Medical policies
Use of medications
In school vaccination requirements

Nurse’s Office (603) 732-9286

Reduced/free lunch eligibility Food Service Director (603)732-9230 x2159

15



School Special Classes

Art (1- Gr. 5) (Gr K-5)
Art is a regular part of the instructional program at both schools. Through painting, drawing,
printmaking, weaving, sculpting and constructing your child’s imagination and creativity will be
challenged. Art history is taught through a study of a variety of artists’ paintings, drawings, and
sculptures. Every child will have artwork displayed throughout the school year. The art teacher
instructs each class for 45 minutes each week.

Physical Education (1- Gr. 5) (Gr K-5)
In Physical Education Class, cooperation, effort, and good sportsmanship are emphasized along with
your child’s physical skills. Classes are held outdoors during good weather in spring and fall. During
winter months, classes are held in the Activities Room/Gymnasium. Areas of activity include ball
games, tumbling, endurance and cooperation, strength work, strategy planning, flexibility activities, etc.

All students should have proper attire (sneakers and either pants or shorts) in order to participate. Your
child may be excused from physical education classes if he/she provides the school with a written
excuse from either a parent or physician.

Music (1- Gr. 5) (Gr K-5)
The music teacher instructs each class for one 45 minute period each week. Instruction covers the basics
of rhythm, singing, listening, simple notation, and music composers and styles. In addition to age
appropriate classroom instruction, an annual musical program is prepared for the enjoyment of the entire
school community.

Library (1- Gr. 5) (Gr K-5)
The school library provides students with resources for reading, writing reports, and learning library
skills. The lower grades have a reading circle during part of their library time. Teachers also use the
library to help provide children with research skills. Books are available at the public library to
supplement and complement the school’s collection. The students are able to check out materials from
either library.

Library materials are loaned out to students one week at a time. Renewal of materials is allowed for up to 2
more weeks if needed. Lost or damaged materials are the responsibility of the student at full replacement
cost. No further materials may be borrowed until payment is received. At the end of the year, those
students with outstanding library books or fines will have their report cards withheld until books are either
returned or paid for.

Technology Education (Gr. 1-5)
Students become familiar with Google Suite products, digital media software, basic keyboarding skills,
conducting research on the internet, and cyber safety. Using technology to enhance instruction that is taking
place in the regular classroom is common practice at both schools.

16



Guidance
The role of the school counselor is to provide professional support to children, parents, and teachers in
assessing learning and behavior problems as well as developing strategies to promote the social and
emotional well-being of our students. The guidance counselor works with students individually, in small
groups and in classrooms, and is also available to staff and parents for consultation on school-related
matters. The guidance counselors at each building leads the Student Support Team (SST/MTSS)
meetings and serves as the building 504 Coordinator.

Reading Specialist
The reading specialist works with classroom teachers and students in developing developmental reading
programs for individual students and classroom reading groups. The reading specialist regularly evaluates
students’ reading skills, for the purpose of assisting in the diagnosis of learning disorders, developing
remediation plans, and/or monitoring student progress.

Student Support Team (SST)/Multi-Tiered System of Support (MTSS) Response to Intervention
(RTI)
SST/MTSS RTI is a multistep process that our school utilizes to provide services and interventions to help
all students, including students who struggle with learning. An integral part of the SST/MTSS RTI model is
progress monitoring and data collection which are the foundation of making informed instructional
decisions for students. This process improves the early identification and support of students with learning
and behavior needs and provides our teachers with vital information so that they can deliver instruction and
interventions which are matched to individual student’s needs.

If your child requires intervention through the SST/MTSS RTI model, you will be contacted by our
SST/MTSS RTI coordinator to discuss our plan for your child's supplemental support and growth. Our
shared goal is for all students to reach their full potential.

Special Education
Once a child has been found eligible for Special Education Services, a team consisting of the child’s
parents, teachers, district evaluator(s), special education coordinator, and the Local Education
Administrator together develop an Individualized Educational Plan, or IEP.

Students work with a special education teacher in small groups or on an individual basis. They may receive
direct instruction from the special education teacher or paraprofessional may support the student in the
regular classroom, following the inclusionary model. Special education teachers supervise the work of the
special education paraprofessionals. WIN/RTI is part of our Title I funding, please refer to Appendix A for
additional information.

Rights of All Handicapped Persons
“No qualified handicapped person shall, on the basis of handicap, be excluded from participation in, be
denied the benefits of, or otherwise be subjected to discrimination under any program or activity which
is offered to non-handicapped persons...” (Section 504, Support A, 104.4(a).)

Title I Program
Please refer to Appendix A.

17



School Nurse

Laura Gifford, RN
Health Office Ext. 3245 or Direct Line: (603) 732-9286 654-8603

The school nurse carries out a wide variety of activities not only in nursing, but also in professional
relationships with teachers and administrators in the educational field. The nurse contributes directly to
the public understanding of educational as well as health needs. The nurse works closely with medical
professionals, and has a duty to cooperate with the programs of local, state, and federal agencies in the
fields of health, education, and welfare.

The school nurse shall act as a specialist in all matters pertaining to the physical health of the students
and school staff of the buildings to which she/he has been assigned. Responsibilities shall be advisory
rather than diagnostic. All treatment given by the nurse shall be in the form of first aid or temporary
relief. The responsibility for further treatment will rest with the child’s parent/guardian or with the
individual staff member requiring attention.

Nurse/Health Office Policies

Immunizations for School Entrance
All students must be immunized prior to school entrance according to the New Hampshire State Public
Health Agency. Evidence from a health care provider or completion of these requirements must be
submitted to the school nurse prior to the student entering school. No child may be enrolled in school
without first presenting an immunization record, or a medical or religious exemption.

Any student may be exempt from the above regulation if a health care provider presents evidence stating
that the immunization is detrimental to the child’s health. The exemption must state the duration of the
exemption. Exemption from immunization for one disease shall not affect other required
immunizations.

A student may be exempt from immunization for religious reasons upon receipt of the New Hampshire
Childcare/School Immunization Religious Exemption Form, which can be found on the district website.

18



A student may be exempt from immunization for religious reasons at the discretion of the school nurse
upon receipt of a letter, signed by the parent or legal guardian, which states that the student hasn’t been
immunized because of religious beliefs.

Physical Examinations
All students entering Florence Rideout Elementary School and Lyndeborough Central School for the
first time must show proof of completion of a medical examination by a health care provider within one
year preceding first entry to the school. Kindergarten and First grade students must show proof of
completion of a medical examination by a health care provider which took place within a one year
period prior to school entrance.

Students transferring into Florence Rideout Elementary School and Lyndeborough Central School must
also submit proof of physical examination by a health care provider completed within one year
preceding first entry to the school and immunization information at the time of registration and prior to
school entry.

Medication Policy
The following have been adopted for the administering of medication at school:

1. All medication must be brought into school by parents in the original pharmacy or manufacturer
labeled container, clearly marked with the child’s name and instructions on how to be
administered along with written permission from the parent and a written order by the provider.
No more than a 30 school day supply of the prescription for a student shall be stored at the
school.

2. PRESCRIBED MEDICATIONS should not be taken during school hours unless it is
impossible to achieve medical regimen at home. Medications to be given three times a day can
be given every eight hours, and thus will not have to be given at school.

3. NON-PRESCRIBED MEDICATIONS will not be encouraged for use by students.
Non-prescribed medication will not be made available to students, unless written permission is
given by the parent or guardian. Over the counter medication checklist is available on the annual
Student Health Assessment record completed by the parent guardian.

4. The school nurse or designee, assigned by the nurse, shall assist all students in the School
District who are required to take medication prescribed by a health care provider during the
school day.

5. The school nurse or designee, assigned by the nurse, shall be responsible for administering and
observing the taking of medication.

6. All medication shall be stored in a locked cabinet in the nurse’s office. Unused medications shall
be picked up by a parent/guardian or disposed of by the school nurse at the end of the school
year.

7. All medication shall be recorded daily in the school nurse’s database.

8. The school nurse may keep an updated Epi-Pen on hand in case of emergency. All school
personnel have been instructed in its use.Students known to have severe allergies will be allowed
to carry an Epi-Pen or inhaler to recess and on field trips, as prescribed by the provider.

19



9. Medication prescribed for asthma and severe allergic reactions (inhaler, Epi-Pens, or other
medications) may be kept in the student’s possession provided the health care provider’s
prescription for the medication, the directive for self-administration, and written permission from
the parent/guardian are on file in the Health Office.

10. EMERGENCY CARE and FIRST AID (School Board Policy JLCE). If any person in good
faith renders emergency care at the place of emergency, or while in transit in an ambulance or
rescue vehicle, to a person who is in urgent need of care as a result of the emergency, and if the
acts of care are made in good faith and without willful or wanton negligence, the person who
renders the care is not liable in civil damages for his/her acts or omissions in rendering the care,
as long as he/she receives no direct compensation for the care from or on behalf of the person
cared for. Any person rendering emergency care shall have the duty to place the injured person
under the care of a physician, nurse, or other person qualified to care for such person as soon as
possible and to obey the instructions of such a qualified person.

Illness at School
In case your child becomes ill at school, we will make every effort to contact you. You will be receiving
an “Emergency Information/Health” form JLCE-R at the beginning of the school year. We ask for your
cooperation in furnishing a name and telephone number to call in case you are not at home. It is
important to inform us of any changes in order to provide us with the most current contact
information during the school year.
A child sent home with a fever of 100 degrees or higher, vomiting or diarrhea should be kept at home
for at least 24 hours after his/her temperature is normal, vomiting or diarrhea has stopped
without the use of fever reducing medications.

20

https://www.sau63.org/cms/lib/NH01912507/Centricity/domain/80/j%20policies/JLCE-adopted%20%205.10.22%20Final.pdf
https://www.sau63.org/cms/lib/NH01912507/Centricity/domain/80/j%20policies/JLCE-R%20-%20Emergency%20Information%20Form.pdf


Food Allergies
Florence Rideout Elementary School is a food allergy aware school. Classrooms will be designated
peanut or nut safe as needed for children with an allergy to peanuts or nuts. Students may bring lunches
or snacks that contain peanuts or nuts, or products labeled “manufactured in a facility that contains
peanuts or nuts”. An allergy safe table is provided in the cafeteria for any student who needs to sit away
from allergens (see School Board Policy JAA).

Head Lice (Pediculosis)
The school nurse will notify the parent/guardian by telephone or other available means if their child is found
to have head lice. Verbal and/or written instructions for treatment will be given to the family of each
identified student. Instructions will include recommendations for treatment that are consistent with NH
Department of Health and Human Services recommendations. The affected student will be sent home at the
conclusion of the school day. Based upon the school nurse’s recommendation, other children who were
most likely to have had direct head-to-head contact with the assessed child may be checked or screened for
head lice.

Criteria for return to school: Students will be allowed to return to school after proper treatment as
recommended by the school nurse. The Board recognizes that the American Academy of Pediatrics and the
National Association of School Nurses discourage “no nit” policies. In alignment with these
recommendations, no student will be excluded from attendance solely based on grounds that nits may be
present. The school nurse may recheck a child’s head. In addition, the school nurse may offer extra help or
information to families of children who are repeatedly or chronically infested.

Asbestos Notification
A report is available in the school’s front office. FRES and LCS continue to have asbestos management
plans that are available for review in the front offices of both buildings.

Accident Insurance for Students
Insurance is available at minimal cost and all parents are encouraged to take advantage of this offer.
Notices will be sent home regarding price and procedure for obtaining coverage.

21

https://www.sau63.org/cms/lib/NH01912507/Centricity/domain/80/j%20policies/JAA-Allergy%20policy%20and%20guidelines-%203rd%20Read%20Final%20with%20daily%20sub%20form.pdf


School Registration

Any child who will be five years of age on or before September 30 is eligible to enter kindergarten, and
six years of age by September 30 to enter first grade. All registration forms can be accessed through our
website here.

To register a child for school, you must have:

1. A copy of the child’s birth certificate.

2. A copy of the child’s immunization record, verifying that the Mumps and Measles vaccine (or a
verified case); Polio: Diphtheria, Pertussis; Tetanus; and Rubella vaccine are up to date.

3. A copy of a physical examination done within one year prior to school entrance.

4. A signed record release for any preschool attended.

5. Proof of Wilton/Lyndeborough residency (i.e. utility bill, lease agreement, property tax bill).

Transferring Into Florence Rideout Elementary School/Lyndeborough Central School
To transfer a student into the Florence Rideout Elementary or Lyndeborough Central Schools, the
following forms must be completed prior to admitting the child:

1. Permission for verbal communication with the previous school.

2. Emergency information/health.

3. Special medication (when applicable).

4. Request for release of records.

5. Emergency release.

6. A copy of the child’s immunization record and a copy of the last physical exam (given within the
last year), see page 16, Immunization.

7. Proof of Wilton/Lyndeborough Residency (i.e. utility bill, lease agreement, property tax bill).

Transferring Out of Florence Rideout Elementary School/Lyndeborough Central School
If you are moving out of the Florence Rideout Elementary or Lyndeborough Central Schools, please
inform the principal in person or by phone and complete and submit Student Moving Out of District
form found on our district website here. When you register your child at the new school, you will sign a
request for a release of records. Our secretary will send all records to the receiving school.

22

https://www.sau63.org/Page/1261
https://www.sau63.org/site/handlers/filedownload.ashx?moduleinstanceid=2271&dataid=1994&FileName=CONSENT%20FOR%20RELEASE%20OF%20EDUCATION%20RECORDS%20STUDENT%20MOVING.pdf


Daily Attendance
Students absent from school must have their absence verified by a written excuse from a
parent or guardian. Students may not participate in afterschool activities on the day they are
absent. When a child is going to be absent, please call the school office before 8:15 a.m. that day
to alert us. If no one is available to answer your call, you may leave a message on the school
answering machine. If we have not heard from you, we will call your home, and then we will try
reaching you via the phone numbers on the child’s emergency form card, until each child is
safely accounted for.

Students who miss school for five consecutive days must furnish the school with a doctor’s
certificate stating that such absences are necessary. Exceptions may be granted in consultation with
the school nurse and school principal.

Parents should make every effort to schedule medical or dental appointments at times that do not
interfere with school hours. When a student is absent, he/she is expected to make up for work
missed during the absence. A school calendar is published by the school and distributed to all
parents. Vacation and extended trips should be arranged during school vacation periods. If a student
is required to leave school to accompany his/her parents on an extended trip, a request must be
submitted in writing at least one week in advance. Students will be required to make up all
assignments upon return to class.

A child can never make up a day missed at school even though the assignments may be completed at
a later date. The interaction and instruction that takes place in the classroom are equally as valuable
as written assignments.

Changes in Dismissal
Please notify the school if your child is to be dismissed early, or if there is a change in
transportation (i.e. a different bus stop or a parent pick-up). We expect all dismissal plans to be
in place well before 2:00 pm that day to avoid confusion.
Parent PickUp Patrol
PickUp Patrol is our online system for parents to communicate dismissal plan changes to the
school. Parents receive an email with PickUp Patrol account set-up and login instructions.
Changes can be entered from a smartphone, tablet, or computer, days, weeks, or even months in
advance and at any time up until 1:00 pm on the day of the change.

After 1:00 pm changes will not be accepted except in the case of an emergency. Such changes
can be made via phone directly to the main office. The end of the school day is a busy time, so
please plan accordingly and limit these exceptions to emergencies ONLY to assure the safety of
all students.

Written notes communicating dismissal changes that are signed and dated by parents/guardians
are accepted as well. If you have made arrangements for any other person to pick your child up
at school the note must contain the name(s) of the people you have designated to pick up your
child. The individual may be asked to provide proper identification. We do NOT allow the child
to leave with anyone other than the parent or guardian without a written note that is signed
and dated by the parent or guardian.

23



Students who are dismissed before the regular dismissal time must be signed out in the main
office.

Delayed Opening and Cancellations
In the event of inclement weather, parents/guardians will receive notification from the service at
PowerSchool. This may occur before school, or during the school day, if necessary. In addition,
announcements may be heard on the following radio and television stations:

WZID ………...………………..95.7 FM

WMUR-TV…..………………. Channel

Schools will open two (2) hours after the regular starting time, and morning bus pick-ups will be
two (2) hours later than the regular time.

Should conditions continue to pose a transportation risk, PowerSchool will notify you of the
changes, and the No School announcement will be made by 8:30 AM on the same radio and TV
stations.

Our superintendent consults with the road agents and the bus company in making a decision to
operate as usual, to delay school opening, or to close school for the day.

Emergency Early Dismissal
PowerSchool will call the first contact on the emergency information form for each student to
alert parents to the early dismissal. If it is necessary for you to be away on inclement weather
days, please:

● Call the school secretary or have your child bring in a note on these days to inform the
school where/how to contact you.

● Ensure that your child knows where to go in case of early dismissal.

Tardiness
Students arriving after 8:00 AM are late, and will be recorded as tardy by the classroom teacher.
Please bring your child to the office to sign in when tardy.
When a child is going to be tardy, please call the school office before 8:00 am that day to alert us
FRES: (603) 732-9299 LCS:(603) 732-9228. If no one is available to answer your call, you may
leave a message on the school answering machine. For the safety of your child we will call your
home, and then we will try reaching you via the phone numbers on the child’s emergency form card,
until each student is safely accounted for.

Parents will be notified by the principal if tardiness becomes excessive. Please make an effort to
have your child arrive on time in order to ensure a smooth start to the day.

Absences Due To Parental Vacations
Parents are strongly urged not to schedule family vacations during school days and not to extend
the scheduled vacation periods. Should you wish your child to accompany you on a vacation
during the time school is in session, you should inform the building Principal at least one week in
advance explaining the length of time for the vacation and the reason. Arrangements can be

24



made at the discretion of the classroom teacher for assignments that will be missed and/or study
projects.

25



General Policies and Procedures
Video and Audio Surveillance on School Property
The Wilton-Lyndeborough Cooperative School Board authorizes the use of video and/or audio
devices on Wilton-Lyndeborough Cooperative School District property to ensure the health,
welfare, and safety of all students, staff and visitors to District property and to safeguard District
buildings, grounds and equipment. Placement of the video cameras will be based on the
presumption and belief that students, staff and visitors have no reasonable expectation of privacy
in areas or at events that occur in plain view.

Reference School Board Policy EEAA

Telephone and Email Messages
Each teacher has a district e-mail address (ie. j.doe@sau63.org) and a voicemail that may be
accessed through the main office. Your phone message will be returned within 24 hours. We
encourage the use of email as an efficient and timely way to connect with staff. You may go to
the SAU 63 website, click on FRES under the school’s menu, and go to teacher emails. Teachers
are not interrupted from classroom instruction during the school day to take phone calls.

Students will be permitted to use the telephone only with the permission of their teacher. The
office telephone is for emergency use only, such as illness, etc. No social or non-emergency
use is permitted by students.

Visits to School
You are welcome to visit Florence Rideout Elementary School/Lyndeborough Central School. If
you wish to visit a classroom, please call ahead to arrange the visit with the teacher. Please
check in at the office when you arrive on the school grounds.

Legal Guardianship/Child Custody/Restraining Orders
Should there be a change in normal custodial arrangements for your child/children, it is
imperative the Principal be informed as soon as possible. A letter specifying such from the adult
with custodial rights and a copy of the corresponding legal documentation are required to be sent
to the Principal for adherence. A copy will be placed on file, and associated personnel will be
informed of the change.

The same procedure is required should there be a restraining order in effect relative to the child.
Each time there is an extension or alteration to such order, the legal documentation verifying such
must be provided to the Principal for adherence to it.

School Property Damage
Harmful or malicious damage to school property must be reimbursed by the persons responsible;
or, in the case of minors, by their parents or guardians.

School Lunch
The school’s lunch policy appears in Appendix A.

26

https://www.sau63.org/cms/lib/NH01912507/Centricity/domain/80/e%20policies/EEAA-Video%20and%20Audio%20Surveillance%20o%20School%20Property.pdf


Students may not bring soda and caffeinated beverages to school. Candy and sugary treats are
strongly discouraged.

The guidelines for free and reduced price lunches will be sent home. Those who believe they are
eligible should complete an application.

Parents may join their students for lunch. Please call ahead to arrange for the visit.

Recess
Whenever possible, and in the best judgment of school personnel, recess time will be spent outside
the building. Of course, when conditions such as extreme cold or soaking rains are evident, recess
will be held inside. Children will not go outside when it is excessively wet or cold (typically 12°
-15° F or below) or windy. All children will participate in outdoor recess activities unless excused
for medical reasons and/or by a note from a physician. Parents are responsible to ensure that a child
is properly dressed for prevailing weather conditions, including boots, mittens, etc. It is
recommended that your child’s clothing be labeled. Please refer to page 36 for playground rules.

Classroom Concerns
Please do not allow your child to bring toys, playing cards, electronic equipment or
expensive jewelry to school. Toys and cards are frequently a distraction, and are difficult to
monitor. Placing cell phones, audio equipment, and jewelry in a backpack or locker does not
guarantee their safety, and the school cannot be responsible for keeping these items safe. “Show
and Tell” items are an exception, but expensive equipment and jewelry is always discouraged.

Please do not have your child bring party invitations to school unless the whole class is invited.
This causes distress among those class members who have not been invited.

School Dress
Clothing makes a statement, and we want that statement to be a respectful one. Footwear is
important in terms of comfort and safety while running and playing on rough ground. Violations
to the policy may result in a telephone call to parents to bring appropriate clothing to school.

1. Shirt, hat, and jewelry emblems should not be offensive (no reference to alcohol, drugs,
off-color language, violence or sex). Students are asked to remove their hats while in the
building.

2. Appropriate footwear must be worn in order to safely play on playground equipment.
Sneakers or athletic shoes are required for participation in PE class.

Warmer weather:

3. Modest, sensible apparel is encouraged. Blouses and shirts should cover the mid-section
of the body. Spaghetti straps and low-cut blouses are discouraged.

4. Shorts and cutoffs should be mid-thigh or longer.

5. Bicyclists must wear helmets.

6. Flip-flops are not allowed

Colder weather:

27



7. Parents are requested to be sure their child is dressed warmly in winter weather as recess
is held outdoors unless it is severely cold or wet.

8. Boots should also be worn as the playground often has wet and muddy areas. Access to
the playground will be limited if the child does not have appropriate footwear. Please
provide your child with shoes or sneakers to be worn within the building.

Books--Lost, Damaged, Forgotten
Parents will be responsible for the cost of replacing lost or damaged books and school materials.

Students are required to cover textbooks which go home on a regular basis. Brown paper bags or
similar material will suffice.

Lost And Found
**Please clearly mark your child’s last name on all clothing and footwear.**
We do maintain a Lost and Found, which is located in the main hallway within each building.
Items found in shared areas are displayed in this area. Unclaimed clothing is brought to donation
centers twice a year.

Field Trips
Field trips are of an educational nature and are related to classroom learning. Every effort is
made to have students back at school in time to take the bus home. Parents are notified in
advance if they are expected to pick their child up after hours.

Each student will be provided with a permission slip prior to the field trip that will need to be
signed by a parent or guardian. No student will be allowed on a field trip without a permission
slip on file.

Parents may arrange for bag lunches to be purchased from the school for their student(s).

If you do not wish for your child to participate in any specific trip, please notify the teacher in
writing before the trip so that alternative arrangements can be made.

Volunteers and Field Trip Chaperones
Not only do volunteers help students and teachers directly, they also gain firsthand knowledge
about the school and show the children that adults consider school an important place. Volunteers
help with classroom preparation, student aid, and classroom demonstrations.

People who volunteer must fill out a Consent and Release Form. A finger-print and criminal
records check is now required from volunteers and chaperones who work with students.

Please consider providing your assistance in some way. You may notify your child’s teacher,
school secretary or principal if you wish to volunteer.

Florence Rideout Elementary School/Lyndeborough Central School PTO
The FRES and LCS parents and staff have a very active and involved PTO. The PTO supports
our students and staff with additional educational programs and events throughout the year.

28



Membership is ongoing. A membership drive is held every fall. New participants are always
welcome to provide fresh ideas. You may contact the school at any time to become more
actively involved.

The Board of Directors consists of: President, Vice President, Secretary, and Treasurer.
Meetings are held on a monthly basis at the school (specific dates and times to be set yearly).
These meetings are open to the public and are held to plan upcoming events, review past events,
etc. More information about the PTO can be found on the school website.

Report Cards/Learning Profiles
Competency-Based report cards Learning Profiles will be sent home four times each year, on a
quarterly basis. Report cards Learning Profiles are used by the school to communicate with
parents regarding their child’s progress and achievement towards competencies, learning habits,
and/or behavior in school. Parents are asked to sign the report card envelope and return it to
school. The final report card is kept by the parents. Parents are urged to call the child’s teacher
if there are any questions regarding their child’s progress.

Parent-Teacher Conferences
Parent conferences are arranged at the end of the first quarter in November. Parents or teachers may
request conferences at other times if needed. The Parent-Teacher Conference offers both the
opportunity to ask questions relative to your child, and to build an avenue of communication
between home and school to better assist your child’s progress.

Throughout the school year, parents are encouraged to communicate with their child’s teacher
whenever necessary. Please call the office and ask the secretary to contact the teacher to set up an
appointment or to check on the teacher’s availability. If it becomes clear that the issue is of a more
serious nature, please schedule a meeting for a time when both parties are prepared to give their full
attention to the concern. Each teacher has a district e-mail address (ie. j.doe@sau63.org) and a
voicemail that may be accessed through the main office.

Transitions
We recognize that transition activities are essential in helping children move from home to the
school setting. Various activities are planned to build connections between home and school. In the
spring, we offer a “Kindergarten Parent Orientation” meeting giving an overview of our
kindergarten program for parents. Later in the spring, incoming kindergarten students are invited to
spend some time in the morning with their teacher in their new kindergarten classroom during
“Kindergarten Welcome Day”. Over the summer, students receive a note or letter from their teacher
to strengthen the connection between teacher and child.

As the beginning of the school year approaches an hour long “Meet and Greet” is scheduled prior to
the first day of school. When children have completed their kindergarten and 5th grade year, they are
transitioned to grade one at Florence Rideout Elementary School or sixth grade at WLC Middle
School as part of our “Step-up Day” event in Late May/early June.

29



Snacks
Each student should bring in one healthy snack each day. We ask all families to refrain from
bringing in related snacks for sharing in classrooms.

Assessments
Staff utilize several assessments to provide insight and information regarding your child’s learning
progress. Individual student results from these assessments are shared with parents.

● Dial 4 Kindergarten Screening
● iReady Diagnostic: Reading and Math
● Heggerty or PAST Phonemic Awareness Assessment
● Oral Reading Fluency (ORF)
● STAR 360 Early Literacy, Reading and Math
● Fountas & Pinnell Benchmarking (Leveled Readers)
● AIMSWEB- Math computation and application

Kindergarten Screening
Early screening in the school year provides the Kindergarten teachers and staff with valuable
information about your child’s individual development and learning skills. Screening results will be
used to help teachers determine the best possible programming options for each child.

Homework
Homework is designed for students to practice skills already taught at school and to enrich the
learning activities that are initiated in class. It provides the opportunity for our students to develop
self-discipline, responsibility, and initiative. The work may be to study math facts, do an activity
sheet, finish a project that was started in class, prepare for a test or read. An effective homework
program also supports the conviction that learning is not limited to the normal classroom experience,
but an extension that works to expand the vital home/school connection.

As students mature, they should assume the responsibility to make sure their assignments are
completed on time and make an effort to develop effective study habits. This is not an easy task.
Students who do not have the necessary study skills or completed homework assignments may
fall behind in their work.

The following is the suggested average for homework per grade level:

Grade Time Guideline Frequency
First 20 minutes four times a week

Second 20 minutes four times a week

Third 30 minutes four times a week

Fourth 30 minutes four times a week

Fifth 45/60 minutes four times a week

There are ongoing projects in grades 2 through 5, such as monthly book reports or science and
social studies units, which may require work on weekends or holidays.

30



*Parents are asked to read to their child for 30 minutes (minimum) every day.

If you feel that your child is consistently spending more time than these recommended
guidelines, please contact your child’s teacher.

Bus Transportation Regulations

The right of students to ride on the school bus is conditional on their behavior and observance of
rules pertaining to proper conduct (School Board Policy JICC and Policy JICC-R). Drivers are
authorized to enforce these rules, which are listed below. We recommend that parents of bus
students review these regulations with their children.

School Bus Regulations
1. The students’ right to ride the school bus is conditional on their behavior and observance

of rules pertaining to proper conduct. Drivers are authorized to enforce these rules and to
make suggestions in line with good citizenship.

2. The driver may assign seats to students. The bus will not be in motion until all students
are seated.

3. While on the bus, students shall not shout, whistle, throw anything, or otherwise distract
the bus driver in any way. Eating and drinking are not permitted, nor are students
allowed to have electronic equipment (games, CD players, radios) on the bus.

4. There shall be no fooling, fighting or other improper behavior on the bus.

5. Students shall not open windows unless authorized by the driver. Students shall not put
their head, arms, hands, feet or objects out the window.

6. Aisles are to be kept free from books, lunch boxes, and other objects. Students must keep
their feet out of the aisle when others are loading and unloading from the bus.

7. Students who must cross the road after leaving the bus shall adopt the following
procedures:

a. Exit the bus and walk about 10 feet up the road from the bus.

b. Look BOTH ways to be sure cars have stopped.

c. Check with the driver, wait for his/her signal.

d. Cross the street in front of the bus.

8. Students must line up in a single file about 6 feet behind the bus stop before boarding the
bus. When leaving the bus, all students must remain in their seats until it is their turn to
leave. Each student will leave the bus at their specified stop, unless they present a signed
bus pass from the office (see #12).

9. Students must be ready to take the bus when it arrives. Drivers will not wait if you are
late.

31

https://www.sau63.org/cms/lib/NH01912507/Centricity/domain/80/j%20policies/JICC%20-%20Student%20Conduct%20on%20School%20Buses.pdf
https://www.sau63.org/cms/lib/NH01912507/Centricity/domain/80/j%20policies/JICC-R%20-%20Student%20Rules%20and%20Conduct%20on%20the%20School%20Bus.pdf


10. Student violations will be written up and handed to the Principal by the bus driver. The
Principal will then give the slip to the student, requiring the student to bring the write-up
back with their parents’ signature before boarding the bus the next day.

11. The Principal may suspend a student from riding the bus for ongoing serious misconduct.
The Principal will inform the parents that a second offense may result in further
suspension from riding the bus.

12. Bus students will be picked up and discharged only at their regular bus stops, unless the
driver is given a bus pass from the office. A written note or phone call from a parent is
required to obtain a bus pass. Parents can call the bus company directly in the morning if
it is an emergency. Schools must also be notified.

13. Walkers are not allowed to ride a regularly scheduled school bus without written
permission from parents or a pass from the school.

32



Discipline

Florence Rideout and Lyndeborough Central School use a positive approach to discipline that draws
upon children’s ability to demonstrate behavior in constructive, friendly ways as well as the teacher’s
ability to empower children to do so. Children behave and learn best when they are aware that their
parent(s)/guardian(s) communicate regularly with school staff and are supportive of the teachers and
school administration. If you have any concerns or questions about a school or classroom practice,
please share these concerns with the appropriate school personnel.

In an effort to foster a sense of ownership and responsibility, classroom rules are created with the
children during the first few weeks of school. Teachers continually discuss and model appropriate
behaviors and expectations with students in a calm, respectful manner. Teachers use a variety of
techniques and strategies when responding to student misbehavior. Teacher’s use positive language
to remind, redirect and reinforce expectations. Logical consequences are often utilized. Logical
consequences are directly related to children’s behavior and helps them fix their mistakes.

PROGRESSIVE DISCIPLINE PLAN

We have established school rules regulations which we feel reflect a caring environment and protect
the learning environment. Students who choose not to obey these rules, while on school grounds, in
the building, on field trips or at school sponsored events will be disciplined in a fair, consistent, and
progressive manner. Throughout the year, time is spent practicing, modeling, and revisiting the art of
conflict resolution. Younger children (Kindergarten and Grade 1) are encouraged to “use their
words” and to solve problems that arise, rather than resorting to aggressive behaviors. We use these
teachable moments to process and model self-control strategies with younger students. As older
students develop greater self-control and understanding of what is expected they are held to higher
expectations and may receive more significant consequences.

LOGICAL CONSEQUENCES

● Take Responsibility – This logical consequence is used in situations when something has
been broken or a mess has been made- whether accidentally or intentionally. Teachers use
this when they see an opportunity for a child to solve a problem he or she has caused.

● Loss of Privilege – This logical consequence is used in situations when a student defies, tests
or even forgets the rule. The consequence is that the child loses the privilege. What is taken
away is directly related to the misbehavior.

● Take a Break – This type of logical consequence is when a student is dysregulated out of
control and needs an opportunity to regain self-control and calm down. The student will
move to a predetermined location within the classroom (Rest Stop, Buddy Classroom), takes
time to regroup and then rejoins the class once he or she has regained control. “Take a Break”
locations have been established in the cafeteria and on the playground.

33



SCHOOLWIDE BEHAVIOR INFRACTIONS & CONSEQUENCES

Minor Infraction: Minor infractions include, but are not limited to actions such as, name calling;
being unkind to classmates; non-serious, but inappropriate physical contact; being disrespectful to an
adult; being continually unprepared for class; failure to complete assignments; continually disruptive
in class or talking out of turn, not following established rules and expectations in the cafeteria, or on
the playground. Such infractions may result in any of the following: Take-a-Break w/Principal,
Rest Stop, Buddy Classroom, Loss of Cafeteria/Recess Privilege, Teacher Detention

Major Infraction: Major infractions will be dealt with immediately. These can include; ongoing and
repeated patterns of minor infractions that create a disruptive and/or unsafe environment;
hitting/physical aggression towards another student; deliberate inappropriate language (profanity)
orally or in writing; non-compliance (not following staff directives); threats of any nature;
possession of inappropriate material; theft; violation of acceptable use policy. A Discipline Report is
sent home, to be read, signed, and returned by the parent(s), Parents are notified by the principal or
designee by phone. Such infractions may result in any of the following consequences: Loss of
Privilege, Principal After School Detention, In-School Suspension

Gross Misconduct: The student is immediately sent to the principal’s office. These can include but
are not limited to; physical aggressive behavior that harms others, fighting, destruction of school
property, leaving school grounds, bullying/harassment, drug/alcohol/weapons possession. A
discipline report is sent home, to be read, signed, and returned by the parent(s), and Parents are
notified by the principal by phone. Parents may be required to bring student home. A copy of the
discipline report is placed in the student’s cumulative records folder, and will transfer with the
student when he or she transfers to another school. Such infractions may result in any of the
following consequences: In-School Suspension, Out of School Suspension

SCHOOLWIDE CONSEQUENCES

Student Behavior Reflection Form (Think Sheet)
This form will be completed by a student as a means of identifying the inappropriate behavior/choice and
choosing steps for the purpose of improving future behavior. Copy of the think sheet will be given to the
classroom teacher and sent home with the child.

Take a Break in Principal’s office
This is the removal of the student by the teacher from the environment where the inappropriate
behavior occurred. Students will complete a “Think Sheet” and process with either principal or head
teacher. The length of the Take a Break may vary and will be at the principal’s discretion. Typically,
this will not exceed 30 minutes.

Loss of Cafeteria/Recess Privilege
Students will eat lunch in the office separate from the lunch room and/or will miss recess. Students
will complete a “Think Sheet” and process with either principal or head teacher. Typically this
consequence is delivered if the infraction occurred on the playground or cafeteria. These privileges
can be lost for one, two, or three consecutive days at the discretion of the principal.

34



Student Reflection Journals (Reflection Packets)
During an after school detention or suspension students are to complete a reflection packet. The
student will answer questions about their behavior and think about strategies to improve behavior.
Goal setting is also part of this. Reflection Journals, which contain individual student think sheets
and reflection packets are kept in the principal’s office.

Teacher After School Detention
The classroom teacher may assign detention for repeated minor misconduct within the classroom.
This detention occurs the following school day. For after school detention, the teacher will contact
the parents by phone and assign the detention for the next day. During the detention a student will
complete a Reflection Packet. Students failing to report to a teacher’s detention will result in
principal detention as well as completion of the original teacher detention. Detention will be held
from 2:15 - 3:00 2:45. Parent(s)/guardian(s) must make arrangements to pick up the child at the
completion of detention. A brief conference/phone conference with parents should be held at this
time with the teacher.

Principal After School Detention
This detention will be held from 2:15 - 3:00 2:45 in the principal’s office or other designated area.
Principal will contact parents the day of the infraction. During the detention a student will complete
a Reflection Packet. Parent(s)/guardian(s) must make arrangements to pick up the child at the
completion of detention. A copy of the student Discipline Report will be sent home with the student.
Parents sign and return the next day. A conference/phone conference with parents should be held at
this time with the principal

In-School Suspension
During in-school suspension a student is not allowed to participate in any part of his/her normal
educational setting for the entire day(s). A copy of the student Discipline Report will be sent home
with the student. Parents sign and return the next day. Students will be required to do any classwork
or tasks assigned by the teacher. During the in school suspension a student will complete a
Reflection Packet. Student will be served an in school suspension in an area supervised by the
principal and/or head teacher. A conference/phone conference with parents will be held at this time
with the principal

Out of School Suspension
A student will be suspended from school by the principal for up to 10 days for each incident of gross
misconduct, or for repeated major infractions. The student will be sent to the Principal’s Office, and
the principal will call the parents to come immediately to pick up their student. The principal will
require a meeting with the Parent(s) before the student resumes school attendance, in order to go
over behavioral expectations, and/or develop a Behavior Plan for the student to follow.

Students who threaten serious harm (to property, or oneself or others) must receive a safety
assessment by a counseling professional before returning to school. Please refer to Suspension and
Expulsion policies in Appendix C in School Board policy JICD.

35

https://www.sau63.org/cms/lib/NH01912507/Centricity/domain/80/j%20policies/JICD%20Revised%20Final%201.18.22.pdf


MINOR BEHAVIOR INFRACTION MAJOR BEHAVIOR INFRACTION GROSS MISCONDUCT

Minor infractions are typically
dealt with at the classroom level.
Minor behaviors include but are
not limited to:

● Name calling
● Unkind to classmates
● Non-serious, but

inappropriate physical
contact

● Disrespectful to an adult
● Continually unprepared

for class
● Failure to complete

assignments
● Continually disruptive in

class or talking out of
turn,

● Not following
established rules and
expectations in the
cafeteria, or on the
playground

Major infractions will be dealt
with immediately. Major
behaviors include but are not
limited to:

● Ongoing and repeated
patterns of minor
infractions that create a
disruptive and/or unsafe
environment

● Hitting/physical
aggression towards
another student

● Deliberate inappropriate
language (profanity)
orally or in writing

● Non-compliance (not
following staff
directives); threats of any
nature

● Possession of
inappropriate material

● Theft
● Violation of acceptable

use policy

Gross Misconduct will be
addressed immediately. These
behaviors can include but are not
limited to:

● Physical aggressive
behavior that harms
others; fighting,
destruction of school
property

● Leaving school grounds
● Bullying/harassment,

drug/alcohol/weapons
possession.

Infractions may result in any of the following:

Rest Stop

Buddy Classroom

Loss of cafeteria/recess privilege

Repeated classroom rule
violations will be addressed with
families and should be referred
to administration.

Infractions may result in any of the following

Loss of Privilege

After School Detention

In-School Suspension

Parents will be notified by the
principal or designee by phone.

Infractions may result in any of the following

In-School Suspension
Out of School Suspension

Parents are notified by the
principal by phone. Parents may
be required to bring students
home. A copy of the discipline
report is placed in the student’s
cumulative records folder, and
will transfer with the student
when he or she transfers to
another school.

36



Playground Rules and Student Engagement:
Students are free to play in a safe and socially acceptable way during recess and breaks. Informal
instruction/redirection may take place at the discretion of teacher or principal if deemed
necessary to encourage a safe environment free from exclusion, bullying, or harassment.

1. Students will play with each piece of equipment as intended by the manufacturer. Do not
jump off of benches, swings, or climbing equipment, or hang from the soccer goals.

2. Slide down-do not walk up or down-the slide.

3. Sit-do not stand-on the swings.

4. Permit only one person on each section of the climbing equipment.

5. Return balls/equipment to the bin or rooms where they belong.

Playground Etiquette:
1. Students will treat one another with respect. They will not engage in unwelcome physical

contact or verbal harassment.

2. Students will play in an appropriate and safe manner and will not engage in activities that
are hurtful to themselves or others.

3. Do not throw balls or other objects against the building.

4. Wear hats, gloves or mittens and coats in cold weather. Wear boots to play in the snow.

5. Respect and obey school staff members.

6. Line up quietly.

School Grounds:
1. Follow the rules stated above.

2. Treat others with respect.

3. Do not throw rocks, or any other item.

4. Weapons, matches, drugs, and alcohol are not allowed.

37



APPENDIX A
SCHOOL PROGRAMS

38



WIN/Title One Program

Title I provides federal funding to local school districts for tutorial programs that offer children
extra assistance in the basic skill areas. Funding eligibility for individual schools is based upon
the level of enrollment in the free and reduced lunch program. Eligibility is determined on an
annual basis by the Department of Health and Human Services.

In SAU #63, the program is primarily designed to provide supplementary help to eligible
students who are having difficulty in Language Arts and/or Math. Difficulties may include:
reading comprehension, written mechanics, grammar, vocabulary, spelling, phonics, math
problem solving, math computation, and/or study skills in grades k-8.

WIN/Title I is a supplementary program. Students receive regular classroom instruction with
their classroom teacher(s); they receive support and reinforcement in specific skills from the
Title I tutor. Students participate in Title I approximately 20-45 minutes per day, two to five
times per week. Schedules are arranged with classroom teachers so students miss as little as
possible of classroom instruction.

Students are usually referred to WIN/Title I by teachers, parents, or school counselors. Eligibility
is primarily based on individualized academic testing coupled with classroom performance and
teacher/parent observations.

If your child has received WIN/Title I in the past, either here or in another location, it does not
automatically make him/her eligible for Title I services this school year. Please check with your
child’s school if you wish new eligibility to be considered.

If you have any questions regarding the WIN/Title I Program, or wish to make a referral, please
do not hesitate to contact the WIN/Title I Coordinator, Valerie Bemis, v.bemis@sau63.org.
Bridgette Fuller, b.fuller@sau63.org.

39

mailto:b.fuller@sau63.org


JICL - SCHOOL DISTRICT INTERNET ACCESS FOR STUDENTS
Category: Priority/Required by Law
See also EHAA, GBEF

The Wilton-Lyndeborough Cooperative School Board recognizes that technological resources can
enhance student performance by offering effective tools to assist in providing a quality instructional
program, facilitating communications with parents/guardians, teachers, and the community,
supporting District and school operations, and improving access to and exchange of information.
The Board expects all students to learn to use the available technological resources that will assist
them in the performance of their education. As needed, students shall receive lessons and instruction
in the appropriate use of these resources.

Students shall be responsible for the appropriate use of technology and shall use the District’s
technological resources primarily for purposes related to their education. Students are hereby
notified that there is no expectation of privacy on district computers, computer files, email, internet
usage logs, and other electronic data.

The Superintendent or designee shall ensure that all District computers with Internet access have a
technology protection measure that prevents access to visual depictions that are obscene or
pornographic and that the operation of such measures is enforced. The Superintendent or designee
may disable the technology protection measure during use by an adult to enable access for bona fide
research, educational or other lawful purpose.

The Superintendent shall establish administrative regulations and an Acceptable Use Agreement that
outlines student obligations and responsibilities related to the use of District technology. He/she also
may establish guidelines and limits on the use of technological resources. Inappropriate use may
result in a cancellation of the student’s user privileges, disciplinary action, and/or legal action in
accordance with law, Board policy, and administrative regulations.

The Superintendent or designee shall provide copies of related policies, regulations, and
guidelines to all students. Students shall be required to acknowledge in writing that they have read
and understood the District’s Acceptable Use Agreement.

Legal References:
RSA 194:3-d, School District Computer Networks
47 U.S.C. §254, Requirements For Certain Schools – Internet Safety
20 U.S.C. §6777, Enhancing Education Through Technology – Internet Safety
Appendix: JICL-R
New Policy: April 2010 (replaces EGA and IJNDB)
First Reading: September 28, 2011
Second Reading: October 11, 2011

Final Adoption: October 11, 2011

40



41



APPENDIX B

STUDENT RECORDS POLICIES

42



JRA –
STUDENT RECORDS AND ACCESS TO STUDENT RECORDS - FERPA

General Statement.
It is the policy of the School Board that all school district personnel will follow the procedures
outlined herein as they pertain to the maintenance of student records. Furthermore, it is the policy of
the School Board that all school district personnel will follow the provisions of the Family
Educational Rights Privacy Act (FERPA) and its corresponding
regulations.
Education Record.
For the purposes of this policy and in accordance with FERPA, the term “educational record” is
defined as all records,
files, documents and other material containing information directly related to a student; and
maintained by the school district; or by such other agents as may be acting for the school district.
Such records include, but are not limited to, handwriting, videotape, audiotape, electronic or
computer files, film, print, microfilm and/or microfiche.
Directory Information.
For the purposes of this policy, and in accordance with the provisions of FERPA and New
Hampshire RSA 189:1-e, the term “directory information” means:

● Students' name, address, telephone number, date and place of birth, dates of enrollment
● Parents'/guardians' name and address,
● Students' grade level, enrollment status and dates of attendance
● Students’ photograph Students' participation in recognized school activities and sports
● Weight and height of members of athletic teams
● Students' diplomas, certificates, awards and honors received

The District may release or disclose student directory information without prior consent of the
student’s parents/eligible students. Within the first three weeks of each school year, the District will
provide notice to parents/eligible students that the District may publish directory information without
their prior consent. Parents/eligible students will be given until September 30 to notify the District in
writing of any oral directory information items that they refuse to permit the District to release or
disclose. Notice from a parent/eligible student that any or all direction information shall not be
released will only be valid for that school year and must be re-issued each school year.

Personally Identifiable Information.
”Personally identifiable information” is defined as data or information which makes the subject of a
record known, including a student’s name the student’s or student’s family’s address; the name of the
student’s parent or other family members; a personal identifier such as a student’s Social Security
number; the student’s date of birth, place of birth, or mother’s maiden name; or other information
that, alone or in combination, is linked or linkable to a specific student that would allow a reasonable
person in the school community, who does not have personal knowledge of the relevant
circumstances, to identify the student with a reasonable certainty or information requested by a
person who the District reasonably believes knows the identity of the student to whom the education
record relates.

43



Annual Notification/Rights of Parents and Eligible Students.
Within the first four weeks of each school year, the District will publish notice to parents and eligible
students of their rights under State and Federal law and this policy. The District will publish in at
least one local newspaper a notice listing these rights.

The notice will include:

(1) The rights of parents or eligible students to inspect and review the student’s education records;
(2) The intent of the District to limit the disclosure of information in a student’s record, except: (a)
by the prior written consent of the parent or eligible student; (b) as directory information; or (c)
under certain, limited circumstance, as permitted by law;
(3) The right of a student’s parents or an eligible student to seek to correct parts of the student’s
educational records which he/she believes to be inaccurate, misleading, or in violation of student
rights; this includes a hearing to present evidence that the records should be changed if the District
decides not to alter them according to the parent’s or
eligible student’s request;
(4) The right of any person to file a complaint with the United States Department of Education if the
District violates FERPA; and
(5) The procedure that a student’s parents or an eligible student should follow to obtain copies of this
policy.

Procedure to Inspect Education Records.
Parents or eligible students may inspect and review education records which they are entitled to. In
some circumstances, it may be more convenient for the record custodian to provide copies of
records.
Since a student’s records may be maintained in several locations, the school principal may offer to
collect copies of records or the records themselves from locations other than a student’s school, so
that they may be inspected at one site.
If parents and eligible students wish to inspect records where they are maintained, school principals
will determine if a review at that site is reasonable. Parents/eligible students should submit to the
school principal a written request that identifies as precisely as possible the record or records that
he/she wishes to inspect. The principal will contact the parents or the eligible student to discuss how
access is best arranged for their inspection or review of the records (copies
, records brought to a single site, etc.). The principal will make the needed arrangements as soon as
possible and notify the parent or eligible student of the time and place where the records may be
inspected. This procedure must be completed within 45 days or earlier after the principal’s receipt of
the request for access. If for any valid reason such as working hours, distance between record
location sites or health, a parent or eligible student cannot personally inspect and review a student’s
education records, the principal may arrange for the parent or eligible student to obtain copies of the
records. When records contain information about students other than a parent’s child or the eligible
student, the parent or eligible student may not inspect and review the records of the other students. If
such records do contain the names
of other students, the principal will seek consultation with the Superintendent and/or the District’s
attorney to determine how best to proceed.

Procedures To Seek To Correction of Education Records.

44



Parents of students or eligible students have a right to seek to change any part of the student’s
records which they believe is inaccurate, misleading or in violation of student rights. To establish an
orderly process to review and correct the education records for a requester, following processes are
established.

1. First-level decision. When a parent or eligible student finds an item in the student’s
education records that he/she believes is inaccurate, misleading or in violation of student
rights, he/she should submit a written request asking the building principal to correct it. If the
records are incorrect because of clear error and it is a simple matter to make the change, the
principal should make the correction. If the records are changed to the parent’s/eligible
student’s satisfaction, both parties shall sign a document/form stating the date the records
were changed and that the parent/eligible student is satisfied with the correction.

If the principal believes that the record should not be changed, he/she shall:
1. Provide the requester a copy of the questioned records at no cost;
2. Ask the parent/eligible student to initiate a written request for the change, which
will be forwarded to the Superintendent;
3. Forward the written request to the Superintendent; and
4. Inform the parents/eligible student that the matter has been forwarded to the
Superintendent for subsequent processing.

2. Second-level decision. If the parent/eligible student wishes to challenge the principal’s
decision to not change the student record, he/she may appeal the matter to the
Superintendent. The parent/eligible student shall submit a written request to the principal
asking that the matter be appealed to the Superintendent. The principal will forward to the
Superintendent the request. The Superintendent shall, within ten business days after receiving
notification of the request:

1. Review the request;
2. Discuss the request with other school officials;
3. Make a decision to comply or decline to comply with the request;
4. Schedule a meeting with the parents/eligible student if the Superintendent believes
such a meeting would be necessary; and
5. Contact the parents/eligible student of his/her decision concern the request for

amendment.

If the Superintendent determines the records should be amended, he/she will make the
change and notify the parents/eligible student in writing that the change has been made. The
letter stating the change has been made will include an invitation for the parent/eligible
student to inspect and review the records to verify that the records have been amended and
the correction is satisfactory. If the records are changed to the parent’s/eligible student’s
satisfaction, both parties shall sign a document/form stating the date the records were
changed and that the parent/eligible student is satisfied with the correction. If the
Superintendent determines the records are will not be amended, he/she will notify the
parents/eligible student in writing of his/her decision. Such letter will also notify the
parents/eligible student of their right to an appeal hearing before the school board.

45



3. Third-level decision. If the parents or eligible student are not satisfied with the
Superintendent’s decision, they may submit a written request for a hearing before the School
Board. The parents/eligible student shall submit the request for a hearing with the
Superintendent within ten (10) business days of the Superintendent’s written decision in
level-two. The Superintendent will inform the school board of the request for a hearing and
will work with the school board to schedule a hearing within 45 days of receipt of the
request. Once the meeting is scheduled, the Superintendent will inform the parents in writing
of the date, time and place of the hearing.

The hearing will be held in non-public session consistent with the provisions of RSA 91-A:3,
unless the parent/eligible student requests that the hearing be held in public session, The
school board will give the parent/eligible student a full and fair opportunity to present
evidence relevant to the issues raised under their request/complaint. Parents/eligible students
may be assisted or represented by one or more individuals of their own choice, including an
attorney.

The school board will issue its final decision in writing within 30 days of the hearing, and
will notify the parents/eligible student thereof via certified mail, return receipt requested. The
school board will base its decision solely on the evidence presented at the hearing. The
school board’s written decision will include a summary of the evidence and the reasons for
its decision.

If the school board determines that the student record should be changed or amended, it will
direct the Superintendent to do so as soon as possible. The Superintendent will then contact
the parents/eligible student for a meeting so they can review and inspect the records to verify
that they have been changed or amended. At this meeting, both parties shall sign a
document/form stating the date the records were changed and that the parent/eligible student
is satisfied with the correction.

The school board’s decision will be final.

Disclosure of Student Records and Student Information.

In addition to directory information, the District may disclose student records and student
information without consent to
the following parties or under the following conditions.

1. School Officials With a Legitimate Educational Interest. Schools with a legitimate
educational interest may access student records. “Legitimate educational interest” refers
to school officials or employees who need to know information in a student’s education
record in order to perform the employee’s employment responsibilities and duties.

2. Other schools into which a student is transferring or enrolling.

3. Officials for audit or evaluation purposes.

46



4. Appropriate parties in connection with financial aid.

5. Organizations conducting certain studies for, or on behalf of the school district. Student
records or student information will only be provided pursuant to this paragraph if the
study is for the purpose of: developing, validating or administering predictive tests;
administering student aid programs; or improving instruction.

6. Accrediting organizations.
7. Judicial orders or lawfully issued subpoenas.

8. Health and safety emergencies.

Maintenance of Student Records and Data.
The principal of each building is responsible for record maintenance, access and destruction of all
student records. All
School district personnel having access to records shall place great emphasis upon the privacy rights
of students and parents.
All entries into student records must be dated and signed by the person accessing such records. The
principal will ensure that all records are maintained in accordance with application retention
schedules as may be established by law.

Disclosures Made From Education Records.
The District will maintain an accurate record of all requests for it to disclose information from, or to
permit access to, a student’s education records and of information it discloses and access it permits,
with some exceptions listed below. This record is kept with, but is not a part of, each student’s
cumulative school records. It is available only to the record custodian, the eligible student and the
parent of the student or to federal, state or local officials for the purpose of auditing or enforcing
federally supported educational programs.

The record includes:
1. The name of the person who or agency which made the request;

2. The interest which the person or agency has in the information;

3. The date on which the person or agency made the request;

4. Whether the request was granted and, if it was, the date access was permitted or the
disclosure was made and

5. In the event of a health and safety emergency, the articulable and significant threat to the
health or safety of a student or other individuals that formed the basis for the disclosure;
and the parties to whom the agency or institution disclosed the information.

The District will maintain this record as long as it maintains the student’s education record. The
records do not include requests for access or information relative to access which has been granted to

47



parent(s) of the student or to an eligible student, requests for access or access granted to officials of
the District who have a legitimate educational interest in the student; requests for, or disclosures of,
information contained in the student’s education records if the request is accompanied by the prior
written consent of a parent(s) or eligible student or if the disclosure is authorized by such prior
consent or for requests for, or disclosures of, directory information designated for that student.

See also JRA-R, EHB

Legal References:
RSA 91-A:5,III, Exemptions, Pupil Records
RSA 189:1-e, Directory Information
20 U.S.C. §1232g, Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act
34 C.F.R. Part 99, Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act Regulations

First Reading: September 14, 2010
Second Reading: October 12, 2010
Final Adoption: October 12, 2010
Reviewed: January 13, 2015, February 17, 2015
Revised: February 17, 2015

48



APPENDIX C

SAFETY AND STUDENT DISCIPLINE

49



JLDBA – BEHAVIOR MANAGEMENT AND INTERVENTION
It is the policy of the Wilton-Lyndeborough Cooperative School Board to promote good behavior
in a safe and orderly environment where all students can be fully engaged in the learning
process. To ensure that our students and staff are protected against disruptive behavior, the board
directs the Superintendent to set forth procedures for behavior management and interventions
that are designed to maintain a positive environment conducive to learning.
Student conduct that disrupts class work, involves disorder, or invades the rights of others will
not be tolerated and may be cause for suspension or other disciplinary action. The administration
of disciplinary action will focus both on consequences and on changing or managing
inappropriate behavior. 
It is important that there be careful evaluation of the individual situation so that the school's
response to the student is appropriate.
 If the student has an Individualized Education Program (IEP), the process will follow federal
and state laws governing special education.
All available resources should be utilized, including preventive and responsive interventions to
support students' needs. These interventions should include psychological, curricular, and
behavioral services, which should take place within classrooms, schools, and alternative settings.
Exclusion from the classroom should be the disciplinary action of last resort.
 The Superintendent will also ensure that classroom behavior management skills are addressed
through professional development, and that there is an adequate system of record keeping
regarding disciplinary infractions and interventions.
The use of corporal punishment is prohibited in Wilton-Lyndeborough Cooperative School
District schools.
 This policy will be reviewed on an ongoing basis in accordance with the Board's policy review
process.

Legal References:
NH Code of Administrative Rules, Section Ed 306.04(a)(16),
Behavior Management and Intervention for Students.

 First Reading: June 2, 2010
Second Reading: July 13, 2010
Final Adoption: August 10, 2010  

JICD – STUDENT CONDUCT, DISCIPLINE AND DUE PROCESS – SAFE SCHOOL
ZONE
Inappropriate student conduct that causes material and substantial disruption to the school
environment, interferes with the rights of others, or presents a threat to the health and safety of
others will not be tolerated. Students are expected to exhibit appropriate classroom behavior that
allows teachers to communicate and educate effectively.

Students will conduct themselves in a manner fitting to their age level and maturity and with
respect and consideration for the rights of others while on school district property or property
within the jurisdiction of the school district; while on school owned and/or operated school or
chartered vehicles; while attending or engaged in school activities; and while away from school

50



grounds if misconduct will directly affect the good order, efficient management and welfare of
the school district. Consequences for the misconduct will be fair and developmentally
appropriate in light of the circumstances.

Students who fail to abide by this policy and the administrative regulations supporting it may be
disciplined for conduct which disrupts or interferes with the education program; conduct which
disrupts the orderly and efficient operation of the school district or school activity; conduct
which disrupts the rights of other students to participate in or obtain their education; conduct that
is violent or destructive; or conduct which interrupts the maintenance of a disciplined
atmosphere. Disciplinary measures include, but are not limited to, removal from the classroom,
detention, suspension, probation, and expulsion.

Suspension means an in-school suspension, an out-of-school suspension, a restriction from
activities or loss of eligibility. An in-school suspension means the student will attend school but
will be temporarily isolated from one or more classes while under supervision. An in-school
suspension will not exceed ten consecutive school days. An out-of-school suspension means the
student is removed from the school environment, which includes school classes and activities. 
An out-of-school suspension will not exceed ten days. A restriction from school activities means
a student will attend school and classes and practice but will not participate in school activities.
Probation means a student is given a conditional suspension of a penalty for a definite period of
time in addition to being reprimanded. The conditional suspension will mean the student must
meet the conditions and terms for the suspension of the penalty. Failure of the student to meet
these conditions and terms will result in immediate reinstatement of the penalty.
Expulsion means an action by the Wilton-Lyndeborough Cooperative School Board to remove a
student from the school environment, which includes, but is not limited to, classes and activities,
for a period of time set by the Board.

Due process in accordance with all applicable laws will be afforded to any student involved in a
proceeding that may result in suspension, exclusion, or expulsion. Students expelled from school
may be reinstated by the Board under the provisions of RSA 193:13. The Superintendent may
modify expulsion requirements as provided in RSA 193:14, IV.
Students receiving special education services will be disciplined in accordance with the student's
IEP and all applicable provisions of the Individual With Disabilities Education Act (IDEA).
At all times, students are required to conduct themselves in accordance with behavioral standards
set forth in Policy JIC and all other applicable Board policies.
Students and parents will be notified annually of this policy.

Legal References:
RSA 193:13, Suspension & Expulsion of Pupils
NH Code of Administrative Rules, Section Ed 306.04(a)(3), Student Discipline
NH Code of Administrative Rules, Section Ed 306.04(f), Student Discipline
NH Code of Administrative Rules, Section Ed 317.04(b), Disciplinary Procedures
See Appendix: JICD-R

First Reading: June 2, 2010
Second Reading: July 13, 2010

51



Final Adoption: August 10, 2010

JICK - PUPIL SAFETY AND VIOLENCE PREVENTION
I. General Statement of Policy
The Wilton-Lyndeborough Cooperative School Board is committed to providing all pupils a safe
school environment in which all members of the school community are treated with respect. This
policy is intended to comply with RSA 193-F:3, which specifically identifies "bullying" as a
form of pupil harassment. Conduct constituting bullying will not be tolerated, and is prohibited
by this policy, in accordance with RSA 193-F:3. 
II. Bullying and Harassment Defined
Bullying is conduct which subjects a pupil to insults, taunts, or challenges, whether verbal or
physical in nature, which are likely to intimidate or provoke a violent or disorderly response
from the student being treated in this manner. The Superintendent may develop administrative
regulations to implement this definition. 
Harassment is defined as verbal or physical conduct that denigrates or shows hostility or aversion
toward an individual on the basis of age, gender, race, creed, color, religion, marital status,
sexual orientation, national or ethnic origin, or disability and that: (1) has the purpose or effect of
creating an intimidating, hostile or offensive academic environment; (2) has the purpose or effect
of interfering with an individual's work or academic performance; or (3) otherwise adversely
affects an individual's work or academic performance. 
III. Reporting Procedures
Any school employee or employee of a company under contract with a school in the District, or
the District itself, who has witnessed or has reliable information that a pupil has been subjected
to bullying or harassment, as defined in II above, shall report such incident to the Principal, or
his/her designee. 
The Principal is initially responsible for receiving oral or written reports of violations of this
policy. The Principal may designate, in writing, an additional person to receive such reports. If
the Principal received the information verbally, he/she shall reduce the report he/she received to
writing within twenty-four hours of receiving the information, and forward it to the
Superintendent. If the Principal received the information in writing, he/she shall forward what
he/she received to the Superintendent within twenty-four hours of receipt. 
The District will make available forms for reporting incidents of bullying and harassment, and
shall encourage the use of these forms. Such forms shall be available in the Principal's office in
each building, and from the Superintendent's office. After receiving any such report, the
Principal shall report the incident to the Superintendent, who shall notify the School Board.
The Principal, or designee, shall by telephone and in writing via first-class mail, report the
incident to the parent or legal guardian of all pupils involved within 48 hours of the occurrence
of such incident. Any such notification under this policy must be consistent with student privacy
rights under the applicable provisions of FERPA. The notice shall advise the individuals
involved of their due process rights including the right to appeal to the State Board of
Education. The Superintendent may, within the 48 hour time period, grant the Principal a waiver
from the notification requirement if the Superintendent deems such waiver to be in the best
interest of the child. Any waiver granted shall be in writing.
IV. Investigation 

52



The Superintendent shall direct an investigation to be made of bullying or harassment reports in
accordance with the procedures specified in Policy JBAA. 

V. Training 
The Superintendent may develop age-appropriate methods of discussing the meaning, substance,
and application of this policy with staff and students in order to minimize the occurrence of
bullying, and for staff to effectively respond to any such incidents.
VI. Notice of Policy 
The Superintendent shall provide written notice of this policy to students, parents, and staff
through appropriate references in the student and employee handbooks, or through other
reasonable means. The Superintendent shall also make all contractors contracting with the
District aware of this policy. 
VII. Discipline
If it is determined, after investigation, that a pupil has engaged in bullying or harassing conduct
prohibited by this policy, that pupil shall be subject to appropriate disciplinary action, which may
include, but not be limited to, suspension and expulsion. Any such disciplinary action shall be
taken in accord with applicable School Board policy and legal requirements. 
VIII. Appeal
Aggrieved parties may appeal disciplinary action to the School Board. The School Board shall
notify all parties involved in writing of its decision. The aggrieved party has the right under RSA
193-F:3 to appeal the decision of the School Board to the State Board of Education, who shall, in
writing, notify all parties involved of its decision.
IX. Capture of Audio Recordings on School Buses 
Pursuant to RSA 570-A:2, notice is hereby given that the Board authorizes audio recordings to
be made in conjunction with video recordings of the interior of school buses while students are
being transported to and from school or school activities. The Superintendent shall ensure that
there is a sign informing the occupants of school buses that such recordings are occurring. 

Legal References:
NH Code of Administrative Rules, Section Ed 306.04(a)(8), Student Harassment
RSA 193-F:3, Pupil Safety and Violence Prevention Act of 2000
RSA 570-A:2, Capture of Audio Recordings on School Buses Allowed

First Reading: June 2, 2010
Second Reading: July 13, 2010
Final Adoption: August 10, 2010

NEPN/NSBA CODE: ACAA-R
STUDENT DISCRIMINATION AND HARASSMENT COMPLAINT PROCEDURE
This procedure has been adopted by the Board in order to provide a method of prompt and
equitable resolution of student complaints of discrimination or discriminatory harassment as
described in policies AC - Nondiscrimination/Equal Opportunity and ACAA - Harassment and
Sexual Harassment of Students. Complaints alleging discrimination or harassment of employees
or other third parties (such as parents, volunteers, vendors, etc.) should be addressed through the

53



Board’s Employee & Third Party Discrimination and Harassment Complaint Procedure (ACAB-
R).
Definitions
For purposes of this procedure:
A. A “Complaint” is defined as an allegation that a student has been discriminated against or
harassed on the basis of sex, sexual orientation, religion, race, color, ancestry, national origin,
age, marital status, familial status, physical or mental disability.
B. “Discrimination or harassment” means discrimination or harassment on the basis of sex,
sexual orientation, religion, race, color, ancestry, national origin, age, marital status, familial
status, or physical or mental disability. “Discrimination” may include treating individuals
differently, or interfering with or preventing them from enjoying the advantages or privileges
afforded to others because of their membership in a protected class. “Harassment” may include
oral, written, graphic, electronic or physical conduct relating to an individual’s actual or
perceived membership in a protected class that is sufficiently severe, pervasive or persistent so as
to interfere with or limit that individual’s ability to participate in the District’s programs or
activities by creating a hostile, intimidating or offensive educational environment.
C. Complaints of bullying and cyberbullying not involving the protected classes described above
may also be pursued under Board Policy JICIB – Bullying and Cyberbullying.
How to Make a Complaint
A. Any individual who believes a student has been discriminated against or harassed should
report his/her concern in writing promptly to the Building Administrator or the
Nondiscrimination Officer/Title IX Coordinator and utilize this complaint procedure.
Individuals who are unsure whether discrimination or harassment has occurred or who need
assistance in preparing a written complaint, are encouraged to discuss the situation with the
Building Administrator or the Nondiscrimination Officer/Title IX Coordinator.
B. School employees are expected to report possible incidents of discrimination or harassment of
students to the Building Administrator or the Nondiscrimination Officer/Title IX Coordinator.
C. Students and others will not be retaliated against for making a Complaint or participating in
an investigation. Retaliation is illegal under state and federal nondiscrimination laws and any
retaliation by students or school staff will result in disciplinary measures, up to and including
expulsion or dismissal.
D. Students are encouraged to utilize this Complaint Procedure. However, students are hereby
notified that they also have the right to report complaints to the New Hampshire Commission for
Human Rights, 2 Chenell Drive, Unit 2, Concord, NH 03301-8501 (telephone: 603-271-2767)
and/or to the federal Office for Civil Rights, Regional Director, U.S. Department of Education, 5
Post Office Square, 8th Floor, Boston, MA 02110-1491 (telephone: 617-289-0111). Complaint
Handling and Investigation
A. The Building Administrator or the Nondiscrimination Officer/Title IX Coordinator shall
promptly inform the Superintendent and the person(s) who is the subject of the Complaint that a
Complaint has been received.
B. The Building Administrator or the Nondiscrimination Officer/Title IX Coordinator may
pursue a prompt and equitable informal resolution of the Complaint with the agreement of the
parties involved. Any party to the Complaint may decide to end an informal resolution process
and pursue the formal process at any point. The informal resolution is subject to the approval of
the Superintendent, who shall consider whether the informal resolution is in the best interest of
the parties in light of the particular circumstances and applicable policies and laws.

54



C. The Complaint will be investigated by the Nondiscrimination Officer/Title IX Coordinator or
by another internal or external investigator designated by the Superintendent. Any Complaint
about an employee who holds a supervisory position shall be investigated by a person who is not
subject to that supervisor’s authority. Any Complaint about the Superintendent should be
submitted to the Chair of the School Board, who should consult with legal counsel concerning
the handling and investigation of the Complaint.
1. The person who is the subject of the Complaint will be provided with an opportunity to be
heard as part of the investigation. The Complainant shall not be required to attend meetings with
the subject of the Complaint, but may choose to do so as part of the resolution process.
2. The Complainant and the subject of the Complaint may suggest witnesses and/or submit
materials they believe are relevant to the Complaint.
3. If the Complaint is against an employee of the District, any applicable individual or collective
bargaining contract provisions shall be followed.
4. Privacy rights of all parties to the Complaint shall be maintained in accordance with applicable
state and federal laws.
5. The Nondiscrimination Officer/Title IX Coordinator shall keep a written record of the
Complaint and investigation.
6. The Nondiscrimination Officer/Title IX Coordinator or the Superintendent may take interim
remedial measures to reduce the risk of further discrimination or harassment while the
investigation is pending. Examples of interim measures include, but are not limited to, ordering
no contact between individuals, changing schedules or classes, etc.
7. The Nondiscrimination Officer/Title IX Coordinator or other designated investigator shall
consult with the Superintendent concerning the investigation, conclusions, and any remedial
and/or disciplinary actions.
8. The investigation shall be completed within 21 business days of receiving the Complaint, if
practicable.
D. If the Nondiscrimination Officer/Title IX Coordinator or other designated investigator
determines that discrimination or harassment occurred, he/she shall, in consultation with the
Superintendent:
1. Determine what remedial action, if any is needed to end the discrimination or harassment,
remedy its effects, and prevent recurrence
2. Determine what disciplinary action should be taken against the person(s) who engaged in
discrimination or harassment, if any; and
3. Inform the complainant and the subject of the Complaint in writing of the results of the
investigation and its resolution (in accordance with applicable state and federal privacy laws and
any applicable collective bargaining agreement provisions).
E. If the complainant is dissatisfied with the resolution, an appeal may be made in writing to the
Superintendent within 14 business days after receiving notice of the resolution. The
Superintendent shall review the investigation report and may conduct further investigation if
deemed appropriate. The Superintendent’s decision shall be provided in writing to the
complainant within 21 business days, if practicable. The Superintendent’s decision shall be final.

Legal Reference:
Americans with Disabilities Act (28 CFR § 35.107), as amended
Section 504 of the Vocational Rehabilitation Act (29 U.S.C. § 794), as amended; 34 CFR
§ 104.7

55



Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972 (20 U.S.C. § 1681 et seq.)
Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (P.L. 88-352) 20 U.S.C. § 1232g; 34 CFR
Part 99
NH Code Admin R. Ed. 303.01(i) and (j)

Cross Reference:
AC - Nondiscrimination/Equal Opportunity
ACAA - Harassment and Sexual Harassment of Students
ACAB/ACAB-R – Harassment and Sexual Harassment of Employees/Employee & Third
Party Discrimination and Harassment Complaint Procedure
JICIB – Bullying and Cyberbullying

First Reading: June 2, 2010
Second Reading: August 10, 2010
Final Adoption: August 10, 2010
Revision: June 25, 2013

NEPN/NSBA Code: ACAA
HARASSMENT AND SEXUAL HARASSMENT OF STUDENTS
Harassment of students because of sex, sexual orientation, religion, race, color, ancestry,
national origin, age, marital status, familial status, physical or mental disability is prohibited.
Such conduct is a violation of Board policy and may constitute illegal discrimination under
state and federal laws.

Harassment includes but is not limited to verbal abuse based on sex, sexual orientation,
religion, race, color, ancestry, national origin, age, marital status, familial status, or physical
or mental disability. Complaints of bullying and cyberbullying not based on the
characteristics described above may also be pursued under Board Policy JICIB – Bullying
and Cyberbullying.

Sexual Harassment
Sexual harassment includes but is not limited to unwelcome sexual advances, requests for
sexual favors or pressure to engage in sexual activity, physical contact of a sexual nature,
gestures, comments, or other physical, written or verbal conduct that is gender-based that
interferes with a student’s education. School employees, fellow students, volunteers and
visitors to the school, and other persons with whom students may interact in order to pursue
school activities are required to refrain from such conduct.

Harassment/sexual harassment of students by school employees is considered grounds for
disciplinary action, up to and including discharge. Harassment/sexual harassment of students
by other students is considered grounds for disciplinary action, up to and including
expulsion. The Superintendent will determine appropriate sanctions for harassment of
students by persons other than school employees and students.

56



The Superintendent or the employee designated as the Nondiscrimination Officer will
investigate complaints of harassment in accordance with the Student Discrimination and
Harassment Complaint Procedure. School employees, students, and parents shall be
informed of this policy/procedure through handbooks and/or other means selected by the
school administration.

Legal Reference:
Americans with Disabilities Act (28 CFR § 35.07), as amended
Section 504 of the Vocational Rehabilitation Act (29 USC § 794), as amended; 34
CFR § 104.7
Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972 (20 USC § 1681 et seq.)
Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (P.L. 88-352) NH Code Admin. R. Ed.
303.01(i) and (j)
NEPN/NSBA Code: ACAA

Cross Reference:

ACAA-R – Student Discrimination and Harassment Complaint Procedure
AC – Nondiscrimination/Equal Opportunity
JICIB – Bullying and Cyberbullying

First Reading: June 2, 2010
Second Reading: August 10, 2010
Final Adoption: August 10, 2010
Revision: June 25, 2013

57



NEPN/NSBA Code: ACAB

HARASSMENT AND SEXUAL HARASSMENT OF SCHOOL EMPLOYEES

Harassment of school employees because of age,sex, race, religion, color, marital status, familial status, physical or
mental disability, national origin, ancestry, sexual orientation or genetic information is prohibited. Such conduct is a
violation of Board policy and may constitute illegal discrimination under state and federal laws.

Harassment
Harassment includes but is not limited to verbal abuse, threats, physical assault and/or battery based on age, sex,
race, religion, color, marital status, familial status, physical or mental disability, national origin, ancestry, sexual
orientation or genetic information.

Sexual Harassment
Unwelcome sexual advances, suggestive or lewd remarks, requests for sexual favors, and other verbal and physical
conduct of a sexual nature constitute sexual harassment when:

A. Submission to such conduct is made either explicitly or implicitly a term or condition of an employee’s work
environment or employee benefits;
B. Submission to or rejection of such conduct by an employee is used as the basis for decisions on employment
benefits; and/or
C. Such conduct has the purpose or effect of substantially interfering with an individual’s work performance or
creating an intimidating, hostile or offensive work environment.

Any employee who engages in harassment or sexual harassment will be subject to disciplinary action, up to and
including discharge. All complaints of harassment will be investigated in accordance with the Employee & Third
Party Discrimination and Harassment Complaint Procedure. Notice and Training Annually, each employee shall
receive a copy of this policy and the Employee & Third Party Discrimination and Harassment Complaint Procedure.
This may be accomplished by including the policy/procedure with employee paychecks or by using other
appropriate means to ensure that each employee receives a copy.

Legal References:
Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972 (20 USC § 1681 et seq.)
Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (42 USC § 2000d)
Americans with Disabilities Act (42 USC § 12101 et seq.)
Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 (29 USC § 794 et seq.); 34 CFR § 104.7
Title VII (42 USC § 2000c-2; 29 CFR § 1604.11)
Age Discrimination in Employment Act (29 USC §623)
Genetic Information Nondiscrimination Act of 2008 (42 U.S.C. § 2000ff et seq.)
NH RSA 354-A:7
NH Code Admin. R.Ed. 303.01(i) and (j)

Cross Reference:
ACAB-R- Employee & Third Party Discrimination and Harassment
Complaint Procedure
AC- Nondiscrimination/Equal Opportunity

First Reading: May 11, 2010
Second Reading: June 2, 2010
Final Adoption: June 2, 2010
Revision: June 25, 2013

58



NEPN/NSBA Code: AC
NONDISCRIMINATION/EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

Discrimination against and harassment of school employees because of age, sex, race, religion, color, marital status,
familial status, physical or mental disability, genetic information, national origin, ancestry or sexual orientation are
prohibited. Discrimination against and harassment of students because of sex, race, religion, color, age, marital
status, familial status, physical or mental disability, national origin, ancestry or sexual orientation are prohibited.

The Board directs the school administration to implement a continuing program designed to prevent discrimination
against all applicants, employees, students and individuals with disabilities having access rights to school premises
and activities. The District will designate a Nondiscrimination Officer/Title IX Coordinator who will be responsible
for ensuring compliance with all federal and state requirements relating to nondiscrimination. The
Nondiscrimination Officer/Title IX Coordinator will be a person with direct access to the Superintendent.

The Board directs the administration to implement internal complaint procedures for resolving complaints of
discrimination under this policy and to provide adequate notice of the availability of such complaint procedures.

The Board directs the administration to provide notice of compliance with federal and state civil rights laws to all
applicants for employment, employees, students, parents, and other interested persons, as appropriate.

The District will require all persons, agencies, vendors, contractors, and other persons and organizations doing
business with or performing services for the District to subscribe to all applicable federal and state laws pertaining to
contract compliance.

Legal References:

Equal Employment Opportunities Act of 1972 (P.L. 92-261) amending
Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (42 U.S.C. § 2000(e) et seq.)
Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972 (20 U.S.C. § 1681 et seq.)
Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (P.L. 88-352)
Age Discrimination in Employment Act of 1967 (29 U.S.C. § 621 et seq.)
Equal Pay Act of 1963 (29 U.S.C. § 206)
Rehabilitation Act of 1973 (Section 504) (29 U.S.C. § 794 et seq.); 34
CFR § 104.7, as amended
Americans with Disabilities Act (42 U.S.C. § 12101 et seq.), as amended
Genetic Information Nondiscrimination Act of 2008 (42 U.S.C. § 2000ff et seq.)
NH RSA 186:11; 354-A:7
NH Code Admin. R. Ed. 303.01(i) NEPN/NSBA Code: AC 2
Cross Reference: ACAA - Harassment and Sexual Harassment of Students
ACAA-R – Student Discrimination and Harassment Complaint Procedure
ACAB - Harassment and Sexual Harassment of School Employees
ACAB-R – Employee & Third Party Discrimination and Harassment Complaint Procedure

First Reading: May 11, 2010
Second Reading: June 2, 2010
Final Adoption: June 2, 2010
Revision: June 25, 2013
CONTACT

59

http://www.sau63.org/sau/index.php?option=com_content&view=category&layout=blog&id=89&Itemid=89


DR
AF
T

WILTON-LYNDEBOROUGH COOPERATIVE
MIDDLE SCHOOL/HIGH SCHOOL

Parent/Student Handbook 2023-2024
Highlighted Blue is new information

57 School Road Wilton, New Hampshire 03086
(603)732-9230

FAX (603) 654-2104

School Hours: 7:35 AM -2:35 PM

Tom Ronning, Principal
www.sau63.org

The WLC Student Handbook is accessible on the school website, www.sau63.org
0

http://www.sau63.org/
http://www.sau63.org/


DR
AF
T

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Welcome: 4

Vision, Mission, Learning Habits
● Mission Statement, Vision of a Graduate and Core Values 5
● Non Discrimination Statement 5
● Learning Expectations 6-9
● District Staff Directory 10
● WLC Staff Directory 11
● Bell Schedules 12-14
● Unified Arts - Middle School 14
● Entering and Leaving the Building 14
● Bicycle and Skateboards 15
● Who Reports to Whom 15
● Flow Charts 16
● Who to Call 16
● Contact Flow Chart 17

Other School Services
● Counseling Department 18
● Progress/Report Card Dates 19
● Student Support Team (SST)/Multi-tiered System of Supports (MTSS)
● Title 1 Program 20
● Special Education 20
● Rights of all Handicapped Children 20
● School Nurse 21

Nurse/Health Office Policies
● Accident Insurance for Students 21
● Asbestos Abatement Statement 21
● Food Allergies 21
● Head Lice (Pediculosis) 21
● Illness at School 22
● Immunizations for School Entrance 22
● Medication Policy 22
● Physical Examinations 23
● Screenings: Hearing and Vision 23

School Registration
● Transferring into Wilton/Lyndeborough Co-op School District 24
● Transferring out of Wilton/Lyndeborough Co-op School District 24

Daily Attendance
● Absence Categories 24
● Attendance at School 25
● Attendance Failures 25

1



DR
AF
T

● Delayed Opening 26
● Dismissal from School 26
● Excused Absences 26
● School Cancellations 27
● Tardy to School 27
● Vacations 27
● Who Does What in the Attendance Procedures 28

WLC Procedures and Regulations
● Administrator’s Discretion 28
● Academic Honors 28
● Academic Integrity 28
● Accidents 29
● Activities/Clubs/Sports 29
● After School Supervision 30
● Areas Off Limits to Students 30
● Assessments - Exams, Midterms, Finals 31
● Books--Lost, Damaged, Forgotten 31
● Buses 31
● Computer Misuse 32
● Dances/Guests at School Functions 32
● Deliveries 32
● Eighteen Year Old Students 32
● Electronic Devices 33
● Eligibility 34
● Field Trips 35
● Grades 35
● Graduation Participation 35
● Homework 35
● Legal Guardianship/Child Custody/Restraining Orders 36
● Library / Media Center 36
● Lockers 36
● Lost and Found 36
● Lunch / Food Service 36
● Motor Vehicles 40
● Parent-Teacher Conferences 41
● Parent Teacher Organization 41
● Photographs/Recording of Audio/Video 41
● Restitution/Property Damage 41
● Safety Drills 40
● School Attire / Dress Code 42
● Student of the Month 42
● Students in Good Standing 42
● Video and Audio Surveillance on School Property 43
● Visitors 43
● Volunteers 43
● Warrior Watch 43

2



DR
AF
T

● WIN Time 43

Code Of Conduct
● Common Expectations 44
● Behavior Infractions 46
● Smoking/Tobacco 46
● Drugs/Alcohol 48
● Possession 48
● Selling/Distributing 48
● Bullying/Cyberbullying 48
● Fighting 49
● Weapons 49
● Progressive Discipline 50
● Suspensions 51

Important School Board Policies
● JICL-School District Internet Access for Students Linked Here
● JRA-Access to Student Records - FERPA Linked Here

Important School Board Policies: Safety and Student Discipline
● NEPN/NSBA Code: AC-Non Discrimination/Equal Opportunity Linked Here
● JLDBA-Behavior Management and Intervention Linked Here
● JICD-Student Conduct, Discipline and Due Process-Safe School Zone Linked Here
● JICK-Pupil Safety and Violence Prevention Linked Here
● ACAA-R-Student Discrimination and Harassment Complaint Procedure Linked Here
● ACAA-Harassment and Sexual Harassment of Students Linked Here
● ACAB-Harassment and Sexual Harassment of School Employees Linked Here
●

Important School Board Policies: Bus Transportation Regulations
● JICC-Student Conduct on Buses Linked Here
● JICC-R-Student Rules and Conduct on the Bus Linked Here
●

Appendix
Club Definitions

Student Handbook Acknowledgement Form

3

https://www.sau63.org/cms/lib/NH01912507/Centricity/domain/80/j%20policies/JICL%20-%20School%20District%20Internet%20Access%20for%20Students.pdf
https://www.sau63.org/cms/lib/NH01912507/Centricity/domain/80/j%20policies/JRA-Student%20Records%20and%20Access%20FERPA-Final%20Revised%20Adoption%20Feb%202015.pdf
https://www.sau63.org/cms/lib/NH01912507/Centricity/domain/80/a%20policies/AC-Nondiscrimination-Equal%20Opportunity%20Final%20adopted%20current%208.24.21.pdf
https://www.sau63.org/cms/lib/NH01912507/Centricity/domain/80/j%20policies/JLDBA%20-%20Behavior%20Management%20and%20Intervention.pdf
https://www.sau63.org/cms/lib/NH01912507/Centricity/domain/80/j%20policies/JICD%20Revised%20Final%201.18.22.pdf
https://www.sau63.org/cms/lib/NH01912507/Centricity/domain/80/j%20policies/JICK%20-%20Pupil%20Safety%20and%20Violence%20Prevention.pdf
https://www.sau63.org/cms/lib/NH01912507/Centricity/domain/80/a%20policies/ACAA-R.pdf
https://www.sau63.org/cms/lib/NH01912507/Centricity/domain/80/a%20policies/ACAA%20Harassment%20and%20Sexual%20Harassment%20of%20Students-adopted%208.24.21.pdf
https://www.sau63.org/cms/lib/NH01912507/Centricity/domain/80/a%20policies/ACAB%20Harassment%20and%20Sexual%20Harassment%20of%20School%20Employees%20Adopted%20final%20current%208.24.pdf
https://www.sau63.org/cms/lib/NH01912507/Centricity/domain/80/j%20policies/JICC%20-%20Student%20Conduct%20on%20School%20Buses.pdf
https://www.sau63.org/cms/lib/NH01912507/Centricity/domain/80/j%20policies/JICC-R%20-%20Student%20Rules%20and%20Conduct%20on%20the%20School%20Bus.pdf


DR
AF
T

Welcome to Wilton-Lyndeborough Cooperative
Middle/High School

It is our pleasure to welcome all students, parents, and guardians to WLC. The faculty, staff, and
administrators are dedicated to the mission of WLC.

Our Mission: WLC strives to be a positive learning community that ensures each
student has the opportunity to develop to their potential. WLC believes all

children learn at different individual rates and times and under different teaching
and learning situations. We bring the family, school and community together to be
accountable for the cognitive, affective, and physical growth of our students. We
work together to help them become creative, future- oriented problem solvers who
will take responsibility for their education, live and learn in harmony, and be

involved in their school and their community.

This mission statement is our purpose. We have all come together—students, faculty, staff,
administrators, and coaches to learn. Providing a learning environment that increases student
achievement and develops confident learners can only be achieved by working together. We must
utilize all tools available to reach our goals. Developing a strong partnership between parents,
students, faculty, administrators, and the community is critical. When we make decisions about
what classes to offer and what rules to create and enforce, we do it with this goal in mind. When
you think about your role in our school community, you should think about what you can do to
make this mission possible for all of us.

This handbook is a comprehensive guide for students and parents/guardians at WLC, and most
answers to questions pertaining to our school can be found in this document. Please take the
time to review the valuable and important information within the handbook.

Wilton-Lyndeborough Cooperative Middle School/High School is a member of the Wilton-
Lyndeborough School District with Florence Rideout Elementary School and Lyndeborough
Central Elementary School. This handbook is exclusively for the Middle and High School,
references to WLC are for the school only. School District references will be so designated. The
WLC School Board represents all three schools and policies set by the WLC School Board are
WLC School District Policies encompassing all three schools within the district.

WLC is committed to the highest standards of academics and integrity, acknowledging that
respect for self and others is the foundation of educational excellence. As such, we will cultivate
an environment of mutual respect and responsibility. Whether we are students, parents, faculty,
staff, or community members, we have a right to be in a safe environment, free of disturbance

4



DR
AF
T

and civil in all aspects of human relations.

WLC strives to be a positive learning community that ensures each student has the opportunity to
develop to their potential. WLC believes all children learn at different individual rates and times
and under different teaching and learning situations. We bring the family, school and community
together to be accountable for the cognitive, affective, and physical growth of our students. We
work together to help them become creative, future- oriented problem solvers who will take
responsibility for their education, live and learn in harmony, and be involved in their school and
their community.

The WLC Graduate will be an effective communicator, a strong collaborator, a creative problem
solver, a self-directed learner, and a responsible citizen.

Achievement Collaboration Responsibility

Diversity Integrity

Non-Discrimination Statement:
WLC will not discriminate on the basis of race, sex, age, religion, sexual orientation, national
origin, and/or handicaps. Any person who feels their rights or those of their minor child has been
violated may request from the school administration a copy of the procedure to follow and
resolve the complaint. The WLCSD has policies that outline an individual's

5



DR
AF
T

WLC Student Learning Expectations
A WLC Student is academically knowledgeable and demonstrates the following:

4- Distinguished 3- Proficient 2- Progressing 1- Emerging

Student... Student...

An Effective
Communicator

Express opinions, ideas
and facts in an outstandin
manner in all formats

Present developed and
clear ideas using evidenc
and/or details

Interpret information wit
unique insights based up
sufficient evidence

Deliver high quality
information based upon
wide range of reliable
sources

Cite/ credit all sources
accurately

Express opinions, idea
and facts clearly and
effectively through a
variety of formats (ora
written, visual, digital
considering the
audience

Present developed and
clear ideas using
evidence and/or detail

Interpret information
logically, based upon
sufficient evidence

Obtain and deliver
information based upo
a variety of resources

Cite/credit sources of
information accurately

Sometimes lacks
clarity when
expressing opinions
ideas, and facts.

Communicates
effectively in some
formats

Presents somewhat
developed and clear
ideas using a limited
amount of evidence
and/or detail

Information may be
interpreted with
limited detail

Obtain and deliver
information based
upon limited resourc

Cites/credit few
sources of informati

Expresses opinions,
ideas, and fact with
limited clarity

Has difficulty
communicating in mos
formats

Rarely presents
developed and clear
ideas using evidence
and/or detail

Information may be
interpreted with little o
no evidence

Obtain information
based upon little or no
supporting evidence

Rarely cites sources

A Strong
Collaborator

Highly cooperative with
high level of respect,
considering the
perspectives of others

Listen attentively; share
resources freely and idea
respectfully

Cooperate with peers
and adults respectfully

Listen attentively; sha
ideas and resources
respectfully

Accept and fulfill role

Cooperation with
peers and adults vari

Sometimes listens an
shares ideas and
resources

Is somewhat relucta
to participate and

Has difficulty
cooperating with peers
and/or adults

Appears to rarely listen
to others;rarely shares
ideas and resources

Rarely participates or

6



DR
AF
T

Fulfill roles in a high
quality manner

Incorporate different
points of view to achieve
common goal

Demonstrate great
flexibility and willingnes
to compromise with a
strong focus on the
common goal

Respect and consider
different/multiple poin
of view, diverse
cultures, and global
issues

Exercise flexibility an
willingness to
compromise in order t
achieve a common go

fulfill roles

Sometimes
contributes in a less
than respectful
manner or not
considering the idea
or feelings of others

Is somewhat flexible
and willing to
compromise in orde
to achieve a commo
goal

performs assigned role

Frequently contributes
less than a respectful
manner or not
considering the ideas
and feelings of others

Is rarely flexible and
willing to compromise
order to achieve a
common goal

A Creative
Problem Solver

4- Distinguished 3- Proficient 2- Progressing 1- Emerging

Student... Student...

Think, create, and solve
problems in highly
innovative ways

Recognize social and
cultural differences to
create new ideas and
increase both innovation
and quality of work

Consider a wide variety
ideas, strategies, and
solutions

Incorporate a wide range
of high quality sources

Apply highly effective
and/or cutting edge
technology

Apply inferences and da
interpretations to solutio

Solve problems,
sometimes in
innovative ways

Demonstrates
creativity/unique
approaches

Frequently considers
variety of ideas,
strategies, solutions,
and contexts (subject
areas or environment)

Incorporate many
different resources

Apply appropriate
technology

Make inferences and
interpret data

Uses more typical
ways of thinking,
creating, and solving
problems

Considers a narrow
range of ideas,
strategies, and
solutions

Incorporates limited
resources

Attempts to apply
appropriate
technology

Inferencing and data
interpretation are
limited

Thoughts and solutions
are basic recall of
previous learning

Considers few, if any,
ideas, strategies, or
solutions

Incorporates few, if any
resources

Applies little technolog

Struggles with making
inferences and
interpreting data

7



DR
AF
T

A Self-Directed
Learner

Persevere to completion
of complex, challenging
tasks

Demonstrate a highly
positive attitude

Take a high level of
responsibility and
self-motivation for own
learning, self-assessmen
and personal developme

Engage mentors and
stakeholders to gain
support for ideas or
projects

Demonstrate a high leve
of curiosity and
self-inquiry, sometimes
outside a prescribed
learning context

Model personal
accountability and high
quality work habits

Persevere with
complex, challenging
tasks

Demonstrate a “can d
attitude

Take an active
role/initiative in
learning and personal
development, includin
goal setting and
self-assessment

Work independently

Seek out other,
including stakeholder
to learn from or gain
support

Initiate inquiry often

Take personal
accountability and
demonstrate effective
work habits
(punctuality, managin
time, including
deadlines and work
load)

Shows limited
perseverance in
completing complex
challenging tasks

Sometimes has a
positive attitude

May rely on others f
initiating learning an
development

Works independentl
some of the time

Occasionally engage
others in own learnin
or projects

Relies on others to
initiate and prescribe
inquiry opportunitie

Gives up easily when
facing complex and/or
challenging tasks

Infrequently
demonstrates a positive
attitude

Takes a limited role in
own learning and
personal development;
needs external
motivation

Resists or struggles wi
independent work

Ideas or projects are
pursued with little or n
input from others

resists efforts by others
to prescribe inquiry
opportunities

4- Distinguished 3- Proficient 2- Progressing 1- Emerging

Student... Student...

Act in a highly responsib
manner with respect for
others

Accept responsibility
and understand the
impact of personal

Exhibits limited
responsibility for the
impact personal

Infrequently accepts
responsibility for
personal actions

8



DR
AF
T

A Responsible
Citizen

Demonstrate leadership
a contributing member o
the larger community

Initiate school activities
that demonstrate school
and community pride

Recognize ethical
behavior in others while
demonstrating integrity i
their influence

Make decisions with the
best interest of others in
mind

Respect cultural differen
and work effectively wit
people from a range of
social and cultural
backgrounds

Initiates, maintains, and
encourages activities tha
service the community

Convey a greater
appreciation of the arts

actions

Demonstrate an
awareness of individu
rights and
responsibilities as
contributing members
of the larger commun

Exhibit school pride
through support of
school activities and
involvement in
community life

Model ethical and
lawful behavior as
responsible and
accountable citizens;
what’s “right”

Make decisions
considering how other
think and feel

Demonstrate empathy
toward others

Demonstrate social
awareness and
interpersonal skills to
establish and maintain
positive relationships

Participate in service
the community

Value the arts
(performing and visua
as forms of human
expression

actions have on the
community

Needs reminders
about the rights of
others

Participates in limite
school activities

Acts in an appropria
manner most of the
time to do what is
right

Needs reminders to
consider how others
think and feel

Social awareness an
interpersonal skills
need development

Limited participation
in school and
community service

Is beginning to
understand that peop
express themselves
through the arts

Frequently trespasses o
the rights of others

Little to no participatio
in the school communi

Frequently speaks
negatively about our
school

Disrespectful of schoo
property

Lacks consideration fo
others

Lacks awareness of the
impact on others

Is not
community-minded

Limited interest in the
arts

9



DR
AF
T

School Administrative Unit 63
District Staff Directory

192 Forest Road
Lyndeborough, NH 03086

Phone: (603) 732-9170 Fax: 603-654-6691

Superintendent …………………………………………….…………Peter Weaver
Executive Assistant………………………………….…………….…Kristina Fowler
District Curriculum Coordinator……………………………………. Samantha Dignan
Business Administrator………………………………………………Kristie LaPlante
Human Resources and Payroll Specialist…………………………… Lori Spurrell
Facilities Manager…………………………………………………….Robert “Buddy” Erb

Special Education Office
Phone: (603) 732-9175

Director of Student Support Services……………….……………….. Ned Pratt
Student Support Services Administrative Assistant…………………. Mary Jane Ryan

Food Service
Director of Food Services……………………………………………. Megan Nantel

email: m.nantel@sau63.org

School Bus Transportation

Butler’s Bus Service…………………………………………………Phone: 603-715-2415

Wilton-Lyndeborough School Board Members

Dennis Golding Jonathan Lavoie Geoffry Allen
School Board Chairman Member Member
Wilton Lyndeborough Lyndeborough

Cynthia Diane Foss Alex LoVerme Darlene Anzalone
Member Member At-Large Lyndeborough
Wilton Wilton

Matt Mannarino Brianne LaVallee Tiffany Cloutier-Cabral
Member Vice Chair, At-Large Member Member
Wilton Lyndeborough Wilton

10



DR
AF
T

WLC Staff Directory
Department Name E-mail

Principal Ronning, Thomas t.ronning@sau63.org
Assistant Principal Gosselin, Kathryn k.gosselin@sau63.org

Art Hall, Emily e.hall@sau63.org
Computer Science TBD TBD
Cafeteria/Kitchen Nantel, Megan m.nantel@sau63.org

Custodian Bird, Ann a.bird@sau63.org
Family & Consumer Science Clark, Olympia o.clark@sau63.org

School Counseling Office Kovaliv, Amanda a.kovaliv@sau63.org
Bartoldus, Alice a.bartoldus@sau63.org
Coffey, Sharon s.coffey@sau63.org

Tech Ed Manning, Danyele d.manning@sau63.org
Math Kiluilis, Tyler t.kiluilis@sau63.org

Sullivan, Joseph j.sullivan@sau63.org
Comerford, Bill b.comerford@sau63.org

TBD TBD
TBD TBD

Media Center Wiley, Mary Beth m.wiley@sau63.org
Music Anderson, Taryn t.anderson@sau63.org
Nurse Bertoncini, Cathleen c.bertoncini@sau63.org
Office Draper, Linda l.draper@sau63.org

Carter, Cheryl c.carter@sau63.org
Physical Education/ Health Flannagan, Paul p.flanagan@sau63.org

Taber, Cameron c.taber@sau63.org
Science Blais, Catherine c.blais@sau63.org

Erickson, Stephanie s.erickson@sau63.org
Thyng, Ben b.thyng@sau63.org

TBD m.nasso@sau63.org
Social Studies Rosana, Erin e.rosana@sau63.org

Norton, Melissa m.norton@sau63.org
Provost, Zachary z.provost@sau63.org

Wiley, Ben b.wiley@sau63.org
Special Education Finigan, Amanda a.finigan@sau63.org

Morrow, Katie k.morrow@sau63.org
Brewster, Kira k.brewster@sau63.org

Athletic Director Taber, Cameron c.taber@sau63.org
Technology Director Buroker, Nick n.buroker@sau63.org

English/
World Languages

Bujak, Laura l.bujak@sau63.org
Rudd, Hannah h.rudd@sau63.org
Smith, Taylor t.smith@sau63.org

Morshed, Katy k.morshed@sau63.org
TBD TBD

11

mailto:edmunds@sau63.org
mailto:a.bird@sau63.org
mailto:clark@sau63.org
mailto:a.kovaliv@sau63.org
mailto:s.coffey@sau63.org
mailto:draper@sau63.org
mailto:s.erickson@sau63.org
mailto:e.lhotsky@sau63.org
mailto:z.provost@sau63.org
mailto:k.morrow@sau63.org
mailto:l.bujak@sau63.org
mailto:morshed@sau63.org


DR
AF
T

Hall, Dawn d.hall@sau63.org

Bell Schedules
High School Schedule Mondays, Tuesdays, Fridays

Period Times Duration

1 7:55-8:40 45 minutes

2 8:42-9:27 45 minutes

3 9:29-10:14 45 minutes (math)

adv 10:16-10:41 25 minutes

4 10:44-11:30 45 minutes

5 11:32-12:23 51 minutes

HS Lunch 12:25-12:50 25 minutes

6 12:53-1:38 45 minutes

7 1:40-2:25 45 minutes

Middle School Schedule Mondays, Tuesdays, Fridays

Period Times Duration

1 7:55-8:40 45 minutes

2 8:42-9:27 45 minutes

3 9:29-10:14 45 minutes (math)

adv 10:16-10:41 25 minutes

4 10:44-11:30 45 minutes

MS Lunch 11:32-11:57 25 minutes

5 12:00-12:50 50 minutes

6 12:53-1:38 45 minutes

7 1:40-2:25 45 minutes

12



DR
AF
T

High School Schedule Wednesdays and Thursdays

Period Times Duration

1 7:55-8:40 45 minutes

2/3 8:42-10:14 90 minutes

adv 10:16-10:54 38 minutes

4/ 5 10:56-12:27 91 minutes

HS Lunch 12:27-12:52 25 minutes

6/7 12:55-2:25 90 minutes

Middle School Schedule Wednesdays and Thursdays

Period Times Duration

1 7:55-8:40 45 minutes

2/3 8:42-10:14 90 minutes

adv 10:16-10:54 38 minutes

MS Lunch 10:58-11:23 25 minutes

4/5 11:26-12:52 92 minutes

6/7 12:55-2:25 90 minutes

High School Early Release Schedule

Period Times Duration

1 7:55-8:20 25

2/ 3 (math) 8:22-9:07 45

Advisory 9:10-9:30 20

4/5 9:32-10:17 45

HS Lunch 10:20- 10:45 25

6/7 10:45-11:30 45

13



DR
AF
T

Middle School Early Release Schedule

Period Times Duration

1 7:55-8:20 25

2/ 3(math) 8:22-9:07 45

Advisory 9:10-9:30 20

MS Lunch 9:32-9:57 25

4/5 10:00-10:43 43

6/7 10:45-11:30 45

Unified Arts Schedules for Middle School

6th Grade 7th Grade 8th Grade

Computers
Physical Education
Music
Art

Health
Library Skills
Spanish
Family & Consumer Science

Tech Ed
Art
E-Portfolio
Music

Entering or Leaving the Building
● To ensure the safety of our students, all students except those arriving by bus will enter

the school through the Main Lobby entrance.
● The school is open each day at 7:30 AM.
● High School students arriving prior to 7:45 7:50 must remain in the gym or classroom(s).

Only those high school students who buy breakfast may be in the cafeteria.
● All students who enter the school after 7:55 AM will enter through the main lobby of the

building. All other doors will be locked from the outside at 7:55 AM.
● Once a student has arrived on school grounds, he/she is not to leave school grounds

without administrative approval.
● Students who need to be dismissed must present a note from their parent/guardian to the

school secretary before 7:55 AM on the day of dismissal. There will be no student
dismissals by telephone unless it is approved by the principal or assistant principal.

● Students being dismissed must sign out in the office and leave by the main lobby.
● Students dismissed during the day and then returning to school must provide

documentation / note upon their return stop in the office to provide a note or
documentation upon return for excusal.

14



DR
AF
T

Bicycles/Skateboards
We support individual wellness such as students riding bikes and walking to school. When students arrive
at school with a bike or skateboard, it must be secured on bike racks; the school does not take
responsibility for the security of bicycles. Skateboards must be placed in lockers at all times
during the school day, any skateboard will be confiscated and placed in the assistant principal’s
office and returned at the end of the day. On the second offense it will be confiscated, placed in
the assistant principal’s office and returned only to a parent/guardian. Failure to turn over any
item when requested will be considered insubordination and result in further disciplinary
consequences. Bicycles and skateboards riding are prohibited on school property.

15



DR
AF
T

Who to Call
Listed below are your “first point of contact” names for common issues and topics. If you need to take
the matter further, check the flow chart.

If you have questions about … Contact:
Classroom activities
Classroom behavior
Classroom standards & expectation
Curriculum
Homework Assignments
Student’s academic performance

Main Office who will direct you call (603)
732-9320

Administrative decisions
Attendance Policy
Building Usage
Bus Conduct
Harassment or student conflicts
Implementation of school policies
Potentially illegal or dangerous
activities

Building Administrator (603) 732-9320

Busing (schedule routes)
School Board agenda/minutes
School Board meeting times

Superintendent’s Office (603) 732-9227

Budget issues
School policies

WLC School Board

Assessment test results Curriculum Coordinator (603) 732-9320

Assessment test results
Class scheduling/graduation
requirements College admission
requirements/tests
Special education testing/eligibility
Student enrollment/withdrawal
Vocational and trade schools
Counseling services
Academic 504
ELO/Internship
School to Career
Online/ College courses

School Counseling Dept. (603)732-9230 x
2120

Athletic policies
Game schedules/locations

Athletic Director (AD) (603)732-9230 x
2157

Health screening (eye, ear, scoliosis
Medical policies
Sports physicals
Use of medications in school
vaccination requirements

Nurse’s Office (603)732-9230 x 2126

Reduced/free lunch eligibility Food Service Director (603)732-9230 x21

16



DR
AF
T

CONTACT FLOW CHART
Who to contact for assistance with a specific issue

Suggestions for Successful Meetings:

1. Bring any available documentation
2. Bring written notes of prior meetings
3. Prepare specific questions
4. Identify goal: What is the desired outcome?

17



DR
AF
T

Other School Services
COUNSELING
Office (Extension 2120)
Counseling Office (603) 732-9320 x 2120
Hours: 7:40 to 3:00pm
Hours: 7:35 AM to 3:00 PM

The role of the school counselor is to provide professional support to children, parents, and
teachers in assessing learning and behavior problems as well as developing strategies to promote
the social and emotional well-being of our students. Counselors work closely with students, as
well as parents and staff. Utilizing leadership, advocacy, and collaboration, school counselors
promote student success, provide preventive services, and respond to identified student needs by
implementing a comprehensive school counseling program that addresses academic, career, and
personal/social development for all students. The guidance counselor leads the Student Support
Team (SST/MTSS) meetings and serves as the 504 coordinators.

Appointments can be made to see the counselor at pre-arranged times. In an emergency, no
appointment is necessary.

High School - Program of Studies

18

https://www.sau63.org/domain/453


DR
AF
T

Progress / Report Card Dates

Date What is being captured?

Sept 29, 2023 Middle School Snapshot
High School Snapshot

November 8, 2023 Middle School Progress Report
High School Progress Report

December 15, 2023 Middle School Snapshot
High School Snapshot

January 19, 2024 Semester 1 Ends

January 22, 2024 Semester 2 Begins

January 24, 2024 Middle School Semester 1 Report Card
High School Semester 1 Report Card

March 8, 2024 Middle School Snapshot
High School Snapshot

April 12, 2024 Middle School Snapshot Progress Report
High School Snapshot Progress Report

May 17, 2024 Middle School Snapshot
High School Snapshot

June 10, 2024* Middle School Semester 2 Report Card
High School Semester 2 Report Card

Student Support Team (SST)/Multi-Tiered System of Support (MTSS)
SST/MTSS is a multistep process that our school utilizes to provide services and interventions to
help all students, including students who struggle with learning. An integral part of the
SST/MTSS model is progress monitoring and data collection which are the foundation of making
informed instructional decisions for students. This process improves the early identification and
support of students with learning and behavior needs and provides our teachers with vital
information so that they can deliver instruction and interventions which are matched to
individual student’s needs.

If your child requires intervention through the SST/MTSS model, you will be contacted by our
SST/MTSS coordinator to discuss our plan for your child's supplemental support and growth.
Our shared goal is for all students to reach their full potential.

19



DR
AF
T

Title One
Title I provides federal funding to local school districts for tutorial programs that offer children
extra assistance in the basic skill areas. Funding eligibility for individual schools is based upon
the level of enrollment in the free and reduced lunch program. Eligibility is determined on an
annual basis by the Department of Health and Human Services.

In SAU #63, the program is primarily designed to provide supplementary help to eligible
students who are having difficulty in Language Arts and/or Math. Difficulties may include:
reading comprehension, written mechanics, grammar, vocabulary, spelling, phonics, math
problem solving, and math computation.

Title I is a supplementary program. Students receive regular classroom instruction with their
classroom teacher(s); they receive support and reinforcement in specific skills from the Title I
tutor. Students may participate in Title I approximately two to five times per week. Schedules are
arranged with classroom teachers so students miss as little as possible of classroom instruction.

Students are usually referred to Title I by teachers, parents, or school counselors. Eligibility is
primarily based on individualized academic testing coupled with classroom performance and
teacher/parent observations.

If your child has received Title I in the past, either here or in another location, it does not
automatically make him/her eligible for Title I services this school year. Please check with your
child’s school if you wish new eligibility to be considered.

If you have any questions regarding the Title I Program, or wish to make a referral, please do not
hesitate to contact your child’s school counselor.

Special Education
Once a child has been found eligible for Special Education Services, a team consisting of the
child’s parents, teachers, district evaluator(s), special education coordinator, and the Local
Education Administrator together develop an Individualized Educational Plan, or IEP.

Students work with a special education teacher in small groups or on an individual basis. They
may receive direct instruction from the special education teacher or paraprofessional may
support the student in the regular classroom, following the inclusionary model. Special
education teachers supervise the work of the special education paraprofessionals.

Rights of All Handicapped Persons
“No qualified handicapped person shall, on the basis of handicap, be excluded from participation
in, be denied the benefits of, or otherwise be subjected to discrimination under any program or
activity which is offered to non-handicapped persons...” (Section 504, Support A, 104.4(a).)

20



DR
AF
T

School Nurse
The school nurse carries out a wide variety of activities not only in nursing, but also in
professional relationships with teachers and administrators in the educational field. The nurse
contributes directly to the public understanding of educational as well as health needs. The nurse
works closely with medical professionals, and has a duty to cooperate with the programs of local,
state, and federal agencies in the fields of health, education, and welfare.

The school nurse shall act as a specialist in all matters pertaining to the physical health of the
students and school staff of the buildings to which she/he has been assigned. Responsibilities
shall be advisory rather than diagnostic. All treatment given by the nurse shall be in the form of
first aid or temporary relief. The responsibility for further treatment will rest with the child’s
parent/guardian or with the individual staff member requiring attention.

Nurse/Health Office Policies
(Extension 2126)
Hours: 7:40 AM to 3:00 PM 7:10 to 2:30 Daily
School Nurse Motto: Keeping students Healthy, Safe and Ready to Learn.

The nurse’s office is adjacent to the front office. Students who are ill or injured will report to
the nurse or the school secretary if the nurse is not available. This is also the place to come
for health information, area clinics, immunization requirements etc.

Accident Insurance for Students
Insurance is available at minimal cost and all parents are encouraged to take advantage of this
offer. Notices will be sent home regarding price and procedure for obtaining coverage.

Asbestos Notification
A report is available in the school’s front office. FRES and LCS continue to have asbestos
management plans that are available for review in both buildings.

Food Allergies
Wilton Lyndeborough Middle / High School is a food allergy aware school. (see School Board
Policy JAA).

Head Lice (Pediculosis)
The School nurse will notify the parent/guardian by telephone or other available means if their
child is found to have head lice. Verbal and written instructions for treatment will be given to the
family of each identified student. Instructions will include recommendations for treatment that
are consistent with NH Department of Health and Human Services recommendations. The
affected student will be sent home at the conclusion of the school day, based upon the school
nurse’s recommendation.

Criteria for return to school: Students will be allowed to return to school after proper treatment as
recommended by the school nurse / physician. The Board recognizes that the American
Academy of Pediatrics and the National Association of School Nurses discourage “no nit”

21

https://www.sau63.org/cms/lib/NH01912507/Centricity/domain/80/j%20policies/JAA-Allergy%20policy%20and%20guidelines-%203rd%20Read%20Final%20with%20daily%20sub%20form.pdf


DR
AF
T

policies. In alignment with these recommendations, no student will be excluded from attendance
solely based on grounds that nits may be present. The school nurse may recheck a child’s head.
In addition, the school nurse may offer extra help or information to families of children who are
repeatedly or chronically infested.

Illness at School
In case your child becomes ill at school, we will make every effort to contact you. You will be
receiving an “Emergency Information/Health” form JLCE-R at the beginning of the school
year. We ask for your cooperation in furnishing a name and telephone number to call in case you
are not home. It is important to inform us of any changes in order to provide us with the most
current contact information during the school year. A child sent home with a fever of 100 degrees
or higher, or vomiting should be kept at home for at least 24 hours after his/her temperature is
normal or vomiting has stopped without the use of fever reducing medications.

Immunizations for School Entrance
All students must be immunized prior to school entrance according to the New Hampshire State
Public Health Agency. Evidence from a health care provider or completion of these requirements
must be submitted to the school nurse prior to the student entering school. No child may be
enrolled in school without first presenting an immunization record, or a medical or religious
exemption.

Any student may be exempt from the above regulation if a health care provider presents evidence
stating that the immunization is detrimental to the child’s health. The exemption must state the
duration of the exemption. Exemption from immunization for one disease shall not affect other
required immunizations.

A student may be exempt from immunization for religious reasons at the discretion of the school
nurse upon receipt of a notarized letter, signed by the parent or legal guardian, which states that
the student hasn’t been immunized because of religious beliefs. A student may be exempt from
immunization(s) for religious reasons upon receipt of the NH Child Care/School Immunization
Religious Exemption Form, which can be found on the district website.

Medication Policy
The following have been adopted for the administering of medication at school:

1. All medication must be brought into school by parents in the original container pharmacy
labeled, clearly marked with the child’s name and instructions on how to be administered along
with written permission from the parent and a written order by the provider. No more than a 30
day school day supply of the prescription for a student shall be stored at school.

2. PRESCRIBED MEDICATIONS should not be taken during school hours unless it is impossible
to achieve medical regimen at home. Medications to be given three times a day can be given
every eight hours, and thus will not have to be given at school.

3. NON-PRESCRIBED MEDICATIONS will not be encouraged for use by students is not
permitted. Over the Counter (OTC) medications require a written consent from parent/guardian
in order for the nurse to administer. No phone permissions will be accepted. OTC medication
List is available on the Annual Student Health Assessment Record completed by the parent /
guardian.

22

https://www.sau63.org/cms/lib/NH01912507/Centricity/domain/80/j%20policies/JLCE-R%20-%20Emergency%20Information%20Form.pdf


DR
AF
T

4. The school nurse or designee, assigned by the nurse, shall assist all students in the School
District who are required to take medication prescribed by a health care provider during the
school day.

5. The school nurse or designee, assigned by the nurse, shall be responsible for administering and
observing the taking of medication.

6. All medication shall be stored in a locked cabinet in the nurse’s office. Unused medications
shall be picked up by a parent/guardian or disposed of by the school nurse at the end of the
school year.

7. All medication shall be recorded daily in the school nurse’s database. Medications given for
chronic conditions will be recorded annually on the student's health record.

8. The school nurse will may keep an updated Epi-Pen on hand in case of emergency. All school
personnel have been instructed in its use.

9. Medication prescribed for asthma and severe allergic reactions (inhaler, Epi-Pens, or other
medications) may be kept in the student’s possession provided the health care provider’s
prescription for the medication, the directive for self-administration, and the attached written
permission from the parent/guardian are on file in the Health Office. The school nurse shall
determine if the student demonstrates the maturity necessary to assume responsibility for
correct storage and use of the medication and shall document this ability.

10. EMERGENCY CARE and FIRST AID (School Board Policy JLCE). RSA 508:12
EMERGENCY CARE. If any person in good faith renders emergency care at the place of
emergency, or while in transit in an ambulance or rescue vehicle, to a person who is in urgent
need of care as a result of the emergency, and if the acts of care are made in good faith and
without willful or wanted negligence, the person who renders the care is not liable in civil
damages for his/her acts or omissions in rendering the care, as long as he/she receives no direct
compensation for the care from or on behalf of the person cared for. Any person rendering
emergency care shall have the duty to place the injured person under the care of a physician,
nurse, or other person qualified to care for such person as soon as possible and to obey the
instructions of such a qualified person.

Physical Examinations
All students entering Wilton Lyndeborough Cooperative Middle School / High School for the
first time must show proof of completion of a medical examination by a health care provider
within one year preceding first entry to school. The Wilton Lyndeborough Cooperative School
Board recommends that physical exams also be completed before entry into middle school and
again before high school. Physical examinations are required to participate in athletic programs
through WLC. No medical examination shall be required of a child whose parent or guardian
objects thereto in writing on the grounds that such a medical examination is contrary to his/her
religious tenets and teachings.

Students transferring into Wilton Lyndeborough Middle/High School must also submit proof of
meeting the physical examination prior to or upon first entry into the District’s schools. Failure to
comply with this provision may result in exclusion from school for the child

23

https://www.sau63.org/cms/lib/NH01912507/Centricity/domain/80/j%20policies/JLCE-adopted%20%205.10.22%20Final.pdf


DR
AF
T

Screenings – Hearing & Vision
Screenings are conducted on an as needed basis and /or if requested by student/parent or teacher.
School screenings are not a substitute for a complete professional examination. All screening
failures will be reported to the parent/guardian.

School Registration
All registration forms can be accessed through our website here.

Transferring Into WLC
To transfer a student into WLC, the following forms must be completed prior to admitting the
child:

1. Permission for verbal communication with the previous school.
2. A copy f the child’s birth certificate
3. Emergency information/health.
4. Special medication (when applicable).
5. Request for release of records.
6. Emergency release.
7. A copy of the child’s immunization record and a copy of the last physical exam (given

within the last year).
8. Proof of Wilton/Lyndeborough Residency (i.e. utility bill, lease agreement, property tax

bill).

Transferring Out of WLC
If you are moving out of WLC, please inform the principal in person or by phone and complete
and submit Student Moving Out of District form found on our district website here. When you
register your child at the new school, you will sign a request for a release of records. Our
secretary will send all records to the receiving school.

Daily Attendance
Absence Categories
Unexcused Absences: Absences in the following categories will generally be considered

unexcused absences, and will count toward the maximum of 6 for Attendance Failures.

Informed Absence (AI) assigned when a student does not attend a class and the scho
and/or the teacher have been notified. Excessive absences
without documentation could be considered truancies and be
subject to further action.

Uninformed Absence (AU) assigned when a student does not attend a class and the
school/teacher have not been informed. These absences are
subject to further disciplinary actions and are considered
truancies.

24

https://www.sau63.org/Page/1261
https://www.sau63.org/site/handlers/filedownload.ashx?moduleinstanceid=2271&dataid=1994&FileName=CONSENT%20FOR%20RELEASE%20OF%20EDUCATION%20RECORDS%20STUDENT%20MOVING.pdf


DR
AF
T

Nurse Office Absence (N) assigned when a student is in the nurse’s office for more than
20 minutes of class.

Off-Track Absence (OT) assigned when a student is not in class for more than 20
minutes for various reasons, examples may be: visits to
guidance or the office.

Tardy Absence (TA) assigned when a student is tardy to class or school by more
than 20 minutes.

Dismissal Absence (DA) assigned when a student is leaves class more than 20 minute
prior to the
end of class. (excluding school activities)

Dismissed Present (DP) assigned when a student is dismissed but attended class for
more than 20 minutes

In exceptional cases, and at the principal’s discretion, TA’s, AU’s and AI’s may be changed to
AE’s when adequate documentation is provided.

Attendance at School
In order to participate in any school functions that day or evening (unless prior permission has
been granted by the administration), a student must be present for at least four class periods or
the equivalent number of long periods (2). Students must arrive by 9:30 (for period 3). This
includes any weekend activity if an absence occurs on Friday. This policy covers all
co-curricular activities, athletic games or practices and interscholastic events. If a violation
becomes known at a later date, it will be enforced at the next practice, game, rehearsal, etc.,
following disclosure. Reference School Policy JH

Attendance FailureStudent Learning Expectations
A WLC Student is academically knowledgeable and demonstrates the following:

4- Distinguished
3- Proficient
2- Progressing
1- Emerging

25



DR
AF
T

Student...
Student...

An Effective Communicator

Express opinions, ideas and facts in an outstanding manner in all formats

Present developed and clear ideas using evidence and/or details

Interpret information with unique insights based upon sufficient evidence

Deliver high quality information based upon a wide range of reliable sources

Cite/ credit all sources accurately

Express opinions, ideas, and facts clearly and effectively through a variety of formats (oral,
written, visual, digital), considering the audience

Present developed and clear ideas using evidence and/or detail

Interpret information logically, based upon sufficient evidence

Obtain and deliver information based upon a variety of resources

Cite/credit sources of information accurately.
Sometimes lacks clarity when expressing opinions, ideas, and facts.

26



DR
AF
T

Communicates effectively in some formats

Presents somewhat developed and clear ideas using a limited amount of evidence and/or
detail

Information may be interpreted with limited detail

Obtain and deliver information based upon limited resources

Cites/credit few sources of information
Expresses opinions, ideas, and fact with limited clarity

Has difficulty communicating in most formats

Rarely presents developed and clear ideas using evidence and/or detail

Information may be interpreted with little or no evidence

Obtain information based upon little or no supporting evidence

Rarely cites sources

A Strong Collaborator

Highly cooperative with a high level of respect, considering the perspectives of others

Listen attentively; share resources freely and ideas respectfully

Fulfill roles in a high quality manner

27



DR
AF
T

Incorporate different points of view to achieve a common goal

Demonstrate great flexibility and willingness to compromise with a strong focus on the
common goal

Cooperate with peers and adults respectfully

Listen attentively; share ideas and resources respectfully

Accept and fulfill roles

Respect and consider different/multiple points of view, diverse cultures, and global issues

Exercise flexibility and willingness to compromise in order to achieve a common goal
Cooperation with peers and adults varies

Sometimes listens and shares ideas and resources

Is somewhat reluctant to participate and fulfill roles

Sometimes contributes in a less than respectful manner or not considering the ideas or
feelings of others

Is somewhat flexible and willing to compromise in order to achieve a common goal

Has difficulty cooperating with peers and/or adults

Appears to rarely listen to others;rarely shares ideas and resources

Rarely participates or performs assigned roles

Frequently contributes in less than a respectful manner or not considering the ideas and
feelings of others

Is rarely flexible and willing to compromise in order to achieve a common goal

28



DR
AF
TA Creative Problem Solver

4- Distinguished
3- Proficient
2- Progressing
1- Emerging
Student...
Student...
Think, create, and solve problems in highly innovative ways

Recognize social and cultural differences to create new ideas and increase both innovation
and quality of work

Consider a wide variety of ideas, strategies, and solutions

Incorporate a wide range of high quality sources

Apply highly effective and/or cutting edge technology

Apply inferences and data interpretations to solutions
Solve problems, sometimes in innovative ways

29



DR
AF
T

Demonstrates creativity/unique approaches

Frequently considers a variety of ideas, strategies, solutions, and contexts (subject areas or
environment)

Incorporate many different resources

Apply appropriate technology

Make inferences and interpret data

Uses more typical ways of thinking, creating, and solving problems

Considers a narrow range of ideas, strategies, and solutions

Incorporates limited resources

Attempts to apply appropriate technology

Inferencing and data interpretation are limited
Thoughts and solutions are basic recall of previous learning

Considers few, if any, ideas, strategies, or solutions

Incorporates few, if any, resources

Applies little technology

Struggles with making inferences and interpreting data

30



DR
AF
T

A Self-Directed Learner

Persevere to completion of complex, challenging tasks

Demonstrate a highly positive attitude

Take a high level of responsibility and self-motivation for own learning, self-assessment,
and personal development

Engage mentors and stakeholders to gain support for ideas or projects

Demonstrate a high level of curiosity and self-inquiry, sometimes outside a prescribed
learning context

Model personal accountability and high quality work habits
Persevere with complex, challenging tasks

Demonstrate a “can do” attitude

Take an active role/initiative in learning and personal development, including goal setting
and self-assessment

Work independently

Seek out other, including stakeholders, to learn from or gain support

Initiate inquiry often

Take personal accountability and demonstrate effective work habits (punctuality,

31



DR
AF
T

managing time, including deadlines and work load)

Shows limited perseverance in completing complex, challenging tasks

Sometimes has a positive attitude

May rely on others for initiating learning and development

Works independently some of the time

Occasionally engages others in own learning or projects

Relies on others to initiate and prescribe inquiry opportunities
Gives up easily when facing complex and/or challenging tasks

Infrequently demonstrates a positive attitude

Takes a limited role in own learning and personal development; needs external motivation

Resists or struggles with independent work

Ideas or projects are pursued with little or no input from others

resists efforts by others to prescribe inquiry opportunities

32



DR
AF
T

A Responsible Citizen

4- Distinguished
3- Proficient
2- Progressing
1- Emerging
Student...
Student...
Act in a highly responsible manner with respect for others

Demonstrate leadership as a contributing member of the larger community

Initiate school activities that demonstrate school and community pride

Recognize ethical behavior in others while demonstrating integrity in their influence

Make decisions with the best interest of others in mind

Respect cultural difference and work effectively with people from a range of social and
cultural backgrounds

Initiates, maintains, and encourages activities that service the community

Convey a greater appreciation of the arts
Accept responsibility and understand the impact of personal actions

33



DR
AF
T

Demonstrate an awareness of individual rights and responsibilities as contributing
members of the larger community

Exhibit school pride through support of school activities and involvement in community life

Model ethical and lawful behavior as responsible and accountable citizens; do what’s
“right”

Make decisions considering how others think and feel

Demonstrate empathy toward others

Demonstrate social awareness and interpersonal skills to establish and maintain positive
relationships

Participate in service to the community

Value the arts (performing and visual) as forms of human expression
Exhibits limited responsibility for the impact personal actions have on the community

Needs reminders about the rights of others

Participates in limited school activities

Acts in an appropriate manner most of the time to do what is right

Needs reminders to consider how others think and feel

Social awareness and interpersonal skills need development

Limited participation in school and community service

Is beginning to understand that people express themselves through the arts
Infrequently accepts responsibility for personal actions

34



DR
AF
T

Frequently trespasses on the rights of others

Little to no participation in the school community

Frequently speaks negatively about our school

Disrespectful of school property

Lacks consideration for others

Lacks awareness of the impact on others

Is not community-minded

Limited interest in the arts

s
Under WLC School Board Policy JH, students who miss 7 or more classes in an academic
quarter or equivalent time frame may receive an “attendance failure” for that class.

Unless an absence is an “Excused Absence” (see categories below), the absence will count
toward the maximum of 6. Note: some tardies and some dismissals may also count toward the
maximum. (See below.) An attendance failure shall have a letter grade of “F”, and a numerical
grade of 64% or the actual grade, whichever is lower. Administrative attendance failures will be
designated as such on report cards/transcripts. High school students may earn credit for courses
if they demonstrate passing the competencies for these courses.

NOTICE. Although each student has the primary responsibility of being aware of the number of
his or her classroom absences, in most instances the parent/student will receive notice from the
school before the 7th absence. However, if the 7th absence occurs within 5 days before the end of
the quarter or equivalent time frame, the parent/student will most likely not receive timely notice.

APPEALS.Detailed rules/procedures relating to attendance appeals may be obtained from the
Principal’s office. Generally, however, a student/parent may appeal:

(a) a determination that a specific absence/tardy, etc. was unexcused;
(b) a determination that an absence occurred at all;
(c) whether extreme circumstances exist which make strict application of the Attendance

35



DR
AF
T

Rules and Policy inappropriate with respect to one or more absences or an
Attendance Failure.

A student/parent wishing to appeal an attendance determination or failure should contact the
Principal’s office for specific procedures relating to appeals as soon as possible after learning of
the attendance determination or attendance failure. Such appeals, however, must be received by
the office no later than 14 days after the report card for the quarter or equivalent time frame is
issued.

Delayed Openings
On a delayed opening, schools will be open two (2) hours after the regular starting time and bus
pickups will be two (2) hours later than normally scheduled. Dismissal will be at the regular
time.

Should road conditions remain hazardous; the “NO SCHOOL” announcement will be made over
the radio and TV stations and through an automated contact notification system. The decision to
close school after a Delayed Opening will be made after 8:30 AM.

Dismissal from School
After arriving on school grounds, when a student needs to leave school (whether for an
appointment, parent dismissal, or nurse dismissal) they must sign out with the Attendance
Secretary. ALL dismissals must occur through the front office or the nurse. Students are not to
contact their parent/guardian directly and ask them to pick them up unless asked to do so by
school personnel.

Excused Absences:
Excused absences do not count toward the maximum of 6 absences for attendance failures. In
order for an absence to be considered excused, (1) the reason for the absence must fall into one
of the specified categories, AND (2) the parent/student must have provided adequate
documentation to the school supporting, or have otherwise verified, the reason given for the
absence. Medical absences and administrative approved absences will be listed as (AE).

Properly verified, the following types of absences will typically qualify as an excused absence or
no absence and are listed with following attendance codes:

Dismissed School Activity (DSA) In-school Suspension (ISS)
Field Trip (FT) Out-of-school Suspension (OSS)
Court Appearance (CT) Religious Holiday (R)
Sports Dismissal (SPT) Tardy Present (TP)
College Visit (CV) Dismissal Present (DP)
Late Bus (B) Dismissal Excused (DE)

No School Policy School Cancellations
The policy for NO SCHOOL Cancellations is geared to the safety of the children. Generally, if
the buses can operate safely, school will be in session. However, it is expected that if any

36



DR
AF
T

parent/guardian does not desire to have a child venture out during inclement weather, it is his/her
prerogative to keep the child at home, weather conditions will be noted on attendance. Road
agents and the transportation contractors make the decision to operate as usual, delay, or close. If
it is determined that the road conditions are hazardous, parents/guardians and children will be
informed in the following manner:

Automated Contact System: Households will receive a recorded phone notification message.
Parents wishing not to be contacted in this manner should notify the school office.

Radio/Television Stations:
WBZ WZID – Manchester 95.7FM
WMUR-TV - Manchester Channel 9 www.WMUR.com

Tardy to School
Students are expected to be in their assigned classroom before the 7:55 AM late bell. Students
who arrive late (at or beyond the 7:55 bell) to school must sign in at the office. An office late
pass will be issued to them.

When a student arrives at school, tardy without a parent note, or unaccompanied by a parent,
an unexcused tardy will be documented. Students are allowed up to six four unexcused
tardies per trimester quarter. Students exceeding six tardies during the quarter will be
assigned an office detention for each unexcused tardy for the remainder of the trimester
quarter. A student may present a note excusing a tardy the following day.

Whether excused or unexcused, excessive tardiness will be addressed on a case-by-case
basis with possible disciplinary action.

Vacations
Parents are strongly urged not to schedule family vacations during school days and not to extend
the scheduled vacation periods. Should you wish your child to accompany you on a vacation
during the time school is in session, you should inform the building Principal at least one week in
advance explaining the length of time for the vacation and the reason. Arrangements can be
made at the discretion of the classroom teacher for assignments that will be missed and/or study
projects.

Who Does What in this Attendance Procedure?

Parents Students Teachers Admin/Office

37

http://www.wmur.com/


DR
AF
T

Notify school of absence
as they occur prior to 8 A
if possible

Upon returning from an absen
provide the office with any
notes/documentation regardin
your absence.

Notify the office when a stud
is absent and unaccounted for
(AU) from your class. Email
(Log) and phone.

Communicate
attendance issues to
teachers.

Provide documentation
when available.

Obtain & complete any make
work upon returning to schoo

Provide make-up assignment
when requested.

Collect documentatio
and change attendanc
codes as necessary.

Check attendance record
on PowerSchool regular

Communicate attendance
concerns you may have to
students, parents and
administration.

Notify students with
days of absences who
may be in danger of
failing.

Request in writing a hea
with the attendance
committee if necessary
within the 2-week time
frame.

Generate regular
attendance reports.

WLC Procedures and Regulations

Administrator’s Discretion
All issues not specifically named in this handbook may be determined at the discretion of
the Administration and/or School Board.

Academic Honors
WLC appreciates the efforts students make in achieving their academic expectations.
Students earning all A’s will receive high honors. Students receiving A’s and B’s will
receive honors.

Academic Integrity
In accordance with the WLC's Expectations for Student Learning, a WLC student is
expected to be an ethical person. WLC students will demonstrate the highest standards of
academic conduct and personal integrity. The WLC faculty is committed to helping
students avoid unintentional plagiarism and understand the rules of responsible
scholarship. Students found to have plagiarized and/or cheated will be referred to
administration and that work assignment will be given a zero. Students may have an
opportunity to re-submit the assignment or similar assignment to determine competency
grade as determined by administration. Incidents of this nature may also result in
exclusion from school honor societies including the National Honor Society or other
honor recognitions.

Students are expected to behave with honesty and integrity in the completion of their
38



DR
AF
T

academic work. Academic dishonesty—including plagiarism, cheating or copying the
work of another, using technology for illicit purposes, or any unauthorized
communication between students for the purpose of gaining advantage during an
examination—is strictly prohibited.

Plagiarism is a form of cheating that is defined as taking words, information, or ideas
from another source without giving credit or providing proper documentation. Cheating
and plagiarism undermine our learning community and will not be tolerated. Examples of
cheating include but are not limited to:

● Submitting another’s work as one’s own.
● Giving/receiving test, quiz, or homework answers (working together without

teacher permission)
● Using/ supplying “cheat sheets,” texts, etc. on an assessment or inappropriately

gaining prior knowledge of assessment questions
● Copying work or allowing someone else to copy your work
● Cutting and pasting from the internet or using direct quotations without proper

documentation
● Rephrasing the ideas of another without indicating the source
● Using a translator for assignments in world language classes without teacher

approval
● Using summaries (Cliff/Spark notes) in place of reading the text
● Submitting internet work as one’s own

Accidents
All accidents resulting in personal injury must be reported to the school nurse. Accident forms
are available in the nurse’s office.
Reference School Board Policy EBBB

Activities/Clubs/Sports
We believe that students are best served when their academics are complemented with
participation in non-academic activities and school organizations.

WLC offers a variety of activities and organizations for its students that span the school year.

Not all activities are offered every year. New activities may be added depending upon student
interest. All activities must be approved by the administration.

WLC competes in Division IV for most athletic competitions. The classification of Division IV
is determined by the enrollment numbers of WLC. This allows WLC to compete with schools of
similar size.

Activities/Clubs:
Drama Math Team National Honor Society Outdoor
Dance Mentor Program National Jr. Honor Society WLCNews

39



DR
AF
T

Robotics Student Government Peer Leaders Ski
Art Student Leadership GSA Homework
Dungeons and Dragons Horticulture/Environment Volleyball
Student of the Month Warrior Watch

Sports Available:
Fall Winter Spring
Cross-Country Boys Basketball Boys Baseball
Boys Soccer Girls Basketball Girls Softball
Girls Soccer Track
Tennis

*AN EXPLANATION OF THE ACTIVITIES/CLUBS MAY BE FOUND ON PAGES 63-66

After School Supervision
Students are required to be under adult supervision after 2:25 PM. When an after school program
or activity is completed, students should go directly out of the building through the front door.
Stops to the bathrooms or lockers need adult supervision. Students who are not under adult
supervision will be asked to leave the building.

Areas off Limits to Students
During the school day the following areas are off limits to all students unless under direct
supervision of a staff member:

● Teachers’ Room
● Nurse’s Office
● Outside the building
● Locker Rooms
● Offices

● Gymnasium and Stage
● Custodians’ Room/Boiler Room
● All classrooms and shops
● Library/Media Center
● All motor vehicles/the parking lot

Off Limit Areas and the use of passes
Students are not allowed in the hallways, bathrooms, or outdoors during class or study hall
periods unless issued a pass or given permission from a staff member. The off limit areas include,
but are not limited to:

● outside school grounds
● parking lots
● tech ed room
● gymnasium
● stage area(s)

With the exception of assigned classes, the school grounds and parking lots are off limits during
the school day and during lunch, as are the gymnasium, tech ed room, and stage area without
supervision. Students in any unauthorized area will face disciplinary action. Students are
required to report to assigned classes or study halls on time.

40



DR
AF
T

Students requesting permission to leave a study hall their assigned room must present a pass
from their teacher. staff member they wish to see to the study hall teacher. Passes are issued with
the belief that they will be used as intended by students. Wandering the building, visiting the
cafe, or going to the school store is an abuse of trust and will result in loss of that privilege
and/or disciplinary action.

Assessments Exams, Mid-Term and Finals
Exams are a means for the students to demonstrate to the teacher the material they have learned.
During exams, all students are expected to be present at the prescribed dates and times. During all
exams, students should strive to reach academic best scores. The use of personal electronic devices
are prohibited.

Books, Chromebooks & Equipment
The school district provides textbooks, Chromebooks and equipment that are needed by the students
for class work. The student is responsible for keeping these items in good condition. This material is
on loan to the student. All textbooks are to be covered at all times. In cases where books,
Chromebooks or equipment are lost, destroyed, or damaged in excess of reasonable wear and tear,
the student will be assessed an amount sufficient to cover the loss. Official transcripts, diplomas,
and/or report cards will not be released until all accounts are settled.

Buses – Student Conduct
The School Board and staff members are very concerned about safety as we transport pupils.
Cooperation from parents and students is requested as we attempt to keep the buses safe for all
concerned.

Students using district transportation should understand that they are under the jurisdiction and code
of conduct/disciplinary rules of the school from the time they board the bus until they are deposited
at the stop nearest their home.

In accordance with its policies JICC and JICC-R, the WLC School Board is notifying all students
that they are subject to being audio-videotaped on the school bus at any time. A sign will be
conspicuously placed on the bus notifying riders that their conversations and /or actions may be
recorded on tape. This applies to all students transported to and from Wilton-Lyndeborough
Cooperative Middle School and High School WLC School District buses (as approved by the
Wilton- Lyndeborough Cooperative School Board).

General Rules:
1. The school bus is an extension of the school, and all school rules and regulations which

pertain to student conduct, behavior or discipline in the schools are applicable to student
conduct on a school bus. Accordingly, in addition to specific rules of conduct and discipline
provided below, the ordinary school and District rules and regulations regarding student
behavior/conduct/discipline, will simultaneously apply to all students using District
transportation, and may result in separate disciplinary actions as permitted under applicable

41



DR
AF
T

statutes, School Board Policy, and any school based or District rules or procedures.
2. The school bus driver is in complete charge of the school bus and the pupils, and shall have

the same authority in maintaining discipline as a teacher in the classroom.

Computer Misuse
Students using school computers for purposes other than school-related assignments or access
inappropriate websites will lose their computer privileges, per the school computer use
agreement contract. Altering computer programs, desktop setup, equipment is vandalism which
will result in disciplinary action and reimbursement for damages. The computer use agreement is
signed once as a student enters the school but is in effect throughout their complete school
experience.

Dances / Guests at school functions
Periodically during the year a club may host a school dance. To be eligible to attend, students
must meet the eligibility guidelines. School social functions are extensions of the school day,
and school rules continue to apply (including rules regarding smoking, alcohol, and drugs).

● Only WLC HS students and their guests will be allowed entrance to a dance. Students
may invite one (1) guest to a dance. The student is responsible for the conduct of his/her
guest and will be held accountable for the guest’s actions.

■ Middle school students are not allowed to bring guests.
● To sign up a guest, a student must register him/her in the main office no later than noon on

the Friday of the week noon the Thursday before the week of the event of the dance.
Approval of guests is the sole prerogative of the administration.

● Students will not be admitted to any school dance after one hour past the starting time
without advanced administrative approval.

Deliveries
Students are expected to be prepared for the school day. In the event a student forgets an item
required for class, a family member may deliver the item to the main office. To comply with the
WLCSD Wellness Policy; JLCF, food deliveries such as dominoes, door dash, etc. are not
permitted. “In the middle/junior high and high school, all foods and beverages sold individually
outside the reimbursable school meal programs (including those sold through a la carte [snack]
lines and competitive foods) to students during the school day, will meet the following nutrition
and portion size standards.”

Eighteen Year Old Students
The expectation and guidelines are for all students enrolled at WLC regardless of their age.
Students who attend school are choosing to comply with the rules and guidelines of our school.
Students who are (18) years of age or older and who are living with their parent(s) will be
required to have all notes for excused absences, tardiness, dismissals, field trips, parking, and
any other form signed by a parent.

42



DR
AF
T

Parents or guardians who would like the school to accept the signature of their eighteen year-old
student instead of their own signature requires that the parent/guardian complete the WLC Age
of Majority Form.

E-Hall Pass
During the course of the school day and school year, students are expected to utilize E-Pass in
order to leave the classroom for any period of time (ie; bathroom, locker, etc). Students will be
given four passes per day as needed. Passes that are not utilized in one day do not carry over to
the next. Upon special considerations with administration, students may be given more passes.
Students will be expected to have their chromebook with them daily to utilize the pass system. In
a case when a student does not have their chromebook, their teacher may access their pass portal
for them.

Electronic Device Policy (High School)
To support the learning process and avoid disruption, electronic devices including cell phones,
iPods, MP3 players, smart watches, and tablets are permitted in school within the following
parameters:
● Electronic devices, including phones and earbuds, are not to be used or visible during
class. the school day.
● Phones and other electronic devices are allowed in classrooms for educational purposes
only with teacher permission with the exception of 9th grade students. 9th grade students are not
permitted to use cellphones in class for any reason.
● Phones and other electronic devices are permitted in the cafeteria, guidance, nurse’s
office, and the front office for all high school students.
● Phones are not to be used to contact students in classes.
● Phones should not be used to call or text a parent with the exception of scheduled lunch
or cafeteria study time. Emergency situations should be handled in the main office, school
counseling, or the nurse's office.
● Devices are not to be used to take photos or videos of students or staff without their
permission. Moved to a different location within the handbook
● Only hands-free cell phone use is allowed while driving in the school parking lot.
● Students are responsible for the security of their electronic devices.

During the school day, personal devices are to be off, put away, and not used during the school
day unless a student has permission from a staff member to use an application on the device for a
school related purpose. In the vent a student needs to make a call, they are to go to the office to
obtain permission to do so.

It is requested that parents not text or call their child(ren) during the school day. If it is necessary
to reach their child(ren), parents should call the main office.

The safest place for personal devices is at home. However if the decision is made to bring
personal devices to school, students are accepting responsibility to keep their device safe.

43



DR
AF
T

Students are encouraged to use their locker to store personal items and other valuables during the
school day as well as record the serial number of their devices in the event they become lost.

Students violating the electronic device rules may have their devices secured for the duration of
the school day and receive disciplinary action.

Electronic Device Policy (Middle School)
Electronic devices including cell phones, iPods, MP3 players, smart watches, and tablets are not
permitted in the middle school during the school day. Students may keep their personal devices
in their lockers. They must be off or in silent mode. Teachers may use their discretion as to their
use for educational purposes.

Eligibility
In order for a High School/Middle School Student to participate in interscholastic athletics or a
co-curricular activity they must fulfill all the regulations and requirements set forth by the
NHIAA, TCL, GSC, and the WLC School Board. The requirements are as follows:

A High School Student must take four (4) period courses or be enrolled full-time in order to be
eligible to participate in the sport or the co- curricular activity. High school students must have
received passing grades in ALL units of work during “start of the season snapshots.” Middle
school students must have passing grades at the end of the previous grading period (quarter).
Please refer to the Guidelines of Academic Probation below. For Fall participants, Middle
School/High School eligibility is determined by grades received in the previous grading period.
Successfully completed summer school grades and/or credit recovery cannot be used to regain
eligibility unless approved by administration.

Guidelines of Academic Probation:
1. Any middle school student who fails 1 or 2 units of work during the previous marking

period, or any high school student during the “start of the season snapshots”, will be
placed on academic probation for a 10 day period and required to sign an academic
probation student contract.

2. The student will be eligible to participate in any activity representing the school during
this 10 school day period. At the end of this time the student has to obtain passing grades
in all units of work.

3. If at the end of the probation period the student is unable to maintain passing grades the
student will be deemed ineligible to participate for the remainder of that activity.

4. If a student is successful in maintaining passing grades the student will be monitored
every 10 school days for the remainder of the activity to determine continued eligibility.

5. Students failing more than 2 units of work will not qualify for probation and therefore be
ruled ineligible for participation.

6. Students failing 1 or 2 units of work at the end of the school year will have the probation
period start at the beginning of the next school year.

7. The grades will be checked at the end of the first 10 days of school; if grades have not
been posted, this will be handled on a case-by-case basis with the assistance of
administration.

8. Academic probation will begin on the first day of school. Participants will be allowed to
44



DR
AF
T

start at the beginning of the fall season, prior to the beginning of school.
9. Academic Probation will be limited to once per school year.
10. Grades will be monitored by the Guidance Department, the Athletic Director, and/or the

Activity’s Advisor.

Field Trips
Field trips are of an educational nature and are related to classroom learning. Every effort is
made to have students back at school in time to take the bus home. Parents are notified in
advance if they are expected to pick their child up after hours.

Each student will be provided with a permission slip prior to the field trip that will need to be
signed by a parent or guardian. No student will be allowed on a field trip without a permission
slip on file.

Parents may arrange for bag lunches to be purchased from the school for their student(s).

If you do not wish for your child to participate in any specific trip, please notify the teacher in
writing before the trip so that alternative arrangements can be made.

Grades
Receiving academic assessments/grades are a way for students to demonstrate what they have
learned and how they may apply their knowledge. Students are expected to be involved and
participate in the lessons taught in classes. Throughout the year, students should regularly view
their grades using the PowerSchool Data Management Program.

Graduation Participation
The graduation ceremony is a means to honor our students' academic accomplishments. Students
who have demonstrated the successful completion of course requirements will participate in the
ceremony. Inappropriate behavior or a violation of school rules prior to the graduation ceremony
may be grounds for excluding a student from the ceremony. Students may decorate the top of the
graduation cap with school appropriate messages. Eligible students who are participating in the
ceremony are expected to wear the school-approved cap and gown throughout the graduation
ceremony.

Homework
Homework is designed for students to practice skills already taught at school and to enrich the
learning activities that are initiated in class. It provides the opportunity for our students to
develop self-discipline, responsibility, and initiative. An effective homework program also
supports the conviction that learning is not limited to the normal classroom experience, but an
extension that works to expand the vital home/school connection.

Students should assume the responsibility to make sure their assignments are completed on
time and make an effort to develop effective study habits.

45



DR
AF
T

Legal Guardianship/Child Custody/Restraining Orders
Should there be a change in normal custodial arrangements for your child/children, it is
imperative the Principal be informed as soon as possible. A letter specifying such from the adult
with custodial rights and a copy of the corresponding legal documentation are required to be sent
to the Principal for adherence. A copy will be placed on file, and associated personnel will be
informed of the change.

The same procedure is required should there be a restraining order in effect relative to the child.
Each time there is an extension or alteration to such order, the legal documentation verifying
such must be provided to the Principal for adherence to it.

Library/Media Center
(Extension 2123) (603) 732-9320 x 2123
Hours: 7:40 AM to 3:00 PM Hours: 7:35- 2:35 (with the exception of after school homework
club)

The library offers books, magazines, newspapers, computers and internet resources to all
students and staff. There is a professional collection of books, magazines and audiovisuals.
Suggestions are always welcome.

The media specialist will be available at certain times of the day. These times will be posted on
the door weekly. The Media Specialist is there to assist in locating, selecting and utilizing
information. The library is a quiet area for individual or group research, study and reflection.

Lockers
Lockers belong to the school and are on loan to the students. Students are responsible for the
condition and cleanliness of them. Lockers must be able to be closed without damaging the
locker door. Any damage to the lockers will be the financial responsibility of the student. The
administration has the right to inspect the lockers at any time

Lost And Found
We maintain a Lost and Found, which is located in the main hallway within each building. Items
found in shared areas are displayed in this area. Unclaimed clothing is brought to donation
centers twice a year.

.
Lunch/Food Service
The Wilton-Lyndeborough Cooperative School District offers meals and a la carte items in
accordance with the USDA School Breakfast Program and National School Lunch Program.
Meals are available to all students without discrimination.

MEALS -- What’s for lunch?

● Menus for all meals are posted on the school websites monthly and available in the
cafeterias.

● On delayed opening days, breakfast is not served.
46



DR
AF
T

● Lunch is available for purchase daily to all students during assigned lunch periods.
● Bag lunches are available for purchase for school sponsored field trips. Please submit the

field trip lunch request form to Food Services at least two school days prior to the field
trip.

● All meals are compliant to the regulations of the Healthy Hunger-Free Kids Act.
● At all schools, milk is available a la carte for students not purchasing a meal.
● At WLC, additional a la carte items are available.

PAYING FORMEALS – How do students purchase meals and a la carte items?

● Meal prices are posted on the monthly menus.
● Students will always be permitted to purchase a meal unless their parent has provided

written instructions otherwise. Meals will be charged to student accounts. Meal benefits
apply.

● A la carte pricing varies, and free/reduced meal benefits do not apply to a la carte
purchasing.

● Students at FRES/LCS purchase meals using their MealTime accounts (see MealTime
information below).

● Students at WLC can use their MealTime accounts or pay with cash/check at the
registers.

● Students at all schools can make deposits to their MealTime accounts online or with
cash/check sent to the school.

● Students at all schools who owe on their account will not be permitted to purchase a la
carte items. Note that this includes milk, ice cream, and additional entrees as well as all
other items offered as a la carte. A la carte purchases are not permitted for overdrawn
accounts, even if the student is paying in cash. (Payments can be applied to the MealTime
account.)

MEALTIME INFORMATION – How do I see what my student is purchasing? How do I add
money to an account?

● We use online software called MealTime at our service lines to record student
transactions. MealTime provides detailed purchase tracking information, student balance
information, and the ability to make deposits into student accounts.

● FREE parent access to your student’s account information is available at
myMealTime.com or using the myMealTime app for your mobile device. You will need
to know your student’s PIN. Please contact Food Service if you do not have this
information.

● NOTE: All accounts are open for student use unless we receive written instructions from
you requesting no purchases. From time to time, students do get adventurous and
sometimes make purchases without their parents’ awareness. Parents are responsible for
these purchases. We encourage you to set up email alerts on myMealTime.com so that
you can be notified when balances are getting low.

● MealTime provides parent access to make deposits using secure credit/debit card
payments into the student’s account online or using the mobile app. MealTime charges a
small fee for deposits made with credit/debit cards.

● Deposits can be made with no additional fees by sending checks or cash to Food Service.

47



DR
AF
T

Checks are preferred, especially for our younger students. Please use an envelope marked
with your student’s name. Checks should be made payable to “WLC School Lunch”. At
FRES/LCS, these payments are collected by the teachers and delivered to the local Food
Service site coordinator. At WLC, payments are accepted at the Food Service office at
any time or at the registers during meal service.

● Parents may send a single check for deposit into multiple students’ accounts. Please
indicate how much to allocate per student.

● Checks returned for insufficient funds (NSF) are subject to a $30 service charge (service
charge is subject to change).

● MealTime automatically sends bills for overdrawn accounts and low-balance
notifications every two weeks. These are emailed to the address on file in the school
office. Please confirm that the school has a valid email address to reach you.

MEAL BENEFIT PROGRAMS – How do I apply for Free or Reduced assistance?

● Any family or student needing financial assistance should complete the application for
free or reduced meals. Meal benefit applications are available on the website, from the
Food Service Director, and at all school offices.

● Meal Benefits apply only for the current school year. A new application must be
submitted each year.

● Free/Reduced Meal Benefit applications are accepted at any time throughout the year.
We encourage you to make an application if your financial situation changes.
Applications are typically processed the same day they arrive in the Food Service office.

● All applications may be subject to verification.
● For assistance in completing the meal benefits application please contact the Food

Service Director at 732-9344.

ALLERGIES / SPECIAL MEALS – My child has food allergies, what should I do?

● All meals and a la carte items available from Food Service are nut-free.
● If your student has special dietary needs, we ask parents to contact us to discuss your

child’s needs. Please contact the Food Service Director or the school nurse so that we
may help you with your food options.

CAFETERIA SUPPLIES – can we get paper goods and plasticware from the cafeteria?

● Paper goods, plasticware, condiments, etc. are provided for students purchasing meals or
a la carte items from Food Service. These items are not available for classroom activities
or home use without prior arrangement by the Food Service Director.

USDA NON-DISCRIMINATION STATEMENT

In accordance with Federal law and U.S. Department of Agriculture (USDA) civil rights
regulations and policies, this institution is prohibited from discriminating on the basis of race,
color, national origin, sex, age, disability, and reprisal or retaliation for prior civil rights activity.
(Not all prohibited bases apply to all programs.)

Program information may be made available in languages other than English. Persons with

48



DR
AF
T

disabilities who require alternative means of communication for program information (e.g.,
Braille, large print, audiotape, and American Sign Language) should contact the responsible
State or local Agency that administers the program or USDA’s TARGET Center at (202)
720-2600 (voice and TTY) or contact USDA through the Federal Relay Service at (800)
877-8339. To file a program discrimination complaint, a complainant should complete a Form
AD-3027, USDA Program Discrimination Complaint Form, which can be obtained online, at
https://www. ascr.usda.gov/sites/default/files/USDA-OASCR%20P-Complaint-
Form-0508-0002-508-11-28-17Fax2Mail.pdf, from any USDA office, by calling (866) 632-9992,
or by writing a letter addressed to USDA. The letter must contain the complainant’s name,
address, telephone number, and a written description of the alleged discriminatory action in
sufficient detail to inform the Assistant Secretary for Civil Rights (ASCR) about the nature and
date of an alleged civil rights violation. The completed AD-3027 form or letter must be
submitted to USDA

by mail to:
U.S. Department of Agriculture Office of the Assistant Secretary for Civil Rights
1400 Independence Avenue,
SW Washington, D.C. 20250-9410;
or by fax: (833) 256-1665 or (202) 690-7442;
or by email: program.intake@usda.gov.
This institution is an equal opportunity provider.
USDA information is available in other languages from:
https://www.fns.usda.gov/school-meals/translated-applications

Motor Vehicles
All students Students in good standing must register their automobiles or motorcycles with the
office annually when they intend to drive their motor vehicle to school. No one will be allowed
to park an unregistered vehicle on the school property. All automobiles will be assigned a
parking space on a first come first serve basis. Once the vehicle has arrived on school property, it
should be parked and students should immediately leave the vehicle parking area. Students will
not be permitted to return to their vehicle during school hours.

Caution is urged, and all drivers are reminded that the absolute speed limit on school property is
15 miles per hour. Students are also reminded that driving around the oval is only one way.
Persons violating good driving practices will lose their parking privileges while in school.

Snowmobiles and other off-road motorized vehicles are not allowed to be used to transport any
student “to and from” school.

Parent-Teacher Conferences
Parent conferences are arranged at the end of the first quarter in November. Parents or teachers
may request conferences at other times if needed. The Parent-Teacher Conference offers both
the opportunity to ask questions relative to your child, and to build an avenue of communication
between home and school to better assist your child’s progress.

49

https://www.fns.usda.gov/school-meals/translated-applications


DR
AF
T

Throughout the school year, parents are encouraged to communicate with their child’s teacher
whenever necessary. Please call the office and ask the secretary to contact the teacher to set up
an appointment or to check on the teacher’s availability. If it becomes clear that the issue is of a
more serious nature, please schedule a meeting for a time when both parties are prepared to give
their full attention to the concern. Each teacher has a district e-mail address (ie.
j.doe@sau63.org) and a voicemail that may be accessed through the main office.

Parent/Teacher Organization
The WLC PTO is the parent/community support for WLC students and staff. The group meets
one evening per month to plan activities, discuss issues, and develop programs. Information and
meeting updates can be found on the WLC webpage. Parents may register to be on the PTO
email list for regular updates. All parents of WLC students are most welcome to attend. The
WLC PTO also has a facebook page, so be on the lookout for updates!

Photographs/Audio and Video Recordings
We pride ourselves on providing a safe environment for everyone at WLC. Students are not
permitted to take photos, audio.video recordings of students and/or staff without the permission
of the individual(s) involved. Students who phonograph or record others without permission will
be subject to disciplinary action.

Property Damage/Care of School Grounds
We pride ourselves on a collaborative effort to maintain a positive school environment. Each
member of our school community is asked to assist with keeping the school and its grounds
looking neat and clean. All individuals in the school should put waste and unwanted items in the
containers provided. Any damage to the school building should be reported immediately to a
teacher, administrator, or custodian. Individual students or groups of students who are found to
have damaged school property will be assessed for the actual cost for repair or replacement of
the school property equipment.

Restitution or School Service (property damage / destruction incidents)
Students learn best through being held responsible for restitution in situations where they
have caused harm or damage to others or school property. Taking accountability for their actions
fosters a sense of responsibility and helps them understand the consequence of their behavior,
promoting personal growth and a safer learning environment.

Safety Drills (Evacuation/Lockdowns, etc.)
During the course of the school year, the administration will conduct emergency drills to ensure
students are familiar with emergency procedures. Uncooperative students will be subject to
disciplinary action.
Safety of our school community is a priority. Schools must conduct safety drills throughout the
school year. The purpose of practicing drills is to ensure students and staff are prepared to
quickly make their way to safety in the event of an emergency situation. Staff and students must
participate and comply with these drills and measures WLC has put in place to maintain a safe
school environment. Students that do not comply or jeopardize school safety will face

50



DR
AF
T

disciplinary consequences.
Evacuations: In the event of a threat to student safety, it should be understood that school may
not be dismissed for the day by the school administration. Upon direction of the administration,
students may be sent to Florence Rideout Elementary School. Upon the approval of the
authorities (police and fire departments) it is safe to return to the building, classes will resume.
Upon direction from an administrator, students may be relocated.

Students will remain with their teachers and are not permitted in vehicles at any time. who will
keep them together at all times. No students are to get into a vehicle at any time.

School Attire/Dress Code
Students are expected to dress appropriately at school and in a way that does not disrupt the
learning environment. Students not in compliance with the dress code will be asked to correct the
violation or face disciplinary consequence. Some clothing can be made available and borrowed
at school to correct the problem immediately. Violations include but are not limited to clothing or
jewelry that depicts, promotes, or expresses:

● Violence or weapons
● Profanity
● Drugs, alcohol, and/or tobacco use
● Sexual innuendos
● Intolerance or a lack of respect to others
● Gang affiliation

In addition:
● Students must wear clothing including a shirt with pants or the equivalent (for example

dresses, skirts, leggings, or shorts).
● Students must wear shoes.
● Shirts and dresses must have fabric in the front, back, and on the sides.
● Clothing must cover undergarments (waistbands and straps excluded).
● Fabric covering must cover the stomach, torso, genitals, and buttocks and must be opaque

(not see through).
● Hats and other headwear must allow the face to be visible to staff, and not interfere with the

line of sight of any student or staff. Hoodies must allow the face and ears to be visible to
school staff.

● Clothing must be suitable for all scheduled classroom activities including physical education,
science labs, woodshop, and other activities where unique hazards exist.

● Specialized courses may require specialized attire, such as sports uniforms or safety gear.

Classroom teachers may request that hoods be worn down and hats/caps be removed. Decisions
concerning questionable clothing will be determined by the administration.
Reference School Board Policy JICA

Student of the Month
Middle school staff recognize two students from each grade every month for outstanding
academic and /or character exhibited over the course of the month.

51



DR
AF
T

High school staff recognize four students each month from two grades (alternating months =
9/10 and 11/12) for outstanding academic and/or character exhibited over the course of the
month.

Students in Good Standing / Privileges
Students performing well academically (passing all classes with “C” or higher) - and with limited
behavior concerns - may be granted privileges throughout the school year.

Video and Audio Surveillance on School Property
The Wilton-Lyndeborough Cooperative School Board authorizes the use of video and/or audio
devices on Wilton-Lyndeborough Cooperative School District property to ensure the health,
welfare, and safety of all students, staff and visitors to District property and to safeguard District
buildings, grounds, and equipment. Placement of the video cameras will be based on the
presumption and belief that students, staff and visitors have no reasonable expectation of privacy
in areas or at events that occur in plain view.

Visitors
All visitors, including parents and former students, must report to the main office prior to going
elsewhere in the building. All visitors must display a visitor’s pass.

Students are not allowed to bring visitors to school, unless permission has been granted by the
administration. Normally ,A written request for a visitation must be presented to the
administration at least one day in advance of the visit. The length of the visit will be determined
by the administration.

Volunteers
Parent and community volunteers are also welcome at the school. Contact the Principal’s Office
(732-9230) if you are interested.

Warrior Watch Program
Throughout each month, anyone at WLC may nominate a student or staff member for
recognition of their effort towards improving the school environment (random acts of kindness),
or community service. All nominees will be recognized at the end of each month with a random
drawing from nominees to receive a special award

What I Need (WIN)
A “WIN” period can be found within students' schedules. During this period, students will work
on academic course work to improve their skill competence.

Code of Conduct

Our discipline approach is directly linked to the goal of our mission statement. As members of
the WLC community, we all need to hold each other to a high standard. We strive as a group to

52



DR
AF
T

become thoughtful, knowledgeable, honest and community-minded individuals. Our school rules
are in place to ensure a safe and considerate environment. As mistakes and poor decisions do
happen, students can expect to be treated fairly, to be given guidance on how to make better
decisions in the future, and be assigned appropriate consequences in a timely manner.
Additionally, as needed, we will contact home to keep parents and guardians informed and
involved.

While it is necessary for all of us to be aware of the things that we should not be doing, it is more
important to focus on what we should be doing. When appropriate, a restorative approach to
behavioral incidents will be applied. Adults and students will work together to communicate
openly to create a positive, effective learning environment for all. Restorative approaches may
include facilitated meetings, a meeting with the involved staff, student and a facilitator or
administrator or a re-entry meeting with involved staff, students and administrators.

Wilton - Lyndeborough Cooperative School endorses the following principles of student conduct
in accordance with our Student Learning Expectations:

I. Respect for the WLC community shall be expected of all students. This includes school
rules, as well as laws regarding minors.
II. Respect for the rights of others, consideration of their privileges, and cooperative
citizenship shall be expected of all members of the school community.
III. Respect for real and personal property, pride in one’s work, and exemplary personal
standards of courtesy, decency, honesty, and kindness are a hallmark of the WLC community.
IV. Respect for individual worth is the obligation of the school. Diligence and a desire to
benefit from the opportunity is the obligation of the student.

Common Expectations

Social Agreement Examples of what this
looks like:

Examples of what this
does NOT look like:

● I will take care
of our campus and its
resources.

● Being mindful of your
physical surroundings
● Picking up trash or loose
items in hallways, classroom
and other locations
● Using equipment as
designed (i.e, desks, chairs,
chromebooks, doors, lockers,
etc.)

● Leaving a mess
● Propping feet on
furniture
● Sitting on table and
desk tops
● Creating graffiti

53



DR
AF
T

● I will engage in
healthy, positive
dialogue and
interactions.

● Speaking kindly
● Saying please, thank
you, may I help
● Holding the door
● Using a positive tone &
an appropriate volume
● Making sure everyone
feels safe

● Using profanity
● Putting people down
● Laughing at another
person
● Exhibiting bullying
behavior

● I will be where
the learning is
happening.

● Arriving to class on time
● Leaving class one
student at a time
● Holding to a 3-minute
target time for facilities use

● Wandering/Laps
● Numerous or lengthy
bathroom breaks
● Hanging out in various
locations when assigned to a
class
● Meeting up with
friends in the halls or
bathroom
● “Packing up” early

● I will be ready to
learn.

● Keeping hands to selves
● Bringing necessary
materials to class
● Indicating readiness to
learn with your posture (eyes on
instruction, seated near
instruction, etc.)

● Pushing/Shoving
(hands-on)
● Being distracted by
electronics
● Hanging on each other
● Lying down
● Off-task conversations
● Rude behavior at
assemblies, performances,
events

School-Wide Expectations

WLC Students are expected to:
● Show courtesy and respect to others and their property. Use by using appropriate
language, and behavior and dress.
● Be a present and contributing member of the school community.
● Act in a responsible and appropriate manner at all times when on school grounds and at
school events, in the building, on field trips or at sporting events.

Classroom Rules:
Teachers will create and implement rules to foster a positive learning environment. In some
cases, appropriate interventions may include a detention or office referral. Teachers will
determine consequences that may include a teacher after-school detention (with a 24-hour
notice).

54



DR
AF
T

OUR DISCIPLINE PHILOSOPHY
At WLC we strive to create a strong community that focuses on building and repairing
maintaining relationships. Effective classroom management, student motivation, and positive
reinforcement generate an atmosphere where rules are viewed as guidelines for student success.

Behavior Infractions/Safe Schools

Smoking/Tobacco Use
New Hampshire State law prohibits:
• Possession of any tobacco products and smoking by persons under the age of twenty-one
(tobacco products include cigarettes, cigars, pipe tobacco, chewing tobacco, vaporizers, or
similar products.)
• Smoking in school buildings or on school property
• The use of/possession of E-cigarettes are included in this policy.
School policy reflects these laws with the goal of making WLC a healthy environment for both
students and staff. Students are prohibited from smoking on school property and at any
school-related event that takes place off school property, regardless of their age.
Welcome to Wilton-Lyndeborough Cooperative
Middle/High School

It is our pleasure to welcome all students, parents, and guardians to WLC. The faculty, staff, and
administrators are dedicated to the mission of WLC.
Our Mission: WLC strives to be a positive learning community that ensures each student has the
opportunity to develop to their potential. WLC believes all children learn at different individual
rates and times and under different teaching and learning situations. We bring the family, school
and community together to be accountable for the cognitive, affective, and physical growth of
our students. We work together to help them become creative, future- oriented problem solvers
who will take responsibility for their education, live and learn in harmony, and be involved in
their school and their community.
This mission statement is our purpose. We have all come together—students, faculty, staff,
administrators, and coaches to learn. Providing a learning environment that increases student
achievement and develops confident learners can only be achieved by working together. We must
utilize all tools available to reach our goals. Developing a strong partnership between parents,
students, faculty, administrators, and the community is critical. When we make decisions about
what classes to offer and what rules to create and enforce, we do it with this goal in mind. When
you think about your role in our school community, you should think about what you can do to
make this mission possible for all of us.

This handbook is a comprehensive guide for students and parents/guardians at WLC, and most
answers to questions pertaining to our school can be found in this document. Please take the
time to review the valuable and important information within the handbook.

Wilton-Lyndeborough Cooperative Middle School/High School is a member of the Wilton-
Lyndeborough School District with Florence Rideout Elementary School and Lyndeborough

55



DR
AF
T

Central Elementary School. This handbook is exclusively for the Middle and High School,
references to WLC are for the school only. School District references will be so designated. The
WLC School Board represents all three schools and policies set by the WLC School Board are
WLC School District Policies encompassing all three schools within the district.

WLC is committed to the highest standards of academics and integrity, acknowledging that
respect for self and others is the foundation of educational excellence. As such, we will cultivate
an environment of mutual respect and responsibility. Whether we are students, parents, faculty,
staff, or community members, we have a right to be in a safe environment, free of disturbance
and civil in all aspects of human relations.

For the purposes of this policy, the term “tobacco product” means any product that contains or
that is made or derived from tobacco and is intended for human consumption, including all
lighted and smokeless tobacco products, as well as electronic cigarettes, vaporizers, and other
electronic smoking devices even if they do not contain tobacco or nicotine.

In accordance with R.S.A. 78:12-b, all incidents of possession of tobacco products or smoking
involving students under the age of eighteen will be reported to the Wilton and/or Lyndeborough
Police Department. Under R.S.A. 169-B:32 the student will be issued a district court complaint
by the Wilton and/or Lyndeborough Police Department.
• 1st Offense: Out-of-school suspension 1-5 days with possible addition of in school suspension.
• 2nd Offense: Out-of-school suspension 5-10 days with possible addition of in school suspension.
• 3rd Offense: Ten days out-of-school suspension with recommendation to the Superintendent of Schools
for additional disciplinary actionWelcome to Wilton-Lyndeborough Cooperative
Middle/High School

It is our pleasure to welcome all students, parents, and guardians to WLC. The faculty, staff, and
administrators are dedicated to the mission of WLC.
Our Mission: WLC strives to be a positive learning community that ensures each student has the
opportunity to develop to their potential. WLC believes all children learn at different individual rates and
times and under different teaching and learning situations. We bring the family, school and community
together to be accountable for the cognitive, affective, and physical growth of our students. We work
together to help them become creative, future- oriented problem solvers who will take responsibility for
their education, live and learn in harmony, and be involved in their school and their community.
This mission statement is our purpose. We have all come together—students, faculty, staff, administrators,
and coaches to learn. Providing a learning environment that increases student achievement and develops
confident learners can only be achieved by working together. We must utilize all tools available to reach
our goals. Developing a strong partnership between parents, students, faculty, administrators, and the
community is critical. When we make decisions about what classes to offer and what rules to create and
enforce, we do it with this goal in mind. When you think about your role in our school community, you
should think about what you can do to make this mission possible for all of us.

This handbook is a comprehensive guide for students and parents/guardians at WLC, and most answers to
questions pertaining to our school can be found in this document. Please take the time to review the
valuable and important information within the handbook.

56



DR
AF
T

Wilton-Lyndeborough Cooperative Middle School/High School is a member of the Wilton-
Lyndeborough School District with Florence Rideout Elementary School and Lyndeborough Central
Elementary School. This handbook is exclusively for the Middle and High School, references to WLC are
for the school only. School District references will be so designated. The WLC School Board represents
all three schools and policies set by the WLC School Board are WLC School District Policies
encompassing all three schools within the district.

WLC is committed to the highest standards of academics and integrity, acknowledging that respect for
self and others is the foundation of educational excellence. As such, we will cultivate an environment of
mutual respect and responsibility. Whether we are students, parents, faculty, staff, or community
members, we have a right to be in a safe environment, free of disturbance and civil in all aspects of
human relations.

Reference School Board Policy JICG JICH

Drug and Alcohol Use
Because of the serious consequences, legal and otherwise, that may result from the use of alcohol
or other drugs, a student may not attend school, or participate in, or be present at any activity
sponsored by the school if the student shows evidence of having used alcohol or any other drug.
Violators will be suspended at once. In addition, any student in the possession of, or any student
selling or distributing alcohol or drugs, will be subject to disciplinary action up to and including
expulsion from school. It should also be noted that students who are in possession of look-alike
drugs or in the presence of others who use or possess drugs are subject to disciplinary action. All
drug and alcohol related violations will result in police notification.

Possession and/or Use of Drugs or Alcohol:
• 1st Offense: Five days out-of-school suspension 1-5 days out of school suspension with
possible addition of in school suspension
• 2nd Offense: Ten days out-of-school suspension 5-10 days out of school suspension with
recommendation to the Superintendent of Schools for additional disciplinary action. This
additional action could be a recommendation to the Wilton-Lyndeborough School Board by the
Superintendent that the student be expelled from school for the remainder of the school year.

Selling, Transferring or Distributing Alcohol or Drugs:
Ten days out-of-school suspension with recommendation to the Superintendent of Schools to
take additional disciplinary action. This additional action could be a recommendation to the
Wilton-Lyndeborough School Board by the Superintendent that the student be expelled from
school for the remainder of the school year.

Reference School Board Policy JICH

Bullying and/or Cyberbullying
Bullying or cyberbullying is a single significant incident or a pattern of incidents involving a
written, verbal, or electronic communication, or a physical act or gesture, or any combination
thereof, directed at another student which:

57



DR
AF
T

● Physically harms a student or damages the student's property
● Causes emotional distress to a student
● Interferes with a student’s educational opportunities
● Creates a hostile educational environment
● Substantially disrupts the orderly operation of the school.

The Wilton Lyndeborough School Board is committed to providing a safe and secure
environment in which all members of the school community are treated with respect. Any insult,
taunt, negative comments, verbal challenges, and physical challenges that are likely to intimidate
others or provoke a violent or disorderly response will not be tolerated. This includes
communications that occur through electronic media, whether at WLC or in the community at
large. Such offenses will be dealt with in accordance with school and district policy and may
result in disciplinary action including but not limited to detention, suspension, and restriction
from participation in school activities. This policy is intended to comply with RSA 193-F, which
specifically identifies bullying as a form of student harassment. Conduct constituting bullying or
cyberbullying will not be tolerated and is prohibited by this policy in accordance with RSA
193-F.

Reporting Bullying or Cyberbullying
Any school employee, or employee of a company under contract with a school in the district or
the district itself, who has witnessed or has reliable information that a student has been subjected
to bullying or cyberbullying, as defined above, shall report that incident to the Principal or
his/her designee, who shall in turn send a copy of the initial report to the superintendent of
schools. This report shall be investigated by the principal or his/her designee. A final report in
writing detailing the status of the incident shall be submitted to the Superintendent of Schools. If
an investigation concludes that a student has engaged in bullying/ cyber bullying conduct
prohibited by this Policy, that pupil shall be subject to appropriate disciplinary action. This may
include, but is not limited to, loss of privileges, detention, suspension, expulsion, or other actions
determined to educate/inform persons about the ramifications of bullying/cyber bullying
behavior. Any such disciplinary action shall be taken in accordance with the applicable Wilton
Lyndeborough School Board Policy and legal requirements.

Reference School Board Policy JICIB

Fighting
Physical fighting for any reason will not be tolerated. Students involved in fights will be subject
to suspension or expulsion from school. Students are encouraged to resolve disputes by talking
the problem out or by seeking a disinterested third party (teacher, administrator, or counselor) to
resolve the dispute.

Reference School Board Policies JIC, JICD, JICDD, KFA

Possession of Weapons
In compliance with New Hampshire RSA 193:13 and 193D (Safe School Zones and relative to
school violence), and Federal Statute Improving America’s Schools Act of 1994, “any student

58



DR
AF
T

who is determined to have brought a weapon to school or who knowingly possesses a weapon in
a safe school zone without written authorization from the Superintendent or designee shall be
expelled for not less than one year (365 days). A ‘weapon’ means a firearm as defined in Section
921 of Title 18, United States Code, and in NHRSA 193:13. Weapons shall include, but not be
limited to starter pistols, pellet guns, BB guns, rifles (NHRSA 193:13); and by any ‘weapon’
which will or is designed to or may readily be converted to expel a projectile by the action of an
explosive’ (Title 18), or any destructive device, including ‘any explosive’, incendiary or poison
gas, bomb, grenade, rocket having a propellant charge of more than four ounces, missile having
an explosive or incendiary charge of more than one quarter ounce, mine or any similar device…”
(Title 18).

Possession of Dangerous Objects/Other Weapons
The possession of a dangerous object in the school building or on school property and school
buses and including school functions is prohibited and will result in suspension, police
intervention, and possible expulsion from school. Dangerous objects include but are not limited
to knives, slingshots, pepper spray, and other similar chemicals and/or sprays. In addition to
these expressly prohibited dangerous objects, almost any object can be potentially dangerous
depending upon its usage. Any object used in an aggressive or reckless manner shall fall under
the consequences of this section. All students are permitted to turn in “dangerous objects/other
weapons” which may have been accidentally brought to school as soon as they are discovered
thus averting the serious consequences described by the regulations.

Note: Look alike and/or toy weapons will be included in the category of “other weapons,” and
will result in serious consequences for students who intend to use them to frighten, harass, or
intimidate others and then use the disclaimer “it was only a toy."
Reference School Board Policy JICI

59



DR
AF
T

Level I Level II Level III Level IV Level V

Classroom Behavior Disruptive Behavior Rule Violations Safety Violations Gross Misconduct

Consequences at teacher

discretion

Detention and/or Loss of

Privilege

1/2 -1 hour per disruption

In-School Suspension

(1-3 days)

Out of School Suspension

(1-10 days)

Out of School Suspension

(10+ days)

Teachers establish rules and

procedures that support a safe,

respectful environment

conducive to learning. They

may create and consistently

apply consequences around

behaviors that include but are

not limited to the following:

-Excessive Talking

-Work habits and practices

-Use of phones and other

devices

-Disruptive behaviors

Teachers may assign teacher

detention for violations of

classroom rules. Repeated

classroom rule violations should

be referred to administration.

Disruptive behaviors that

include but are not limited to:

-Skipping class

-Tardies

-Disrespect

-Directed profanity

-Insubordination

-Classroom disruption

-Skipped detentions

-Misuse of personal

electronics/phones

-Cheating/plagiarism

-Being out-of-area

-Bus behaviors

-Dress code violations

Rule violations that include

but are not limited to:

-Excessive Tardies

(10+)

-Failure to report to

office when sent

-Forgery

-Leaving

school grounds

-Bullying

-Racial harassment

-Sexual harassment

-Vandalism

-Theft

-Misuse of

computers/networks

-Misconduct

Safety Violations that include but

are not limited to:

-Fighting

-Assault

-Possession, use or being

under the influence of

alcohol, or other drugs.

-Use or possession of

drug paraphernalia, tobacco,

vaping equipment, etc.

-Threats

-Abusive conduct or

language

-Use or possession of

weapons or items to be

used as such.

-Threatening

behavior

-Sexual harassment

-Racial harassment

-Unsafe driving on school

property**

-Gross Misconduct

Behaviors that are deemed to be

gross misconduct may be referred

to the Superintendent of Schools

for additional suspension and/or

possible expulsion by the School

Board

Progressive Discipline Plan

60



DR
AF
T

Office Referral:
Administrators will determine consequences that may include an office after-school detention,
in-school suspension, out-of-school suspension or other appropriate positive reinforcement. A
meeting between the teacher-student (and possibly parent) may be required prior to the student
returning to the classroom.

Because of the variety and severity of offenses that may occur, the administration
reserves the right to adjust the consequences when necessary after conferring with the
referring teacher and referred student.

Teacher Detention
Teachers can assign detention to be served before or after school at their discretion for minor
classroom offenses such as tardiness, missing homework, lack of preparedness for class, or
talking out of turn. The assigning teacher and student will utilize this time together to discuss the
incident and create a plan so the incident is not repeated. Students will be provided 24-hour
notice prior to serving the detention and be released by 3:30 pm. Teacher detentions are not
included in a student's cumulative discipline record; however, missed teacher detentions and/or
repeated misconducts will be referred for administrative discipline. When serving a teacher
detention, students must report to the teacher’s classroom at the end of the school day.
Depending on the teacher and the conditions of that day’s attendance, the student may be
completing missed assignments or other academic tasks as assigned. When students leave their
assigned detention area, they are to report to the front entrance and remain there until they are
picked up. Note: phones and other electronic devices are not permitted during detention periods.
Office phones are available if needed.

Administrative Detention
Disciplines involving administrative detentions are retained in the school discipline files.
Detentions are held on Mondays and Wednesdays, and Thursdays. While serving administrative
detention, students report to the main office at the end of the school day. Students should bring
enough work or silent reading to occupy the designated detention period, either a half hour or a
full hour. When students leave their assigned detention area, they are to report to the front
entrance and remain there until they are picked up. Note: Phones and other electronic devices are
not permitted during detention periods. Office phones are available if needed.

In-School Suspension (ISS)
In-school suspension (ISS) is assigned for more serious or multiple discipline infractions. While
serving an in-school suspension, students will report to the ISS room and work on assignments
given to them by their classroom teacher. Use of phones and other electronic devices is not
permitted. Students will have their lunch in the ISS room.

Out-of-School Suspension (OSS)
Students who commit severe violations of school safety are suspended from school and are not
permitted on school grounds.

Suspension from School and Athletics/Participation in Co-Curricular Activities
Participation in co-curricular activities is a privilege at WLC. Students who choose to participate

61



DR
AF
T

are representing our school and are held to a high standard. Students who receive either ISS or
OSS are also suspended from participating in athletic practices and games as well as
participation in any co-curricular activities during or after school. This suspension will last from
the date of suspension through its duration. Any student sent to the office for founded
disciplinary reasons who is participating in a co-curricular activity will may be excluded from
participation on that day. This includes practice, games, competitions, or performances. Students
who have continued disciplinary actions will be excluded from co-curricular activities.

Make-up work after an OSS
Students receive full credit for work completed during an OSS. Students should coordinate
missing work with individual teachers. It is the student’s responsibility to seek out the teacher’s
assistance and make up work.

Suspension and Expulsion of Students (RSA 193:13)
● The Superintendent is authorized to suspend students from school for gross misconduct

or for neglect or refusal to conform to the reasonable rules of the school, providing that
where there is a suspension lasting beyond 10 school days, the parent or guardian has the
right to appeal such suspension to the local school board. Suspension to continue beyond
20 school days must be approved by the local school board.

● Any student may be expelled from school by the local school board for gross misconduct,
for neglect or refusal to conform to the reasonable rules of the school, for an act of theft,
destruction, or violence as defined in RSA 193D:1, or for possession of a pellet or BB
gun or rifle. The student shall not attend school until restored by the local board. Any
expulsion shall be subject to review if requested prior to the start of each school year
further; any parent or guardian has the right to appeal any such expulsion by the local
school board to the State Board of Education.

● Any student who brings or possesses a firearm as defined in Section 921 of Title 18
U.S.C. in a safe school zone as defined in RSA 193-D:1 without written authorization
from the superintendent or designee shall be expelled from school by the local school
board for a period of not less than 12 months. Any expulsion shall be subject to review by
the local school board if requested by a parent or guardian prior to the start of each school
year, and further, any parent or guardian shall have the right to appeal any such expulsion
by the local school board to the state Board of Education.

● Any student expelled by a local school board under the provisions of the Gun-Free
School Act of 1994 shall not be eligible to enroll in another school district in New
Hampshire for the period of the expulsion. Nothing in this section shall be construed to
prevent the local school district that expelled student from providing educational services
to such student in an alternative setting.

● A student expelled from school in another state under the provisions of the Gun-Free
School Act of 1994 shall not be eligible to enroll in a school district in NH for the period
of the expulsion.

I. Student Conduct
A. Students will stay on the curb or off pavement at the side of the road until bus

stops, door is open and lights are flashing.

62



DR
AF
T

B. Students will board buses in single file and fill seats as assigned by the driver.
C. Students will stay in their seats at all times, with feet on the floor; they will not

change seats without permission of the driver.
D. Students will not lower windows without permission of the driver. Hands and

heads must never be extended from open windows.
E. No smoking at all on any bus, including charter trips.
F. No profane language, obscene gestures, excessive noise, fighting, wrestling, or acts

of physical aggression will be tolerated.
G. Once a student has boarded the bus, he/she may not get off except at his/her

destination. (Exemption will be made only with a note from the principal.)
H. Students may ride only the bus to which they are assigned. (Exemption will be made only

with a note from a principal).
I. Students must be seated and are not permitted to change seats when the bus is in motion or

to annoy other riders on the bus

Reference School Board Policy JICC

Important School Board Policies:

Acceptable Use Policy for use of Computers, Computer Network
and Internet Access(AUP)

I. Statement of Purpose and Intent
The Wilton-Lyndeborough Cooperative School District (“School District”) is providing
access for its students and employees to computers, computer networks, and the internet (the
“Computer Systems and Network” when referred to collectively). This service allows
employees and students to share information, learn new concepts, research diverse subjects,
and create and maintain school-based websites.

The School District has adopted this “Acceptable Use Policy” to set guidelines for accessing
Computer Systems and Network service provided by the School District.

Every year, students and employees who want access to the Computer Systems and Network
will need to sign and return an Acceptable Use Policy Agreement (“AUP Agreement”) to the
School District for that year. Students who are under 18 must also have their parents or
guardians sign the Acceptable Use Policy Agreement. In addition, students must also follow
any school procedures developed at the school site.

By signing an AUP Agreement, the student, employee and parent or guardian agree to follow
the rules set forth in this Acceptable Use Policy and to report any misuse of the computer
systems and network (or any component thereof) to a teacher or supervisor.

Parties agreeing to this Acceptable Use Policy also understand the School District may, in its

63



DR
AF
T

sole discretion, revise the Acceptable Use Policy at any time as it deems necessary.

Once a student or employee has returned the signed AUP Agreement, the District will assign
an access “Account” to the student or employee.

The Account may only be used during the time the user is a student or employee of the
School District. Anyone who receives an Account is responsible for making sure it is used
properly.

II. Acceptable Uses of the Computer Network or the Internet
The Account provided by the School District should be used only for educational or
professional purposes. Staff may use the Internet for personal use only if such use is
incidental and occurs during their duty-free time or is minimal and is otherwise in
compliance with the terms of this Acceptable Use Policy.

If a user is uncertain about whether a particular use of the Computer Systems and Network is
appropriate, he or she should consult or contact the Technology Coordinator.

III. Unacceptable Uses of the Computer Network or the Internet
The following uses of the Account provided by the School District are unacceptable:

A. Uses that violate any state or federal law or municipal ordinance are unacceptable.
Unacceptable uses include, but are not limited to the following:
1. Selling or purchasing any illegal substance;
2. Accessing, transmitting, or downloading child pornography, obscene

depictions, harmful materials, or materials that encourage others to violate the
law; or

3. Transmitting or downloading confidential information or copyrighted material

B. Uses that involve the accessing, transmitting or downloading of inappropriate
matters on the Internet, as determined by the School Board or its designate(s) or
any other related authority.

C. Uses that involve obtaining and or using anonymous emails.
D. Uses that cause harm to others or damage to their property are unacceptable.

Unacceptable uses include, but are not limited to the following:
1. Deleting, copying, modifying, or forging other user’s emails, files, or data;
2. Damaging the Computer Systems and Network, any part thereof, or any files

or data stored within the Computer Systems and Network;
3. Using profane, abusive, or impolite language in transmittals;
4. Disguising one’s identity, impersonating other users, or sending anonymous

e-mail messages;
5. Threatening, harassing, or making defamatory or false statements about others;
6. Accessing, transmitting, or downloading offensive, harassing, or disparaging

materials;
7. Accessing, transmitting or downloading computer viruses or other harmful

files or programs, or in any way degrading or disrupting the performance of
any part of the Computer Systems and Network;

8. Accessing, transmitting, or downloading large files, including “chain letters”
64



DR
AF
T

or any type of “pyramid schemes.”
E. Uses that jeopardize access or lead to unauthorized access into Accounts or other

computer networks are unacceptable. Unacceptable uses include, but are not
limited to the following:
1. Using other users’ Account password or identifiers;
2. Accessing another person’s email or account without their permission, and as a

result of that access, reading or forwarding the other User’s emails or files
without that User’s permission;

3. Disclosing one’s Account password to other users or allowing other users to
use one’s Account;

4. Getting unauthorized access into other users’ Accounts or other computer
networks; or

5. Interfering with other users’ ability to access their Accounts.
6. Using any District computer or part of the Computer Systems and Network to

attempt hacking into computer systems, files or data, or otherwise attempting
to access information that is protected by privacy laws, irrespective of whether
such attempts are within the District’s own Computer Systems and Network.

7. Seeking to circumvent the District’s cyber security and content filtering
measures through the use of proxies.

F. Commercial uses are unacceptable. Unacceptable uses include, but are not limited
to the following:
1. Selling or buying anything over the Computer Systems and Network for

personal financial gain; or
2. Using the Computer Systems Network for advertising, promotion or financial

gain; or
3. Conducting for-profit business activities and engaging in non-government

related fundraising or public relations activities such as solicitation for
religious purposes, lobbying for political purposes, or soliciting votes.

IV. Internet Safety
A. The District will implement filtering and/or blocking software to restrict access to

Internet sites containing child pornography, obscene depictions, or other materials
harmful to minors less than 18 years of age. The software will work by scanning
for objectionable words or concepts, as determined by the School District.
However, no software is foolproof, and there is still risk a user of the Computer
Systems and Network may be exposed to a site containing such materials. An
Account user who accidentally connects to such a site must immediately
disconnect from the site and notify a teacher or supervisor. If an Account user sees
another user is accessing inappropriate sites or information, he or she should
notify a teacher or supervisor immediately.

B. The District and its representatives will implement a mechanism to monitor all
minors’ online activities, including website browsing, email use, chat room
participation and other forms of electronic communications. Such a mechanism
may lead to the discovery that a user has violated or may be violating this
Acceptable Use Policy, the appropriate disciplinary code or the law. Monitoring is
aimed to protect minors from accessing inappropriate matter, as well as

65



DR
AF
T

help enforce this Acceptable Use Policy, as determined by the school board, local
education agency or other related authority. The District also reserves the right
to monitor other users’ (e.g., employees, students 17 years or older) activities on
or through the Computer Systems and Network, and to access, review, copy, store
or delete any electronic communications or files and disclose them to others as it
deems necessary.

C. Information concerning student identity shall not be posted unless it is necessary
to receive information for instructional purposes, or as otherwise permitted in
writing by the student and the student’s parent or guardian if the student is
younger than 18.

D. Account users shall not reveal on the Internet personal information about
themselves or about other persons. For example, Account users should not reveal
their full name, home addresses, telephone numbers, school addresses, or parents’
names on the Internet.

E. Account users shall not meet in person anyone they have met on the Internet in a
secluded place or a private setting. Account users who are under the age of 18
shall not meet in person anyone they have met on the Internet without their
parent’s permission.

F. Account users will abide by all school district security policies.
.

V. Privacy Policy
The District has the authority to monitor all Accounts, including e-mail and other materials
transmitted or received via the Accounts. All such materials are the property of the School
District. Account users do not have any right to or expectation of privacy regarding such
materials.

VI. Storage Capacity
To ensure that Account users remain within the allocated disk space, users with email
accounts should check their email frequently and delete unwanted messages and other files
or data that take up excessive storage space. The District will also routinely delete messages
from Account users’ inbound and outbound log files, messages saved to the archive folders
on the system, and messages posted to the School District’s website.

VII. Penalties for Improper Use
The use of the Account is a privilege, not a right, and inappropriate use will result in the
restriction or cancellation of the Account. Inappropriate use may lead to any disciplinary
and/or legal action, including but not limited to suspension or expulsion or dismissal from
employment form the School District, or criminal prosecution by government authorities.
The School District will attempt to tailor any disciplinary action to meet the specific
concerns related to each violation.

VII. Disclaimer
A. The School District makes no guarantee about the quality of services provided

and is not responsible for any claims, losses, damages, costs, or other
obligations arising from the unauthorized use of the Accounts. The School

66



DR
AF
T

District also denies any responsibility for the accuracy or quality of
information obtained through the Account.

B. Any statement, accessible on the computer network or the Internet, is
understood to be the author’s individual point of view and not that of the
School District, its affiliates, or employees.

C. Account users are responsible for any losses sustained by the School District
or its affiliates, resulting from the Account users’ intentional misuse of the
Accounts.

For further information, please contact Technology Coordinator or System Administrator and/or refer
to School Board Policy JICL - School District Internet Access for Students.

JRA - Student Records and Information
Annual Notification of Rights under “FERPA” Access to Student Records
Notice Concerning Student Records

The Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA) affords parents and students over
18 years of age (“eligible students”) certain rights with respect to the student’s education
records. They are:

1. The right to inspect and review the student’s education records within 45 days of the
day the School District receives a request for access.

2. The right to request the amendment of the student’s education records that the parent
or eligible student believes is inaccurate or misleading.

3. The right to consent, or to deny consent, to disclosures of personally identifiable
information contained in the student’s education records, except to the extent that
FERPA authorizes disclosure without consent. One exception, which permits
disclosure without consent of a parent or eligible student, is disclosure to “school
officials with legitimate educational interest”. The terms “school official” and
“legitimate educational interest” are defined to include but not be limited to:

Release to intra-institutional officials such as teachers, counselors, and
administrators. Release to other schools where the student is seeking to enroll.
Release to federal and state officials for the purposes of evaluating or auditing a
program receiving federal or state support.
Release of information in connection with a student’s application for financial aid.
Release to official accrediting organization in conjunction with the accreditation
process. Release of necessary information in cases of health and safety emergencies.
Release to state and local officials if statutes or regulations requiring release were
adopted prior to November 19, 1974.
Release to organizations or persons developing validation information or conducting
predictive tests.
Release of such information as tuition bills and grades to parents of dependent
students. Release of information pursuant to judicial order or subpoena.

The School District may disclose without consent “directory information”, which is
67

http://www.sau63.org/cms/lib010/NH01912507/Centricity/domain/80/j%20policies/JICL%20-%20School%20District%20Internet%20Access%20for%20Students.pdf
http://www.sau63.org/cms/lib010/NH01912507/Centricity/domain/80/j%20policies/JICL%20-%20School%20District%20Internet%20Access%20for%20Students.pdf


DR
AF
T

information not generally considered harmful or an invasion of privacy if disclosed.
Directory information includes:

● Name of the student
● Participation in officially recognized teams or activities Student’s class designation
● Name of the school the student is attending Achievement, awards and honors

Parents may request, in writing to the building principal by October 1, of each school year,
that the School District refrain from making all or some of this directory information on their
child available to the public. Upon request, the School District discloses education records
without consent to officials of a school district in which a student seeks or intends to enroll.

4. The right to file a complaint with the U.S. Department of Education concerning
alleged failures by the School District to comply with the requirements of FERPA.

The Office that administers FERPA is: Family Policy Compliance Office
U.S. Department of Education 400 Maryland Avenue SW Washington, DC 20202-4605

First Reading: September 14, 2010
Second Reading: October 12, 2010
Final Adoption: October 12, 2010

Important School Board Policies: Safety/Student Discipline

NEPN/NSBA CODE: ACAA-R

STUDENT DISCRIMINATION AND HARASSMENT COMPLAINT PROCEDURE
This procedure has been adopted by the Board in order to provide a method of prompt and
equitable resolution of student complaints of discrimination or discriminatory harassment as
described in policies AC - Nondiscrimination/Equal Opportunity and ACAA - Harassment
and Sexual Harassment of Students. Complaints alleging discrimination or harassment of
employees or other third parties (such as parents, volunteers, vendors, etc.) should be
addressed through the
Board’s Employee & Third Party Discrimination and Harassment Complaint Procedure
(ACABR).

Definitions
For purposes of this procedure:
A. A “Complaint” is defined as an allegation that a student has been discriminated against or

harassed on the basis of sex, sexual orientation, religion, race, color, ancestry, national
origin, age, marital status, familial status, physical or mental disability.

B. “Discrimination or harassment” means discrimination or harassment on the basis of sex,
sexual orientation, religion, race, color, ancestry, national origin, age, marital status,
familial status, or physical or mental disability. “Discrimination” may include treating
individuals differently, or interfering with or preventing them from enjoying the

68



DR
AF
T

advantages or privileges afforded to others because of their membership in a protected
class. “Harassment” may include oral, written, graphic, electronic or physical conduct
relating to an individual’s actual or perceived membership in a protected class that is
sufficiently severe, pervasive or persistent so as to interfere with or limit that individual’s
ability to participate in the District’s programs or activities by creating a hostile,
intimidating or offensive educational environment.

C. Complaints of bullying and cyberbullying not involving the protected classes described
above may also be pursued under Board Policy JICIB – Bullying and Cyberbullying.

How to Make a Complaint
A. Any individual who believes a student has been discriminated against or harassed should

report his/her concern in writing promptly to the Building Administrator or the
Nondiscrimination Officer/Title IX Coordinator and utilize this complaint procedure.
Individuals who are unsure whether discrimination or harassment has occurred or who
need assistance in preparing a written complaint, are encouraged to discuss the situation
with the Building Administrator or the Nondiscrimination Officer/Title IX Coordinator.

B. School employees are expected to report possible incidents of discrimination or
harassment of students to the Building Administrator or the Nondiscrimination
Officer/Title IX Coordinator.

C. Students and others will not be retaliated against for making a Complaint or participating
in an investigation. Retaliation is illegal under state and federal nondiscrimination laws and
any retaliation by students or school staff will result in disciplinary measures, up to and
including expulsion or dismissal

D. Students are encouraged to utilize this Complaint Procedure. However, students are
hereby notified that they also have the right to report complaints to the New Hampshire

Commission for Human Rights, 2 Chenell Drive, Unit 2, Concord, NH 03301-8501
(telephone: 603-271-2767) and/or to the federal Office for Civil Rights, Regional Director,
U.S. Department of Education, 5 Post Office Square, 8th Floor, Boston, MA 02110-1491
(telephone: 617-289-0111).

Complaint Handling and Investigation
A. The Building Administrator or the Nondiscrimination Officer/Title IX Coordinator shall

promptly inform the Superintendent and the person(s) who is the subject of the Complaint
that a Complaint has been received.

B. The Building Administrator or the Nondiscrimination Officer/Title IX Coordinator may
pursue a prompt and equitable informal resolution of the Complaint with the agreement of
the parties involved. Any party to the Complaint may decide to end an informal resolution
process and pursue the formal process at any point. The informal resolution is subject to
the approval of the Superintendent, who shall consider whether the informal resolution is
in the best interest of the parties in light of the particular circumstances and applicable
policies and laws.

69



DR
AF
T

C. The Complaint will be investigated by the Nondiscrimination Officer/Title IX
Coordinator or by another internal or external investigator designated by the
Superintendent. Any Complaint about an employee who holds a supervisory position shall
be investigated by a person who is not subject to that supervisor’s authority. Any
Complaint about the Superintendent should be submitted to the Chair of the School
Board, who should consult with legal counsel concerning the handling and investigation
of the Complaint.

1. The person who is the subject of the Complaint will be provided with an opportunity to be
heard as part of the investigation. The Complainant shall not be required to attend
meetings with the subject of the Complaint, but may choose to do so as part of the
resolution process.

2. The Complainant and the subject of the Complaint may suggest witnesses and/or submit
materials they believe are relevant to the Complaint.

3. If the Complaint is against an employee of the District, any applicable individual or
collective bargaining contract provisions shall be followed.

4. Privacy rights of all parties to the Complaint shall be maintained in accordance with
applicable state and federal laws.

5. The Nondiscrimination Officer/Title IX Coordinator shall keep a written record of the
Complaint and investigation.

6. The Nondiscrimination Officer/Title IX Coordinator or the Superintendent may take
interim remedial measures to reduce the risk of further discrimination or harassment while
the investigation is pending. Examples of interim measures include, but are not limited to,
ordering no contact between individuals, changing schedules or classes, etc.

7. The Nondiscrimination Officer/Title IX Coordinator or other designated investigator shall
consult with the Superintendent concerning the investigation, conclusions, and any
remedial and/or disciplinary actions.

8. The investigation shall be completed within 21 business days of receiving the Complaint,
if practicable.

D. If the Nondiscrimination Officer/Title IX Coordinator or other designated investigator
determines that discrimination or harassment occurred, he/she shall, in consultation with the
Superintendent:
1. Determine what remedial action, if any is needed to end the discrimination or harassment,

remedy its effects, and prevent recurrence
2. Determine what disciplinary action should be taken against the person(s) who engaged in

discrimination or harassment, if any; and
3. Inform the complainant and the subject of the Complaint in writing of the results of the

investigation and its resolution (in accordance with applicable state and federal privacy
laws and any applicable collective bargaining agreement provisions).

E. If the complainant is dissatisfied with the resolution, an appeal may be made in writing to
the Superintendent within 14 business days after receiving notice of the resolution. The
Superintendent shall review the investigation report and may conduct further investigation
if deemed appropriate. The Superintendent’s decision shall be provided in writing to the
complainant within 21 business days, if practicable. The Superintendent’s decision shall
be final.

70



DR
AF
T

Legal Reference:
Americans with Disabilities Act (28 CFR § 35.107), as amended Section 504 of the
Vocational Rehabilitation Act (29 U.S.C. § 794), as amended; 34 CFR § 104.7

Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972 (20 U.S.C. § 1681 et seq.)

Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (P.L. 88-352) 20 U.S.C. § 1232g; 34 CFR Part 99
NH Code Admin R. Ed. 303.01(i) and (j)
Cross Reference:
AC - Nondiscrimination/Equal Opportunity
ACAA - Harassment and Sexual Harassment of Students
ACAB/ACAB-R – Harassment and Sexual Harassment of Employees/Employee & Third
Party Discrimination and Harassment Complaint Procedure

NEPN/NSBA Code: ACAA, HARASSMENT AND SEXUAL HARASSMENT OF
STUDENTS
Harassment of students because of sex, sexual orientation, religion, race, color, ancestry,
national origin, age, marital status, familial status, physical or mental disability is prohibited.
Such conduct is a violation of Board policy and may constitute illegal discrimination under
state and federal laws.

Harassment includes but is not limited to verbal abuse based on sex, sexual orientation,
religion, race, color, ancestry, national origin, age, marital status, familial status, or physical
or mental disability. Complaints of bullying and cyberbullying not based on the
characteristics described above may also be pursued under Board Policy JICIB – Bullying
and Cyberbullying.

Sexual Harassment
Sexual harassment includes but is not limited to unwelcome sexual advances, requests for
sexual favors or pressure to engage in sexual activity, physical contact of a sexual nature,
gestures, comments, or other physical, written or verbal conduct that is gender-based that
interferes with a student’s education. School employees, fellow students, volunteers and
visitors to the school, and other persons with whom students may interact in order to pursue
school activities are required to refrain from such conduct.

Harassment/sexual harassment of students by school employees is considered grounds for
disciplinary action, up to and including discharge. Harassment/sexual harassment of students
by other students is considered grounds for disciplinary action, up to and including
expulsion. The Superintendent will determine appropriate sanctions for harassment of
students by persons other than school employees and students.

The Superintendent or the employee designated as the Nondiscrimination Officer will
investigate complaints of harassment in accordance with the Student Discrimination and
Harassment Complaint Procedure. School employees, students, and parents shall be informed
of this policy/procedure through handbooks and/or other means selected by the school
administration.

71



DR
AF
T

Legal Reference:
Americans with Disabilities Act (28 CFR § 35.07), as amended
Section 504 of the Vocational Rehabilitation Act (29 USC § 794), as amended; 34 CFR §
104.7
Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972 (20 USC § 1681 et seq.) Title VI of the Civil
Rights Act of 1964 (P.L. 88-352)
NH Code Admin. R. Ed. 303.01(i) and (j) Cross Reference:
ACAA-R – Student Discrimination and Harassment Complaint Procedure AC –
Nondiscrimination/Equal Opportunity
JICIB – Bullying and Cyberbullying

First Reading: June 2, 2010
Second Reading: August 10, 2010
Final Adoption: August 10, 2010
Revision: June 25, 2013
PROCEDURES IMPLEMENTING NON-DISCRIMINATION ON THE BASIS OF

DISABILITY POLICY

A. Coordinator
The Coordinator of this policy, under the federal law cited below, shall be known as the
section 504 Coordinator and ADA Coordinator. The Coordinator may be contacted at the
Special Education Office.

Inquiries regarding the non-discrimination policy, the filing of grievances, and requests for
copies of grievance procedures covering discrimination should be directed to the coordinator.

B. Content of Notice of Non-Discrimination Policy
The SAU #63 has prepared and shall use the following form of notice (the “Notice”):
“It is the policy of SAU #63 not to discriminate on the basis of race, color, national origin,
age, sex or disability in its educational programs, activities or employment policies as
required by Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, Provision of Title VI of the Civil
Rights Act of 1964, the Age Discrimination Act of 1967, title IX of the Education
Amendments of 1972, the Education of All Handicapped Children Act of 1975, the
Individuals with Disabilities Education Act of 1990 and the Americans with Disabilities Act
of 1991.”

Inquiries regarding Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, ADA and 34 C.F.R. Part
104 may be directed to the Superintendent of Schools, 192 Forest Road, Lyndeborough, NH
03082 or the State Department of Education, 101 Pleasant Street, Concord, NH 03301.

Any person having inquiries concerning Title IX or the Education Amendments of 1972 and 34
C.F.R. Part 106 may contact the Title IX Coordinator, Department of Education, 101 Pleasant Street,
Concord NH 03302, or the Assistant and/or Regional Director, United States Department of
Education, Office for Civil Rights, Region I, Boston, Massachusetts.

72



DR
AF
T

SUMMARY OF PARENT/STUDENT RIGHTS UNDER SECTION 504 OF THE
REHABILITATION ACT OF 1973

The following is a summary of the rights granted under federal law to qualified disabled
students and their parents. The full provisions of the federal law creating these rights can be
found at 29 U.S.C. Section 794 (Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973); and 34
C.F.R. Part 104 et. Seq. A copy of the full regulations is available from the 504 Coordinator.

Qualified Disabled Students:
may not, on the basis of disability, be excluded from participation in, or denied the benefits
of, programs or activities offered by the District;

may not, be discriminated against on the basis of their disability in connection with any
program or activity of the District;

have a right to be educated in facilities and receive services comparable to those provided for
non- disabled students;

have a right to be educated with non-disabled students to the maximum extent appropriate;

have a right to receive a free appropriate public education. (For purposes of Section 504 of
the Rehabilitation Act, a “free appropriate public education” means the provision of regular
or special education and related aids and services that are designed to meet the individual
educational needs of the qualified disabled student as adequately as the needs of the
non-disabled students are met);

have a right to an equal opportunity to participate with non-disabled students in
non-academic and extracurricular services and activities offered by the District;

have a right to have evaluation, educational and placement decisions made based upon a
variety of information sources; and to have placement decisions made by a group of persons,
including persons knowledgeable about the student, the meaning of the evaluation date and
placement options;

have a right to be placed in the regular educational environment operated by the District
unless the District demonstrates that the education of the student in the regular education
environment with the use of supplementary aids and services cannot be achieved
satisfactorily;

and their parents have a right to be advised by the District regarding the District’s duties
under Section 504.

Parents of Qualified Disabled Person have a right:
1. to examine all relevant education records relating to their child;
2. to request mediation through the State Department of Education, and/or to request an

impartial

73



DR
AF
T

hearing before a hearing officer and/or any other means available through state of federal
law, in the event that they disagree with an action regarding identification, evaluation,
services or placement of the person.
In such a hearing a parent shall have the opportunity to participate and be represented by
counsel:

a) to file a local grievance; and
b) to ask for the payment of reasonable attorney’s fees, if the parent prevails, and to

the extent provided by law.
NOTE: Due to the hearing process requests should be filed with the Commissioner, New
Hampshire State Department of Education, 101 Pleasant Street, Concord, NH 03301.

JICD - Student Conduct, Discipline and Due Process - Safe School Zone
Inappropriate student conduct that causes material and substantial disruption to the school
environment, interferes with the rights of others, or presents a threat to the health and safety of others
will not be tolerated. Students are expected to exhibit appropriate classroom behavior that allows
teachers to communicate and educate effectively.

Students will conduct themselves in a manner fitting to their age level and maturity and with
respect and consideration for the rights of others while on school district property or property
within the jurisdiction of the school district; while on school owned and/or operated school
or chartered vehicles; while attending or engaged in school activities; and while away from
school grounds if misconduct will directly affect the good order, efficient management and
welfare of the school district. Consequences for the misconduct will be fair and
developmentally appropriate in light of the circumstances.

Students who fail to abide by this policy and the administrative regulations supporting it may
be disciplined for conduct which disrupts or interferes with the education program; conduct
which disrupts the orderly and efficient operation of the school district or school activity;
conduct which disrupts the rights of other students to participate in or obtain their education;
conduct that is violent or destructive; or conduct which interrupts the maintenance of a
disciplined atmosphere. Disciplinary measures include, but are not limited to, removal from
the classroom, detention, suspension, probation, and expulsion.

Suspension means an in-school suspension, an out-of-school suspension, a restriction from
activities or loss of eligibility. An in-school suspension means the student will attend school
but will be temporarily isolated from one or more classes while under supervision. An
in-school suspension will not exceed ten consecutive school days. An out-of-school
suspension means the student is removed from the school environment, which includes
school classes and activities.
An out-of-school suspension will not exceed ten days. A restriction from school activities
means a student will attend school and classes and practice but will not participate in school
activities.

Probation means a student is given a conditional suspension of a penalty for a definite period
of time in addition to being reprimanded. The conditional suspension will mean the student
must meet the conditions and terms for the suspension of the penalty. Failure of the student to

74



DR
AF
T

meet these conditions and terms will result in immediate reinstatement of the penalty.

Expulsion means an action by the Wilton-Lyndeborough Cooperative School Board to
remove a student from the school environment, which includes, but is not limited to, classes
and activities, for a period of time set by the Board.

Due process in accordance with all applicable laws will be afforded to any student involved
in a proceeding that may result in suspension, exclusion, or expulsion. Students expelled
from school may be reinstated by the Board under the provisions of RSA 193:13.

The Superintendent may modify expulsion requirements as provided in RSA 193:14, IV.

Students receiving special education services will be disciplined in accordance with the
student's IEP and all applicable provisions of the Individual with Disabilities Education Act
(IDEA).

At all times, students are required to conduct themselves in accordance with behavioral
standards set forth in Policy JIC and all other applicable Board policies.
Students and parents will be notified annually of this policy.

Legal References:
RSA 193:13, Suspension & Expulsion of Pupils
NH Code of Administrative Rules, Section Ed 306.04(a)(3), Student Discipline NH Code of
Administrative Rules, Section Ed 306.04(f), Student Discipline
NH Code of Administrative Rules, Section Ed 317.04(b), Disciplinary Procedures See
Appendix: JICD-R
First Reading: June 2, 2010
Second Reading: July 13, 2010
Final Adoption: August 10, 2010

 

75



DR
AF
T

Safe Schools Board Policies

JICH - Drug and Alcohol Use by Students

The Wilton-Lyndeborough Cooperative School Board is concerned with the health, welfare and safety
of its students. Therefore, the use, sale, transfer, distribution, possession or being under the influence
of unauthorized prescription drugs, alcohol, narcotics, unauthorized inhalants, controlled substances,
and illegal drugs is prohibited on any school district property, in any district- owned vehicle, or in any
other district-approved vehicle used to transport students to and from school or district activities.
This prohibition also applies to any district-sponsored or district- approved activity, event or function.
The use, sale, transfer or possession of drug-related paraphernalia is also prohibited.

For the purposes of this policy, a controlled substance shall include any controlled substance
as defined in the Controlled Substances Act, 21 U.S.C. § 812(c), or RSA 318-B, Controlled
Drug Act.

Students may only be in possession of medication as detailed in Board Policy JLCD.
Searches of persons reasonably suspected to be in violation of this policy will be conducted
in accordance with Board Policy JIH.

Any student who is found by the administration to be in violation of this policy shall be
referred for prosecution and subject to disciplinary action up to and including suspension,
expulsion or other discipline in accordance with the district's disciplinary policy. Strict
compliance is mandatory. The school principal shall immediately report all incidents
involving a controlled substance to the appropriate local law enforcement agency and the
superintendent. All controlled substances shall be turned over to local law enforcement.

Students with disabilities who violate this policy will be disciplined in accordance with the
student's Individual Education Program (IEP.)

Legal References:
21 U.S.C. § 812(c), Controlled Substances Act RSA 318-C, Controlled Drug Act
RSA 571-C:2, Intoxicating Beverages at Interscholastic Athletic Contests

First Reading: September 14, 2010
Second Reading: October 12, 2010
Final Adoption: October 12, 2010

JICDD - STUDENT DISCIPLINE: OUT-OF-SCHOOL ACTIONS
The Wilton-Lyndeborough Cooperative School Board recognizes that out-of-school and
off-campus student conduct is not normally the concern of the Board. However, the Board

76



DR
AF
T

also recognizes that some out-of-school and off-campus conduct may have an adverse effect
upon the school, school property, or school staff.

Therefore, it shall be the policy of this Board that the Board or school administrators may
impose disciplinary measures against students for some out-of-school or off-campus conduct.
Discipline may be imposed if, in the principal's opinion, such out-of-school conduct causes a
significant disruption or substantial interference with the school's educational mission,
purpose, or objectives. Additionally, any off-campus or out-of-school behavior that has a
strong potential to disrupt normal school operations may also be met with appropriate
disciplinary actions by the Board or school administrators.

Out-of-school and off-campus student conduct that may subject a student to discipline
includes, but is not limited to:

1. Damaging school property;
2. Violence at or near the school's bus stop, either before or after the school day;
3. Drinking alcohol, using tobacco products, or using illegal drugs at or near the school

bus stop, either before or after the school day;
4. Damaging the private property of school staff or employees; or
5. Any other activity the Board or administration determines impedes the general welfare

of scholastic activities.

Cyber-Bullying and Internet Threats
The Board also recognizes that there are growing occurrences of "cyber-bullying" and
threatening language being used by students on the internet when out-of-school and
off-campus. Instances of cyber-bullying have a direct and substantial effect on students, staff
and student performance. Cyber-bullying includes, but is not limited to, the following
actions: harassing, teasing, intimidating, threatening, or terrorizing another person by sending
or posting inappropriate and hurtful e-mail messages, instant messages, text messages, digital
pictures or images, or Web site postings, including blogs.

The Board recognizes that this definition may not be all-inclusive. Therefore, the Board
reserves the right to impose discipline for actions that may fall outside this definition but are
still within the general purposes of this policy.

Students or staff who believe they have been victims of cyberbullying should report their
concerns to a teacher or the building principal. Students or staff who believe they have been
victims of cyberbullying are encouraged to print the relevant material and provide copies to a school
district employee.

The administration shall fully investigate all reports of cyber-bullying.

The Board may impose disciplinary measures against person who is found to have engaged
in such behavior, provided the cyber-bullying and/or internet threats:

1. Violate any school district rules or regulations;
2. Contains threats of violence against staff members or students;
3. Threatens vandalism to school property;

77



DR
AF
T

4. Suggests or advocates physical harm to staff members or students;
5. Creates a disruption to the school's educational mission, purpose and objectives; or
6. Interrupts or severely impedes the day-to-day operations of the school.

Any staff member who learns of an occurrence of cyberbullying and/or internet threats shall
report the same to the Principal, who shall then conduct an investigation into the alleged
bullying and/or threat.

Any discipline imposed by virtue of this policy will be in accordance and consistent with the
Board's policy regarding student discipline.

First Reading: September 14, 2010
Second Reading: October 12, 2010

JICIB - Bullying and Cyberbullying - Pupil Safety and Violence Prevention

BULLYING AND CYBERBULLYING

The Wilton-Lyndeborough Cooperative School Board believes that students are entitled to learn in a
school environment that is safe and secure. Students are expected to conduct themselves with respect
for others and in accordance with this policy and other Board policies and school rules governing
student conduct. The Board will take reasonable steps to protect all students from the harmful effects
of bullying and cyberbullying that occurs at school and/or that interferes with student learning and
orderly school operations.

The Superintendent is responsible for implementing this policy, but may delegate specific
responsibilities to administrators and others as he/she deems appropriate.

A. Prohibited Conduct
Students are prohibited from bullying and cyberbullying actions or communications directed
toward other students which:

1. Occur on, or are delivered to, school property or a school-sponsored activity or
event on or off school property; or

2. Occur off school property or outside of a school-sponsored activity or event, if the
conduct interferes with a student's educational opportunities or substantially
disrupts the orderly operations of the school or school-sponsored activity or event.

Students are further prohibited from retaliating against or making false accusations against a
victim, witness or anyone else who in good faith provides information about an alleged act of
bullying or cyberbullying.

B. Definitions
For the purposes of this policy, the following definitions shall apply:

1. "Bullying" means a single significant incident or a pattern of incidents involving a
written, verbal or electronic communication, or a physical act or gesture, or any
combination thereof, directed at another student which:
a. Physically harms a student or damages the student's property;

78



DR
AF
T

b. Causes emotional distress to a student. For the purposes of this policy, the
term "emotional distress" means distress that materially impairs the student's
participation in academic or other school-sponsored activities. The term
"emotional distress" does not include the unpleasantness or discomfort that
accompanies an unpopular viewpoint;

c. Interferes with a student's educational environment;
d. Creates a hostile educational environment; or
e. Substantially disrupts the orderly operation of the school.

"Bullying" shall also include actions motivated by an imbalance of power based on a
student's actual or perceived personal characteristics, behaviors or beliefs, or motivated by
the student's association with another person and based on the other person's characteristics,
behaviors or beliefs if those actions cause one or more of the results in paragraphs (a)
through (d) above.

Bullying or cyberbullying of a student on the basis of sex, sexual orientation, race, color, ancestry,
national origin, religion, age, marital status, familial status, pregnancy, physical or mental disability
may constitute illegal discrimination under federal and/or state laws.
Complaints regarding such conduct may be processed through the Board's Student
Discrimination and Harassment Complaint Procedure (ACAA-R).

2. "Cyberbullying" means conduct defined in Paragraph 1 that takes place through the
use of electronic devices.

3. "Electronic devices" include but are not limited to telephones, cellular phones,
computers, pagers, electronic mail, instant messaging, text messaging and websites.

4. "School property" means all real property and all physical plant and equipment used
for school purposes, including public or private school buses or vans.

5. "Perpetrator" means a student who engages in bullying or cyberbullying.
6. "Victim" means a student against whom bullying or cyberbullying has been

perpetrated.

C. Disciplinary Consequences and Intervention Programs
Administrators have the discretion to determine appropriate disciplinary consequences and/or
interventions for violations of this policy based upon the relevant facts and circumstances in
a particular case, including but not limited to the age and maturity of the students involved;
the type and frequency of the behavior; a student's willingness to cooperate in the
investigation and correct behavior; and the student's prior disciplinary record.

Disciplinary consequences may include detention, suspension or expulsion from school. In
addition, students may be required to participate in education programs, mediation,
counseling and/or other programs and/or activities to address and prevent recurrence of
bullying and cyberbullying behavior.

D. Reporting Bullying and Cyberbullying
Students who are subjected to bullying or cyberbullying, or who observe
bullying/cyberbullying by or against other students are strongly encouraged to report it to
any staff member/volunteer, who then should deliver the report to the building administrator.

79



DR
AF
T

School staff and volunteers are required to report possible incidents of bullying or
cyberbullying to the building principal as soon as practicable. Parents and other adults are
also encouraged to report any concerns about possible bullying or cyberbullying of students
to the building principal.

E. Report Handling and Investigation
1. The building administrator shall notify the parents/guardians of the alleged

victim(s) and perpetrator(s) that a bullying/cyberbullying report has been made
within 48 hours of the report and in accordance with applicable privacy laws.
However, the building principal or designee may request a waiver of this parent
notification requirement from the Superintendent. The Superintendent may waive
parent/guardian notification at this stage of the procedure if he/she determines this
to be in the best interest of the victim(s) and/or the perpetrator(s). Any such waiver
of the parent notification requirement shall be made in writing.

2. An investigation of the bullying/cyberbullying report will be initiated by the building
principal or designee within five school days.
a. The alleged perpetrator(s) will be provided the opportunity to be heard as

part of the investigation.
b. Privacy rights of all parties shall be maintained in accordance with

applicable laws.
c. The building principal or designee shall keep a written record of the

investigation process.
d. The building administrator or designee may take interim remedial measures

to reduce the risk of further bullying/cyberbullying, retaliation and/or to
provide assistance to the alleged victim while the investigation is pending.

e. The building administrator or designee shall consult with the Superintendent
as appropriate concerning the investigation and any remedial measures or
assistance provided.

f. The investigation shall be completed within 21 school days of receipt of the
report, if practicable. The Superintendent may grant in writing an extension
of time to complete the investigation of up to 7 additional school days if
necessary. The Superintendent shall notify all parties involved of any such
extension.

g. If the building principal or designee substantiates the bullying/cyberbullying
report, he/she shall, in consultation with the Superintendent determine what
remedial and/or disciplinary actions should be taken against the
perpetrator(s) and determine what further assistance should be provided the
victim(s), if any.

h. The building principal or designee shall inform the victim(s), the
perpetrator(s) and their parents/guardians in writing of the results of the
investigation and any remedies and/or assistance provided by the school,
including strategies for protecting students from retaliation. Such
communication shall be provided within 10 school days and shall be in
compliance with applicable privacy laws.

80



DR
AF
T

F. Training
1. The school administration shall provide appropriate training on this policy for

school employees, regular school volunteers and any employees of companies
contracted to provide services directly to students. The purpose of the training is to
prevent bullying/cyberbullying if possible, and to educate staff on how to properly
identify, respond to and report incidents of bullying/cyberbullying.

2. The school administration shall provide age-appropriate education programs for
students and parents regarding this policy, bullying/cyberbullying prevention, how
to identify, respond to and report bullying/cyberbullying.

All training and education programs shall be initially approved by the Superintendent.
Building administrators are responsible for scheduling the required training and education
programs each year.

G. Annual Report to New Hampshire Department of Education
The Superintendent shall prepare and submit an annual report of substantiated bullying/
cyberbullying incidents on the form provided by the New Hampshire Department of
Education. Such reports shall not contain personally identifiable information regarding
students.

H. Immunity
Any employee of the school unit or contract company, regular school volunteer, student or
parent/guardian shall be immune from civil liability for good faith conduct arising out of or
pertaining to the reporting, investigation, findings, and the development or implementation of
any recommended response under this policy.

Policy Dissemination
This policy shall be posted on the district website and included in student and employee
handbooks. It shall also be provided to employees of any company contracted to provide
services directly to students. The policy may also be disseminated by other means as
determined by the Superintendent.

Legal References: NH RSA 193-F:2-F:10
Cross References: AC - Nondiscrimination/Equal Opportunity ACAA - Harassment and Sexual
Harassment of Students ACAA-R - Harassment and Sexual Harassment of
Students Complaint Procedure

JICIB – Bullying and Cyberbullying

First Reading: June 2, 2010
Second Reading: August 10, 2010
Final Adoption: August 10, 2010
Revision: June 25, 2013

Title IX Regulations
In compliance with the implementation of the Title IX of the Education Amendments of
1972, prohibiting sex discrimination in education, “no person in the United States shall on
the basis of sex, be excluded from participation in, be denied the benefits of, or be subjected

81



DR
AF
T

to discrimination under any educational program or activity receiving federal assistance” and
furthermore; that the requirements not to discriminate in education programs and activities is
extended to employment practices therein and admission thereto.

It is the policy of School Administration Unit #63 that all employees and students should be
able to work in an environment that is free of sexual harassment.

Complaints regarding compliance with Title IX regulations should be submitted in
writing to:
Title IX Coordinator –Kristie LaPlante
192 Forest Road
Lyndeborough, NH 03082
Phone: (603)732-9227

Safe School Reporting
193-D:4 Written Report Required.
I. (a) Any public or private school employee who has witnessed or who has information from the
victim of an act of theft, destruction, or violence in a safe school zone shall report such act in writing
immediately to a supervisor. A supervisor receiving such a report shall immediately forward such
information to the school principal who shall file it with the local law enforcement authority. Such a
report shall be made by the principal to the local law enforcement authority immediately, by
telephone or otherwise, and shall be followed within 48 hours by a report in writing. If the alleged
victim is a student, the principal shall also immediately notify the person responsible for the victim's
welfare, as defined in RSA 169-C:3, XXII, that a report was made to the local law enforcement
authority.
(b) The provisions of subparagraph (a) shall not apply to any simple assault involving pupils in
kindergarten through grade 12 if the local school board has adopted a discipline policy which sets
forth circumstances under which parents shall be notified of simple assaults.
(c) Each school district, in conjunction with the local law enforcement authority, shall establish a
memorandum of understanding for administering the provisions of RSA 193-D:4, I(a)-(c).
II. The report required under paragraph I shall include:
(a) The name and home address, if known, of any person suspected of committing an act of theft,
destruction, or violence in a safe school zone.
(b) The name and home address, if known, of any witness to the act of theft, destruction, or violence
in a safe school zone.
(c) Identification of the act of theft, destruction, or violence as defined in RSA 193-D:1 that was
allegedly committed.

Reference School Board Policy JICD-R

School Health & Wellness Policy

The Wilton-Lyndeborough Cooperative School District is committed to promoting wellness
and academic performance in schools through curriculum, activities, and life skills. Wellness
is a result of both health promotion and disease prevention which includes intellectual health
(knowledge), physical health, and social-emotional health. Modeling by adults coupled with

82



DR
AF
T

peer reinforcement can help shape healthy habits in school children. A cooperative integrated
effort between administrators, food service professionals, school nurses, physical and health
educators, teachers, parents, and students is necessary. Click here for WLC’s complete
Health and Wellness Policy.

Guidelines for School Wellness Implementation
1. Foods Available at School (outside the school nutrition program to include the

following)
▪ Vending machines
▪ Beverage contracts
▪ Fundraisers
▪ Student stores
▪ School parties/celebrations
▪ Classroom projects

1.1. Healthy snacks will be encouraged and modeled by all classroom teachers at
classroom events during school hours. Classroom teachers shall limit the number
of non-healthy snacks permitted during classroom events.

1.2. Classroom teachers will encourage students to consume foods only during
designated times and in designated locations.

1.3. The Guidelines for Food and Beverage as developed by the California Center for
Public Advocacy will be used as the guideline for defining healthy food choices.

1.4. A letter will go home to parents at the beginning of each school year for students
in grades K-12 encouraging them to support healthy food choices for parties at
school and delineate individual classroom practices when appropriate.

DEFINITIONS OF CLUBS & ORGANIZATIONS
83

http://www.sau63.org/cms/lib010/NH01912507/Centricity/domain/80/j%20policies/JLCF-wellness%20policy%20-Final%20Adoption.pdf


DR
AF
T

Baseball Teams
Baseball is a varsity and Middle School spring sport that is offered to boys.

Basketball Teams
Basketball is a varsity, junior varsity and Middle School winter sport that is offered to boys
and girls.

Band & Chorus
The music department offers students the opportunities to be part of band and/or chorus.
Students perform for two (2) concerts (December and May) and sometimes for special school
assemblies.

Dance Team
The Dance Team seeks students through open auditions each fall. The students practice
throughout the year and participate in several competitions. There is usually at least one
performance at the school during the spring. Open to both high school and middle school.

Drama Club
The Drama Club performs up to two shows a year and invites all students to audition for
each show. Students not wishing to perform may sign up to work on the technical crew.
Grades 6-12 are welcome!

Dungeons and Dragons Club
A teacher-run middle and high school group for all ability levels.

GSA
The GSA is a student-run club which provides a safe and supportive environment for
LGBTQ youth and their allies.

High School Math Team
Tryouts are held each fall. The team competes in 5 SMASH Math League competitions and
the State Math Contest each year.

Middle School Math Team
The Middle School Math Team consists of students who enjoy math. They meet on a regular
basis to do challenging problems. In early February a qualifying test is given to the group
and the best eight (8) students are chosen to represent WLC at the MathCounts Competition
at Keene State College.

National Honor Society
The National Honor Society (NHS) is the nation's premier organization established to
recognize outstanding high school students. More than just an honor roll, NHS serves to
recognize those students who have demonstrated excellence in the areas of scholarship,
leadership, service, and character. The National Association of Secondary School Principals

84

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/LGBT
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Straight_ally


DR
AF
T

(NASSP) officially established the NHS in 1921 and continues to regulate it today.

Election to membership in the National Honor Society represents the highest honor and trust
that can be bestowed upon a student at WLC. Membership in the society is indicative that the
student is not only demonstrating and promoting qualities of scholarship, leadership, service
and character, but is also exerting an effort to improve conditions in the school and
community. Students are invited to apply for NHS based on a minimum GPA of 3.5 and
selection is made by a faculty Advisory Board.

National Junior Honor Society
The National Junior Honor Society (NJHS) is the nation's premier organization established to
recognize outstanding young students.. More than just an honor roll, NJHS serves to
recognize those students who have demonstrated excellence in the areas of scholarship,
leadership, service, and character. The National Association of Secondary School Principals
(NASSP) officially established the NHS in 1929 and continues to regulate it today.

Peer Leaders
Peer Leaders are a group of 7th and 8th grade students selected by school staff members.
These students demonstrate strong leadership skills, are friendly and kind to their peers, and
serve as role models for the entire WLC middle school community. Peer Leaders are
responsible for programs such as Student of the Month, Red Ribbon Week, and Pennies for
Patients. This organization participates in activities that will benefit the school as a whole.

Robotics
Robotics is a program open to all students. There is a middle school team and a high school
team. Teams build and program robots. The team competes with other schools in their ability
to meet the specific challenges.

Ski Club
The Ski Club (organized and run by an outside organization) participates in an after-school
ski program for several weeks each winter. Information will be available for sign-ups during
the fall months in the office. This club is recognized by WLC and students will be dismissed
accordingly without penalty.

Soccer
Soccer is a High School Varsity and Middle School fall sport that is offered to boys and girls.

Softball
Softball is a High School Varsity and Middle School spring sport that is offered to girls.

Student Government
All students are encouraged to participate in WLC’s Student Government. The group meets
regularly. Meeting times will be announced. There is both a middle school and a high school

85



DR
AF
T

student government.

Student Leadership Team
Open to middle school and high school students who wish to help increase student voice in
decisions made at WLC and increase pride in our school.

Track Team
Track is a spring varsity sport that is open to both boys and girls. Middle School students
may participate via petition.

Tennis
Tennis is a spring varsity sport that is open to both boys and girls. Middle School students
may participate via petition.

Outdoor Club
Outdoor club is an after-school organization that meets with their leader to go on hikes, visit
local rivers, and more!

Horticulture/Environmental Club
Horticulture club combines a passion for plants, the practice of horticulture, education, and
environmental stewardship.

Art Club
Students can participate in art club weekly on various school community projects! Art club
helps students in developing their creative skills. They use multiple forms of medium and
have a great time learning new skills and techniques to produce wonderful artwork.

The WLC News Show
Students can participate in the WLC News Show to learn broadcasting and journalism skills
in order to promote and showcase various activities and events throughout the school.
Students will also learn video editing and digital citizenship all while having a great time!

After School Homework Club
WLC Teacher(s) will be available to assist students with homework three days per week for
students who would like more time to complete their schoolwork in a group or individual
setting.

Volleyball Club
Volleyball club will be working on learning the fundamentals of volleyball. All are welcome!

86



DR
AF
T

STUDENT HANDBOOK ACKNOWLEDGEMENT FORM

Print Student Name: _________________________________ Grade: _______

MARK BOXES WITH “X” SIGN (unmarked boxes will designate opt out) AND RETURN
THIS FORM TO YOUR ADVISOR BY 9-1-2023

I RECOGNIZE AS A MEMBER OF THE WLC SCHOOL COMMUNITY THAT I
AM RESPONSIBLE FOR UNDERSTANDING AND RESPECTING THE
EXPECTATIONS OUTLINED IN THE WLC STUDENT HANDBOOK.

I GRANT WLC PERMISSION TO USE MY NAME AND/OR PICTURE AND/OR
VIDEO RECORDING FOR SCHOOL PUBLICATIONS AND PRESS RELEASES.

Student Signature:______________________________________________

Date: ________________________________________________________

I RECOGNIZE AS A MEMBER OF THE WLC SCHOOL COMMUNITY THAT I
AM RESPONSIBLE FOR UNDERSTANDING AND RESPECTING THE
EXPECTATIONS OUTLINED IN THE WLC STUDENT HANDBOOK.

I GRANT WLC PERMISSION TO USE MY STUDENT’S NAME AND/OR
PICTURE AND/OR VIDEO RECORDING FOR SCHOOL PUBLICATIONS AND PRESS
RELEASES.

I INTEND TO ACCESS POWERSCHOOL TO TRACK MY STUDENT’S
ACADEMIC PROGRESS.

I HAVE INTERNET ACCESS & WOULD LIKE COMMUNICATIONS VIA EMAIL
AT THIS ADDRESS:

Print Parent/Guardian: _________________________________ Date: ___________

87



DR
AF
T

Parent/Guardian Signature:________________________________________________

88


	WLC School Board Agenda 8.8.23
	Super Report 8.8.23
	WLC Principal’s Report
	FRES-LCS August Board Report
	CC 8.8.23 Board Report
	June- Full Year 2022-2023 Enrollment Spread Sheet
	General Assurances
	School Board District Goals Notes
	WLC School Board Draft Minutes 6.13.23 w. attachments
	WLC School Board Draft Minutes 6.13.23
	School Resource Officer - School Resource Officer-1
	World War II I
	Spring WLCSD Data Presentation 2023

	WLC School Board Draft Minutes 6.27.27
	WLC School Board Draft Minutes WORKSHOP 6.27.23
	BBBF- 4th  Read 8.8.23
	JICK-8.8.23 1st Read
	DAF6 8.8 23 1st Read
	DAF11 8.8.23 1st Read
	BEDDA Rules of Procedure and Order rev 8.8.24 1st Read
	JLCD-R - Administering Medication  8.8.23 1st Read
	JLCA Physical Examinations of Students rev Jun 2020
	JLCA-R - Family Physicians Report of Physical Examination 8.8.23 for Withdrawal
	JAA-Allergy policy for Withdrawal
	FRES-LCS  Strikethrough Draft 2023-2024 Parent-Student Handbook
	DRAFT WLC STUDENT HANDBOOK 2023-2024



